#### Your easy, colorful, SEE-HOW guide!



WE

# Plain & Simple

# Microsoft Word 2013

Jay Freedman

# Learn the simplest ways to get things done with Microsoft Word 2013

## See it. Learn it. In color.



U.S.A. \$24.99 Canada \$26.99 [Recommended]

Microsoft Office/ Microsoft Word

#### Here's WHAT You'll Learn

- Create any type of document, from memos to reports
- Perfect your text with editing and formatting tools
- Add graphics, data, tables, charts, and videos
- Manage page layout, style, and navigation
- Share, print, and publish your work online
- Finish documents faster using templates and themes

#### Here's HOW You'll Learn It

- Jump in wherever you need answers
- Follow easy steps and screenshots to see exactly what to do
- Get handy tips for new techniques and shortcuts
- Use Try This! exercises to apply what you learn right away





#### Microsoft Word 2013 Plain & Simple

Jay Freedman

Published with the authorization of Microsoft Corporation by: O'Reilly Media, Inc. 1005 Gravenstein Highway North Sebastopol, California 95472

Copyright © 2013 by Joseph J. Freedman

All rights reserved. No part of the contents of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without the written permission of the publisher.

ISBN: 978-0-7356-6938-3

123456789 QG 876543

Printed and bound in the United States of America.

Microsoft Press books are available through booksellers and distributors worldwide. If you need support related to this book, email Microsoft Press Book Support at mspinput@microsoft.com. Please tell us what you think of this book at http://www.microsoft.com/learning/booksurvey.

Microsoft and the trademarks listed at *http://www.microsoft.com/about/legal/en/us/IntellectualProperty/Trademarks/EN-US.* aspx are trademarks of the Microsoft group of companies. All other marks are property of their respective owners.

The example companies, organizations, products, domain names, email addresses, logos, people, places, and events depicted herein are fictitious. No association with any real company, organization, product, domain name, email address, logo, person, place, or event is intended or should be inferred.

This book expresses the author's views and opinions. The information contained in this book is provided without any express, statutory, or implied warranties. Neither the authors, O'Reilly Media, Inc., Microsoft Corporation, nor its resellers, or distributors will be held liable for any damages caused or alleged to be caused either directly or indirectly by this book.

Acquisitions Editor: Kenyon Brown Developmental Editor: Kathryn Duggan Production Editor: Kristen Borg Editorial Production: Peter Amirault Technical Reviewer: Kristen Merritt Copyeditor: Bob Russell Indexers: Fred Brown and Bob Pfahler Cover Design: Twist Creative • Seattle Cover Composition: Zyg Group, LLC Illustrator: S4Carlisle Publishing Services To Andi, my bashert.

### Contents

Acknowledgmentsxv
-------------------



About this book1
What do you want to do?
A quick overview
A few assumptions
Adapting task procedures for touchscreens7
A final word



Introducing Word 2013	9
What's new in Word 2013	10
Starting the Word program	12
Exploring the ribbon	14
Using the Quick Access Toolbar	16
Switching views	17
Using built-in keyboard shortcuts	18
Opening documents	20
Editing a PDF document	22
Getting information about a document	23
Saving documents	24

Exporting a document to other file types	26
Recovering lost work	28
Using the Read Mode	30
Managing your online accounts	32
Printing a document	34
Finding help in Word	36
Finding help on the Internet.	37



Creating and revising documents
Starting a new document
Selecting text
Inserting and overtyping text
Copying and moving Items45
Managing the Office clipboard
Undoing mistaken actions
Navigating a document in the Navigation pane50
Navigating by using the search feature
Replacing existing text
Using wildcard find and replace56
Organizing topics
Inserting built-in building blocks
Creating your own building blocks
Managing building blocks



Correcting and improving the text
Correcting a spelling or grammar error
Running a manual spelling or grammar check70
Marking text to ignore spelling71
Adding common misspellings to AutoCorrect
Using AutoCorrect entries as shortcuts74
Setting AutoFormat options76
Getting definitions and synonyms79
Counting words
Finding a translation
Changing the proofing language of text



Formatting text for best appearance	. 89
Formatting with styles	90
Creating and modifying styles	94
Using the Styles pane	100
Changing the character formatting of text	.103
Applying highlighting	105
Using the Format Painter	106
Changing paragraph alignment and indents	.107
Changing line and paragraph spacing	.110
Controlling line and page breaks	113
Adding borders and shading	.116
Building a bulleted or numbered list	120
Changing the bullets or numbering	121

Changing numbering values	126
Using multilevel numbered headings	128
Revealing existing formatting	132



Building impressive documents	135
Inserting a section break	. 136
Inserting headers and footers	. 138
Choosing page size and margins	. 140
Changing the page orientation	. 144
Changing the number of columns	. 148
Applying a border around a page	151
Inserting a cover page	. 154
Working with the Normal template	. 156
Finding and downloading templates	159
Customizing an existing template	161
Designing a template	165
Basing a new document on a custom template	. 168
Designing a template for two-sided printing	170
Using themes and style sets	173



Making layou	ts with tables ai	d text boxes	
--------------	-------------------	--------------	--

Inserting tab stops on the ruler	80
Inserting a simple table18	81
Copying an Excel table into Word 18	83
Converting text to a table and back again18	84

#### viii Contents

Setting tab atops in table cells 186
Adding and deleting rows and columns 187
Resizing rows and columns 188
Setting table alignment 189
Setting table text wrapping 190
Merging and splitting cells
Setting cell alignment and direction
Repeating header rows
Using table styles for uniform appearance
Inserting text boxes 196
Linking a chain of text boxes 198



Managing data in documents 199
Using the Field dialog box 200
Inserting fields from the keyboard 202
Toggling field codes and updating fields 203
Controlling field formatting by using switches 205
Inserting Page and Date fields by using shortcuts
Using bookmarks
Inserting hyperlinks 212
Repeating information by using cross-references
Inserting content controls
Grouping content controls for a form 222
Using document properties 223
Sorting a list

## 9

Formatting reports and formal documents	
Making a different first page header or different odd and even pages header	
Unlinking a header	
Extracting text for a header or footer from body text	
Inserting a watermark	
Adding footnotes and endnotes	
Generating a table of contents	
Updating a table of contents 248	
Modifying table of contents styles	
Using multiple tables of contents252	
Indexing a document	
Using multiple indexes	
Making tables of tables and tables of figures	
Creating a bibliography	



Making pictures work for you 269	)
Choosing illustration types	C
Inserting a picture from your computer	4
Inserting an online picture	5
Inserting online video	8
Inserting a screenshot 280	C
Positioning pictures on the page 282	2
Resizing a picture 284	4
Cropping a picture	5

Replacing a picture 2	288
Changing the appearance of a picture 2	290
Removing the background from a picture 2	293
Applying special effects	295
Setting a transparent color 2	296



Adding your own artwork 29
Inserting a shape 29
Changing the appearance of a shape 30
Building charts to display data 30
Creating SmartArt diagrams 30
Adding WordArt effects



Mailing paper or pixels	
Printing a single envelope	
Printing multiple copies of an envelope	
Changing envelope address formatting	
Creating mailing labels and business cards	
Sending a document by email	
Starting a mail merge	
Choosing the recipients	
Adding merge fields	
Adding information with rules	343
Finishing the merge	

# 13

Reviewing documents
Adding comments
Showing and hiding comments
Tracking changes
Showing and hiding tracked changes
Setting options for Track Changes
Accepting and rejecting changes
Comparing reviewed versions
Merging reviewed versions



Sharing and coauthoring in Word	3
Exploring Word Web App 36	54
Sharing with SkyDrive	'0
Working with coauthors	'2
Talking to your coauthors	74
Blogging with Word	′5
Presenting a document online	'8



Ensuring privacy and security	381
Viewing the Word 2013 Trust Center	382
Changing which files open in Protected View	383
Adding trusted locations and trusted publishers	387
Setting privacy options	390
Using the Document Inspector	392
Protecting a document by using a password	394

Restricting editing and formatting	<del>)</del> 7
Marking a document as read-only or final 40	)0
Adding a digital signature	)3



nstalling and using Apps for Office4	05
Adding an app from the Office Store 4	06
Jsing an app in a document	<b>110</b>



Customizing Word	413
Customizing the screen	.414
Customizing the keyboard	.417
Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar	.421
Creating a custom tab or group on the ribbon	.423
Adding tools to a custom group	.426
Setting general options	.428
Controlling what is displayed and printed	.429
Setting spelling and grammar options	430
Changing the default file format for saving documents	434
Working with advanced options	.436
Managing styles	442
Recording macros	444

Index	447	
About the author		

## Acknowledgments

Every book is the product of many hands, and I thank each person who has helped to create this one. Even if I don't know your name, please know that I'm grateful for your efforts.

Special thanks go to Senior Editor Kenyon Brown of O'Reilly Media for asking me to write Microsoft Word 2013 Plain & Simple. His early guidance and encouragement were invaluable.

Developmental Editor Kathi Duggan made hundreds of excellent suggestions that greatly improved the logical flow of the manuscript, and Technical Reviewer Kristen Merritt played an important role in keeping me on the right path. The three of us make quite a team!

Thanks to Senior Production Editor Kristen Borg and copyeditor Bob Russell, who polished my language and helped me to adhere to Microsoft Press standards. We've given Word's Track Changes feature a good workout! I've answered thousands of questions about Microsoft Word over nearly twenty years in Internet newsgroups and forums. To every one of you who asked those questions, thank you for the inspiration to learn about the mysteries of Word. I also thank all of the Microsoft Office development team members with whom I've had many fruitful discussions, especially Stuart Stuple, Tristan Davis, and Jonathan Bailor.

Most of all, I thank my wife, Andi Freedman, who thought I had retired months ago. Soon...

## About this book

Microsoft Office 2013 is like a room full of tool boxes; it's an enormous resource for doing many kinds of jobs that involve information. When you start a project, you should know which box to reach for and what tools it contains. Sometimes you'll need more than one tool—or even more than one tool box—to complete your work.

One of the biggest tool boxes in Office 2013 is Microsoft Word 2013. As a word processor, it's mainly for writing and formatting text, but it doesn't stop there—its tools help you with pictures, videos, charts, and graphs. Although its traditional role is printing paper documents, it can produce webpages, blogs, email, and other kinds of output meant to be read online. There are tools for sharing documents with others as well for working with several people on the same document simultaneously.

The aim of this book is to show you how to choose the right tool in Word 2013 for the job at hand, and how to use each tool quickly and efficiently.

# 1

#### In this section:

- What do you want to do?
- A quick overview
- A few assumptions
- Adapting task procedures for touchscreens
- A final word

#### What do you want to do?

Among the millions of people who use Word every day, there are beginners and experts, users at home and at school, and in businesses small and large. The work we do, the sources of our information, and the formats of our documents are unimaginably varied.

If you're creating a shopping list, a memo, a court pleading, or a novel, your main interest will likely be in Word's text tools. You might need the ability to write a draft; to reorganize and revise, and to check spelling and grammar; to show the document to others for review, and to act on their suggestions; and to make the document available in one or many formats.

Maybe you design magazine articles, advertisements, newsletters, or posters—documents that depend on illustrations, complex layouts, and eye-catching formatting to give them impact. In addition to Word's text tools, you'll be using its graphics capabilities, building tables to control layout, and working with its special text effects.

Business documents often have unique requirements. They might need to conform to your organization's formatting standards, which should be contained in templates with well-designed styles. They might draw information from spreadsheets or databases through tools such as fields or mail merge. Portions of documents might be used to create other documents. Instruction manuals and policy statements could have very long lives and be revised many times, so you need a way to mark up these documents to show the changes made from one version to the next.

#### A quick overview

Whatever you're doing in Word 2013, that job is composed of a series of small tasks. This book shows you—step by step, with pictures and simple instructions—how to do each task. When you need to know what to click or type, just look up the task in the table of contents or the index and go to that page. You can jump directly to any task to find the instructions you need for the job you're doing at the time.

Many tasks are accompanied by a *Tip* or *Try This* reader aid that provides a little extra information. Where necessary, you will see a *Caution* to help you avoid mistakes. Because the results of some tasks depend on how you've done other tasks, occasionally there's a *See Also* reference to point to another page.

Although the individual tasks are independent, there is an overall organization to the book, and being aware of it will help you to locate the right page quickly. Each section contains related tasks, roughly in order of increasing complexity.

Section 2 begins with a description of the newest features and enhancements in Word 2013, which will be of interest if you've used an earlier version of Office. The rest of the section shows you how to carry out tasks that you'll do in almost every kind of document: opening, viewing, saving, and printing. It also introduces the new integration of Word 2013 with your Microsoft Account and with online services for storing and sharing your documents. When you need more information than this book can provide, use the Help resources listed at the end of the section.



Section 3 guides you through creating new documents, editing text, navigating through your document, outlining and reorganizing topics, and inserting building blocks to reuse content.

Section 4 contains tasks to help you correct and improve your text by checking spelling and grammar, and making the best use of the automatic corrections and formatting features offered by Word. Several tools that are near and dear to the hearts of writers are also covered here, including the dictionary and thesaurus, the word counter, and automated translation to other languages.

Section 5 is about the many formatting tools that Word makes available. Styles are of great importance in Word, so you'll learn how to use, modify, and create them. This section also covers formatting applied directly to parts of the text.

#### **1: ABOUT THIS BOOK**

You'll find instructions for setting up lists, managing headers and footers, and revealing the formatting of existing text.

Section 6 describes how to design pages that give your documents more impact. You'll learn how to customize an existing template or create one of your own, and how to change the overall look of a document with just a few mouse clicks.



Section 7 describes tables, a feature in Word that has many uses, from simple alignment of columns of text to the creation of complex page layouts. The section closes with tasks for using text boxes.

Section 8 provides you with instructions on how to use the tools in Word 2013 for managing data: hyperlinks, cross references, fields, content controls, and document properties.



Section 9 is about tools that you might use in longer, more formal documents such as reports. The tasks deal with headers and footers, watermarks, footnotes, tables of contents, indexes, and bibliographies.

Section 10 focuses on pictures and illustrations that come from outside Word. This includes searching for them, inserting them, positioning them in the document, and using tools to edit and enhance them.



Section 11 shows you how to create artwork directly within a Word document by using the drawing tools, charts, SmartArt diagrams, and WordArt effects.

Section 12 brings together tasks for mailing documents, either printed on paper or sent electronically. Topics include printing envelopes and labels, sending a document by email as an attachment to a message, and the wonders of mail merge.

Section 13 discusses how to mark up a document for review, with comments and tracked changes, and how to compare and combine reviewed copies of a document.

Section 14 is about sharing documents online and collaborating with other Word users on the same document simultaneously. This section also includes tasks for writing blog posts in Word and for hosting an online presentation of your Word document. Section 15 describes the tools that Word 2013 provides for preventing malware attacks, for avoiding the release of personal information, and for restricting the ability of a document's recipients to make unauthorized changes.

Section 16 covers an exciting new feature of Office 2013 called *Apps for Office*. These web-based programs can interact with your documents to provide up-to-the-minute information, dictionary definitions, fax service, and more.



Section 17 describes some of the ways in which you can customize Word 2013 to fit how you work by controlling what appears on the ribbon and the Quick Access Toolbar, how keyboard shortcuts work, and how Word saves, checks spelling, and more.

#### A few assumptions

My assumption is that you have at least some experience with Microsoft Windows and possibly some experience with a word processor, either an earlier version of Word or another program. I'm not going to explain fundamentals such as how to use a keyboard and mouse, or how to find a folder on your disk. If the last version of Office you used was 2003 or earlier, however, the ribbon-based interface that was introduced with Office 2007 might seem foreign until you get used to it. If that's the case, you should use the training materials at office.microsoft.com/en-us/word-help/make-theswitch-to-word-2013-RZ102925062.aspx to find out where your favorite menu items have gone.

I've also made the assumption that you already have Word 2013 installed on your computer, either as a stand-alone program or as part of Office 2013. If you don't have the other Office programs, a small group of the tasks in this book won't apply, but everything else will be the same. If you haven't installed Office 2013 yet, there are several ways you can get it. In addition to the traditional CD-based package, there is an Internet delivery method that will automatically keep you up to date with the latest patches. Internet delivery is standard for Microsoft Office 365, a subscription plan that accommodates installation on multiple devices.

To install and run Office 2013, you need either Windows 7 or Windows 8. Except for a minor change in the way you start the Word program (described in Section 2), Word 2013 runs identically in both versions of Windows.

To use some of the best new features in Word 2013, you'll need to sign up for a free Microsoft Account, if you don't already have one. Just use your web browser to go to *www. live.com* and click Sign Up Now link. The account gives you access to storage space on SkyDrive, with the ability to share and coauthor with other Word users. You can also open and edit your documents on SkyDrive from any computer, wherever you happen to be—provided, of course, that you have access to the Internet.

The display in Word 2013, especially on the ribbon, changes with the width of the program's window and with the resolution of the screen. As you make the window narrower or the resolution lower, the ribbon first makes some of the buttons smaller, then removes some of the labels, and finally collapses entire groups to a single button. The screenshots in this book were captured at a resolution of 1280×800 pixels, with the Word window maximized. If your computer has different settings, you might not see quite the same display as shown in the screenshots.

#### Adapting task procedures for touchscreens

In this book, I provide instructions based on traditional keyboard and mouse input methods. If you're using Word on a touch-enabled device, you might be giving commands by tapping with your finger or with a stylus. If so, substitute a tapping action any time I instruct you to click a user interface element. Also note that when I tell you to enter information in Word, you can do so by typing on a keyboard, tapping in the entry field under discussion to display and use the onscreen keyboard, or even speaking aloud, depending on how your computer is set up and your personal preferences.

#### A final word

I hope you find this book helpful. When I wrote it, I had these goals in mind:

- To provide clear instructions for using Word
- To steer you to things you can do in Word that you didn't know you could do
- To make you a confident Word user

Good luck in your adventures with Word!

## Introducing Word 2013

n designing Word 2013, Microsoft focused on streamlining the user experience by removing or reducing distractions. This section begins with a brief description of the changes the new version brings and a pictorial tour of the Word window.

The rest of the section brings you up to speed on the basic operations of the word processor: opening, editing, saving, and printing documents. Along the way, you'll learn a few new capabilities, such as opening Adobe Portable Document Format (PDF) documents, operating in Read Mode, and connecting to online accounts. Finally, there's a task for finding answers to questions that don't fit into this book by using either the Help feature built into Word or online sources.

#### In this section:

- What's new in Word 2013
- Starting the Word program
- Exploring the ribbon and Quick Access Toolbar
- Switching views
- Using built-in keyboard shortcuts
- Opening documents
- Editing a PDF document
- Saving documents
- Exporting to other file formats
- Using the Read Mode
- Managing your online accounts
- Printing a document
- Finding help

#### What's new in Word 2013

If you've used Word 2010, much of Word 2013 will feel familiar. Most of the commands on the ribbon are in the same places, and many of the dialog boxes haven't changed. A major focus of this version is on making the process of reading and editing documents smoother, with fewer diversions. The icons are simpler, and everything outside the document itself is less attention-grabbing. Of course, there are also new features and new ways of using older features.

When you need to read a document rather than edit it, the new Read Mode is a clean, distraction-free environment. It automatically adapts the width of its columns to the size of your display, which is great if you're using a tablet. You can quickly zoom in on pictures, charts, and tables, or display comments.

If you're working in Print Layout view in a long document, you can easily collapse or expand a heading along with everything within it. This new feature lets you hide unwanted detail until you're ready to see it, without having to switch to Outline view. You can also collapse the ribbon completely, hiding both the command buttons and the tabs.

When you work with tracked changes in a reviewed document, the new Simple Markup view reduces the clutter and makes it easier for you concentrate on specific changes and comments.

If you log on to Office with a Microsoft Account, your list of recently used documents is stored in the cloud. No matter what computer you use to log on, that information is available. The cloud also remembers the last page you were reading when you closed each online document and offers to pick up where you left off. Opening and saving documents on SkyDrive or SharePoint is seamless, and you can integrate Office with other online services.





The online integration of Office 2013 also improves your ability to share documents and to collaborate with other authors on the same document, either separately or at the same time. You can contact the others directly from within Word via email, instant messenger, or phone.

Word 2013 can open most PDF documents so that you can edit or reformat the contents and save the result as a Word document or back to PDF, among other formats.

You can embed online videos right in your documents and watch them within Word. Also, you can insert online pictures directly into documents without having to save them to your computer first.

As you drag pictures and tables in a document, the text around them instantly reflows, giving you better control over the final position. Alignment guides automatically appear to help you line up images with the page margins and text paragraphs on the page.

This version also updates the free online Word Web App to align it with Word 2013 on the desktop.





#### Starting the Word program

Sometimes, you'll want to start the Word program with a blank document that you'll just need to fill in. At other times, you might want Word to start with a document that already exists in a file so that you can read it or make changes to it.

Both Windows 7 and Windows 8 make extensive use of *shortcuts*, which are icons that point to files. Some shortcuts point to programs and others point to documents. In Windows 7, shortcuts to programs are usually on the Start menu, but you can also place them on the desktop, pin them to the taskbar, or both. In Windows 8, you'll find a *tile* for each of the Microsoft Office programs on the Start screen, and you can also create

#### Use the Word shortcut in Windows 7

- 1 Click the Start menu.
- 2 Click All Programs.
- 3 Scroll to the Microsoft Office 2013 folder and expand it.
- 4 Click Word 2013.

shortcuts to the programs on the desktop or the desktop's taskbar.

If you start Word without instructing it as to what document to open, it creates a blank document for you.

To start Word with an existing document, you usually open the File Explorer and double-click the icon of the document itself. When you have a document that you open frequently, it's useful to make a shortcut to the document and place the shortcut on the desktop or the taskbar.



#### Use the Word shortcut in Windows 8

- 1 Click the Start box.
- 2 Click the tile for Word 2013.



#### Use a document's icon

- 1 Start the file manager (called Windows Explorer in Windows 7 and File Explorer in Windows 8).
- 2 Go to the folder that contains the document that you want to use.
- **3** Double-click the document's icon.

- 0 × Library Tool Documents Manage 2 Chare Cut Þ Sh New Item -Open 🔻 Select all ۱Ì k X 🛋 Copy path F Easy access Edit 38 Select none Copy Delete Rename Copy Move to -New Properties Paste shortcut A History 🔄 🍥 🔻 🕆 📑 🕨 Libraries 🕨 Docum v c Search Do c Name Date modified Туре ☆ Favorites 🌡 LogiShrd Desktop 8/17/2012 10:12 PM File folde Downloads OneNote Notebooks 9/13/2012 11:37 PM File folder 2 Secent places Dutlook Files 6/1/2012 10:11 PM File folde 8/17/2012 9:58 PM File folder Programming Windows Cal Libraries 🔒 Snagit 8/18/2012 7:46 PM File folder Document 📕 Visual Studio 11 6/2/2012 6:55 PM File folder A Music Visual Studio 2012 7/18/2012 10:26 PM File folder 3 Annual Report.docx 5 8/25/2012 6:04 PM Microsoft Word Document 1.746 KB H Videos 🔆 G07xx03 1024x768.png 9/17/2012 2:50 PM InfanView PNG Fill A Hon 9 items 1 item selected 1.70 MB State: 28 Shared Library includes: 2 locations

TRY THIS Create a desktop shortcut to a document: Right-click the icon of a document you use frequently. In the options menu that appears, point to Send To and click Desktop (Create Shortcut). Double-click the document shortcut to start Word.

#### **Exploring the ribbon**

The ribbon is the broad swath of tabs and command buttons that occupies the top of the Word window. As you click each of the tabs, the ribbon displays the items in that category. Some buttons invoke commands that take effect immediately when you click them, whereas others open a *gallery* of items from which you can choose.

Find common commands

- 1 Click each of the tabs in turn.
- **2** Point to each command button on the displayed ribbon and read the name and short description of the command in the ToolTip that appears.
- **3** If the command button shows a downward-pointing triangular arrow (also referred to as a down-arrow), click the arrow to view its associated gallery.

When you select certain kinds of objects in a document—for example, a header, a picture, or a table—the ribbon displays a *contextual tab* that contains commands specific to that type of object. The contextual tab stays visible only as long as the object remains selected.



TRY THIS To get more space for the document, you can collapse the ribbon to just the row of tabs. Double-click any tab to minimize the ribbon; do the same to expand it once again. Single-click a tab on the minimized ribbon to open that tab. The ribbon automatically minimizes again when you click a command button.



TIP Many galleries end with one or more menu items, which you should explore, as well.

#### Use a contextual tab

- 1 Click the Insert tab.
- 2 In the Header & Footer group, click Header.
- **3** At the bottom of the gallery, click Edit Header.
- **4** Explore the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, which appears only while the cursor is in the header or footer pane.



#### Hide the ribbon

- 1 In the upper-right corner of the Word window, click the Ribbon Display Options icon.
- 2 Click the Auto-Hide ribbon item.
- **3** If you want to display the ribbon to use just a few commands, in the upper-right corner, click the three dots.

When you click in the document text, the ribbon automatically hides again.

**4** If you want to show the entire ribbon all the time or to show just the tabs, click the Ribbon Display Options icon again and click the option that you want.

SEE ALSO For information about putting your favorite tools in more convenient locations on the ribbon, see "Creating a custom tab or group on the ribbon" on page 423 and "Adding tools to a custom group" on page 426.





#### **Using the Quick Access Toolbar**

The Quick Access Toolbar is an easily customized place to put command buttons that you use frequently. You don't have to select a tab first, because buttons on the Quick Access Toolbar are always visible. With just a couple of clicks you can add or delete buttons on the toolbar, so you can use it to gather the commands for a special task and remove them when they are no longer needed. The first time you use Word, the Quick Access Toolbar appears above the ribbon. At this point, it holds just a few buttons. To make it more easily accessible, you can move it below the ribbon.

#### Add a command to the toolbar

- **1** On the ribbon, right-click a command button or a group title.
- 2 Click Add To Quick Access Toolbar.

#### Remove a command from the toolbar

- 1 On the Quick Access Toolbar, right-click a command button.
- 2 Click Remove From Quick Access Toolbar.

w FILE HOME INSERT DESIGN PAGE LAYOUT REFERENCES 🛓 Cover Page 🕶 Ö. ] Blank Page Pictures Online Shapes SmartArt Chart Screenshot Table H Page Break Pictures Add to Quick Access Toolbar Pages 2 5-0 Ŧ Customize Quick Access Toolbar... ы Show Quick Access Toolbar Above the Ribbon w INSERT HOME DESIGN PAGE LAYOUT REFE 🛓 Cover Page 🕶 🗋 Blank Page Pictures Online Shapes SmartArt Chart Sci Table H Page Break Pictures -Pages Tables Illustrations -Repove from Quick Access Toolbar 2 Customize Quick Access Toolbar... Show Ouick Access Toolbar Above the Ribbon Customize the Ribbon... Unpin the ribbon

TRY THIS Click the down-arrow at the right end of the Quick Access Toolbar. Select or clear the listed commands and click Show Below Ribbon.

SEE ALSO For information about adding commands that don't appear on the ribbon and adding commands for specific documents, see "Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar" on page 421.

16 Using the Quick Access Toolbar: Add a command to the toolbar

#### **Switching views**

Word 2013 offers many ways to look at your document. The default view is Print Layout, in which you can see how the document will look on paper. Web Layout view shows the document as a webpage, without the conventional page breaks of a printed document. In Outline view, the headings form an outline. You can expand or collapse each section and reorganize topics by dragging them to new positions.

Read Mode is optimized for reading the text in documents on your screen. Objects such as pictures, tables, and comments become smaller or collapse to icons, although you can doubleclick them to view them at full size.

#### Use the View tab on the ribbon

- **1** Open a document that contains an assortment of headings that use the built-in styles.
- 2 On the View tab, in the Views group, click Outline.
- 3 Click Web Layout.
- 4 Click Read Mode.
- 5 To return to the most recently used view, in the View menu, click Edit Document





 $\mathbf{ > }$ 

TRY THIS In Print Layout view, move the cursor onto a heading paragraph. When a triangle appears in the left margin, click it to collapse or expand the text and lower-level headings under it, similar to the behavior of the Outline view.

TIP You can reach the Read Mode, Print Layout, and Web views by clicking the buttons on the status bar, located to the left of the zoom controls.

#### Using built-in keyboard shortcuts

With all the command buttons on the ribbon and those that you can add to the Quick Access Toolbar, it's tempting to reach for the mouse for almost every action you can do in Word. However, for those folks who more often use a keyboard and mouse to input a lot of text, it's much quicker to use keyboard shortcuts. Word 2013 has two separate sets of shortcuts: one set reflects the names of the command buttons on the ribbon, whereas the other set—also used by older versions of Word—covers more commands and is customizable.

#### Use keyboard shortcuts

**1** Press and release the Alt key to display *keytips*.

Keytips are letters and numbers that represent the ribbon tabs and the buttons on the Quick Access Toolbar. Press the letter for the tab that you want, and more keytips appear for the commands on that tab.

2 Press the letter or letters for the command that you want.


#### Keyboard shortcuts for common commands

Command	Keyboard shortcut
Open a document	Ctrl+O
Save a document	Ctrl+S
Close a document but leave Word running	Ctrl+W
Copy the selection	Ctrl+C
Cut the selection	Ctrl+X
Paste the clipboard contents	Ctrl+V
Hide or show the ribbon	Ctrl+F1
Apply bold direct formatting	Ctrl+B
Apply italic direct formatting	Ctrl+I
Apply single underline direct formatting	Ctrl+U
Left-align a paragraph	Ctrl+L
Center-align a paragraph	Ctrl+E
Right-align a paragraph	Ctrl+R
Undo the last command	Ctrl+Z
Redo the last command	Ctrl+Y
Apply the Normal style	Ctrl+Shift+N
Print the document	Ctrl+P
Open the Help box	F1

**TIP** This table lists just a few of the more common built-in shortcuts. To learn about other shortcuts that you might find useful, press F1 (to display the Help box) and open the article "Keyboard Shortcuts for Microsoft Word."

**SEE ALSO** For information about assigning your own keyboard shortcuts, see "Customizing the keyboard" on page 417.

# **Opening documents**

When you click the File tab, Word displays *the Backstage view*. The Backstage view is a set of pages containing information and commands that deal with the document or the program as a whole, such as opening, saving, and printing documents; managing accounts; and setting options that affect the entire program.

While the Word program is running, you can open more than one document at the same time. Each document has its own

## Open a document from the Backstage view

- **1** On the ribbon, click File and then click Open.
- **2** If the document you want is in the Recent Documents list, click its name or icon to open the document immediately. Otherwise, continue with steps 3 to 7.

icon on the taskbar, which makes it simple to switch from one document to another (or you can use the Switch Windows button on the View tab). You can also easily copy text and graphics from one document to another.

If you've connected your Office suite to your Microsoft Account, you can open documents stored on SkyDrive as if they were on a local disk. If you have access to a SharePoint Server, you can use it for storage in the same way.



TIP Word 2013 can open many kinds of document files. Besides the default .docx format, you can select many others, including Word 97–2003 (.doc), Word template (.dotx, .dotm, and .dot), rich text format (.rtf), plain text (.txt), and OpenDocument Text (.odt) files.

20 Opening documents: Open a document from the Backstage view

- **3** If the file you want to open isn't in the Recent Documents list, click either Computer or your SkyDrive account.
- 4 Click Browse.
- **5** Navigate to the proper folder.
- 6 Select the document that you want.
- 7 Click Open.



<b>C3</b>		Open	
⊕ ∋ - ↑ 📕 « 6	64fba413bf → ^.Documents	v Č	Search ^.Documents 0
Organize 👻 New fold	ler		8 · · 🔟 🔞
Documents Music Pictures Videos		Annual Report.docx	
💐 Homegroup		butterflies.docx	
P Computer Secondary (C:) S (D:)			
👝 Disk1 (F:)			
Network	~		
File	name: butterflies.docx	~	All Word Documents (*.docc;*.c 🗸

TIP If the document you open was created in a previous version of Word, the title bar of the Word window displays [Compatibility Mode] after the document's file name. When that happens, some of the new features of Word 2013 are disabled to preserve compatibility with the older version. To bring the document up to the 2013 format, click File, Info, and then Convert.

# **Editing a PDF document**

In Word 2013, you can open a PDF file, get the text and pictures from it, and display it as an editable document. That's

#### **Open a PDF file in Word**

- 1 Click File and then click Open.
- 2 Click Computer or your SkyDrive account and then click Browse.
- **3** Click the file-type drop-down list.
- 4 Click PDF Files (\*.pdf).
- 5 Select the document that you want and then click Open.

convenient when you need to reuse material that is available only in the normally uneditable PDF form.



TIP If the document content appears but isn't editable, the PDF file contains a picture of the text instead of the text itself. Word can't convert pictures to text (this a process called Optical Character Recognition or OCR), but Microsoft OneNote might be able to do that for you.

TIP After you edit the document, you can save it as either a Word document file or a PDF file.

# **Getting information about a document**

A Word file contains information about how the document was created and modified as well as optional data that can help you find the file later. You can see this information on the Info page of the Backstage view. You can add or change text in some of the document's properties, such as the Subject and Tags entries. Other properties, such as the document's time and date of creation, are readable but not editable.

## Use the Info page

- **1** Click File and then click Info.
- 2 Click the Show All Properties link.
- **3** Move the cursor over each property value. When the cursor is over an editable property, the cursor changes from an arrow to an I-beam and a box appears around the property's value. Click the box to activate it for input.
- 4 Enter text in an editable property.
- 5 Save the document.

<page-header>



TIP You can use the properties Subject, Categories, and Tags in the search box in File Explorer to locate files with specific values. For example, searching for **tags:biography** finds all documents that have a Tags property containing the word "biography."

# **Saving documents**

Before you save a document for the first time, it exists only in the computer's memory and has a fake file name of **Document** followed by a number. When you do save the document for the first time, Word 2013 displays the Save As dialog box in which you can choose the folder and file name you want.

#### Save a document for the first time

- **1** On the Quick Access Toolbar, click the Save button.
- **2** Under Places, click a location such as Computer or your SkyDrive account.
- **3** Click the folder you want if it appears in the Recent Folders list or click Browse to locate another folder.
- 4 Type the file name that you want.
- 5 Click Save.

TIP The complete file path can be up to 260 characters long, including the drive letter, all the folders and subfolders, the file's name and extension, and the backslashes between the parts. Be aware that you can't use any of the following characters in a file name: 1/2:\* " > < |

TIP After the first time you save the document, no dialog box will appear when you click Save. You might see a progress indicator in the status bar for a brief moment. It's an excellent idea to press Ctrl+S every time you stop to think about what to write next so that you won't accidentally lose the work you've already done. If you edit an existing document and save it in the same folder and with the same file name as before, it will replace whatever was previously in the file. To keep both the old version and the new version, you have to either give the new version a unique name or choose a different folder, or both.



## Save a new version

**1** Click File and then click Save As.

The Save As dialog box opens.

- 2 Choose a different folder from the current folder if you want to keep the same file name or choose the current folder if you plan to use a different file name.
- 3 Change the file name if you selected the current folder.
- 4 Click Save.

O

SEE ALSO For information about retrieving an unsaved document that you accidentally closed, see "Recovering lost work" on page 28.



	Save As		×
⋲ ⋺ - ↑ 🎚	≪ 664fba413bf ► ^.Documents V C Search ^.Docum	nents	Q
Organize 🔻 Ne	w folder	• <b>••</b>	0
🍓 Homegroup	Annual Report.docx		
I Computer L Secondary (C: _ OS (D:)	) butterflies.docx		
i Disk1 (F:)	Sample Document.docx		
🔒 Nature	•		
File name:	Second Şample Document.docx		
Save as type:	Word Document (*.docx)		~
Authors:	Larsson, Katarina Tags: Add a tag		
	Save Thumbnail		
Hide Folders	Tools 👻 Save	Conc	e <del>l</del>

# Exporting a document to other file types

With Word 2013, you can save documents in many different formats beyond the default (.docx). In particular, you can save a document in the .doc format used by versions from Word 97 through Word 2003.

**Export to PDF or XPS format** 

- 1 Click File and then click Export.
- 2 Click Create PDF/XPS.

The Publish As PDF OR XPS dialog box opens.

- 3 Select the folder in which you want to save the exported file.
- **4** Accept the suggested name or enter a new name for the exported file.
- **5** If you want to save the file as something other than what's shown in Save As Type, select the desired file type from the drop-down list.
- 6 Change the options as needed.
- 7 Click Publish.

If you plan to send copies to other people who don't need to edit them, the Portable Document Format (PDF) is a good choice, because almost every computer has a viewer for it. The XML Paper Specification (XPS) has a similar purpose. Although support for XPS isn't as widespread as that of PDF, all Windows 7 and Windows 8 computers can view it.



TIP Click the Options button to open a dialog box in which you can choose which pages to include, whether to include markup, and whether to protect the exported PDF file with a password.

26 Exporting a document to other file types: Export to PDF or XPS format

#### 2: INTRODUCING WORD 2013

#### Change the file type

1 Click File and then click Save As.

The Save As dialog box opens.

- **2** Click the location, such as Computer or your SkyDrive, and click the desired folder or click Browse to choose a different folder.
- 3 Accept the suggested name or enter a new name for the file.
- **4** Click the Save As Type drop-down list and select the file type you want.
- 5 Click Save.
- **6** If the file type you choose doesn't support all of the Word features used in the document, respond to the Compatibility Checker dialog box or the warning message.







# **Recovering lost work**

Have you ever suffered a power failure while you were working on a document, or accidentally clicked No instead of Yes when prompted to save your document while closing it? The good news is that with Word 2013, you can almost always get your work back!

Word has an AutoRecover feature that saves your document in the background at regular intervals. If your computer shuts down or crashes while Word is open, the automatically saved

#### **Configure AutoRecover**

1 Click File and then click Options.

The Word Options dialog box opens.

- 2 Click Save.
- **3** Select the Save AutoRecover Information and the Keep The Last Autosaved Version check boxes.
- **4** Set the AutoRecover interval to a time short enough that you probably wouldn't mind having to redo that much work. The default is 10 minutes, but you might want a shorter interval.
- 5 Click OK.

document is available when you restart Word. If you shut down Word normally, the AutoRecover file is deleted.

There's another option to help you avoid losing work. If you close a document that has changed, and you choose not to save it, Word saves a copy of the file. If you realize you made a mistake, even weeks later, you can open the file.



**CAUTION** If you close an unsaved document before the first AutoRecover interval ends, there won't be any autosaved file. That's a good reason to set a short interval.

# **Open unsaved documents**

- **1** Click File and then click Info.
- 2 Click Manage Versions and click Recover Unsaved Documents. The open dialog box appears.
- 3 Double-click the autosaved file that you want.







FILE

-

## **Using the Read Mode**

The Read Mode in Word 2013 is more than just another view. It reformats the text into two or more columns, makes some pic-tures and tables smaller, hides the editing tools, and makes any

#### Navigate in Read Mode

- If the document is not already in Read Mode, on the View menu, in the Views group, click Read Mode.
- 2 Click the screen-change icon at the right or left edge of the screen to "page" or move by one screenful.
- **3** On the View menu, click Navigation Pane.

The pane works the same way as in other views.

**4** On the View menu, click Edit Document to return to the most recent view (or click the Print Layout icon on the status bar, or press Esc).

markup less visible. This lets you focus on the text while you're reading, but you can expand any item when you need to.



SEE ALSO For information about displaying a document in Read Mode, see "Switching views" on page 17.

# **Expand objects**

- **1** Double-click a picture or table in Read Mode.
- **2** Click the arrow icon to expand the object further, or click outside the object to return to the normal display.







**TRY THIS** In the View menu in Read Mode, point to Page Color and experiment with Sepia and Inverse.

# Managing your online accounts

When you install Office 2013, it prompts you to attach either a Microsoft Account or an account for your work or school. When you do that, the Office applications let you open and save documents in your SkyDrive space or SharePoint Server. They also give you access to the other services for that account, including file sharing, email, and roaming of Office settings. You can add connections to other social networks, including Facebook,

#### Sign in to a user account

- 1 Click File and then click Account.
- **2** If there is no account attached to Office 2013, and if you already have an account, click Sign In and then proceed to step 5.
- **3** Click either the Microsoft Account item or the Organization Or School item.
- **4** If Word is already logged on to an account but you want to use a different account, click the Switch Account link.
- **5** Enter the email address and password for the account that you want to use.

LinkedIn, and Twitter. If you have two or more accounts—for instance, one at home and one at work—you can attach both of them and switch between them at any time.

If your computer runs Windows 7, you can use Office 2013 without attaching a Microsoft Account. If you run Windows 8, Office 2013 automatically attaches your Windows logon account.



## **Connect to online services**

- **1** Click File and then click Account.
- 2 Click the Add A Service button.
- **3** Point to one of the categories and click the service that you want to add.
- 4 Click the Connect button to open your web browser to a page on the selected service on which you can authorize access to your account on the selected service.





FILE

# **Printing a document**

In the early days of word processing, the final stage of almost every document was printing on paper. Although electronic distribution has become far more important for many documents, printing is still a major function of Word 2013.

The Print page in the Backstage view has many settings that affect what will be printed. Here you can select the printer, which pages to print, how many pages to print on each sheet,

#### **Choose a printer**

- 1 Click File and then click Print.
- **2** If you want to use a different printer than the one selected, click the Printer box and choose from the drop-down list.
- 3 If necessary, click Printer Properties and select settings there.

The printer driver software for the current printer creates the Printer Properties dialog box, so the dialog boxes supplied by various manufacturers are different.

#### Print part of a document

1 To print specific pages, enter their page numbers in the Pages text box. You can specify individual pages by separating them with commas, as in 1,3,4,8. You can request a group of pages by entering the first and last page numbers separated by a dash, as in 12-15. You can also combine these methods, as in 1,3,12-15.

TIP If the document has multiple sections in which page numbering is restarted, you must combine the page number and the section number, as in **p1s3-p4s3** to print pages 1 through 4 in section 3. and more. Some settings, including orientation, page size, and margins, can be set here or on the Page Layout tab on the ribbon.

You might sometimes want to print a document as a folded booklet. Word can automatically reorder the pages so they print in the proper places. Although it can take several steps to get it right, you can do it!



## Print a booklet

- **1** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Margins and then click Custom Margins at the bottom of the gallery.
- 2 Click the Multiple Pages drop-down list and choose Book Fold.
- **3** If the document is large, you should print it in small groups to make them easier to fold and bind. Click the Sheets Per Booklet drop-down list and choose a value such as 4 or 8.
- 4 Click OK.
- 5 Click File and then click Print.
- 6 If Print One Sided is selected, change it to Print On Both Sides.
- 7 If the document is in Portrait orientation, the Book Fold setting changes the printer orientation to Landscape and turns the page images to read correctly. Don't change this setting.
- 8 Click Print.

**CAUTION** Before you print many sheets, output a test print to determine whether the printer orients the page on the back of the sheet correctly. If not, use the Printer Properties dialog box to change the duplex printing from short-edge binding to long-edge binding, or vice versa.

SEE ALSO For information about setting page size and orientation, see "Choosing page size and margins" on page 140 and "Changing the page orientation" on page 144.



# **Finding help in Word**

Microsoft Office 2013 installs an extensive Help system along with the software itself that you can use for assistance even if you're not connected to the Internet. When you are connected,

Use the Help feature in Word

- 1 Press F1 or click the question mark in the title bar of the Word window or any dialog box.
- **2** If the word OFFLINE appears in the Help dialog box while you're connected to the Internet, click the arrow and choose Word Help from Office.com.
- **3** Click one of the listed topics or enter a word or phrase in the Search Help box and then click the magnifying-glass icon.

you can access the Office Online help, which is both larger and more up-to-date.



# Finding help on the Internet

The Internet is a resource far larger than any help file on your computer. You can find tutorials, answer sites, forums, and templates to help you with almost anything that you want to do in Word 2013.

In your browser, use a web search engine to look for information about Word 2013.

- Visit a site such as *http://answers.microsoft.com* and search for questions and answers about a topic.
- Visit http://office.microsoft.com and click Templates in the navigation bar. Look for templates suitable for the task you want to do.

# Creating and revising documents

A re you ready to write something new? Whether it's a novel, a shopping list, a short memo, or a long report, you'll probably start with an empty page. In this section, you'll learn how to open a new Microsoft Word 2013 document and begin entering text. You'll also learn how to revise your text, including moving elements around and replacing one word or phrase with another.

Additionally, you'll often find that there are bits of text that can be used over and over. Word can store those pieces as building blocks. Then, you can easily insert them where they're needed. 3

#### In this section:

- Starting a new document
- Selecting text
- Inserting and overtyping text
- Copying and moving text
- Managing the Office clipboard
- Undoing mistaken actions
- Navigating a document
- Finding and replacing text
- Using wildcard find and replace
- Organizing topics
- Inserting and creating building blocks
- Managing building blocks

# Starting a new document

When you start Word 2013 from the program's shortcut, it opens with a new blank document already in place. That document is based on a special template named Normal.dotm. You can think of a template as an empty "container" document that has many styles and formats already defined, such as page size, fonts, text sizes, heading styles, colors, and so on. When you start with a template, all you really need to do is "pour" your text into the document by typing or pasting it from other

## Enter text in a new blank document

- **1** Start Word from its shortcut or from a document's shortcut.
- **2** If an existing document is open, create a new blank document by clicking File to open the Backstage view. Next, select New and then click Blank Document.
- 3 On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click Show/Hide I.

This makes nonprinting characters and symbols such as spaces, paragraph marks, and tabs visible in your document. If you no longer need to see these marks, click the same tool again to remove the characters from view.

4 Type some text.

Press the Enter key only at the end of a paragraph, not at the end of each line. Word automatically moves text to the next line when necessary.

TRY THIS To get some sample text to see the affects of various formats, press Enter to start a new paragraph, type either =rand() or =lorem(), and then press Enter.

sources. When Word is already running, you can create more documents based on Normal.dotm or based on any other template.

When a document is *based on* a template, it inherits that template's styles and any text that is in the template. Changes you make in the document don't change anything in the template unless you take special steps to make that happen.





## Start with a template

1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click New.

This page of the Backstage view shows some templates that are stored on your computer as well as others that are supplied online from Office.com.

- 2 Browse through these templates and click one that you want to use such as Invoice or Student Report. If none of the visible templates are appropriate for the document you want to create, in the Search Online Templates box, type a word or phrase and press Enter.
- 3 When the template's preview appears, click Create.



SEE ALSO For more information about starting Word, see "Starting the Word program" on page 12. For more information about the content of a new blank document, see "Working with the Normal template" on page 156.

SEE ALSO For more information about getting or creating more templates, see "Finding and downloading templates" on page 159 and "Designing a template" on page 165.

# **Selecting text**

Many things you do in Word 2013 require you to select the text that you want to manipulate. That's true for copying text, formatting text, replacing text with different words, applying styles,

#### Select text by using the mouse

- **1** To select a small amount of text, click and hold the mouse button at the beginning of the text that you want to select, drag to the end of the text, and then release the mouse button.
- 2 To select more than one screenful of text, click and release the mouse button at the beginning of the text to be selected. Use the vertical scroll bar (or the mouse's scroll wheel, if it has one) to move through the document. While holding down the Shift key, click the mouse button at the end of the text to be selected.
- **3** To select a single word, double-click anywhere in the word.
- **4** To select a sentence, hold down the Ctrl key while you click anywhere in the sentence.
- **5** To select a line, move the mouse cursor into the left margin next to the line and click there.
- **6** To select a paragraph, move the mouse cursor into the left margin next to the paragraph and double-click there.
- **7** To select everything in the main body of the document (not including headers, footers, footnotes, and endnotes), on the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Select and then click Select All.

and so on. Because selecting is so fundamental, Word offers several ways to do it. You can use the method that best suits your needs and with which you're most comfortable.



**TRY THIS** Select some text. Then, hold down the Ctrl key while you select some text elsewhere on the page. This "non-contiguous selection" can be used to apply the same formatting to multiple places all at once, without affecting everything in between.

TIP To deselect any selection, just click once anywhere in the document.

42 Selecting text: Select text by using the mouse



# Select by using the keyboard

- 1 Using the mouse or arrow keys, place the text cursor at the beginning of the text to be selected.
- **2** Hold down the Shift key while you use the arrow keys to move to the end of the desired selection.
- **3** To select a word, hold down both the Ctrl and Shift keys while pressing the left or right arrow key.
- **4** To select a paragraph, hold down both the Ctrl and Shift keys while pressing the up or down arrow key.
- **5** To select everything in the main body of the document (not including headers, footers, footnotes, or endnotes), press Ctrl+A.

TRY THIS The F8 key turns on Extend Mode. Press F8 once and move the cursor with the mouse or arrow keys, and Word will select continuously until you press Esc. Press F8 twice to select the current word, a third time to select the current sentence, a fourth time to select the current paragraph, and a fifth time to select the entire main document. For a moment the Canterville ghost stood quite motionless in natural indignation; then, dashing the bottle violently upon the polished floor, he fled down the corridor, uttering hollow groans, and emitting a ghastly green light. Just, however, as he reached the top of the great oak staircase, a door was flung open, two little

then, dashing the bottle violently upon the polished floor, he fled down the corridor, uttering hollow groans, and emitting a ghastly green light. Just, however, as he reached the top of the great oak staircase, a door was flung open, two little white-robed figures appeared, and a large pillow whized past his head! There

For a moment the Canterville ghost stood quite motionless in natural indignation; then, dashing the bottle violently upon the polished floor, he fled down the corridor, uttering hollow groans, and emitting a ghastly green light. Just, however, as he reached the top of the great oak staircase, a door was flung open, two little white-robed figures appeared, and a large pillow whizzed past his head! There was evidently no time to be lost, so, hastily adopting the Fourth Dimension of Space as a means of escape, he vanished through the wainscoting, and the house became quite quiet.

On reaching a small secret chamber in the left wing, he leaned up against a moonbeam to recover his breath, and began to try and realise his position. Never,

For a moment the Canterville ghost stood quite motionless in natural indignation; then, dashing the bottle violently upon the polished floor, he fled down the corridor, uttering hollow groans, and emitting a ghastly green light. Just, however, as he reached the top of the great oak staircase, a door was flung open, two little white-robed figures appeared, and a large pillow whizzed past his head! There was evidently no time to be lost, so, hastily adopting the Fourth Dimension of Space as a means of escape, he vanished through the wainscoting, and the house became quite quiet.

On reaching a small secret chamber in the left wing, he leaned up against a moonbeam to recover his breath, and began to try and realise his position. Never, in a brilliant and uninterrupted career of three hundred years, had he been so grossly insulted.

# Inserting and overtyping text

When you place the text cursor within existing text and start to type, you usually want the new text to push the old text to the right or down. Word calls this *Insert mode*. If you want to have

# Switch between Insert and Overtype

- **1** Right-click the status bar.
- 2 In the options menu that opens, click Overtype.

A check mark appears next to it.

- **3** On the status bar, see whether the indicator displays Insert or Overtype.
- **4** Press the Insert key or click the indicator in the status bar to toggle back and forth between Insert mode and Overtype mode.

each new character replace the next existing character, you can use *Overtype mode*. You can easily switch between the two modes.



TIP If pressing the Insert key doesn't change the mode, click File, choose Options, click Advanced, and then select the Use The Insert Key To Control Overtype Mode check box. Click OK to save the change.

44 Inserting and overtyping text: Switch between Insert and Overtype

# **Copying and moving Items**

You might need to copy a piece of text, a picture, or other item and repeat it in various places within the same document, in a different document, or even in a different Microsoft Office program. Or, you might want to remove (*cut*) the item from its original location and paste it elsewhere.

Windows provides a virtual area for the temporary storage of an item that you copy or cut that's called the *clipboard*. You can paste an item that's on the clipboard into many other locations. Be aware that the Windows clipboard stores only one item at a time; if you copy or cut anything else, the previous content is overwritten by the new content. Office provides a separate clipboard that can hold up to 24 items, but its contents are available only to Office programs.

When you paste text into Word 2013 from either the Windows clipboard or the Office clipboard, you can choose how to format it. Further, if the item on the clipboard is a picture, chart, Microsoft Excel worksheet, or anything other than text, you can control how the pasted copy behaves by using the Paste Special command.

## Copy or cut an item

- 1 Select the item that you want to copy or cut.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Clipboard group, click either Copy (shortcut, Ctrl+C) or Cut (shortcut, Ctrl+X).



## Paste an item

- 1 Click in the same document—or another document—at the desired location.
- 2 On the Home tab, in the Clipboard group, click the Paste button (shortcut, Ctrl+V).
- **3** If you need to change the appearance of the pasted text, click the Paste Options button next to the pasted text and choose one of the following options:
  - Keep Source Formatting to apply only the formatting of the text as it was copied.
  - Merge Formatting to combine the formatting of the source and the destination. For example, if the source was italic and the destination is bold, Merge Formatting makes the pasted text both italic and bold.
  - Keep Text Only to discard the source formatting and apply only the formatting that has been applied at the destination.

# **Use Paste Special**

- In Excel, enter some sample data in a worksheet and copy the data to the clipboard.
- **2** In your Word document, click where you want the copied Excel data to appear.
- **3** Click the down-arrow at the bottom of the Paste button and click Paste Special.





- **4** Click Paste Link, select Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object, and then click OK.
- **5** Right-click the table. In the shortcut menu that opens, point to Linked Worksheet Object, and then click Edit Link to go back to the worksheet in Excel.
- 6 Change some of the data in Excel.

Observe that the changes you make in Excel automatically appear in the linked table in Word.



**TIP** The list of formats offered in the Paste Special dialog box varies, depending on what type of object is in the clipboard.

# Managing the Office clipboard

Unlike the Windows clipboard, the Office clipboard can collect up to 24 items that you copy or cut. If you exceed 24 items, the oldest item in the clipboard is discarded, replaced by the item

Paste from the Office clipboard

- **1** On the Home tab, in the Clipboard group, click the dialog box launcher (the small arrow icon in the lower-right corner).
- **2** In the Clipboard pane, click the down-arrow next to any item and the click Paste to paste the item into the document.
- **3** You can click Paste All to paste all the items in the clipboard at the current selection in the document.
- **4** You can click the down-arrow next to any single item and click Delete to remove that item from the clipboard, or click Clear All to remove all the items at once.



TIP The items are shown in the Clipboard pane with the most recent one at the top. When you click Paste All, the items are pasted into the document in the order in which they were collected, with the most recent one at the bottom.

TIP To control where and when the Clipboard pane appears, click the Options button at the bottom of the Clipboard pane.

**48** Managing the Office clipboard: Paste from the Office clipboard

that you just copied or cut. You can paste one or more of those items in any order, or paste all of them at once.

# **Undoing mistaken actions**

It can't be prevented—people make mistakes. When that happens in a document, though, Word 2013 can often restore your document to its previous condition. The Undo feature also lets you try out editing or formatting, and if you don't like the result, you can simply go back and try something else. Word remembers the actions you take, and you can see them on the Undo button's drop-down list. You can then click one of the items in the list to undo that action and all the actions done after that one.

#### Undo one or more actions

- **1** Type some words in your document or change the formatting of some text.
- **2** On the Quick Access Toolbar, click the Undo button (or press Ctrl+Z).
- **3** Perform several different actions, such as adding text, applying a style from the gallery on the Home tab, and then deleting some text.
- **4** On the Quick Access Toolbar, click the down-arrow next to the Undo button.
- **5** In the drop-down list that appears, click an item, which highlights and undoes that action and all the items above it.

TIP If you save a document with incorrect contents and immediately realize the mistake, use the entire Undo list to restore the document's original contents and then save it again. If you've already closed the document, though, Word's list of actions on the Undo button has been erased; in that case, you will need to have a backup copy of the original file.

TIP The Redo button (also on the Quick Access Toolbar) repeats the most recent action.





# Navigating a document in the Navigation pane

Whenever your document grows longer than a few pages, locating specific places within it becomes more difficult. In Word 2013 you can find what you're looking for by using the Navigation pane. This pane includes a search box and three tabs—one each for Headings, Pages, and Results—that offer different ways of locating text, graphics, tables, and other objects. Click any of the items in the pane to move the cursor to the corresponding location in the document.

# Use the headings list

- If the Navigation pane isn't visible, click the View tab, and then in the Show group, select the Navigation Pane check box.
- 2 Open a document that contains headings and text.
- **3** Click a heading in the list on the Headings tab of the Navigation pane to jump to that heading's location.

# Use thumbnails

- 1 In the Navigation pane, click the Pages tab.
- **2** Click the thumbnail picture of any page to jump to the beginning of that page.



TAXONOMY

TIP The items shown on the Headings tab of the Navigation pane can include text that doesn't have a heading style applied to it. To remove an item from the list, right-click that text in the document, and then in the options menu that appears, click Paragraph and set the Outline Level to Body Text.

50 Navigating a document in the Navigation pane: Use the headings list

# Navigating by using the search feature

Often, the quickest way to get to a particular place in your document is to search for a word or phrase that you know is there. The Navigation pane's search box lets you do that with a minimum of effort.

Sometimes you need to look for something more complicated than a word or phrase. For example, you might want only

occurrences of a phrase with specific capitalization, or both the singular and plural forms of a word. You can even search for a person's name when you know what it sounds like but not how it's spelled. These abilities and more are available in the Advanced Find dialog box.

#### **Use search results**

- 1 In the Navigation pane, click the Results tab.
- 2 Click in the search box.
- 3 Type the word or phrase that you want to find.

As you type each letter, Word refines the results to only those that match the contents of the search box.

**4** Click one of the results to jump to the corresponding location in the document.

2 1 PURPOSE Navigation \* X This paper reports on the differences between butterflies members of the order Lepidoptera x . butterf 20 results . LIFE CYCLE OF LEPIDOPTERA HEADINGS PAGES RESULTS · All members of Lepidoptera lay eggs. They are attache particular range of host plants. This paper reports on the differences Butterfly larvae are known as caterpillars. of which are members of A caterpillar transforms into a pupa. Butterfly larvae are known as · The adult stage, known as the imago, has four wings caterpillars. Math ted age 1] Life Cycle of Lepidoptera e name "Heterocera" is used for

TIP If one occurrence of the word or phrase is already visible in the document, select it and press Ctrl+F. The selected text appears immediately in the search box, and all occurrences are shown in the Results tab.

TIP Click the Headings tab in the Navigation pane to see which headings contain the found text; or, click the Pages tab to see the locations in the thumbnails. TRY THIS Instead of searching for text, click the down-arrow at the right end of the search box and choose Graphics, Tables, Equations, Footnotes/Endnotes, or Comments to find items of those types. Click the up-arrow or down-arrow buttons that appear below the search box to move through the results.

# Use the Advanced Find dialog

**1** On the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Find and then click Advanced Find.

The Find And Replace dialog box opens.

- 2 If the dialog box isn't expanded, click the More button.
- **3** In the Search Options section, select one or more check boxes to change the way Word will execute the search.

If you want to find only text that has specific formatting, click Format, and then in the drop-down list that appears, click one of the items. You can specify more than one kind of formatting if necessary, such as Paragraph formatting and Highlighting.

			1
A . D1 C . 1	+	AA F	ind 👻
List Bullet	*	<b>#6</b>	<u>F</u> ind
	G	6¶6 →	Go To

			Find and	Replace	3 ×
Fin <u>d</u>	Replace	<u>G</u> o To			
hidw	nac.				•



- **4** If you need to search for items that you can't type from the keyboard, such as a section break or a paragraph mark, click Special and select the desired item from the drop-down list that appears.
- **5** Click the Find Next button to move the cursor from one occurrence to the next.
- 6 If you want to choose which part of the document to look in, such as the main document or the headers and footers, click the Find In button and choose the name of the desired part in the drop-down list. Word selects all the occurrences in that part.
- **7** Click Reading Highlight to apply a yellow highlight to all occurrences, which makes them easy to see as you scroll through the document.





**TRY THIS** While the cursor is in the Find What box, press Ctrl+B once to search for occurrences of the search term that are bold. Press Ctrl+B again to search for occurrences that are not bold, and a third time to search for all occurrences. The same method works with Ctrl+I for italic and Ctrl+U for underline.

TIP If there's a foreign character in the text that you'd like to find and you know of an occurrence of that character elsewhere in the document, copy it to the clipboard and paste it (Ctrl+V) into the search box.

# **Replacing existing text**

The Replace feature is one of the most powerful capabilities of Word 2013. You can make a simple replacement of one word or

#### **Replace text**

1 On the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Replace (shortcut, Ctrl+H).

The Find And Replace dialog box opens.

- 2 Type or paste the text to be replaced in the Find What box.
- 3 Type or paste the replacement text in the Replace With box.
- **4** Click Find Next to go to the next occurrence. Click Replace if you want to change that occurrence, or click Find Next again to leave it unchanged and go to the next occurrence.
- 5 If you want to change all the occurrences at once, click Replace All.

## **Replace formatting**

- In your document, select a few words and change the font color to red.
- 2 On the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Replace (shortcut, Ctrl+H).

The Find And Replace dialog box opens.

3 If the Find And Replace dialog box isn't expanded, click More.

TIP To limit the replacements to occurrences with specific capitalization, to whole words, or to other special circumstances, click More and select the desired search options.



phrase with another, and you can also change the formatting, the style, or the case of text—or all of those together.

#### 54 Replacing existing text: Replace text
- 4 Click in the Find What box, but leave it empty.
- **5** Click Format and then click Font.
- 6 In the Font Color gallery, select red and click OK.
- 7 Click in the Replace With box, but leave it empty.
- 8 Click Format and then click Font.
- 9 In the Font Style list, click Bold Italic and then click OK.



oths,

lants

Find

Format:

Format:

Find what:

Replace with:

Replace Go To

Font color: Red

# Using wildcard find and replace

Another option available to you when you're searching for something is to use a *wildcard*. This is a character or expression that represents a type of character or a range of characters in your text instead of specifying the exact characters themselves. For example, in simple searches, you can use wildcards such as ^? to instruct Word 2013 to search for any single character, or ^# to have it look for any single digit. These simple wildcards are listed under the Special button in the Advanced Find dialog box.

# Use wildcards in a Find expression

- 1 In a new blank document, type =rand(5,1) and press Enter to create sample text.
- **2** Copy one of the paragraphs and paste a copy immediately after the original so that there are two identical paragraphs together. (In real life, you might have sorted a list, resulting in multiple copies of the same item.)
- **3** On the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Find and then click Advanced Find.

The Find And Replace dialog box opens.

- 4 Click More and select the Use Wildcards check box.
- 5 Click in the Find What box and type (\*^13)\1. This expression instructs Word to find any occurrence of two consecutive identical paragraphs.
- 6 Click Find Next.

The Find And Replace dialog box also has an option labeled Use Wildcards that enables a more complicated set of wildcards. With this option, you can find and replace text in your document that can't be handled efficiently in any other way. As an example, if you have a list of people's names in "last-name, firstname" order, a wildcard replacement can reorder each name as "first-name last-name".

The wildcard feature uses a set of characters with special meanings to define the search.



#### Meanings of wildcards for advanced searches

Wildcard	Meaning	Example	
?	Any single character	h?t matches hat, hit, and hot, but does not match hart or hint	
*	Any number of characters (including zero)	h*t matches hat, hit, and hot, and also matches ht (inside height or weight), hart, hint, and halftone	
@	Any number of repetitions of the preceding character (including zero)	\$1@. matches \$1., \$11., and \$111. but does not match \$121.	
^13	A paragraph mark (ASCII 13)	.^13 matches a period at the end of a sentence, followed by a paragraph mark (¶).	
< >	The start and end of a word,	<ful and="" artful<="" but="" fuller,="" fully="" matches="" not="" td=""></ful>	
	respectively	eight> matches height and weight but not eighth	
[]	Any character from a sequence	h[ai]t matches hat and hit, but does not match hot or hut	
	or range of characters inside the brackets	[A-Z] matches any single uppercase letter, and [a-z] matches any single lowercase letter. [A-Za-z] matches any letter.	
[!]	Any character except those in the sequence or range of char- acters following the exclama- tion mark	h[!ou]t matches hat and hit as well as h1T and h%t, but does not match hot or hut	
()	Divide the search expres- sion into pieces that can be referenced in a replacement expression	(Soumya) (Singhi) matches Soumya Singhi, where each name can be referenced individually	
\1, \2, and so on	Refer to the first, second, piece in the matched text	After finding (Soumya) (Singhi), the sequence $2, 1$ in a replacement expression produces Singhi, Soumya	

# Use wildcards in a Replace expression

- 1 In a new blank document, type a list of names in "last-name, firstname" order, without middle names or initials, one per paragraph.
- 2 On the Home tab, click Replace.

The Find And Replace dialog box opens.

- 3 Click More and select the Use Wildcards check box.
- 4 In the Find What box, type (<\*>), (<\*>)(^13), including a space after the comma.
- 5 In the Replace With box, type \2 \1\3, including a space after the 2.
- 6 Click the Replace All button. The names are reordered as "firstname last-name."

² 🗛 • 🖄 • 🛓 = 🚍					
5					
Rath, Andrew¶					
Ray, Mike¶					
Ready, Rodrigo¶					
Reagan, April¶					
Reding, Jamie¶					
Regev, Barak¶					
Rehorik, Filip¶					
Reid, Miles¶					
Reiter, Tsvi¶					
¶ <sup>^</sup>					

1



**SEE ALSO** For more information about using wildcards, see "Finding and replacing characters using wildcards" at www.word.mvps.org/FAQs/General/UsingWildcards.htm.

58 Using wildcard find and replace: Use wildcards in a Replace expression

# **Organizing topics**

An important part of writing is organizing your thoughts into a coherent structure. Word 2013 gives you several ways to see and change the order of headings and subheadings, including the Outline view and the Navigation pane. In addition, Word 2013 introduces a new feature for collapsing and expanding headings in Print Layout view, just as you can in Outline view.

When you collapse the headings and then move a heading to a new position, all the text and subheadings contained within that heading also move. If you delete a heading that has been collapsed, everything it contains is also deleted.

# **Collapse and expand headings**

- 1 Open a document that contains headings and text.
- **2** If the display isn't already in Print Layout view, on the View tab, in the Views group, click Print Layout.
- 3 Point to a heading.
- **4** Click the triangle in the left margin next to the heading to collapse the content.
- 5 To expand the content under the heading, click the triangle again.





# Organize in Outline view or in the Navigation pane

- 1 If the Navigation pane isn't visible, on the View tab, in the Show group, select the Navigation Pane check box.
- 2 Open a document that contains headings and text.
- 3 On the View tab, in the Views group, click Outline.
- **4** Double-click the plus sign next to any heading to collapse it or expand it.
- **5** Drag a heading to another location in the document, using its plus sign as a handle.
- **6** On the Outlining contextual tab, in the Outline Tools group, use the arrows to promote a paragraph (make it a higher-level heading) or demote a paragraph (make it a lower-level heading).
- 7 Click Close Outline View.
- **8** In the Navigation pane, on the Headings tab, click the triangle to the left of a heading to collapse or expand it.

This affects only the display in the Navigation pane.

**9** Drag a heading in the Navigation pane to a new location.



# Inserting built-in building blocks

Word 2013 offers building blocks, which are predesigned, reusable items that you can insert into any document. The set of built-in building blocks includes cover pages, headers and footers, tables, text boxes, page numbers, equations, and watermarks. Each type of building block can be displayed in a gallery, in which you simply click an item to insert it in the document.

# Select a building block from a gallery

- 1 On the Insert tab, in the Pages group, click Cover Page.
- 2 In the Cover Page gallery, click one of the previews.





TIP If you don't like the cover page that's inserted, click Undo and try a different one.

Inserting built-in building blocks: Select a building block from a gallery 61

# **Creating your own building blocks**

As you work in Word 2013, you might find yourself using the same text or picture in more than a few different documents. You can save yourself some typing by turning that item into a building block.

# Create and save a building block

- 1 Right-click in the header area and then click Edit Header.
- **2** Type some text in the header, such as your name. Tab to the center of the header and press Alt+Shift+P to enter a page number.
- **3** Select the entire paragraph, but not the paragraph mark at the end.
- **4** On the Header & Footer Tools tab, in the Header & Footer group, click Header.
- **5** At the bottom of the Header gallery, click Save Selection To Header Gallery.
- **6** Type a name for the new building block.

There is no practical limit on the kind or size of items that you can store; save an entire table, several pages of text, a picture, a specialized watermark—the choice is yours.



TIP If you don't exclude the paragraph mark at the end of the text, the paragraph mark becomes part of the building block, too. If, for example, you insert that building block in a header that already contains a paragraph mark, the header will then contain two paragraph marks. That would make the header's height one line greater than desired.

62 Creating your own building blocks: Create and save a building block

- 7 Leave the Gallery drop-down list set to Headers.
- 8 Open the Category drop-down list and click Create New Category.

The gallery is divided into sections, one for each category, and you should make a new section for your custom building blocks.

- **9** In the Create New Category dialog box, type a name for a new category and click OK.
- **10** From the Save In drop-down list, choose the template in which to store the new building block.
- **11** Leave the Options set to Insert Content Only.

12 Click OK.

9 Jamie-Reding Lorem-insum-dolor-sit-am ? × Create New Building Block posuere.-magna-sed-pulvi lo-magna-eros 6 My Name and Page ¥ ¥ Create New Category. 8 Description Create New Cate ory ? × Normal.dotm Name: MyHeaders Options: Insert content only OK Cancel O 10 11

TIP In a gallery, the categories are listed in alphabetical order. To keep your own categories at the top of the gallery and avoid the need to scroll through the built-in building blocks, type an underscore as the first character of a new category name, such as \_MyHeaders.

TRY THIS Building blocks in the AutoText gallery have a special property. Create a building block in the AutoText gallery, leave it in the General category, and store it in the Normal.dotm template. When you type the first few characters of its name—enough to be unique among AutoText entry names—a ToolTip appears and you can press Enter to insert the entire entry. For any other kind of building block, you won't see a ToolTip, but you can type its name and press F3 to insert it.

# **Managing building blocks**

As you work in Word 2013, you might accumulate many custom building blocks in addition to the several dozen that are built in and many more that are available at Office.com. To manage this growing collection, Word provides a Building Blocks Organizer.

In the Organizer, you can see which building blocks are available, see how they're assigned to galleries, categories, and

**Use the Building Block Organizer** 

1 On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Quick Parts and click Building Blocks Organizer.

The Building Blocks Organizer dialog box opens.

- 2 Click a building block in the Building Blocks list.
- 3 Click Edit Properties.

The Modify Building Blocks dialog box opens.

templates, and look at a preview. You can edit a building block's properties—for example, you can change its category or move it to a different template. You can also delete the selected build-ing block from its template, or you can insert the building block into your document.





TIP If you change the template named in the Save In drop-down list, the entry is moved from one template to another, resulting in changes in both templates. When you shut down Word, you'll be prompted to save the change in each template. 4 In the Modify Building Block dialog box, change the building block properties as desired and then click OK. Click the Yes button in the confirmation prompt dialog box to redefine the building block entry.



TIP Word's built-in building blocks are stored in your profile in the Built-In Building Blocks.dotx file (%AppData% \Microsoft\ Document Building Blocks\1033\15\Built-In Building Blocks.dotx). You can save other templates in that folder, and Word will use any building blocks you create in those templates. TIP When you save a building block, you must choose from a limited list of templates in the Save In dialog box. The templates Normal.dotm and Built-In Building Blocks.dotx are always available in the Save In list. If the current document is based on a template other than Normal.dotm, that template will also be in the Save In list.

# Correcting and improving the text

Preventing or correcting any spelling and grammar errors is an important factor in effective writing. Microsoft Word 2013 has several tools to help you review and revise your text, including automatic correction of common typing mistakes, a spelling dictionary that can even suggest when you might have used the wrong word, and a grammar checker that helps you to express your thoughts clearly.

With Word's language tools you can translate your documents into many languages, or translate documents you receive from others so that you can read them. In Microsoft Office 2013, for the first time, the dictionaries and other proofing tools for many languages are available from the Microsoft website as free downloads. 4

#### In this section:

- Correcting a spelling or grammar error
- Running a manual spelling check
- Marking text to ignore spelling
- Adding common misspellings to AutoCorrect
- Using AutoCorrect entries as shortcuts
- Removing AutoCorrect entries
- Setting AutoFormat options
- Getting definitions and synonyms
- Counting words
- Finding a translation
- Changing the proofing language

# Correcting a spelling or grammar error

No one types perfectly all the time. With that in mind, the spelling checker in Word 2013 can continuously compare your words to its dictionaries to detect typographical errors. In addition to its main dictionary, you can specify that Word use one or more custom dictionaries to which you can add your own words. The grammar checker can examine your text with a set of rules that can assist toward improving your writing.

When a word doesn't match anything in either the built-in dictionary or your custom dictionary, Word identifies it by using a red wavy underline, sometimes called a *squiggle*. The word might be a misspelling, or it could be a name or a word from a specialized field. If it is an error, you can easily correct it. However, if the word is correctly spelled but unrecognized, you can add it to your custom dictionary so that it won't be flagged again.

Select a suggested correction

**1** Right-click a word that is marked with a red or blue squiggle.

A shortcut menu appears, in which you can find solutions to the problem.

- 2 If one or more suggestions appear at the top of the shortcut menu, click the one that corrects the error, or manually correct the text.
- **3** If the item at the top of the shortcut menu is (*No Spelling Sugges-tions*) or a grammar rule that includes (*Consider Revising*), manually correct the text.

**TIP** Previous versions of Word marked grammar errors with green squiggles. In Word 2013, they are marked with blue squiggles.

Word also tries to identify words that are spelled correctly but aren't appropriate for the context in which they're used. These *contextual errors* are usually words that sound alike such as *there, their,* and *they're.* The program highlights these words by using blue squiggle underlines.

The grammar checker also uses a blue squiggle to point out text that violates certain rules. These kinds of errors include incomplete sentences, subject-verb disagreement, and incorrect capitalization and punctuation. You can also choose to have the grammar checker examine style issues such as passive sentences and very long sentences.



68 Correcting a spelling or grammar error: Select a suggested correction

#### Add a word to the custom dictionary

- 1 Right-click a word that is marked with a red or blue squiggle.
- 2 In the shortcut menu that appears, click Add To Dictionary.

	) 1
When Jo	seph Finsbury and his brother Masterman were little lads in white-frilled
Fins bury	ather—a well-to-do merchant in Cheapside—caused them to join a
Ignore All	ntine of seven and thirty lives. A thousand pounds was the entrance
Add to Dictiona	$^{\circ}$ $\wedge$ tontine—all children like himself—were assembled together, and sat
Hyperlink	g office chair, and signed their names with the assistance of a kind old
New Comment	ectacles and Wellington boots. He remembers playing with the
cinitaren an	orwards on the lawn at the back of the lawyer's house, and a battle royal

**TIP** Yet another use of blue squiggles is to mark formatting inconsistency, which occurs when you apply direct formatting that matches an available style. For example, if you apply italic direct formatting to some text, Word suggests that you should apply the style named Emphasis, instead.

**CAUTION** Like most computer programs that deal with natural language, Word's grammar checker can misinterpret your text. It might indicate an error where there is none, and it might miss errors. You must use your judgment when reviewing your writing. TIP You can load several custom dictionaries simultaneously so that the spelling checker can match words in any of them. However, you can use only one of these dictionaries as the *default* custom dictionary for a particular language. When you click Add To Dictionary, the selected word goes into the default custom dictionary for its language.

SEE ALSO For information about choosing how the spelling and grammar checkers work, see "Setting spelling and grammar options" on page 430.

Correcting a spelling or grammar error: Add a word to the custom dictionary 69

# Running a manual spelling or grammar check

You might want not to see squiggles in the document while you're concentrating on typing, preferring instead to check all

#### Use the spelling and grammar panes

 On the Review tab, in the Proofing group, click Spelling & Grammar (shortcut, F7).

The Spelling pane appears along the side of the document work area.

- **2** Each time the Spelling pane identifies a word as incorrect, you can click a replacement in the list that appears and click either Change or Change All. If the word is spelled correctly, click either Ignore or Ignore All. If you want to enter it in your custom dictionary, click Add.
- **3** For each grammar error, read the suggestion and examples to help you decide how to reword the text.

the text in one pass when you're ready. At any time you can choose to run a manual check of spelling and grammar.





Ø

TIP Click any squiggle in the text to display that error in the Spelling pane or the Grammar pane.

SEE ALSO For information about disabling the continuous spelling and grammar checker, see "Setting spelling and grammar options" on page 430.

70 Running a manual spelling or grammar check: Use the spelling and grammar panes

www.it-ebooks.info

3

# Marking text to ignore spelling

When you see a red squiggle under a name or other word that you know is correctly spelled, you might not want to add it to your custom dictionary. Instead, you can just mark it so that the spelling checker will ignore it in the current document. Later, you can turn off the Ignore option and recheck the document.

#### Ignore a spelling error

- 1 Right-click a word marked with a red squiggle.
- **2** Click Ignore All to mark every occurrence of that word in the entire document.

#### **Recheck the document**

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click Options.
- 2 Click Proofing.
- 3 Click Recheck Document.
- **4** In the confirmation box that asks whether you want to continue with the recheck, click Yes, and then in the Options dialog box, click OK.

TIP On the Review tab, in the Proofing group, you can click Spelling & Grammar to open the Spelling pane, in which you can click Ignore to mark a single occurrence of a word, or click Ignore All to mark all occurrences of the same word in the document.

SEE ALSO For information about ignoring spelling in a large area of text or for all text formatted with a particular style, see "Mark text for no proofing" on page 88.



# Adding common misspellings to AutoCorrect

The AutoCorrect feature of Word 2013 instantly replaces common misspellings with the corrected spelling. The feature compares each word you type to a list of known errors. If it finds a match, it substitutes the corresponding replacement text. When you install Office 2013, you start with a list of nearly a thousand AutoCorrect entries. You can add your own corrections to that list. By default, AutoCorrect tries to match a misspelled word to a word in the main dictionary that the spelling checker uses, and it makes the correction if there is only one suggestion for the replacement. You can disable this feature if you prefer not to use it.

# Add a spelling correction to AutoCorrect

- 1 Select a misspelled word.
- 2 Click the Backstage view and then click Options.

The Word Options dialog box opens.

- 3 Click Proofing and then click AutoCorrect Options.
- **4** The misspelled word you selected automatically appears under the Replace label.
- 5 Type the desired replacement text under the With label.
- 6 Click Add.
- 7 Click OK.



**TIP** The AutoCorrect substitution occurs in a document when you type a space or punctuation after the characters that Word recognizes.



72 Adding common misspellings to AutoCorrect: Add a spelling correction to AutoCorrect

# Set AutoCorrect options

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click Options.
- 2 Click Proofing and then click AutoCorrect Options.
- **3** Select or clear the check boxes in the top half of the dialog box to set how AutoCorrect should treat capitalization errors.
- **4** If you don't want AutoCorrect to use suggestions from the main spelling dictionary, clear this check box.
- **5** Click Exceptions if you want to specify situations that AutoCorrect should ignore.
- **6** If you want to prevent AutoCorrect from capitalizing a word that you type after a specific abbreviation, on the First Letter tab in the AutoCorrect Exceptions dialog box, type the abbreviation in the Don't Capitalize After box and then click Add.
- 7 If you want to prevent AutoCorrect from correcting a word that contains mixed uppercase and lowercase letters, on the Initial Caps tab in the AutoCorrect Exceptions dialog box, type the word in the Don't Correct text box and then click Add.

**TIP** If you leave the check box selected for Show AutoCorrect Options Buttons, you can point to the beginning of text that AutoCorrect replaced. Word displays a small AutoCorrect Options button. Click that button to display options for reversing the replacement. Alternatively, click the Undo button or press Ctrl+Z.



**TIP** You can select an entry in the AutoCorrect Options dialog box and click Delete to remove the entry from the list.

TIP Keep the Automatically Add Words To List option selected. When you edit a document and you click Undo (or press Ctrl+Z) to remove an unwanted AutoCorrect change, Word adds the unwanted change to the exceptions list.



Adding common misspellings to AutoCorrect: Set AutoCorrect options 73

# Using AutoCorrect entries as shortcuts

Although it's useful to have many spelling errors corrected automatically, the AutoCorrect feature can do more. Similar to Building Block entries, the replacement part of an AutoCorrect entry can hold nearly anything that you can put into a document, including formatted text, graphics, tables, and text boxes. Unlike a building block, however, an AutoCorrect entry's replacement

# Build a custom AutoCorrect entry

- **1** Type the desired replacement text in a document and apply a style or direct formatting to it if needed. You can also include other objects such as pictures or tables. Select the entire replacement.
- 2 Click File to display the Backstage View and then click Options.

appears in the document as soon as you type the entry—there's no need to press Enter or F3 afterward.

The AutoCorrect list contains both plain text replacements and formatted replacements. The plain text entries operate in most of the Office 2013 applications, but the formatted entries work only in Word.





**3** Click Proofing and then click AutoCorrect Options.

The AutoCorrect Options dialog box opens.

- **4** The replacement automatically appears in the text box under the With label, and the Formatted Text option is activated unless the replacement contains only plain text.
- 5 In the text box under the Replace label, type the characters that Word will recognize as the "name" of the entry.
- 6 Click Add.
- 7 Click OK.





TIP To make your custom entries easier to remember and to avoid inserting an entry by mistake, begin the entry's name with an uncommon character such as a backslash (\) or a hash (#).

Using AutoCorrect entries as shortcuts: Build a custom AutoCorrect entry 75

# **Setting AutoFormat options**

Word 2013 has the ability to apply some formatting to your text automatically. You might find that this is very helpful. However, if you don't understand why the changes occur, and how to control them or undo them, it can be very frustrating and your document can become an unsightly mess. There are two separate parts of the AutoFormat feature. The part called AutoFormat does nothing until you start it with a manual command; it applies all of its rules in one pass. The part called AutoFormat As You Type applies its rules one by one, as soon as you type something the feature recognizes. The parts are controlled on separate pages of options in the AutoCorrect Options dialog box.

# **Explore the AutoFormat As You Type options**

- **1** Click the Backstage view and then click Options.
  - The Word Options dialog box opens.
- 2 Click Proofing and then click AutoCorrect Options.

The AutoCorrect Options dialog box opens.



**TIP** Whenever Word applies an unwanted automatic change, immediately click Undo or press Ctrl+Z to remove the change.

76 Setting AutoFormat options: Explore the AutoFormat As You Type options

- **3** Click the AutoFormat As You Type tab.
- 4 The options in the Replace As You Type section control the replacement of specific characters (such as quotes and fractions) and character formatting (such as Internet addresses). You'll probably want to keep the options in this group selected, once you know what they do.
- 5 The options in the Apply As You Type section change the text's paragraph style according to what you type. These options can cause unwanted changes and might be more annoying than help-ful. The option to apply border lines causes trouble for many users because it applies a bottom border to the paragraph *before* the one in which you're typing. It's likely that you will rarely use the other options in this group, so you can usually clear their check boxes.
- **6** You should clear the options in the Automatically As You Type section because they often make unwanted changes in the document.





**TIP** To read full descriptions of the options in the dialog box, press F1 and search for the topic *Undo or Turn Off Automatic tting*.

Setting AutoFormat options: Explore the AutoFormat As You Type options 77

### Perform a manual AutoFormat

- Click File to display the Backstage view and then click Options. The Word Options dialog box opens.
- **2** Click Proofing and then click AutoCorrect Options.

The AutoCorrect Options dialog box opens.

- Click the AutoFormat tab and set the options as you prefer.
   Most of these options are the same as those for AutoFormat As You Type.
- 4 Click OK.
- **5** Press Ctrl+Alt+K, the keyboard shortcut for the AutoFormat Now command.



SEE ALSO For information about adding a button to the Quick Access Toolbar to run the AutoFormat Now command, see "Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar" on page 421.



# Getting definitions and synonyms

When you want to know the meaning of a word or phrase, or you want to view a list of synonyms, you don't have to leave

# **Get a definition from Encarta Dictionary**

- **1** Hold down the Alt key while you click the word that you need defined.
- **2** If Encarta Dictionary isn't the current source shown in the Research pane, click the arrow and select Encarta Dictionary from the drop-down list.

#### Get a definition from another dictionary

- 1 Select the word that you need defined.
- 2 On the Review tab, in the Proofing group, click Define.
- **3** If you haven't previously used the Define feature, select a dictionary from the list and click Download.
- 4 Read the definition in the dictionary's pane.

your document; Word 2013 gives you direct access to dictionaries, a thesaurus, web search, and other research sources.





TIP The dictionaries offered in the pane are Apps for Office. For more information about these apps, see "Adding an app from the Office Store" on page 406.

Getting definitions and synonyms: Get a definition from Encarta Dictionary 79

# Get a synonym on the shortcut menu

- **1** Right-click the word for which you want synonyms.
- 2 Point to Synonyms.
- **3** If you prefer one of the synonyms, click it to replace the original word in the document.
- **4** If there are no synonyms in the list, click Thesaurus to search for a synonym in the online thesaurus.

1			>	-
T1		1		A. 1. A. P. 1. 1.
I his paper reports on the difference members of the order Lepidoptera	X	Cut	_and m	otns, both of which are
memoero er me eroer zeproeptera.	Ee	Сору		
LIFE CYCLE OF LEPIDOPT	Ê	Paste Option	:	
<ul> <li>All members of Lepidoptera lay</li> </ul>		Ĉ		lants. Each species has a
particular range of host plants.	А	<u>F</u> ont		
<ul> <li>Butterfly larvae are known as cat</li> </ul>	Ē	<u>P</u> aragraph		
<ul> <li>A caterpillar transforms into a pu</li> </ul>	20	Block Authors		
<ul> <li>The adult stage, known as the im</li> </ul>	٩	<u>D</u> efine		
		S <u>y</u> nonyms	►	changes
	B;	Tran <u>s</u> late		alterations
egg larva		S <u>e</u> arch with Bi	ng	variances
		<u>H</u> yperlink		modifications
	*2	New Co <u>m</u> mer	nt	transformations
				metamorphoses 🗟
				consistencies (Antonyr
				dissimilarities
TAXONOMY	Thesaurus			
				1



# Get a synonym from the Thesaurus

- **1** Click the word for which you want synonyms.
- 2 On the Review tab, in the Proofing group, click Thesaurus.
- **3** If you want to replace the selected word in the document with one of the synonyms in the Thesaurus pane, click the down-arrow next to the synonym and then click Insert. Or you can choose Copy to put the synonym on the clipboard for future use.
- 4 If none of the synonyms in the list are useful, you can click one of the words that seems closest to your preference to refresh the list with synonyms of that word.





# **Counting words**

In academic reports, news articles, and many other applications, it's important to know how many words you've typed in a

#### Show the word count on the status bar

1 If the word count doesn't already appear in the left part of the status bar, right-click the status bar.

The Customize Status Bar pop-up window appears.

- 2 Click Word Count to place a check mark next to it.
- 3 Click in the document to dismiss the pop-up window.

document. Word 2013 can show a continuous tally in the status bar, and it presents more extensive information in a dialog box.



#### Open the word count dialog box

- 1 On the Review tab, in the Proofing group, click Word Count.
- **2** You can choose whether the count includes only the text in the main body of the document or whether it also includes text boxes, footnotes, and endnotes. Select or clear the check box at the bottom of the list, as preferred.

TIP If the word count appears in the status bar, you can click it to open the Word Count dialog box, in which you can see the other statistics.



# **Finding a translation**

If you exchange files with friends or coworkers who speak another language, you might find the translation tools that Word offers to be useful. You can get the translation of selected

# **Choose translation languages**

**1** On the Review tab, in the Language group, click Translate and then click Choose Translation Language.

The Translation Language Options dialog box opens.

- 2 Select the language that you want the Mini Translator to use.
- **3** Select the source and destination languages that you want the Research pane and the web-based translator to use.

You can change these choices when the Research pane or the webpage appears.

- **4** If Microsoft makes available updates to the translation feature, the New Translation Services link appears. Click it to download the updates.
- 5 Click OK.

text in the Research pane, in your web browser, or in the Mini Translator that pops up next to the selection. You can even request a translation of the entire document.





#### **Translate selected text**

- **1** Select the text that you want translated.
- **2** On the Review tab, in the Language group, click Translate and then click Translate Selected Text.
- **3** Click Insert to replace the selected text with the translation from the Research pane.
- **4** If you want to see a translation into another language, click the down-arrow for the To drop-down list and select the desired language.
- **5** If you want to translate the entire document, click the down-arrow next to Translate The Whole Document. In the confirmation box that opens, click Send. The translation appears in your default web browser.





TIP To translate the entire document without displaying the Research pane, on the Review tab, in the Language group, click Translate and then click Translate Document.

#### Use the Mini Translator

- **1** On the Review tab, in the Language group, click Translate. Click Mini Translator to turn it on, if it isn't already turned on.
- 2 Select the text that you want translated.
- **3** Hold the cursor over the selected text until the Mini Translator appears.
- **4** Click Expand to open the Research pane for more information about the translation.
- **5** Click Copy to copy the contents of the Mini Translator to the clipboard.
- 6 Click Play to hear the translation spoken aloud.

For this feature to work, you must install a text-to-speech engine for the language that you want to use.

- 7 Click Help to read more about translation features.
- **8** If Microsoft makes available updates to the translation feature, the Update Services icon appears. Click it to download the updates.





SEE ALSO For information about installing text-to-speech engines, search the Word Help for the topic "Using the Speak feature with Multilingual TTS."

# Changing the proofing language of text

Word 2013 can check the spelling and grammar of many different languages, even within a single document. The proofing language of any part of the text is a formatting attribute, similar to bold or italic, and you can change it as needed.

Each language version of Office 2013 includes proofing tools dictionaries for spelling and hyphenation, a thesaurus, and rules for grammar—for a set of companion languages. For example, when you install the English version of Office 2013, it includes proofing tools for Spanish and French as well as English. You can download free proofing tool packages for additional languages from the Microsoft Office website as you need them.

For some purposes you might want to prevent spelling and grammar checking of some parts of your document. For example, programming code contains many words that don't occur in Word's dictionary. Instead of setting the spelling checker to ignore each word individually, you can mark the whole passage so that it won't be checked.

# Set the proofing language

- 1 Select the text for which you want to set the proofing language.
- **2** On the Review tab, in the Language group, click the Language button and then click Set Proofing Language.

The Language dialog box opens.

- **3** Click the language that you want to use to check the spelling in the selection.
- 4 If you want to change the proofing language for all future new documents based on the Normal.dotm template, click Set As Default.
- 5 Click OK.



86 Changing the proofing language of text: Set the proofing language



# Download a proofing package

- **1** Set the proofing language for some text to the desired language.
- **2** If the Missing Proofing Tools banner appears below the ribbon, click Download. Then, skip steps 3 and 4, and resume at step 5.
- **3** If the Missing Proofing Tools banner doesn't appear, on the Review tab, in the Language group, click Language and then click Language Preferences.
- **4** In the Choose Editing Languages section, locate the desired language. If the notation Installed doesn't appear for that language, click the Not Installed link.
- **5** Your default browser opens to a webpage at Office.com. Select the language that you want and click Download.
- 6 Run the downloaded installer program.







Changing the proofing language of text: Download a proofing package 87

# Mark text for no proofing

- **1** Select the text for which you want to prevent proofing.
- **2** On the Review tab, in the Language group, click the Language button and then click Set Proofing Language.

The Language dialog box opens.

Q

71.

**3** Select the Do Not Check Spelling Or Grammar check box and click OK.





TRY THIS You can add the setting for Do Not Check Spelling Or Grammar to the definition of a style. In the Modify Style dialog box, click Format, and then in the drop-down list that appears, click Language. Select the Do Not Check Spelling Or Grammar check box and click OK.

**SEE ALSO** For information about marking individual words to ignore spelling, see "Marking text to ignore spelling" on page

88 Changing the proofing language of text: Mark text for no proofing

# Formatting text for best appearance

Vou might use Microsoft Word 2013 to write a report, create a cookbook, or compose a letter. No matter what document you're working on, though, the appearance of your text is nearly as important as its content in getting your point across.

In this section you'll learn to use styles, which are collections of formats that can be applied in groups. You'll also find out how to apply direct formatting to selected text in addition to its style.

Lists of items are very common in Word documents. If the order of the items in a list is important, you can automatically number them. If all the items are equally important, you can format the list items as a bullet list using the standard solid-black dot or other shapes of your choosing.

When you modify an existing document, especially one that you didn't create yourself, you need to know what styles and direct formatting are responsible for the appearance of each part of the text. Word 2013 has tools to assist you in getting the job done.

# 5

#### In this section:

- Formatting with styles
- Creating and modifying styles
- Using the Styles pane
- Changing character formatting
- Applying highlighting
- Using the Format Painter
- Changing paragraph formatting
- Adding borders and shading
- Building a bulleted or numbered list
- Using multilevel numbered headings
- Revealing existing formatting

# Formatting with styles

In Word 2013, most of the properties that determine the appearance of your text are divided into *character formats* and *paragraph formats*. Among the character formats are font name, font size, bold, italic, and underline. The character format commands are on the Home tab, in the Font group. The paragraph formats include line spacing, the spacing before and after paragraphs, alignment, and indents. The paragraph format commands are also on the Home tab, but in the Paragraph group.

A *style* is a collection of formats that are applied all at once. There are several kinds of styles:

- A *paragraph style* formats at least one whole paragraph. It includes both font formats and paragraph formats.
- A character style can format as little as a single character. It includes only character formats. You can add a character style to selected text, and it will overwrite the character formats defined by the text's paragraph style.

- A linked style acts like a paragraph style—setting both character formats and paragraph formats—if you apply it to an entire paragraph. It acts like a character style setting only character formats—if you select less than an entire paragraph before you apply the style.
- A *table style* applies only to tables. It includes some character and paragraph formats plus borders and shading of cells, rows, and columns.

Every paragraph has some paragraph style. If you haven't applied any other style to a paragraph, by default, it has the Normal style. When you apply a style to part of your document, that text is formatted with all the settings defined in the style. If you change the definition of the style, all the parts of the document with that style change at once. It is in this way that styles can make formatting your document quicker, while also making the appearance of elements in your document consistent and easy to change.
#### **Recognize kinds of styles**

**1** On the Home tab, in the lower-right corner of the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher (the small arrow icon).

You can also press Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S as a shortcut.

- **2** If the Styles pane contains only a few styles, click the Options link at the bottom of the pane. Otherwise, proceed to step 6.
- **3** In the Style Pane Options dialog box, in the Select Styles To Show drop-down list, select All Styles.
- 4 In the Select How List Is Sorted drop-down list, select Alphabetical.
- 5 Click OK.
- 6 Examine the symbols on the right side of the Styles pane. These symbols identify paragraph styles (11), character styles (a), and linked styles (11a).
- 7 To see the table styles, you need to first insert a table in a document. On the Insert tab, in the Tables group, click Table and then click one of the squares in the gallery that opens. On the Table Tools | Design contextual tab, examine the Table Styles gallery.





## Apply a paragraph style from the Styles gallery

- 1 Click in the paragraph to which you want to apply a different paragraph style.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Styles group gallery, point to the desired paragraph style or linked style and look at the live preview in the selected paragraph. When the live preview displays the format that you like, click the desired style in the gallery to apply it to the selected text.

those individuals who lack experience to participate in ju careers, and they are engaged at the onset of their work

Eligibility Requirements:

1

To meet eligibility requirements for the NASA Pathways 2 years, a qualifying associates, bachelors, masters, prof



**CAUTION** If the desired style is a linked style and you want to apply only its character formats, when you select the text, be sure not to include the paragraph mark (1) as part of the selection. Otherwise, the linked style will be applied like a paragraph style.

**TRY THIS** You can also apply a style that isn't in the Styles gallery. On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher to open the Styles pane. There, you can click the name of the style you want.

92 Formatting with styles: Apply a paragraph style from the Styles gallery

# Apply a character style from the Styles gallery

- **1** Select the part of a paragraph for which you want to change the character format.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Styles group gallery, point to the desired paragraph style or linked style and look at the live preview in the selected text. When the live preview displays the format that you like, click the desired style in the gallery to apply it to the selected text.

Eligibility Requirements:¶ To meet eligibility requirements]for the NASA Pathways 2 years, a qualifying associates, bachelors, masters, pro



SEE ALSO For information about assigning a keyboard shortcut to apply a style, see "Customizing the keyboard" on page 417.

**TRY THIS** Press Ctrl+Shift+S to open the Apply Styles dialog box. Click an item in the Style Name list, or just start typing the style name until the desired style appears in the list. Click the Apply button to apply the style to the text at the current selection.

# **Creating and modifying styles**

Word 2013 includes dozens of built-in styles to format many kinds of text, but you might want something different. If you can't find what you'd like among the built-in styles, you can modify the formatting of any of those styles, or you can build your own styles to suit your needs.

When you create or modify a character style, you can specify any of the font formats—font name and size, color, bold, italic, and so forth. You can also set the proofing language, define borders and shading, and add text effects such as a shadow or an outline around the letters.

When you create or modify a paragraph style or a linked style, you can specify the same formats that are available for a character style, plus the paragraph formats: outline level, alignment and indentation, line spacing, tab stops, numbering, and more.

#### Modify an existing style by example

- 1 Change the formatting of some text in your document so that it has the appearance you want for the modified style. Select the changed text.
- 2 If the style you want to modify is shown in the Styles group gallery on the Home tab, right-click it and then click Update *style name* To Match Selection (where *style name* is the actual name of the style of the text you're modifying).

In Word 2013, you can also modify an existing style or create a new style by formatting some text with the desired appearance and then assigning a name to the style. This procedure uses the selected text as the basis upon which to define the style. If you need more control over all the formats in the style, you can use a dialog box, instead.

Each time you create or change a style by using a dialog box, you can choose whether to store the result only in the current document or in the template on which the document is based. If the document is based on the Normal.dotm template, the new or changed style will appear in new, blank documents.



**3** If the style you want to modify is not shown in the Styles group gallery, click the Styles group dialog box launcher (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+-Shift+S). Then, right-click the desired style and click Update *style name* To Match Selection.

TIP Any style you modify by example will be stored only in the current document. It won't affect the document's template. If you want to store the style in the document's template, use the Modify Style dialog box, as described below.

#### Modify an existing style by using a dialog box

- 1 If the style you want to modify is shown in the Styles group gallery on the Home tab, right-click it and then click Modify.
- **2** If the style you want to modify is not shown in the Styles group gallery, click the dialog box launcher in the Styles group (short-cut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S). Then, right-click the desired style and click Modify.





Creating and modifying styles: Modify an existing style by using a dialog box 95

- **3** The group of items in the Formatting section represent the most commonly changed font and paragraph formats. (If the selected style is a character style, the paragraph formats are disabled.) Change any of the settings in this group to your preferences.
- **4** By default, the Only In This Document option is selected. If you want your changes to be saved in the document's template, click the New Documents Based On This Template option.
- **5** If you want to change any formats that aren't in the group of items in the Formatting section, click the Format button and then, in the drop-down list that appears, click an item.

Properties         Name:       Linked (paragraph and character)         Style type:       Linked (paragraph and character)         Style type:       Linked (paragraph and character)         Style type:       Normal         Style type:       Modif         Formatting       Modif         Process Paragraph Process Paragrap		Mo	dify Style			?	×	
Name:       Heading         Style type:       Linked (paragraph and character)         Style based on:       Investigation         Style for following paragraph:       Investigation         Formatting       Investigation         Formatting       Investigation         Previous Paragraph Previous Paragrap	Properties							
Style type: Linked (paragraph and character) Style for following paragraph: Formatting Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Calibri Light (Head 16 V B I U E LAYOUT Modil Properties Paragraph Parlowing Paragraph Fallowing Paragraph Fall	<u>N</u> ame:	Heading 1						
Style based on: Image: Style for following paragraph:   Style for following paragraph: Image: Style for following paragraph:   Calibri Light (Head is 16 is in the style paragraph Previous Paragra	Style type:	Linked (para	graph and cha	racter)			~	
Style for following paragraph: Image: Style for following paragraph:   Formatting   Calibri Light (Heac) 16 )   B J   Calibri Light (Heac) 16 )   Paragraph Perions Paragraph Perions Paragraph Perions   Paragraph Perions Par	Style <u>b</u> ased on:	¶ Normal					¥	
Calibri Light (Heat 16 )       B       I </td <td>Style for following paragraph:</td> <td>¶ Normal</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>~</td> <td></td>	Style for following paragraph:	¶ Normal					~	
Calibri Light (Heac 16 )       B       I </td <td>Formatting</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Formatting							
Image in the second	Calibri Light (Heac 🗸 16 🗸	B I U						
Previous Paragraph		3	E LAYOUT					Mod
Previous Pragraph Pollowing		= =	A A /	Properties				
Eligibility Requirements:         Pollowing Paragraph Following Para	Previous Paragraph Previous Paragra Paragraph Previous Paragraph Previo	ph Previous Parag	ia ia2 🔼 al	<u>N</u> ame:			Head	ling 1
Eligibility Requirements:         Pollowing Puragraph Following Pura	Faigipt Periods Faigipt Period	rus z mugrupu z rev	(A) * 2	Style type:			Linke	ed (parag
Following Prangraph Following Pran	Eligibility Requirements	: sganh Following		Style <u>b</u> ased	on:		11	Normal
Pollowing Prangaph Following Prangaph	Following Paragraph Following Para	igraph Following l		<u>S</u> tyle for fo	lowing para	agraph:	911	Normal
Polloving Paragraph Folloving Paragraph Previous Paragraph Polloving Paragraph Pollovin	Following Paragraph Following Para Following Paragraph Following Para	igraph Following I igraph Following l	e to particip	Formatting -				
Font: [Default] + Headings (Calibri Light), 16 p Line spacing: single, Space Before: 16 pt Atter: 0 pt, Keep with next, Keep lines toget ifying assoc 0 Only in this gocument ○ New documents 2 years of eting these the qualific United State any Agency tes may be asting 1-4 y ssfully com am.¶       Image: Comparison of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state	Following Paragraph Following Para Following Paragraph Following Para	ıgraph Following l ıgraph Following l	e onset of th	Calibri Ligi	nt (Heac 🗸	16 🗸	в	I U
Line spacing: single, Space       Require         Before: 16 pt       Atter: 0 pt, Keep with next, Keep lines toget         Itiv require       Itiv require         Itiv require       Add to the £tyles gallery         Only in this gocument       New documents         Format •       Personal Paragraph Pollowing	Font: (Default) +Headings (Cali	bri Light), 16	p1					
Adter: 0 pt, Keep with next, Keep lines toget fying assoc Add to the Styles gallery Automatically a o Only in this gocument New documents Format Forma	Line spacing: single, Space Before: 16 nt	2	Require	= =	= =	=	≡	Ξ
Add to the <u>Styles</u> gallery ☐ <u>Automatically</u> a qualifying assure the qualifying a qualifying the qualifying <u>Paragraph Previous Paragraph Planking Paragraph Pollowing Paragraph Poll</u>	After: 0 pt, Keep with next, K	eep lines tog	el ility require	Previous	Paragraph Prev	ious Paragra	iph Prev	ious Paragr
Only in this gocument     New documents     2 years of     eting these     the qualific     Jnited State     any Agency     tes may be     asting 1-4 y     ssfully com     am.¶     nstrated su     he qualific     Fort     Paragraph Following Paragraph Follo	Add to the <u>S</u> tyles gallery	A <u>u</u> tomatically	n a qualifyir	Paragrap	h Previous Paraj	graph Previo	ous Paraj	graph Previ
Format ▼       reting these         Format ▼       reting these         the qualific       Pollowing Paragraph Following Paragraph Foll	Only in this <u>d</u> ocument O Ne	ew document	s 1 2 years of	Eligibi	ility Requir	rements	80	
the qualific Jnited State any Agency tes may be asting 1-4 vy ssfully com am.¶ Mad to the Styles galleryAutomatically up paragraph. Following Paragraph. Following	Format -		eting these	Followin	ng Paragraph Fol ng Paragraph Fol	llowing Par llowing Par	agraph F aeraph F	ollowing Pa ollowing P
Jnited State any Agency tes may be asting 1-4 v ssfully com am.¶ Mathematical sub- be qualifical Eont Paragraph Following Paragraph Following			the qualific	Followin	ng Paragraph Fol	llowing Par	agraph F	ollowing P
any Agency       Pollowing Paragraph Pollowin			United State	Followi	ig Paragraph Fol 1g Paragraph Fol	llowing Par llowing Par	agraph F agraph F	ollowing Pa
tes may be asting 1-4 y ssfully com am.¶ ynstrated su be qualifica Eont Paragraph Iabs Border Paragraph Iabs Border Paragraph Iabs Border Paragraph Iabs Border Paragraph Iabs Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Iabs Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Border Paragraph Paragraph Border Paragraph Paragraph Paragraph Paragraph Border Paragraph Paragr			any Agency	Followin	ng Paragraph Fol	llowing Par	agraph F	ollowing Pi
asting 1-4 y ssfully com am.¶ → Add to the Styles gallery → Automatically u ynstrated su he qualifica Format → Paragraph Iabs Border Paragraph Language e Office of Berconel Managram.			tes may be	Font: (Defa	ult) +Headi cing: single	ings (Cali	ibri Lig	iht), 16 p
ssfully com am.¶ → Add to the Styles gallery → Automatically u vnstrated su he qualifica Format → Paragraph Iabs Border Border e Office of Percentel Management e Office of Percentel Manag			asting 1-4 y	Before:	16 pt	th part i	aan li	nor to ge
am.¶ Mad to the gyles galletyAutomatically u instrated su he qualifical Format → Paragraph Iabs Border Border Border Cons to be sure your application Border Constructions to be sure your application Border			ssfully com	Arten U	pt, keep wii		teep ii	nes toge
he qualifica Format → Paragraph Iabs Border Language Const to be sure your application e Constructions to be sure your application e Con			am.¶	<ul> <li>Add to th</li> <li>Only in th</li> </ul>	e <u>s</u> tyles gall is documen	ery ⊡ t ⊖ N	Auton ew.do	natically i
Format ▼       Font       Paragraph       Iabs       ctions to be sure your application       Border       trvice employee, you should kno       configure			he qualifica	© only in a		. 0		contento
Eont Paragraph Iabs Border Language Constructions to be sure your application Border evice employee, you should kno construction of Personnel Management				F <u>o</u> rmat ▼				
Paragraph ted on USAJOBS. You may go dii Iabs Border Language constro be sure your application Border			<u>F</u> ont.	. 6				
Iabs     ctions to be sure your application       Border     ervice employee, you should kno       Language     eoffice of Perconnel Management			<u>P</u> arag	raph	ted on US	SAJOBS.	You n	nav go d
Border 			<u>T</u> abs.		ctions to l	be sure y	our a	pplicatio
Language		- 1 - 1	Borde	er	ervice em	ployee,	you sh	ould kn
		5-	و <u>L</u> angı	Jage	e Office o	of Persor	nnel N	1anagen
Fra <u>m</u> e October 1, 2005, NASA only acce			: Fra <u>m</u> e	e	October 1	l, 2005,	NASA	only acc
<u>N</u> umbering AJOBS resume can also be used t			<u>N</u> uml	bering	AJOBS res	sume car mental i	n also inform	be used
Shortcut key our resume. Our process is easy			c Short	cut <u>k</u> ey	our resun	ne. Our j	proces	ss is easy
Text Effects		L	Text E	ffects	rocess, bu	it you m	ay also	o submií

3

4 -

- **6** Change the desired formats in the dialog box—for example, the Font dialog box—and click OK. Repeat steps 5 and 6 to change other formats for the same style.
- **7** After you complete all the desired changes in the style's definition (which are shown in the preview along with the style's description), click OK.

**CAUTION** Do not select the check box for the Automatically Update option. When you select that option for a style, any formatting change you make in a paragraph with that style is automatically saved to the style's definition. The change then appears in all other paragraphs of the document that have the same style, which probably is not what you intended. If you select that check box by accident or it has been selected in a document you received from someone else, follow the procedure in *word.mvps.org/FAQs/Formatting/WholeDocumentReformatted.htm*.

**TIP** If you choose to save the modified style in the document's template, you'll be prompted to save the template. If you want to keep the change in the template, you must click the Yes button in the prompt dialog box.

	Font	? ×
Fo <u>n</u> t Ad <u>v</u> anced		
Font Adyanced  Eont: +Headings Agency FB Aharoni Aldnabi Algerian  Font golor: Underline  Effects Strikgethrough Double strikethrough Sugerscript Sugscript Preview  RE	Font style: Size: Regular Regular Bold trailc style: Underline color: Underline color: Mutomatic Small caps Hidden	
This is the heading theme font. The cu	QUIKEIVIEN IS	will be used.
Na St: Set As Default	ОК	Cancel
stj		~
ormatting		
Calibri Light (Heac 🗸 16 🗸 B I U		
<b>E</b>		
Previous Paragraph Previous Paragraph Previous Paragra Paragraph Previous Paragraph Previous Paragraph Previo	ph Previous Paragraph Previous Paragraph Previous 1us Paragraph Previous Paragraph	
ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS: Following Paragraph Following Paragraph	ragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph ragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph ragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph ragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph ragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph	
Font: (Default) +Headings (Calibri Light), 16 p Line spacing: single, Space Before: 16 pt After: 0 pt, Keep with next, Keep lines toge	t, Font color: Accent 1, All caps ther, Level 1, Style: Linked, Show in the Styl	es V
Add to the <u>S</u> tyles gallery Automatically Add to the <u>S</u> tyles gallery Automatically a	ipdate based on this template	
Format •		ancei

Creating and modifying styles: Modify an existing style by using a dialog box 97

# Create a new style by example

- **1** Change the formatting of some text in your document so that it has the appearance you want for the new style. Select the changed text.
- **2** Expand the Styles group gallery on the Home tab, and click the Create A Style item at the bottom of the gallery.
- **3** In the Create New Style From Formatting dialog box, type a name for the new style and click OK. The new style automatically appears in the Styles gallery.

-	L						2	2		
LAYOUT	REFERE	NCES	MAILING	S REVIEW	VIEV	V				
A <sup>*</sup> A <sup>*</sup> Aa - A - <sup>a</sup> ⁄∕ -	🤣 A 🗸		≣ • <sup>1</sup> 3 <u>7</u> • ≡ ≡	│ €≣ €≣ │ ᢓ↓ 〕≣ • │ ⊉ • ⊡	.   ¶   E • E	AaBbCcDdf 1 Normal	AaBbC Heading 1	AaBbCc Heading 2	AaBb Title	A a B b C c D Subtitle
	5		Parag	raph	5	AaBbCcDdE	AaBbCcDa	AaBbCcDdl	AABBCCDDE Subtle Ref	AABBCCDDI
electronic a agencies.) C assist in ele	oplicat nce we	ion docu e receive ally ratin;	ment. (You your resun g and ranki	r USAJOBS resu ne and supplem ng your resume	ume can nental in e. Our pr	AaBbCcDdł 11 List Para	quote	intense qui	Soberchem	
We encourse you to use our electronic process, but you may Operations Center (ROC); the address is in our vacancy annou contain the same information required in our electronic proc address. Yo i must provide the required information in order aonlications must be received in the ROC by the closing date.				Non-state       Non-state	a <u>S</u> tyle ormatting					
Lorem ip	osum	i dolor	sit ame	t, consecte	etuer a	adipiscing	g elit. ¶			_



#### Create a new style by using a dialog box

- **1** On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S).
- 2 Click the New Style button.
- **3** In the Create New Style From Formatting dialog box, enter a name for the new style.
- **4** In the Style Based On list, select the existing style that most closely resembles the desired appearance of the new style.

Any formats that you don't change in the new style will be inherited from the style in the Style Based On box.

5 In the Style For Following Paragraph list, select a style.

This style will automatically be applied to the next paragraph when you press Enter at the end of a paragraph that uses the new style. For example, a style for a heading element typically specifies Normal as the style for the paragraph that follows it.

- 6 Set the character formats and paragraph formats of the style.
- 7 If you want your changes to be saved in the document's template, click the New Documents Based On This Template option.
- **8** After you complete all the desired changes in the style's definition (which are shown in the preview along with the style's description), click OK.

SEE ALSO For information about setting a style's character formats and paragraph formats, see "Modify an existing style by using a dialog box" on page 95.



Creating and modifying styles: Create a new style by using a dialog box 99

# **Using the Styles pane**

Usually, the quickest way to apply common styles in your document in Word 2013 is to click the Home tab and then, in the Styles group, click the style in the gallery. However, there are many styles that don't appear in the gallery. If you occasionally

#### Set the Styles pane options

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S).
- 2 In the lower-right corner of the Styles pane, click the Options link.
- 3 In the Style Pane Options dialog box, in the Select Styles To Show drop-down list, click one of the following options, depending on what styles you want displayed:
  - **Recommended** Limits the list in the Styles pane to a small set of styles that might be useful. You can change which styles are recommended (see "Managing styles" on page 442).
  - **In Use** Limits the list to styles that are currently applied to some part of the current document.
  - **In Current Document** Limits the list to styles that have ever been applied in the current document, whether or not they're applied now.
  - **All Styles** Expands the list to all the styles in the document's template except for table styles, which appear only in the gallery on the Table Tools contextual tab.
- **4** In the Select How List Is Sorted drop-down list, click one of the following options, depending on how you want the style list sorted:
  - **Alphabetical** Sorts the styles in the Styles pane alphabetically by name.

need to apply some of the less common styles or you want to examine their definitions, you need to use the Styles pane. To display the styles that you want or to control them, you might need to change some of the Styles pane options.



- **As Recommended** Sorts the styles by the priority values assigned to them. You can change the priority values (see "Managing styles" on page 442).
- Font Groups the styles by the name of the font (if any) specified in their definitions. Almost all built-in styles specify either +Body or +Heading, which are aliases for fonts defined by the current theme.
- **Based On** Groups styles by the style on which they are based. Almost all built-in character styles are based on Default Paragraph Font, and almost all built-in paragraph styles and linked styles are based on Normal.
- **By Type** Groups the styles as character styles, linked styles, and paragraph styles.
- **5** In the Select Formatting To Show As Styles section, select the check box for any type of direct formatting that you want the Styles pane to display as if it were a style.
- **6** In the Select How Built-In Style Names Are Shown section, select the check boxes if you want these behaviors:
  - Show Next Heading When Previous Level Is Used When most of the heading styles are hidden, the Styles pane begins showing a heading style when you apply the style at the preceding level. For example, when you apply the Heading 2 style, the Styles pane makes the Heading 3 style visible.
  - Hide Built-In Name When Alternate Name Exists You can assign an alias to a built-in style by typing a comma and the alias name after the built-in name in the Name box in the Modify Style dialog box. With this option, you can choose to have the Styles pane show only the alias and not the built-in name of the style.

	Style Pane Options ? ×	
	Select styles to show:	
	Recommended	
	S <u>e</u> lect how list is sorted:	
	By type 🗸 🗸 🗸	
6 –	Select formatting to show as styles:         Paragraph level formatting         Font formatting         Bullet and numbering formatting         Select how built-in style names are shown         Select how built-in style names are shown         Solution         Show next heading when previous level is used         Hide built-in name when alternate name exists         Only in this document       New documents based on this template         OK       Cancel	- 5

7 If you want the set of options to be saved in the current document's template, click the New Documents Based On This Template option.

8 Click OK.

#### Recommended v Select how list is sorted: By type v Select formatting to show as styles: Paragraph level formatting Font formatting Bullet and numbering formatting Select how built-in style names are shown Show next heading when previous level is used Hide built-in name when alternate name exists Only in this document O New documents based on this template. 8 OK Cancel

Style Pane Options

?

7

## Select all text that has the same style

1 Right-click a style in the Styles pane and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Select All *number* Instance(s) (where *number* is the number of occurrences of that style that Word has found).



Select styles to show:

# Changing the character formatting of text

Sometimes, you want to change the appearance of one small part of a document without having to find or create an appropriate

#### Format text by using ribbon buttons

- 1 Select the text to which you want to apply direct formatting.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Font group, click the down-arrow on the Font box to display the drop-down list and then point to a font.

Look at the live preview in the selected text as you point to the names of different fonts. When you find the font that you want, click its name to apply it to the selected text.

**3** Click the down-arrow on the Font Size box to display the dropdown list and click one of the numbers (in points) or type a number into the box. Press Enter to apply the size.

Look at the live preview in the selected text as you point to different sizes. You can also click the Increase Font Size or Decrease Font Size button to change the size of the selected text to the next larger or smaller number in the Font Size box. style. Word 2013 makes it easy to apply direct formatting to selected text or to set the formatting and then start typing.





**TIP** In the Font Size box, you can type numbers from 1 to 1638 points, in half-point increments. For example, 11.5 is a valid font size.

Changing the character formatting of text: Format text by using ribbon buttons 103

**4** Click the arrow on the Font Color button and point to one of the colors in the gallery.

Look at the live preview in the selected text as you point to different colors. The group of colors in the Theme Colors section changes when you select a different theme, but the group of colors in the Standard Colors section never changes.

- **5** Click any of the other buttons in the bottom row of the Font group to apply bold, italic, underline, strikethrough, subscript, or superscript settings as direct formatting.
- **6** Click the Change Case button and then, in the drop-down list that appears, click one of the items.





**TIP** The font color named Automatic styles text as black when the background shading is white or a light color; if the background shading is a dark color, the text appears as white.

**TRY THIS** Select some text and keep the mouse cursor pointing to the selection or right-click the selection. The mini toolbar appears, in which you can access some of the same font formatting items as those on the Home tab.

SEE ALSO For information about using keyboard shortcuts to apply direct font formatting, see "Using built-in keyboard shortcuts" on page 18.

104 Changing the character formatting of text: Format text by using ribbon buttons

# **Applying highlighting**

At some time or another, you have probably used a highlighter pen to emphasize printed text with a bright background color, perhaps as a study aid or to ensure that someone sees an

# **Highlight some text**

- 1 Select some text in your document.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Font group, click the down-arrow on the Text Highlight Color button and then, in the gallery that opens, click the color that you want to use to highlight the selected text.

important passage. Word 2013 has a tool that you can use in the same fashion to highlight text in your document with a range of colors.



**TIP** When you select a highlight color, it remains selected until you choose a different color, even when you shut down and restart Word. To use that color again, just click the main part of the Text Highlight Color button (not the down-arrow). To remove highlighting from text, select that text and choose No Color in the highlight color gallery.



**TIP** You can search for highlighted text by using the Format button in the expanded Advanced Find dialog box.

## **Using the Format Painter**

Often, you might find that you have text formatted exactly as you want it in one location, and you want to copy that formatting to text elsewhere in your document. To accomplish this, you can either create a style by example or use the Format Painter tool.

## Copy formatting to another location

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Show/Hide ¶ button to display paragraph marks and other hidden formatting symbols.
- 2 Select the text that has the formatting you want to copy.

If you want to copy only the character formatting, don't include a paragraph mark. If you want to copy only the paragraph formatting, select only the paragraph mark.

- **3** To copy the formatting, in the Clipboard group, either click the Format Painter tool or press Ctrl+Shift+C.
- **4** If you chose to copy the formatting with Format Painter, drag the special mouse cursor across the location where you want to apply the copied formatting. If you copied the formatting by pressing Ctrl+Shift+C, select the text to which you want to apply the settings and press Ctrl+Shift+V to paste the formatting.

TIP If you want to repeat the same formatting in several places, double-click the Format Painter button to keep it turned on after its first use. Press Esc or click the Format Painter button again to turn it off. If you use the keyboard shortcuts, the copied formatting remains available until you copy some other formatting, and you can paste the same formatting as many times as you like. Format Painter acts like the Copy and Paste commands, but for format settings instead of words. The keyboard shortcuts for copying and pasting formatting (Ctrl+Shift+C and Ctrl+Shift+V) are similar to those for copying and pasting text (Ctrl+C and Ctrl+V).



#### 4

The NASA Pathways Recent Graduates Program (RGP) is for individu graduated from qualifying educational institutions or programs. Succes placed in a dynamic, 1-year career development program.¶

Agencies may non-competitively-convert-participans who-successfully-com or-permanent-competitive-service-jobs. The NASA-Pathways-RGP-provides the-opportun lack-experience-to-participate-in-jobs-in-the-Federal-civil-service-at-the-beginning-of-their engaged at-the-onset-of-their-work-lives, before-their-career-path-is-fully-established.

# **Changing paragraph alignment and indents**

In a Word 2013 document, you can align each paragraph at the left margin, the right margin, or both margins, or you can center each line between the margins. Most of the time, you'll use traditional left alignment. Titles and quotes are often centered.

In addition to the left or right alignment, you can indent the entire paragraph on one side or the other to make it stand out from the surrounding text. You can have the first line of the paragraph indented farther than the other lines, or you can

# Change alignment and indents on the ribbon and ruler

- 1 If the horizontal ruler isn't visible, on the View tab, in the Show group, select the Ruler check box.
- 2 Select the paragraphs that you want to format.
- **3** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click one of the following alignment buttons (or use the corresponding shortcut), depending on how you want the selected text to be aligned:
  - Align Left (shortcut Ctrl+L) Aligns the text at the left margin (or at the left indent if you set that). The right ends of the lines do not align (also called *ragged right*).
  - **Center (shortcut Ctrl+E)** Centers the text between the left and right margins (or between the left and right indents).
  - Align Right (shortcut Ctrl+R) Aligns the text at the right margin (or at the right indent). The left ends of the lines do not align (also called *ragged left*).
  - Justify (shortcut Ctrl+J) Aligns the text at both the left and right margins or indents. To accomplish this, Word adjusts the width of the spaces between words, expanding or shrinking the spaces, as needed.

keep the first line at the margin and indent all the other lines (which is called a *hanging indent*).

For quick adjustments to one or a few paragraphs, you can move the markers on the horizontal ruler. If you need more precise control of the indents, use the numeric settings in the Paragraph dialog box. Of course, the best practice for consistency throughout your document is to create or modify a paragraph style that you can apply wherever you need it.



Changing paragraph alignment and indents: Change alignment and indents on the ribbon and ruler 107

- 4 To move the left indent of the selected paragraphs in half-inch (1.27 cm) increments, in the Paragraph group, click either the Increase Indent or Decrease Indent button, as needed.
- 5 To move the left indent or right indent (or both) to any positions, drag the margin markers along the horizontal ruler.
- 6 To set a first-line indent or a hanging indent, drag one of the two sections of the left margin marker along the horizontal ruler.

The upper section sets the first-line indent; the lower section sets the hanging indent.



qualifying educational institutions or programs. Successful applicants will be placed in a dynamic. 1-year career development program

Agencies may non-competitively convert participants who successfully complete the program to term or permanent competitive service jobs. The NASA Pathways RGP provides the opportunity to those individuals who lack experience to participate in jobs in the Federal civil service at the beginning of their careers, and they are engaged at the onset of their work lives, before their career path is fully established.

The NASA Pathways Recent Graduates Program (RGP) is for individuals who have recently graduated from qualifying educational institutions or programs. Successful applicants will be placed in a dynamic, 1-year career

development program

Agencies may non-competitively convert participants who successfully complete the program to term or permanent competitive service jobs. The NASA Pathways RGP provides the opportunity to those individuals who lack experience to participate in jobs in the Federal civil service at the beginning of their careers, and they are engaged at the onset of their work lives, before their career path is fully established.

Top half: First-line indent Bottom half: Hanging indent

The NASA Pathways Recent Graduates Program (RGP) is for individuals who have recently graduated from qualifying educational institutions or programs. Successful applicants will be placed in a dynamic, 1-year career development program.

Agencies may non-competitively convert participants who successfully complete the program to term or permanent competitive service jobs. The NASA Pathways RGP provides the opportunity to those individuals who lack experience to participate in jobs in the Federal civil service at the beginning of their careers, and they are engaged at the onset of their work lives, before their career path is fully established.

**CAUTION** If you use the shortcut Ctrl+E or Ctrl+J to change the alignment of selected paragraphs, be careful not to press the Shift key at the same time. The Ctrl+Shift+E shortcut activates the Track Changes feature. The Ctrl+Shift+J shortcut sets Distributed alignment, which is similar to Justified alignment except that the last line of the paragraph is also stretched to the right margin, no matter how short the line is.

**TIP** In previous versions of Word, the Justify alignment always increased the widths of the spaces between words. In Word 2013, the widths of spaces may be either increased or decreased to get the best appearance. This usually results in better appearance, but be aware that it might change the line endings and page breaks in older documents that you convert to Word 2013 format.

**Changing paragraph alignment and indents:** Change alignment and indents on the ribbon and ruler 108

# Change alignment and indents in the Paragraph dialog box

- 1 Select the paragraphs that you want to format.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the dialog box launcher.
- **3** In the Paragraph dialog box, in the Alignment drop-down list, select the paragraph alignment that you want.
- **4** In the Indentation section, enter the measurements that you want for the left and right indents.
- **5** If you want a first-line indent or a hanging indent, select the desired type of indent in the Special drop-down list and set the size of the indent in the By box.
- 6 Click OK.





TRY THIS You can set the left edge of selected paragraphs to the left of the page margin, which can be useful for major headings. To do this, in the Paragraph dialog box, enter a minus sign before the measurement in the Left Indent box.

Changing paragraph alignment and indents: Change alignment and indents in the Paragraph dialog box 109

# Changing line and paragraph spacing

The distance between the lines within the paragraphs as well as between the paragraphs themselves is an important factor in the readability of your text. If the lines are crowded together vertically or spaced too far apart, readers might find it difficult to keep their eyes trained on the right line.

In the Normal style in Word 2013, the default spacing is 1.15 lines—that is, the distance between the *baselines* (the bottoms of the letters, as determined by the base of the letter "m")

# Change spacing between lines within a paragraph

- **1** Select the paragraphs that you want to format.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Line And Paragraph Spacing button.
- **3** If you see the line spacing you want in the list, click to apply it. Otherwise, continue to step 4.
- **4** If you want a line spacing that isn't in the list, click Line Spacing Options.

within a paragraph is 15 percent larger than for single-spaced text. You might prefer to use single spacing for some kinds of text, and larger spacing for other kinds.

In text that has no first-line paragraph indents, added space between paragraphs is the only visual cue that signals the start of a new paragraph. In Word, you can set the amount of space to add both before and after each paragraph.



- **5** In the Paragraph dialog box, in the Line Spacing section, click the type of spacing that you want to apply to the selected text:
  - **Single, 1.5 Lines, or Double** Sets the minimum distance between baselines to 1 line, 1.5 lines, or 2 lines. These are the same as the items 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 in the list on the Line And Paragraph Spacing button.
  - At Least Sets the minimum distance between baselines, using the number of points shown in the box in the At section. If you insert a large character or an inline graphic in the text, Word adds enough space above that line to show the entire object.
  - **Exactly** Sets the exact distance between baselines, using the number of points shown in the box in the At section. If you insert a character or an inline graphic in the text that is taller than can fit in the space of a single line, Word displays only the bottom of the text or object.
  - **Multiple** Lets you enter a multiple of the single-line spacing in the box in the At section, with up to two decimal places. For example, if you enter 2.3 in the At box, the distance between baselines is 2.3 times as large as for single-line spacing.
- 6 Click OK.

## Change spacing between paragraphs

- **1** Select the paragraphs that you want to format.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the dialog box launcher.







Changing line and paragraph spacing: Change spacing between paragraphs 111

- **3** In the Paragraph dialog box, in the Spacing section, enter the amount of added space that you want before each selected paragraph in the Before box.
- **4** In the After box, enter the amount of added space that you want after each selected paragraph.
- 5 Click OK.

Paragraph ? ×
Indents and Spacing Line and Page Breaks
General
Alignment: Left 🗸
Outline level: Body Text 🗸 Collapsed by default
Indentation
Left: 0° 🚖 Special: Βχ:
<u>R</u> ight: 0° 🜩 (none) 🗸
<u>M</u> irror indents
Spacing
Before: 6 pt 🚖 Li <u>n</u> e spacing: At:
After: 0.25 in 文 Multiple 🗸 1.1 🗘
Don't add space bevore paragraphs of the same style
Preview
Prodous Paragraph Provious Paragraph Provious Paragraph Provious Paragraph Provious Paragraph Bracious Paragraph Provious Paragraph Provious Paragraph Provious Paragraph Provious Paragraph
The NASA Parlways Recent Graduates Program (RCP) is for individuals who have recently graduated from qualifying educational institutions or programs. Secondal applicants will be placed in a dynamic, 1-
year career dowlopment program. Following Paragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph Following Paragraph
fotten fost Bananah. Kottan fan Bananah. Kottan fan Bananah. Kottan fan Bananah. Kottan fan samah.
Tabam Set As Default OK Cancel

**TRY THIS** You can enter the measurements for the amount of space in any units by using the associated abbreviation: pt for points; in for inches; cm for centimeters; mm for millimeters; or li for lines. Word automatically converts your entry to the equivalent number of points (where 1 inch = 72 points) when you click OK, as you'll see if you reopen the dialog box.

**CAUTION** The Don't Add Space Between Paragraphs Of The Same Style option is useful mostly in the definitions of styles such as those used in numbered lists or bulleted lists. If you select the check box when you have selected some text but you aren't modifying a style, the option applies only to the selection, not to all paragraphs with the same style.

**112** Changing line and paragraph spacing: Change spacing between paragraphs

# **Controlling line and page breaks**

As you insert text, pictures, and other items into your document, a part of the Word 2013 program called the *layout engine* continuously evaluates the positions of the text characters. As a line's content approaches the right margin, the layout engine decides whether the next word will fit on the same line or whether it needs to start a new line. As the text approaches the bottom margin, the layout engine decides whether to start a new page. You can change the rules that the layout engine uses to make these decisions by setting some options.

You usually want headings, table titles, and similar text to stay on the same page as the text that follows them. It's also good

#### Fix unwanted page breaks

- **1** Click in the paragraph that you want to format.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the dialog box launcher to open the Paragraph dialog box.

practice to avoid a single line from the end of a paragraph appearing at the top of a page (in printer's jargon, this is called a *widow*) or a single line from the beginning of a paragraph at the bottom of a page (called an *orphan*).

If you use automatic hyphenation in your document, you might want to prevent hyphenation in specific paragraphs or in certain styles.

You can control these layout actions by setting options in the definitions of paragraph styles, or by setting them one paragraph at a time.



- 3 Click the Line And Page Breaks tab.
- 4 Select the check boxes for the options that you want:
  - Widow/Orphan Control If this option is not selected, the layout engine starts a new page when the next line won't fit on the current page. This might result in a single line from the beginning of a paragraph appearing at the bottom of the current page, or a single line from the end of a paragraph at the top of the next page. If this option is selected, Word moves at least one line of the paragraph to the next page. By default, this option is selected in the Normal style and all styles that are based on the Normal style.
  - **Keep With Next** If this option is not selected, an automatic page break is allowed to occur between the current paragraph and the next paragraph. If this option is selected, Word moves part or the entire current paragraph to the next page. By default, this option is selected in the built-in Heading styles.
  - Keep Lines Together If this option is not selected, an automatic page break is allowed to occur anywhere within the current paragraph. If this option is selected, Word moves the entire paragraph to the next page. By default, this option is selected in the built-in Heading styles.
  - **Page Break Before** Word inserts an automatic page break just before the beginning of the current paragraph.
- 5 Click OK.



#### **Prevent hyphenation**

- **1** Click in the paragraph that you want to format.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the dialog box launcher to open the Paragraph dialog box.
- 3 Click the Line And Page Breaks tab.
- 4 Select the Don't Hyphenate check box.
- 5 Click OK.

**TRY THIS** Good typesetting practice, especially in narrow, justified columns such as those in newspapers, requires that no more than three consecutive lines can end with hyphens. On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Hyphenation. In the drop-down list that appears, click Hyphenation Options. Select the Automatically Hyphenate Document check box. In the Limit Consecutive Hyphens To text box, enter the number 3.

				2					
	E LAYOUT REFEREN	ICES MAILING	S REVIEW	VEW					
	A <sup>*</sup> A <sup>*</sup> Aa - A	E • }E • '\. ■ = = =	╡ <del>⋹</del> ═╶┲═┊╡Ѯ↓┊ Ĵ═╶╾┊┊ <u>╱</u> ┓╺╴⋶═	¶ AaBi - ⊺N	oCcDdt A	aBbC(	AaBbCc Heading 2	AaBb	Aa
	rs.	Parag	raph	5			Sty	les	
		2			4 .		5	6	· 🛆
	NASA Pa	athways	Recent	Grad	uate	s Pro	gram	(RGP)	
1	The NASA Pathwa qualifying educati development proj	ys Recent Graduat onal institutions o gram.	es Program (RGP r programs. Succe	is for indiv ssful applic	iduals who ants will b	have rece placed in	ntly graduate a dynamic, 1-	d from year career	
Τ-	Agencies may nor	-competitively con	nvert participants The NASA Pathy	who succes	sfully com	plete the p	rogram to ter v to those inc	rm or dividuals who	,
	Indents and Spa Pagination Widow/Orp Keep with n Keep lines t	Pa cing Line and han control ext ogether before	agraph <u>P</u> age Breaks		?	×			
	Formatting excep	e numbers							
4 -	✓ Don't hyph Textbox options Tight w <u>r</u> ap: None								
	Preview Previous Paragrap Previous Paragrap The NASA Pathwa qualifying educat year career doed op	n Previous Paragraph Previou Previous Paragraph Previou Is Recent Graduates Program noai institutions or program iment program.	s Paragraph Provious Paragr Paragraph Provious Paragr (RGP) is for individuals wh . Successful applicants wil	ph Previous Paraj ph Previous Paraj b have recently gra- be placed in a dy	raph raph Juated from namic, 1-				
	Following Paragra	sh Following Paragraph Follo sh Following Paragraph Follo	wing Paragraph Following I wing Paragraph Following I	haragraph Followin haragraph Followin	g Paragraph g Paragraph				
5 -	Tabs	Set As Defa	ult	OK	Car	ncel			
							1		

# Adding borders and shading

A color background shade behind a heading, a quote, or other important text serves to draw your readers' attention. Lines under headings and boxes around special text are other design

# Add borders and shading by using ribbon buttons

- 1 Select the paragraph or part of a paragraph that you want to format.
- **2** To add background shading, on the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the down-arrow on the Shading button.
- **3** In the shading colors gallery, point to the various color samples and watch the live preview in the selected text. If one of the colors is satisfactory, click it to apply the shading.

elements in your toolbox. You can create these effects easily by using buttons on the ribbon. For more control, you can use the Borders And Shading dialog box.





**TRY THIS** If you want a shading color that isn't one of the theme colors or standard colors in the gallery, click More Colors and use the color picker in the Colors dialog box.

116 Adding borders and shading: Add borders and shading by using ribbon buttons

- **4** To add a border, in the Paragraph group, on the Borders button, click the down-arrow to display a drop-down list of border options.
- **5** Point to the items in the drop-down list and watch the live preview in the selected text. If one of the borders is satisfactory, click it to apply the border.
- **6** If you want lines to border the paragraph on more than one side, but not a complete box border, you can repeat steps 4 and 5 and select the additional options that you want.

For example, if you want a border both above and below a paragraph, such as you might for a sidebar or a pull quote, apply the Top Border as just described and then go back and apply the Bottom Border in the same way.

TIP If you want to repeat the same shading or border as you used most recently, click the Shading button or the Borders button instead of the button's arrow. The icon on the button shows the most recent color or border.

**TIP** If you select a word or sentence but less than a whole paragraph, you can only surround it with a complete box border, not individual lines.





Adding borders and shading: Add borders and shading by using ribbon buttons 117

# Use the Borders And Shading dialog box

- **1** Select the paragraph or part of a paragraph that you want to format.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the down-arrow on the Borders button and then, at the bottom of the drop-down list that appears, click Borders And Shading.



#### **5: FORMATTING TEXT FOR BEST APPEARANCE**

- **3** In the Borders And Shading dialog box, click the Borders tab.
- **4** In the Setting column, click an icon that represents the type of border that you want.
- 5 In the Style list, click the type of line that you want.
- **6** In the Color and Width drop-down lists, choose the desired color and line width.
- 7 If you want more than one side but not a complete box border, click the buttons around the preview to turn them off or on.
- 8 Click the Shading tab.
- **9** In the Fill box, select the desired color.
- **10** If you want, you can add a pattern of a second color by choosing a style other than Clear and then choosing a color.

11 Click OK.





**TIP** If you selected less than a complete paragraph in step 1, you can choose Text or Paragraph in the Apply To drop-down list in the Borders And Shading dialog box. When you choose Text, the borders and shading affect only the selected part of the paragraph.

Adding borders and shading: Use the Borders And Shading dialog box 119

# **Building a bulleted or numbered list**

You can use lists to break large topics into small, easily understood pieces. A numbered list is appropriate when you describe the steps in a procedure that should be done in a particular order. Also, a numbered list is a good format for placing similar items in priority order. A bulleted list can contain steps that can be done in any order, or items of equal priority.

## Apply bullets or numbering

- 1 Click in the paragraph that will contain the first item of the list.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Bullets button to start a bulleted list or click the Numbering button to start a numbered list.
- **3** After you enter text for each item of the list, press Enter to start the next item.
- **4** When you've entered the last item of the list, press Enter twice to turn off the list tool.

When you start a bulleted or numbered list, Word 2013 applies the bullets or numbers automatically to each new item, and applies a hanging indent to the text of each item. If you move numbered paragraphs within the list, Word automatically renumbers them. You can restart the numbering to create a separate list, or include unnumbered paragraphs within the list.





**TRY THIS** Create a numbered list of three or four paragraphs. Select the last paragraph of the list and drag it to the beginning of the first paragraph of the list. Watch as Word renumbers the paragraphs to maintain the correct order.

# Changing the bullets or numbering

The bullet that Word 2013 inserts by default is a solid-black circle. However, you can choose from several decorative bullets, use symbols from fancy fonts, or even use clip art or pictures.

In numbered lists, you can select Arabic or Roman numerals, or uppercase or lowercase letters. If the built-in assortment of formats doesn't suit your needs, you can define your own format.

#### Select from the Bullet Library

- **1** Click in the paragraph that will contain the first item of the list.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the down-arrow on the Bullets button.
- **3** If you like one of the bullets in the Bullet Library gallery, click it to apply it to the entire list. Otherwise, continue to step 4.
- **4** If you prefer to use a symbol from a font, clip art, or a picture as a bullet, at the bottom of the gallery, click Define New Bullet.
- **5** In the Define New Bullet dialog box, if you want to use a symbol from a font, click Symbol.



#### **5: FORMATTING TEXT FOR BEST APPEARANCE**

- 6 In the Symbol dialog box, choose a font in the Font drop-down list, click the desired symbol, and then click OK.
- **7** To use clip art or to use a picture from your computer or from the Internet, click Picture.
- 8 If you want a picture from your computer or from your SkyDrive account, click the corresponding item in the Insert Pictures dialog box.







**TIP** Word automatically chooses the Symbol font to display in the Symbol dialog box, but you can find many other symbols in fonts such as Wingdings and Webdings as well as in Arial Unicode MS and Lucida Sans Unicode.

**TIP** To change the character formatting of a symbol, in the Define New Bullet dialog box, click the Font button and then, in the Font dialog box that opens, make any needed changes.

122 Changing the bullets or numbering: Select from the Bullet Library

www.it-ebooks.info

8

- **9** Navigate to the folder that contains the desired picture, click the picture, and then click Open (on SkyDrive, click Insert).
- **10** If you want clip art or a picture from the Internet, click Office.com Clip Art or Bing Image Search, enter a word or phrase to search for, and then press Enter.





#### **5: FORMATTING TEXT FOR BEST APPEARANCE**

**11** Click the desired clip art or picture and click Insert.

12 In the Define New Bullet dialog box, click OK.



	Define New Bullet ? ×
	Bullet character
	Symbol Picture Font
	Alignment:
	Left 🗸
	Preview
	Q
	0
12 -	OK Cancel

**TIP** Because Word must resize your picture much smaller to make a bullet, it's best to choose a simple picture with a subject that fills the space.

**TIP** When you create a new bullet, Word automatically adds it to the Bullet Library. If you don't plan to use a custom bullet again, you can remove it from the Library by right-clicking it and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Remove.

124 Changing the bullets or numbering: Select from the Bullet Library

## Select from the Numbering Library

- 1 Click in the paragraph that is to be the first item of the list.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the down-arrow on the Numbering button.
- **3** If you like one of the numbering formats in the gallery, click it to apply it to the entire list. Otherwise, continue to step 4.
- 4 Click Define New Number Format.
- **5** In the Define New Number Format dialog box, in the Number Style drop-down list, select the desired kind of numbering.
- **6** If you want to apply different character formatting to the number or letter, click the Font button and select the font, size, color, or other formatting. Note that this formatting does not affect the text of the list items.
- 7 If you want to include static text (text that doesn't change) before or after the list item's number or letter, or if you want different punctuation, edit the text in the Number Format text box.
- 8 Click OK.



**TIP** When you create a new number format, Word automatically adds it to the Numbering Library. If you don't plan to use a custom format again, you can remove it from the Library by right-clicking it and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Remove.





Changing the bullets or numbering: Select from the Numbering Library 125

# **Changing numbering values**

You can mix numbered list paragraphs and unnumbered paragraphs in any order. You can format the unnumbered paragraphs with the same indent as the numbered paragraphs so that they act as a continuation of the preceding list item, or you can format them as ordinary non-list text. Word 2013 also makes it possible for you to change the number of any numbered list paragraph. You have the option either to restart the numbering at 1 or to skip over some numbers and start at whatever number you need. When you change a paragraph's number, Word automatically renumbers all the paragraphs in the list that follow it.

## Include unnumbered paragraphs in a list

- **1** Press Enter at the end of the numbered paragraph before the paragraph that will be unnumbered.
- 2 Click the Numbering button to turn it off.
- **3** Type one or more paragraphs of unnumbered text.
- 4 If you want to indent the unnumbered paragraphs so that they appear to be part of the list, select those paragraphs, on the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher and apply the List Continue 2 style.




**5** With the cursor in a new paragraph, click the Numbering button to turn it on again.



# **Restart numbering**

- **1** Right-click in the numbered paragraph for which you want to restart numbering.
- **2** If you want the selected paragraph to start a new list, click Restart At 1.
- **3** If you previously restarted numbering but you now want the list to be continuous, click Continue Numbering.
- **4** If you want to skip one or more numbers in the list, click Set Numbering Value.
- 5 In the Set Value To spin box, type the desired value and click OK.



# Using multilevel numbered headings

The Bullets tool and the Numbering tool on the Home tab are good enough for simple lists. But, when you need numbered headings at several levels, similar to an outline, you're going to want to use the multilevel list feature in Word 2013, instead.

## Use a multilevel list style

- **1** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Multilevel List button.
- **2** In the List Library gallery, click one of the previews that show Heading style names.

Word automatically supplies the proper numbering whenever you apply one of the built-in heading styles.

Sometimes, the built-in list styles aren't quite what you want, but you can create a custom list style to suit your needs.



- **3** Apply the built-in Heading levels (Heading 1, Heading 2, and so on) to your text, as needed.
- **4** If you want to promote a heading (change it to the next higher level), in the Paragraph group, click the Decrease Indent button; to demote a heading, click the Increase Indent button.
- **5** You can drag a heading to a new location; Word will automatically renumber any affected headings.



# Customize a multilevel list style

- **1** On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Multilevel List button and then, in the gallery that opens, click the preview that is closest to the structure you want.
- **2** Click the Multilevel List button again. At the bottom of the gallery, click Define New Multilevel List.
- **3** In the Define New Multilevel List dialog box, if the More button is displayed, click it to expand the dialog box. (If the dialog box is already expanded, the button's label changes to Less.)

	1
M/ • 1== •	AILINGS REVIEW VIEW
= =	All → Dac. Current List
	1.1 Heading 2- 1.1.1 Heading : List Library
	None     1)     1       a)     1.1       j)     1.1
es¶	€ Change List Level
: Wolf OC, O	Define New Multilevel List Define New List Style

	Define new Multilevel list ? ×
	Click level to modify: 2 Heading 1 3 4 2.1 Heading 2 5 2.1.1 Heading 3 6 2.1.1 Heading 3 7 1 2 4.1.4 Heading 4
	8     2.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0       2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0     2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.Heading 0
	Number style for this level: Include level number from:   1, 2, 3, V   Position V   Number alignment: Left   Left Set for All Levels
3 –	More >> OK Cancel

- **4** In the Click Level To Modify list, click the level that you want to change.
- **5** In the Enter Formatting For Number text box, add any text or punctuation that you want to include with the number. Delete any unwanted items.
- **6** If you want to apply different character formatting to the heading's number or letter, click the Font button and select the font, size, color, or other formatting. Note that this formatting does not affect the text of the headings.
- 7 In the Number Style For This Level drop-down list, select the format (number, letter, or other item) of the number itself.
- 8 Choose whether to apply the changes to the entire list or only to part of it. If the heading style assigned to the list level isn't correct, choose the desired style.
- 9 Click OK.



# **Revealing existing formatting**

You might sometimes need to edit or reformat Word 2013 documents that you receive from someone else, or work with text that you copy and paste from other sources. If the formatting doesn't behave as you expect, it's important to find out what styles or direct formatting are responsible. One important tool for discovering formatting is simply to turn on nonprinting characters by clicking the Show/Hide 1 button on the Home tab. Two other tools are the Reveal Formatting pane and the Style Inspector. After you know why the text appears as it does, you should be able to remove any unwanted style or direct formatting to achieve the appearance that you want. Sometimes, it's easier to clear all the formatting so that the text has Normal style with no direct formatting, and then apply the style you need.

## Use the Reveal Formatting pane

- 1 Press Shift+F1 to open the Reveal Formatting pane.
- **2** At the bottom of the pane, in the Options section, select both the Distinguish Style Source and the Show All Formatting Marks check boxes.
- **3** Click the document text for which you need to find the sources of the current format.
- **4** Examine the descriptions in the Reveal Formatting pane to determine which style or direct formatting is responsible for the text's appearance.



**CAUTION** You can click any of the blue underlined links in the Reveal Formatting pane to open the corresponding dialog box for direct formatting. If the source of incorrect formatting is a style, you should modify the style's definition instead of applying direct formatting to override the style.

## Use the Style Inspector

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S).
- 2 At the bottom of the Styles pane, click the Style Inspector button.
- **3** In the Style Inspector dialog box, click or select the document text for which you need to reveal the sources of the current format.
- **4** In the Paragraph Formatting section of the Style Inspector dialog box, read the name of the selection's paragraph style and any direct paragraph formatting that was applied there.
- **5** In the Text Level Formatting section, read the name of the selection's character style and any direct character formatting that was applied there.
- **6** To remove the paragraph style, character style, or direct formatting, you can click any of the four Clear buttons adjacent to each.



**TIP** The Clear Character Style button in the Style Inspector dialog box is the only way to remove a character style from the selection without affecting any other formatting that was applied there.

**TIP** If you select text that has more than one style or different kinds of direct formatting, one or more of the boxes in the Style Inspector will be blank. If this happens, select a smaller part of the text.

# Building impressive documents

A lthough you'll find Microsoft Word 2013 useful for letters, memos, and other short tasks, the power of Word becomes obvious when you use it for longer and more complex documents that must make a good impression on your audience. Whether you write a newsletter, a report, or a marketing brochure, Word has the tools to help that document stand out.

You might create Word documents in which all of the pages have the same headers or footers, the same page measurements, and the same number of columns. In some documents, though, those formats need to change from one page to another. You'll learn how section breaks make that possible.

Some layouts should be repeated in many different documents, either to maintain a recognizable look within a series or to meet the requirements of a corporation, academic body, or other types of organizations. Word fills that need by using templates, which are files that save your styles, colors, and other tools. When you need a new document of a certain type, the template can supply everything you need to maintain a consistent look and feel to your documentation.

6

## In this section:

- Inserting a section break
- Inserting headers and footers
- Choosing page size, margins, and orientation
- Changing the number of columns
- Applying a border around a page
- Inserting a cover page
- Working with the Normal template
- Finding and downloading templates
- Customizing or designing a template
- Basing a new document on a custom template
- Designing a template for two-sided printing
- Using themes and style sets

# **Inserting a section break**

Within a Word 2013 document, you can change the margins, page orientation, page size, and number of columns. To separate any two regions of the document—called *sections*—where these characteristics differ, you must insert a section break.

You can decide whether you want each new section to begin on the same page as the preceding text or to start on a new page. You can also choose to force the new section to begin on an even page or an odd page: Word will automatically insert a blank page at the end of the preceding section, if necessary, to accommodate the page numbering.

### **Create a new section**

- 1 Click in your document where you want the new section to begin.
- **2** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Breaks and then, in the Section Breaks gallery that opens, click one of the four entries: Next Page, Continuous, Even Page, or Odd Page.

TIP To see section breaks in your document, on the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click Show/Hide 1. A section break appears as a double dotted line and displays the words Section Break and the type of the break.

**TIP** You can use the search box in the Navigation pane to find section breaks. First, click Show/Hide 1 to render the breaks visible. Enter the code **^b** in the search box and click the up or down arrow button in the pane to locate the previous or next section break.



# Change the section start type

- **1** Click in the section that you want to change.
- **2** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click the dialog box launcher (the small arrow icon in the lower-right corner).
- **3** In the Page Setup dialog box, click the Layout tab.
- **4** In the Section Start drop-down list, click the type of start that you want and then click OK.

2-	ze Columns	H Break	ns * Numbers * Accention *	Indent Indent Right	0" ‡	Spacing	16 pt	Position v	Wrap Text *	Bring Forward •	Send Backward Arrange	Selection Pane	Rotate →	
1-		Eligibility-Requirements for the NASA To meet eligibility-requirements for the NASA Pathways-RGP, individuals-must-have completed, within the previous 2 years, -a qualifying associates, bachelors, masters, -professional, -doctorate, vocational-or-technical-degree-or-certificate from-a						on Break (C	Continuous)					

3	3 I .	4	,
	Pag	e Setup	? ×
Margins Paper Lay	/out		
Section			
Section start: Co	ontinuous	<b>~</b>	
Suppress endnot	ontinuous		
Headers and footers	wpage		
Different odd an	dd page		
Different first page	- den 0.51		
From edge:	ader: 0.5	<b>T</b>	
Page <u>V</u> ertical alignment: To	p	~	
Preview			
Apply to: This section	~	Line <u>N</u> umb	ers <u>B</u> orders
Set As <u>D</u> efault		(	OK Cancel

**TIP** If you insert a Continuous section break and then you change the orientation or the page size in the new section, Word automatically changes the section start type to Next Page.

# **Inserting headers and footers**

In some documents, you might want certain identifying information to appear on every page, such as the page number, the document's title, your name, and/or the date. You can also include tables, graphics, and other kinds of items. Word 2013 reserves the header area at the top of the page and the footer area at the bottom of the page for this repeating information. Word includes an assortment of built-in header and footer building blocks, many of them designed to coordinate with cover pages and other building blocks. If you want, you can add text to the building block you select, or replace it completely.

## Insert a built-in header, footer, or page number

- 1 On the Insert tab, in the Header & Footer group, click one of the Header, Footer, or Page Number buttons to open the corresponding gallery.
- 2 Click one of the building blocks in the gallery.
- **3** If the building block includes places to enter text, type the required information.
- **4** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, click Close Header And Footer to return to the main text area.

**TIP** While you're working in the main text area of a document, the header and footer are automatically dimmed and you can't move the cursor into those areas. Similarly, while you're editing a header or footer, the main text area becomes dim.

**TIP** When the cursor is in a header or footer, you can jump to the opposite area by clicking Go To Footer or Go To Header in the Navigation group on the Header & Footer Tools | Design tab.



138 Inserting headers and footers: Insert a built-in header, footer, or page number

## Edit an existing header or footer

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Show/Hide ¶ button.
- 2 Double-click the header or footer area to open it.
- **3** Position the cursor where you want to edit the text.

The default styles named Header and Footer include a center-aligned tab stop in the middle of the page and a right-aligned tab stop at the right margin, so you can press the Tab key to move to those positions.

- **4** Enter any additional text or fields that you want; delete any items that you don't want.
- **5** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, click Close Header And Footer to return to the main text area.

**CAUTION** If you insert a header building block and then insert a page number building block from the Top Of Page gallery in the Page Number button, the header building block is automatically removed. The same behavior occurs with a footer building block and the Bottom Of Page gallery on the Page Number button. To combine a header or footer building block and a page number in the same paragraph, use the Current Position gallery on the Page Number button, instead.

**TRY THIS** To change the page number that appears on the first page of a section (and to renumber all other pages in the section), on the Insert tab, in the Header & Footer group, click Page Number and then, at the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Format Page Numbers. In the Page Number Format dialog box, click the Start At option button and enter the number for the first page of the section.





SEE ALSO For information about making headers or footers different from those in the preceding section, see "Unlinking a header" on page 232.

# Choosing page size and margins

Word 2013 offers many standard page sizes. The list of sizes you see in Word depends on which sizes are supported by the printer you select. If none of the entries in that list are right for your document, you can enter a custom size. Of course, you still must choose a size that your printer can handle.

Word also offers a selection of preset page margins as well as a way to set custom margins. Different types of documents often need different margins. A letter can use relatively wide

## Choose a page size

- 1 If you want to apply a page size to part of your document that's different from the page size in the rest of the document, select that part.
- 2 On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Size.
- **3** If the size you want is one of the standard sizes in the Page Size gallery, and if you want to apply it to the whole document, click that item.

The sizes in the gallery are supplied by the printer driver. These sizes can differ from one brand or model of printer to another. If you don't see the size that you want, or if you selected text in step 1, continue to step 4.

**4** At the bottom of the gallery, click More Paper Sizes.

margins, whereas a report might take smaller margins. A newsletter, magazine article, or book could be designed with a larger margin on one side of the page than on the other side to accommodate any binding.

Sometimes, you need different page sizes or margins in the same document. For example, you can include an envelope in a letter document (rather than maintaining two separate files). A section break is required to separate these two sections.



**TIP** If both the width and the height that you entered differ by 0.1 inch or less from the measurements of a standard size, the Paper Size text box shows the standard size. Otherwise, the Paper Size box shows Custom Size.

- 5 In the Page Setup dialog box, type the desired measurements in the Width and Height text boxes.
- **6** If you selected text in step 1, click the Apply To drop-down list and click Selected Text.

When you choose this option, a Next Page section break will be inserted automatically between the selected text and any unselected text that occurs before or after the selection.

7 If your printer has several ways to handle paper, you can choose the options in the Paper Source section for the first page and for the other pages.

The items in these lists are supplied by the printer driver, so they might differ from one brand or model of printer to another.

8 Click OK.



**TIP** Word can't create a page larger than 22 inches (558.7 mm) in either direction, regardless of the maximum size the printer driver allows.

TIP If you want all new blank documents based on the Normal.dotm template to start with the size you selected, click Set As Default. Then, click Yes when you are asked whether you want to change the default settings. **TRY THIS** Instead of letting Word automatically insert Next Page section breaks before and after selected text, on the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Breaks and insert the desired type of section breaks. Then, click in the section that you want to change and click the desired size in the Size gallery. For more information about section break types, see "Inserting a section break" on page 136.

# **Choose page margins**

- 1 If you want to apply margins to part of your document that are different from the margins in the rest of the document, select that part.
- **2** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Margins.
- **3** If the set of margins you want is one of the standard items in the Margins gallery, and if you want to apply it to the whole document, click that item. If you don't see the margins you want, or if you selected text in step 1, continue to step 4.
- **4** At the bottom of the gallery, click Custom Margins.



**5** In the Page Setup dialog box, type the desired measurements in the Top, Bottom, Left, and Right text boxes.

If your design calls for an asymmetric layout, you can enter different values for Left and Right, or for Top and Bottom.

- **6** If your document will be printed on only one side of the page and then bound, you should add extra width to the left or top margin by entering a value in the Gutter text box and choosing an item in the Gutter Position drop-down list.
- **7** If you entered different left and right margins in step 5, and if you plan to print the document on both sides of the paper (duplex printing), click the Multiple Pages box and click Mirror Margins.
- 8 If you selected text in step 1, click the Apply To drop-down list and click Selected Text.

When you choose this option, a Next Page section break is inserted automatically between the selected text and any unselected text that occurs before or after the selection.

9 Click OK.





**SEE ALSO** For more information about mirror margins, see "Designing a template for two-sided printing" on page 170.

**TIP** If you want to change the margins within a single page, on the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Breaks and insert Continuous section breaks manually before you start this procedure. For information about inserting section breaks, see "Inserting a section break" on page 136.

# Changing the page orientation

Although most documents use *portrait orientation* (in which the page height is greater than the width), tables and graphs sometimes require *landscape orientation* (the width is greater than the height) for a few pages. You can also print signs and posters with different orientations.

Select an orientation

- 1 If you want to apply an orientation to part of your document that's different from the orientation of the rest of the document, insert section breaks before and after the part you want to change.
- 2 Click within the section that you want to change.
- **3** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Orientation and then, in the drop-down list that appears, click Portrait or Landscape.

**CAUTION** The choices on the Orientation button always apply to the entire document unless you insert section breaks first. For more information about inserting section breaks, see "Inserting a section break" on page 136.

TIP When you print a document on both sides of the paper and that document contains both portrait and landscape pages, Word always rotates the landscape pages clockwise (to the right). You might be able to rotate the landscape pages counterclockwise by using a setting in the Printer Properties dialog box, depending on the printer driver for your specific printer. Alternatively, you can print the landscape pages separately by using the Manual Duplex setting on the Print tab of the Backstage view. In a document that contains both portrait and landscape pages, you might want all the headers on both kinds of pages to appear in the same place and facing the same way. Word 2013 doesn't have an automatic way to do that, but this task explains how to make it happen.



**TIP** On the Print tab of the Backstage view, you can choose whether to print the document on one side of each sheet or on both sides. There are two choices for two-sided printing: flip the pages on the long edge, or on the short edge. Flipping on the long edge is appropriate for most documents, whereas flipping on the short edge is appropriate for documents that contain only landscape pages.

## Create a portrait header on landscape pages

- **1** Double-click the header area of the section that contains landscape pages.
- **2** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, if the Link To Previous button in the Navigation group is turned on, click it to turn it off.
- **3** If a section containing portrait pages follows the landscape section, click its header and click Link To Previous to turn it off.
- 4 In the header of the landscape section, select the text of the header, and then on the Home tab, in the Clipboard group, click Cut (or press Ctrl+X).



Header -Section 2-

somewhere else

- **5** While the cursor is still in the header area of the landscape section, on the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Text Box and then, at the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Draw Text Box.
- **6** Drag the special cursor in the margin of the landscape page to create a text box in the relative location that matches the header text on the portrait pages.
- **7** With the cursor inside the text box, on the Home tab, in the Clipboard group, click Paste (or press Ctrl+V).



- **8** On the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Text group, click Text Direction and then click the rotation option to pivot the content of the text box to face in the proper direction.
- **9** On the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Shape Styles group, click Shape Outline and click No Outline to turn off the border for the text box.
- **10** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, click Close Header And Footer to return to the main text.





Changing the page orientation: Create a portrait header on landscape pages 147

# Changing the number of columns

Some documents contain long, unbroken blocks of text. If you use a common layout with a text width of more than 6 inches (15 cm), that text will be uninviting and hard to read. In news-letters, brochures, and similar documents, it's best to format the text in two or more narrower columns.

In Word 2013, you can create sections—on the same page or on different pages—with different numbers of columns. For example, you can place a heading in a one-column section, followed by body text in two or three columns.

## Set up a multicolumn section

- **1** Select the text that you want to format into multiple columns.
- 2 On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Columns.
- **3** If you want to use one of the layouts shown in the Columns gallery, click it to apply it to the selected text. Otherwise, continue to step 4.
- 4 At the bottom of the gallery, click More Columns.



**TIP** If you want all the columns of a section to end at approximately the same height, insert a Continuous section break at the end of the last paragraph of the last column.

- **5** In the Columns dialog box, enter the number of columns that you want.
- **6** If you don't want all the columns to have the same width, clear the Equal Column Width check box. Then, type the measurements for the individual columns and the spaces between the columns.
- 7 If you want a divider line between the columns, select the Line Between check box.
- **8** In the Apply To drop-down list, ensure that Selected Text is showing.
- 9 Click OK.

**TIP** As you enter one of the measurements and move to the next box, Word adjusts the other measurements to keep the total width of the columns and the space between them equal to the width between the page margins.

## Span a heading across multiple columns

 In the multicolumn text, press Enter to start a new paragraph. Type the heading and then apply a style and other formatting as needed. Select the heading paragraph.



DESIGN	PAGE LAYOUT	REFERENCES	MAILINGS	R	EVIEW V	IEW			
A A A	Aa • 🔶 🗄 ª⊻ • <u>A</u> • 🚍	・結・結・ ■ ■ ■   <b>は</b>	≡ #≡   ≙↓   • •   ≙₂ • ⊞ •	¶	AaBbCcL Emphasis	AABE	AABB 11 Heading 2	AaBbCcD Heading 3	•
	5	Paragrap	h	ъľ		Sty	/les		
		2	3		THE PARTY		6	7 .	
Back W Mast trous Chea tonti poun can r wher hims	ground of the Fi hen Joseph Fins- terman were litt sers, their father upside—caused t ne of seven-and- ds was the entr- temember to thi- te the members of elf—were assen	insbury Brothe sbury and his b le lads in white —a well-to-do hem to join a s -thirty lives. A ance fee; and J s day the visit ' of the tontine— bled together.	rs rotarer e-frilled merchant in mall but rici thousand oseph Finsb to the lawye: -all children and sat in ti	ı h r's, like urn	comba and Jo the sm commo in the vowed anothe Joseph he had Wellin	tants were oseph's spir haller of the ended by th Wellington he had bee er at the sa h wondered d worn at th ogtons and a	separated, it (for he way two) e gentlema boots, who in just such me age. to himself tat time litt a little bald	as n if ile	
in th the a and the c the la with The s	e big office chain ssistance of a ki Wellington boots hildren afterwas awyer's house, a a brother tontin sound of war cal	r, and signed the ind old gentlem s. He remember rds on the lawn and a battle-roy ler who had kin led forth the la	neir names v nan in specta rs playing w n at the back val that he h cked his shir wyer from	vith acles ith a of ad 15.	head, night, himse used t old gen other i cake a	and when, i he grew tir If stories of o dress him ntleman, ar little boys a nd wine.	in bed at ed of telling sea-fights, self up as t id entertair nd girls wit	g he he 1 th	

Changing the number of columns: Span a heading across multiple columns 149

www.it-ebooks.info

1

#### **6: BUILDING IMPRESSIVE DOCUMENTS**

- **2** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click the Columns button. In the gallery that opens, click the option for One.
- **3** If you prefer, on the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, you can click Center (shortcut, Ctrl+E) to center the heading text on the page. You can also format the heading paragraph with shading or a border, which will extend across the page.





**TIP** When you select text and then change the number of columns, Word automatically inserts Continuous section breaks before and after the selection.

150 Changing the number of columns: Span a heading across multiple columns

# Applying a border around a page

For some letters or marketing brochures, your design might specify a line border around the pages. Word 2013 offers a number of design elements from which you can choose.

# Format a line border

- 1 On the Design tab, in the Page Background group, click Page Borders.
- **2** On the Page Border tab of the Borders And Shading dialog box, in the Setting column, click one of the buttons.
- **3** Choose a style, color, and width for the border.

Less formal documents—party invitations, announcements, and the like—call for more lighthearted fare. Word provides art borders that include hearts and flowers, holiday themes, and elaborate designs.



- 4 If you want a different style, color, or width for one or more of the page sides, first click one of those sides in the preview to remove it. Then, change the style, color, or width and click the same side in the preview to insert the new line.
- **5** If you want to limit the border to a particular section, in the Apply To drop-down list, choose the desired setting.
- **6** Click Options to set the distance of the border from the text or from the edge of the page.

If you choose to measure from the text, you can also specify whether to include the header and footer areas within the border.

7 Click OK.



**TIP** The 3-D setting in the Borders And Shading dialog box produces the same result as the Box setting, unless you choose one of the line styles that isn't symmetric (for example, a thin line and a thick line).



**TIP** Some of the line styles offer a greater selection of widths than others.

152 Applying a border around a page: Format a line border

# Insert an art border

- 1 On the Design tab, in the Page Background group, click Page Borders.
- **2** On the Page Border tab of the Borders And Shading dialog box, in the Setting column, click the Box item.
- 3 In the Art box, click a selection to see it in the preview.
- 4 Choose a width (up to a maximum of 31 points) and a color, if the Color drop-down list is enabled.
- **5** If you want to limit the border to a particular section, change the Apply To drop-down list.
- **6** Click Options to set the distance of the border from the text or from the edge of the page.

If you choose to measure from the text, you can also specify whether to include the header and footer areas within the border.

7 Click OK.



## Inserting a cover page

Business and academic documents often need a cover page to help make a good first impression. The cover page might include your name or your company's name, a title and date, and other information. A logo, a tasteful design, or a striking photograph will draw attention to your work.

## Insert a built-in cover page

- **1** Switch to Print Layout view if you're not already using that view to display your document.
- **2** On the Insert tab, in the Pages group, click Cover Page, and then in the gallery that opens, click a thumbnail.

Word 2013 includes a selection of cover page designs as building blocks, and additional covers can be downloaded from Office.com. Many of these designs include content controls that automatically display or change the information shown on the Info page of the Backstage view.



SEE ALSO For more information about content controls, see "Inserting content controls" on page 217.

- **3** Click each of the content controls on the cover page and enter the information that you want to appear on the page.
- **4** If you'd like, you can modify the cover page in any of the following ways:
  - Click the Cover Page button and click a different thumbnail in the gallery, or at the bottom of the gallery, click Remove Current Cover Page.
  - Click the Design tab, click Themes, and then select a different theme from the gallery. This changes the colors and fonts used throughout the document.
  - If the cover page includes a picture, right-click the picture and click Change Picture. Then, select another picture from your computer or from an online source. You might also add a picture to a design that doesn't include one.
  - If there's a content control that you don't want to use, right-click it and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Remove Content Control. If you want to add a content control, on the Home tab, in the Text group, click Quick Parts, point to Document Property, and then click the desired property name.



**SEE ALSO** For information about designing a template with a cover page for other people to use, see www.shaunakelly.com/ word/templates/front-cover-images-in-microsoft-word-reporttemplates.html.

# Working with the Normal template

Word 2013 uses templates—files saved with an extension of .dotx or .dotm—for several purposes. Some templates serve only as the basis for creating new documents. They might contain styles, text, building blocks, and macros that are present as soon as the new document appears on your screen. Other templates can supply macros and customized ribbon tabs or customized buttons on the Quick Access Toolbar, but they don't affect the text or styles that are available in new documents. These templates, which are any templates stored in the folder designated as your Word Startup folder, are called *global* because they're present with every document you open.

The template named Normal.dotm has a special status: it's both a global template and the basis for creating new documents. When you open Word by clicking the program's icon rather than clicking a specific document's icon, it starts with a document based on Normal.dotm. It also starts with any customizations you saved in Normal.dotm during previous sessions. When you click New in the Backstage view and then click Blank Document, that new document is based on Normal.dotm.

The Normal.dotm template must be stored in the folder that's designated as your User Templates folder. If you move the

**CAUTION** Although you can open and edit the Normal.dotm template like any other template, don't store any text in the main document area or the headers or footers of the Normal.dotm template. That text would appear in all new blank documents, and you would need to delete it from documents where it doesn't belong. Also, if you use the Labels feature on the Mailings tab to create labels or business cards, the presence of a header or footer inherited from Normal.dotm will cause the label text to print in the wrong locations.

Normal.dotm file to a different folder or change its name, it won't be recognized as the special template, and Word will create a new Normal.dotm in the User Templates folder. You can take advantage of this behavior to troubleshoot problems related to Normal.dotm, by temporarily moving or renaming the file.

Most changes that you might want to store in the Normal.dotm template can be saved without directly opening the file itself. Examples of these changes include the following:

- When you modify a style in a document based on Normal.dotm, you can select the New Documents Based On This Template option to modify the style in the template at the same time.
- When you change settings in the Font dialog box, the Paragraph dialog box, or the Page Setup dialog box, you can click the Set As Default button at the bottom of the dialog box.
- When you choose a theme on the Design tab, you can click Set As Default in the Document Formatting group.

# Locate the User Templates folder

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click Options the Options tab.
- **2** In the Word Options dialog box, click the Advanced tab and then, at the right side of the dialog box, scroll to the bottom of the page. Click File Locations.



**TIP** If macros are enabled in your Office 2013 installation, a quicker alternative for finding the User Templates folder is to open the macro editor (shortcut, Shift+F11), open the Immediate window (Ctrl+G), type the command **Print Options.DefaultFilePath** (wdUserTemplatesPath), and then press Enter. The path appears on the next line.

- **3** In the File Locations dialog box, click the User Templates item and then click Modify.
- 4 In the Modify Location dialog box, read the path of the User Templates folder in the address box. If you want to be able to paste the path into the File Explorer, click the path in the address box to select it and then copy it by pressing Ctrl+C.
- 5 Click Cancel to avoid making any change in the path. Then, click Close in the File Locations dialog box and click Cancel in the Options dialog box.



**TIP** The first time you start Word after installing Office 2013, Normal.dotm might not exist yet. Instead, Word uses the default options and built-in styles stored in the program's code. When you exit from Word you might then be prompted to save Normal.dotm. If you upgraded to Office 2013 from a previous version, the customizations in the old Normal.dotm are preserved.



158 Working with the Normal template: Locate the User Templates folder

# Finding and downloading templates

With a little searching on the Internet, you can find templates for almost any kind of document that you can imagine. You might be able to base documents on those templates directly, or you might need to modify them to suit your needs better.

## Get templates from Office.com

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the New tab.
- **2** Scroll through the Backstage view page to look at the thumbnails of some sample templates.
- **3** If you find a template that's suitable for your new document, click its thumbnail to open a preview dialog box. Then, click Create to download the template to your User Templates folder and create a document based on that template. Otherwise, continue to step 4.

Microsoft offers hundreds of templates for free download from the Office.com website, and you can search for them from the Backstage view in Word 2013.



CAUTION When you download any files from the Internet, first be sure that you know and trust their source. Take extra care with templates, because they can contain virus-like programs written as macros. Do not store templates in a trusted folder (described on page 387) until you have opened them in Protected View and determined that they are safe to use.

- 4 Click in the search box and type a word or phrase that describes the kind of document that you want to create. Press Enter or click the magnifier icon.
- 5 Scroll through the thumbnails in the search results.

You can click one or more of the categories on the right side to reduce the number of thumbnails shown. If you find a template that's suitable for your new document, click its thumbnail to open a preview dialog box. Then, click Create to download the template to your User Templates folder and create a document based on that template.



TIP When you see a thumbnail of a template that you might want to use again later, click the pushpin icon next to its name. That thumbnail will appear in the initial list on the New page of the Backstage view until you click the pushpin icon again to unpin it.

# **Customizing an existing template**

When you use one of the standard templates in Word 2013 or when you receive a template from someone else, you might decide to change some of the styles. You could also add text, tables, form fields, and other content. Although you can make these changes in each new document that you base on the template, it's more efficient to customize the template just once.

Open a template for editing

- **1** Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Open tab.
- 2 Click Computer and then click Browse.



unchanged.

If you want to modify the original template, use the Save

command to store the changes in the same file. However, it's

often preferable to use the Save As command to make a new

file containing the changes, while leaving the original template



#### **6: BUILDING IMPRESSIVE DOCUMENTS**

- **3** In the Open dialog box, click the file type drop-down list and click Word Templates (\*.dotx).
- 4 Click in the address bar, type **%appdata%\Microsoft\Templates**, and then press the Enter key.
- **5** Click the template that you want to edit.
- 6 Click the Open button.



**TIP** If the template you want to edit is one that you previously created by using the Save As command, the file might be in a different folder. In step 4, in the left pane of the Open dialog box, expand the Documents library, expand the My Documents folder, and then click the Custom Office Templates folder.

**TRY THIS** If you frequently open templates for editing, you can save time by adding the User Templates folder to a Windows Library so that it appears in the folder list on the left side of the Open dialog box and the Save As dialog box. Right-click the User Templates folder, click Include In Library, and then click the name of the library or create a new library.
#### Modify and save the template

- 1 If you plan to save the modified template as a different file, keeping the original template unchanged, it's best to create the new file before you make any changes—that way, you won't accidentally save changes to the original location. Click File and then click the Save As tab.
- 2 Click Computer and click Browse.
- 3 In the Save As dialog box, ensure that the Save As Type drop-down list is set to Word Template (\*.dotx). If the template contains macros, set it to Word Macro-Enabled Template (\*.dotm). The Custom Office Templates folder is automatically selected.
- 4 In the File Name text box, enter a name for the new template's file.
- 5 Click the Save button.



TIP If you select the Save Thumbnail check box, you can see a preview of the template's contents on the New page of the Backstage view. However, many common templates don't have any visible text, so it isn't useful to enable a thumbnail for them.

**TIP** When the Save As dialog box closes, ensure that you see the new file name in Word's title bar. You can also check that the folder path is correct by clicking File and then clicking Info. The file name and path appear below the Backstage view's page title.





#### **6: BUILDING IMPRESSIVE DOCUMENTS**

**6** Modify or add any text, graphics, styles, or other content in the new template.

As you work, you should frequently click the Save icon on the Quick Access Toolbar or press Ctrl+S.





**SEE ALSO** For information about modifying styles, see "Creating and modifying styles" on page 94.

**TRY THIS** You can create a template by starting with a new or existing document instead of a template. Use the same steps as in this task to save the result as a template.

164 Customizing an existing template: Modify and save the template

#### **Designing a template**

A template is like a cookie cutter; it's a tool for turning out lots of documents that have the same layout and appearance. The more thought and effort you put into designing your template, the less work you'll have to do when you use it to create documents.

Think about the purpose of the documents you'll create from the template, and the items that should be in those documents. Here are some useful guidelines:

 Documents that have different purposes should usually be based on different templates.

#### Create a new template

1 Click the File tab to display the Backstage view, click the New tab, and then click Blank Document.

- Elements that are common to all the documents based on a single template should be included in that template.
- The places in which the documents differ should be represented in the template by placeholders such as bookmarks, form fields, and/or content controls.
- If the locations of certain items on the page should not change when the document is edited, use tables or text boxes to position those items.
- Consider using borders and shading in some styles to clarify the relationships of the document's parts, or to make important information stand out.



- **2** On the Quick Access Toolbar, Click the Save icon. Click Computer and then click Browse.
- **3** In the Save As dialog box, change the Save As Type box to Word Template (\*.dotx), which automatically sets the path to the Custom Office Templates folder. Enter a file name and click Save.
- **4** Open the header or footer pane and insert any header or footer building blocks, text, and graphics that should repeat on every page.
- 5 If the template is intended as the base for documents such as invoices or letters, on the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Options group, select the Different First Page check box and place a logo and/or address information in the first page header.
- **6** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, click Close Header And Footer.



**TIP** If you include a Date field in your template, that field will update to the current date every time you open a document based on the template. If you want each document to show the date that document was created, insert a CreateDate field in the template instead of a Date field. For more information about inserting fields, see "Using the Field dialog box" on page 200.

- 7 Enter any text and graphics that should be in the body of all documents based on this template. Save the template frequently as you work.
- 8 Insert a table to position items that must be aligned in rows or that must stay in fixed locations on the page. You can insert content controls or merge fields into the table's cells.



**SEE ALSO** For more information about inserting content controls, see "Inserting content controls" on page 217. For more information about inserting merge fields, see "Adding merge fields" on page 341.

**TIP** If you want to turn off all of a table's borders so that they won't print or show on screen, click in the table and press Ctrl+Alt+U. To see where the table's cells are, on the Table Tools | Layout contextual tab, in the Table group, click View Gridlines.

#### Basing a new document on a custom template

Word 2013 considers templates that you create by using the Save As command to be *custom templates*. By default, the program stores custom templates in the Custom Office Templates folder within your My Documents folder. If you've used previous versions of Word, which stored all templates in the User Templates folder, you'll recognize this as a significant change.

Before you create any custom templates, the New page of the Backstage view displays thumbnails for recently used templates, for files in the Templates folder on your computer, and for files that are available to download from Office.com. If a path is specified for the optional Workgroup Templates location (see "Working with advanced options" on page 436), links for Featured and Shared appear on the New page. Click the Shared link to display the templates in the Workgroup Templates location. The Featured link returns the display to the original New page.

After you create your first custom template, the links change to Featured and Custom if you have specified a Workgroup Templates location, or Featured and Personal otherwise. Click the Custom or Personal link to display the custom templates as well as the Workgroup Templates location if it's specified.

#### Use a custom template

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the New tab.
- 2 Click Custom or Personal.



- **3** If both your Workgroup Templates location and the Custom Office Templates folder are visible, click Custom Office Templates. Otherwise, continue at step 4.
- **4** Click the custom template that you want to use to create a new document.

New							
Search for online templa	tes						
Suggested searches: Lette	rs Resume	Fax	Labels	Cards	Calendar	Blank	
FEATURED CUSTOM							
							3
Templates			Custom	Office Te	Custom mpla	Office Template	25

	New
	습 Home
4 –	
	New Template 🛏

**TIP** If you prefer to have the thumbnails for your custom templates on the Featured page of the New page in the Backstage view, you must save each custom template in the User Templates folder instead of the Custom Office Templates folder, or move each template after you save it.

Basing a new document on a custom template: Use a custom template 169

#### Designing a template for two-sided printing

If documents based on your custom template will be printed on both sides of the paper (called *duplex* printing), there are a few additional design elements for you to consider.

First, you might want larger margins on one side of the page than on the other to allow for binding or three-hole punching or to leave space for notes. When the document is duplex printed, the wider and narrower margins should switch places on the front and back of the paper. Word 2013 does this automatically when you select the page layout option for Mirror Margins. It's common in two-sided documents to place the page numbers at the margin opposite the binding edge so that the numbers can be seen without fully turning the pages. Also, the odd-numbered and even-numbered pages might have different information in their headers and footers—for example, the author's name on the even pages and the document's title on the odd pages. You can set up different odd and even headers and footers to meet both of these requirements.

#### Turn on mirror margins

- **1** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Margins and then, at the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Custom Margins.
- **2** On the Margins tab of the Page Setup dialog box, in the Multiple Pages drop-down list, click Mirror Margins.
- **3** Enter different measurements for the Inside and Outside margins and, if desired, enter a measurement in the Gutter box.
- 4 Click OK.

3 Page Setup Paper Layout Margins Mirrored Margins Top: ÷ Bottom: 11 1" Inside: 1.25' Top: + .5" 1.5\* Inside: Outside: Custom Margins.. ÷. Gutter: 0.5 Gutter position: Left Orientation А A Portrait Landscape Pages Multiple pages: Mirror margins Normal 2 -2 pages per sheet Preview Book fold Apply to: Whole document ¥ OK Car

TIP "Inside" refers to the binding edge of the paper, which is on the right for even-numbered pages and on the left for odd-numbered pages. The gutter measurement is always added to the inside margin when mirror margins are chosen.

#### Insert odd and even headers and footers

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click Show/Hide I to display nonprinting characters.
- 2 Your template must have at least two pages so that you can gain access to the even-page headers and footers. If your template currently consists of a single page, click at the end of the text and press Ctrl+Enter to insert a manual page break.
- **3** Double-click in the header area of the first page to open the header pane.
- 4 On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Options group, select the Different Odd & Even Pages check box.
- 5 Insert your choice of building block, page number, document property, or other text in the Odd Page header, the Odd Page footer, or both. When you insert a page number, place it at the right margin.



SEE ALSO For more information about inserting building blocks and page numbers, see "Inserting headers and footers" on page 138. For more information about inserting document properties, see "Using document properties" on page 223.

Designing a template for two-sided printing: Insert odd and even headers and footers 171

- **6** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Navigation group, click the Next button to move the cursor to the Even Page Header.
- 7 Insert your choice of building block, page number, and other text in the Even Page Header, the Even Page Footer, or both. When you insert a page number, place it at the left margin.
- 8 On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, click Close Header And Footer.
- **9** Select the page break at the end of the first page and press the Delete key. Save the template.





TIP Although the Even Page Header and Even Page Footer aren't visible in a one-page template, they are still stored in the file. If you base a document on the template and add enough text to start a second page, the correct header and footer will appear.

172 Designing a template for two-sided printing: Insert odd and even headers and footers

#### Using themes and style sets

Themes and style sets were introduced in Word 2007, and in Word 2013, they are gathered on the new Design tab on the ribbon. Together, these features let you change the overall appearance of your document quickly.

A *theme* is a collection of colors, fonts, and effects. By choosing a single theme in the Themes gallery on the Design tab, you apply the entire predefined collection to the document. In turn, the members of the collection are also collections of formats.

- A theme color collection is a set of 12 colors used for text, backgrounds, charts, shapes, and hyperlinks. Wherever you see a color gallery (such as the font color, background color, or shape fill color buttons), the section labeled Theme Colors is based on the current theme.
- A theme font collection consists of two fonts. One of the theme fonts is used by any style in which the font is specified as (Body), and the other theme font is used by any

#### Select a built-in theme

- 1 On the Design tab, in the Document Formatting group, click Themes.
- **2** Point to thumbnails in the Themes gallery and watch the live preview in the document. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply the theme.

**CAUTION** If you're creating a document as part of your employment, don't switch themes or style sets until you know that it's allowed by company policy. Many businesses require all their documents to conform to specified styles and colors. style in which the font is specified as (Headings). The two theme fonts can be different—for example, a serif font such as Cambria and a sans serif font such as Calibri—or they can be the same.

A theme effect collection determines some of the look of shapes, charts, and SmartArt by adding shadows, outlines, gradients, and 3-D shading.

A *style set* is a collection of style definitions. For example, one style set might define the Normal style with a font size of 10 points, left-aligned; the Heading 1 style might be defined with a font size of 14 points, all caps, Accent 1 color, center-aligned, with a bottom paragraph border. Another style set could define Normal style with a font size of 11 points, justified; and the Heading 1 style with a font size of 16 points, the Accent 2 color, left-aligned, with no border. You can choose either appearance with a single click in the Style Sets gallery on the Design tab.



**TIP** The Style Set gallery on the Design tab and the Styles gallery on the Home tab change to match the theme you select.

#### Modify a theme's fonts, colors, and effects

- **1** Open or create a document with a representative selection of headings, text, and graphics.
- **2** On the Design tab, in the Document Formatting group, click Themes and click the thumbnail of the theme that you want to change.
- **3** On the Design tab, in the Document Formatting group, click Colors and then, in the gallery that opens, point to the color samples in the gallery while watching the live preview in the document. If you see the appearance that you want, click the sample to change the theme color collection, and continue at step 7. Otherwise, continue at step 4.
- **4** If you don't see the specific colors you want, at the bottom of the gallery, click Customize Colors.



- 5 In the Create New Theme Colors dialog box, click each theme color button that you want to change and choose the desired color from the gallery.
- 6 Enter a name for the set of theme colors and click Save.
- 7 On the Design tab, in the Document Formatting group, click Fonts and point to the font samples in the gallery while watching the live preview in the document. If you see the appearance you want, click the sample to change the theme font collection and continue at step 10. Otherwise, continue at step 8.
- **8** If you don't see the specific fonts you want, at the bottom of the gallery, click Customize Fonts.



- **9** In the Create New Theme Fonts dialog box, select the fonts that you want in the drop-down lists for Heading Font and Body Font. Enter a name for the font collection and click Save.
- **10** On the Design tab, in the Document Formatting group, click Effects and point to the graphics samples in the gallery while watching the live preview in the document. If you see the appearance you want, click the sample to change the theme effect collection.
- **11** On the Design tab, in the Document Formatting group, click Themes, and then at the bottom of the gallery, click Save Current Theme. Enter a name for the new theme and click Save.

	ſ	Create New Theme Fonts ? ×	
		Heading font:     Sample       Eras Demi ITC     V       Body font:     Body text body text body text.       Palatino Linotype     V	
9 -		Name: Custom 1	



File name: Butterflies.thmx Save as type: Office Theme (\*.thmx)

Hide Folders

Tools

11

Cancel

**CAUTION** If you apply fonts or colors in your document as direct formatting, or if you apply styles that use specific font names instead of (Body) or (Headings) in their font definitions, those parts of your document won't change when you apply a different theme.

**176** Using themes and style sets: Modify a theme's fonts, colors, and effects

www.it-ebooks.info

Aa

Reset to Theme from Template

Save Current Theme...

#### Apply a style set

- 1 On the Design tab, in the gallery in the Document Formatting group, point to the thumbnails while watching the live preview in the document. If you see the appearance you want, click the thumbnail to apply the style set. Otherwise, continue at step 2.
- 2 If you want to change some of the styles in the style set, change the definitions of those styles in the current document. For each style that you want to change, right-click the name of the style in the Styles pane and click Modify. Make the desired changes in the Modify Style dialog box.





**SEE ALSO** For more information about changing the definition of a style, see "Creating and modifying styles" on page 94.

#### **6: BUILDING IMPRESSIVE DOCUMENTS**

- **3** On the Design tab, open the style set gallery and click Save As A New Style Set.
- **4** In the Save As New Style Set dialog box, enter a name for the new style set and click Save.



	WB	Save as a	New Style Set	×
	🔄 🏵 🗉 🕇 🌆	« Microsoft > QuickStyles	✓ C Search QuickSty	/les 🔎
	Organize 🔻 Ne	w folder		· · ·
	<ul> <li>Microsoft Word</li> <li>Favorites</li> <li>Desktop</li> <li>Downloads</li> <li>Recent places</li> <li>Libraries</li> <li>Documents</li> <li>Music</li> </ul>	Name	A Date more	dified Type
	File name:	Bflies.dotx		¥
	Save as type:	Word Templates (*.dotx)		~
	Authors:	Larsson, Katarina	Tags: Entomology 101	
4-		Save Thumbnail	Page title: Butterflies and Change Tit	Moths
L	Hide Folders		Tools Save	Cancel

## Making layouts with tables and text boxes

n many documents such as letters and contracts, the text starts at the left margin and just goes on until it reaches the right margin; then, it goes to the next line and does the same again. For other documents such as invoices, you need to line up text into two or more columns, with each set of related items on the same line. If you try to do that by typing spaces between the columns, the columns probably won't line up perfectly.

One way to solve this problem is to set a tab stop where you want each column to start, and press the Tab key to move from the end of one column to the beginning of the next column. This works well enough when each item fits on one line. However, if the items need to use two or more lines, or for precisely positioning pictures or other non-text objects, the preferred method is to insert a table. Word 2013 offers a wide array of tools for making tables, both plain and fancy.

When you want some text to stand out—similar to "pull quotes" used in magazine articles—you can insert a text box. Word provides an entire gallery of built-in text box designs, or you can draw and format a box to your taste.

# 7

#### In this section:

- Inserting tab stops on the ruler
- Inserting a simple table
- Pasting a table from Excel
- Converting text to a table and back again
- Setting tab stops in table cells
- Adding, deleting, and resizing rows and columns
- Setting table alignment and text wrapping
- Merging and splitting cells
- Setting cell alignment and direction
- Repeating heading rows
- Using table styles for uniform appearance
- Inserting and linking text boxes

#### Inserting tab stops on the ruler

Word 2013 automatically sets a tab stop every half inch (1.27 cm) from the left margin. Although that might be useful for a quick document that you'll print and discard, it's usually better to set a custom tab stop exactly where you need one.

#### Set a custom tab stop

- 1 If the ruler isn't visible, on the View tab, in the Show group, select the Ruler check box.
- **2** Select the paragraphs in which you want to set tab stops.
- 3 Click the numbered part of the ruler at the desired position for a tab stop.
- 4 If the tab stop's position isn't correct, drag the tab stop marker to the left or right along the ruler, as needed.

Э TRY THIS The usual kind of tab stop is left-aligned (that is, the left edge of text that follows the Tab character aligns there). Click the box at the left end of the ruler to change the alignment of the next tab stop that you insert. Click several times to select a center-aligned, right-aligned, decimal, or bar tab stop, or the first-line indent or the hanging (second and subsequent line) indent.

**TRY THIS** Double-click the ruler to open the Tabs dialog box. € Here you can change the locations of the default tab stops, set the leader (the repeated dots or lines that fill the space between columns), or clear all the tabs from the selected text.

Depending on where that stop is across the page, you only have to press the Tab key once to move to the desired tab stop instead of multiple times, a half inch at a time.



TIP If you want to use the same tab stop locations in many places, make the tab stops part of the definition of a paragraph style that you can apply wherever you need it.

SEE ALSO For information about defining a style, see "Creating and modifying styles" on page 94.

#### Inserting a simple table

In Word 2013, a table is a special kind of object that's made up of *rows* and *columns*. The rectangle where a row and a column meet is a *cell*. Each cell can contain paragraphs of text, numbers, pictures—even another entire table.

Often it's easiest to insert the framework of an empty table and then start to fill its cells with text. Don't worry if you don't know

#### Use the Table button

- **1** On the Insert tab, in the Tables group, click Table.
- 2 In the display that opens beneath the Table button, move the cursor over the matrix of squares until it highlights the number of columns and rows you want.
- 3 Click the mouse.

at first how many rows or columns you'll need, because they can be added or removed later.

The Quick Tables building block gallery includes a selection of common types of tables that you can drop into your document and then fill with your own text.



TIP To insert a table with more than 8 rows or 10 columns by using a dialog box, click Table and then click Insert Table on the menu.

**TRY THIS** Insert a table while the cursor is inside a cell of an existing table. This creates a *nested* table in the original table cell.

#### Insert a quick table

- **1** On the Insert tab, in the Tables group, click Table.
- **2** Point to Quick Tables and click one of the building blocks in the gallery.



() 187.

**SEE ALSO** For information about making a table larger or smaller, see "Adding and deleting rows and columns" on page

#### **Copying an Excel table into Word**

Suppose that you're writing a report in Word 2013, and some of the supporting data that you would like to present is in a Microsoft Excel worksheet. No problem: you can simply copy the table in Excel and paste it into your Word document.

Paste a table from Excel

- In Excel, select the part of a worksheet that contains the data for the table and copy it to the clipboard.
- **2** Click in the Word document at the point where you want the table to appear.
- **3** On the Home tab, in the Clipboard group, click Paste (shortcut, Ctrl+V) to insert the table from the clipboard.
- **4** If you want to link the Word document to the Excel worksheet, click the down-arrow for the Paste button and then click Paste Special.
- **5** Click Paste Link and choose Microsoft Excel Worksheet Object as the object type.
- 6 Click OK.



If you expect to change the data in the Excel worksheet, you can paste a *link* to the worksheet instead of plain text so that any changes made to the data also appear automatically in the Word document.



#### Converting text to a table and back again

Sometimes you receive text that's separated into columns by tabs or other unique characters, and you want instead to format it as a table. Fear not! You don't have to cut and paste many chunks of text into individual table cells—you can do the job with just a few clicks in Word 2013. In other cases, you might have data in a table that must be changed to plain text. Again, Word makes quick work of the task.

#### Convert text to a table

- 1 Select the text that you want to convert.
- 2 On the Insert tab, click Table.
- 3 Click Convert Text To Table.

The Convert Text To Table dialog box opens.

4 Verify that the number of columns and rows shown in the dialog box is what you expect. If not, the wrong separator character might be selected at the bottom of the dialog box, or the text might contain the wrong number of separator characters in one or more lines. Correct these problems.

5 Click OK.

TIP If the text doesn't appear in the correct cells of the table, click Undo on the Quick Access Toolbar, find and fix the cause of the problem, and then convert the text again.



#### Convert a table to text

- **1** Click anywhere in the table that you want to convert.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Data group, click Convert To Text.

The Convert Table To Text dialog box opens.

- **3** Click the separator character that you want Word to place in the text between the columns. A paragraph mark is always placed at the end of the text from each row of the table.
- 4 Click OK.





#### Setting tab atops in table cells

In a table that includes a column of numbers or currency, it's useful to set a decimal tab stop so that the numbers align properly.

#### Set a tab stop in a table

 If the tab type shown in the box at the left end of the ruler isn't what you want, click the box one or more times until the desired tab type appears.

The box shows the decimal tab type as an upside-down T with a dot at its right side.

- 2 Select one or more table columns or a block of cells.
- **3** Click the ruler at the desired location within one of the selected columns.

Word automatically inserts a tab stop at the same relative position in each of the other selected columns; you don't have to set their tab stops separately.

TIP To insert a tab character in a table, you must press Ctrl+Tab. Pressing Tab by itself while in a table simply moves the insertion point to the next cell; it does not insert a tab character.

TIP If you set a decimal tab stop in a table, you don't need to insert a tab character to make the numbers line up.



### Adding and deleting rows and columns

Instead of choosing the number of rows and columns when you create a table, you can start small and add to the table as needed. It's common, and very easy, to add a new row to

#### Add rows at the bottom of a table

- 1 Click the rightmost cell of the last row (or from any cell in the table, press the Tab key, to move the cursor from cell to cell until you arrive there).
- 2 Press the Tab key.

#### Add rows or columns anywhere in a table

- 1 Click in a row or column next to where you want the new row or column to appear.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Rows & Columns group, click one of the four Insert buttons.

TIP In Word 2013, when you move the cursor above a column or to the left of a row, a plus sign (+) in a circle appears. Click the plus sign to add a column or row at that point.

#### **Delete rows or columns**

- 1 Click in the row or column that you want to delete.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Rows & Columns group, click Delete and then click Delete Rows or Delete Columns.

TIP To add or delete more than one row or column at a time, first select the desired rows or columns.

the bottom of the table. Word 2013 makes it easier than ever to add rows and columns between existing ones, or to delete unneeded ones.

+		_		
College	New students	Graduating	Change	
		students		
Cedar University	110	103	+7	
Elm College	223	214	+9	
Maple Academy	197	120	+77	
Pine College	134	121	+13	
Oak Institute	202	210	-8	+
				1



INSERT DESI	GN PA	GE LAYOUT REFER	ENCES	MAILINGS	REVIEW VIE	W D	ESIGN	LAYO	TUC		
🗹 Draw Table		Insert Re	low	Horac Colls	<b>*</b> 0.19"	* <u>B</u> ‡	FF		$\Delta \rightarrow$		
📝 Eraser	Delete	Insert Above Insert Rig	ít ght	E Split Cells	utoFit ▼	; #		) 🖃 🗄 Di	Text rection	Ļ	
Draw	🖹 Del	ete Cells	G <sub>a</sub>	Merge	Cell Size	Es.		Aligr	nment	L	-
	💥 Del	ete Columns	<b>B</b> -	3	. 4	5			6 · ·	1	
College	Del	ete <u>R</u> ows le <u>t</u> e Table	Gr	aduating udents	Change						
Cedar Univ	ersity	110		103	+7						
Elm College	5	223		214	+9						
Maple Aca	demy	197		120	+77						1
Pine Colleg	e	104	-	121	+13				-	-	н
Oak Institu	te	202		210	-8						-

#### **Resizing rows and columns**

When you insert a table in a document, it automatically stretches from the left margin to the right margin, and the columns are all the same width. Each row starts at the height needed for one line of text, expanding automatically as you add more text to any of its cells.

If the items in your table range in width, you can resize the columns to make better use of the space. When you're using a

#### Drag row and column borders

- 1 On the View tab, in the Show group, select the Ruler check box (if it hasn't already been selected).
- **2** Click in any cell of a table column, or select one or more whole columns that you want to resize.
- **3** Drag the marker on the horizontal ruler above the column's right border to increase or decrease the column's width.
- **4** Drag the marker on the vertical ruler to the left of the row's bottom border to increase or decrease the row's height.

**CAUTION** If you select an entire cell and drag its vertical border, only that cell's width changes, rather than the width of the entire column. If that isn't what you intended, click Undo on the Quick Access Toolbar and try again.

#### Make columns of equal widths

- 1 Select the columns whose widths you want to make equal.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Cell Size group, click Distribute Columns.

table for positioning objects on the page, you might also want to resize the rows to set a minimum height.

In a typical situation, you have a wide column for a name or description, followed by several narrower columns for numbers or other bits of information. You can easily make all the narrower columns the same width.





TIP To distribute a group of rows so that they have the same height, select the rows, and then in the Cell Size group, click Distribute Rows.

### Setting table alignment

If you resize a table so that it's narrower than the text column in which it is anchored, you can align the entire table to the left, center, or right with respect to the page margins.

#### Choose a table alignment

- **1** Click in the table.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Table group, click Properties.

The Table Properties dialog box opens.

- 3 Click Left, Center, or Right.
- 4 Click OK.

iie se ≣Vi ⊡ Pr	w Gridlines operties Table	Draw Eraser Table Draw	Delete	Insert Insert Above Below Rows & Colum	t Insert v Left	Insert Right	Split Cells Split Table Merge	utoFit to Width: 1	L19" Cell Size	istribute Rows istribute Colum	
*			2	Lor po: qui	rem ipsu suere, m is urna.	m dolor sit a agna sed pu	met, consecter	uer adipiscing elit. N purus lectus malesu New students	Maecenas portitic ada libero, sit arr Graduating	or congue mat net commodo	ssa. Fusce magna ero
						2			students		
	_		Table Pr	opertiés			niversity	100			
	Table	Row Colum	n Cell	Alt Text			cademy	223	214	+77	
	6	-		-			lege	134	120	+13	
	3120		192				itute	202	210	-8	
	Left Text wrap	sping	Right	Indent from left	t Pr	ssitioning					
			<u>B</u> o	rders and Shadi	ing	Options					

TIP If you choose Left alignment, you can enter a value for the indent from the left margin. You can enter a negative number to move the table into the left margin, but be careful not to exceed the size of the margin!

#### Setting table text wrapping

When you first insert a table, it forces the text before and after it to be separate paragraphs, and text can't flow around it. But, if you drag the table to a different position, the text wrapping

#### Wrap text around a table

- 1 Click in the table.
- 2 Drag the Move box to reposition the table.

setting will automatically change to Around. This means that if the table is narrow enough, text will run beside it.



College	New students	Graduating students	Change	posuere, magna sed p ultricies, purus lectus
Cedar University	110	103	+7	malesuada libero, sit
Elm College	223	214	+9	commodo magna ero:
Maple Academy	197	120	+77	urna.
Pine College	134	121	+13	1
Oak Institute	202	210	-8	1

TRY THIS Although dragging a table sets the text wrapping to Around, there isn't any similar way to remove the text wrapping. Instead, you need to click Properties on the Layout tab under Table Tools and then click None.

TRY THIS To get finer control of the table's position, on the Layout tab under Table Tools, click Properties, click Positioning, and then adjust the measurements.

### Merging and splitting cells

Tables often need column heads that span more than one column of data. Likewise, cells in neighboring rows might need to be combined. Word 2013 makes it possible for you to select two or more cells and combine them into a single cell. You can

Merge cells

- 1 Select two or more adjacent cells. They can be side by side, above and below, or any rectangular block.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Merge group, click Merge Cells.

go the other way, too: you can select a cell and split it into two or more cells within the same space. With these two tools, you can create almost any arrangement that you can imagine.



#### Split cells apart

- 1 Select the cell or cells that you want to split.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Merge group, click Split Cells.

The Split Cells dialog box opens.

- **3** Set the number of rows and columns that you want to create from the selected cells.
- 4 Click OK.

TIP If the Merge Cells Before Split check box is selected, all the highlighted cells are merged into one cell, which is then split into the numbers of rows and columns you set. If the check box is cleared, each original cell is converted to the requested numbers of rows and columns.



TIP If a single cell contains several paragraphs of text before you split the cell into multiple columns, the paragraphs will be separated into the resulting cells.

### Setting cell alignment and direction

When a table cell is larger than the text it contains, you can decide whether you want the text aligned left, centered, or right, and whether it aligns at the top, center, or bottom of the row height. These settings can be especially useful for tables that have multiple levels of column headings. The text within a cell can be rotated 90 degrees in either direction. This is great for column headings that would otherwise be much wider than the data below them.

#### Align text in cells

- **1** Select the cell or cells that you want to align.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Alignment group, click one of the nine small icons that represent the various alignments.

LAVOUT REFE	RENCES	MAILING	S REVIEW \	JEW DESIGN	LAYOUT	2
nsert Insert Inse ielow Left Rigi	rt E Spli	ge Cells Cells Table	AutoFit	t: 0.3" 1.15" Cell Size	Distribute Rows Distribute Columns	
	<b>1</b>	· · 2/4	(3-) I	()	I	6
	First Qu	irter	Second Quarter	Third Quarter	Fourth Quarter	
Region A		15000	15500	15750	16000	
Region B		18000	18100	18200	18300	
Region C		17500	17750	18000	18200	

#### **Change text direction**

- **1** Select the cell or cells whose direction you want to change.
- **2** On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Alignment group, click Text Direction once or twice.

The first click causes the text to read top to bottom; the second causes it to read bottom to top. A third returns the text to its normal direction.



#### **Repeating header rows**

If a table contains many rows, or its rows contain long text, the table might flow onto another page. When that happens, you probably want the column headers to be repeated at the top of

#### the page so that your readers don't have to flip the pages back and forth to identify the information.

#### Make header rows repeat

- **1** Select one or more rows of column headers at the top of the table.
- 2 On the Layout tab under Table Tools, in the Data group, click Repeat Header Rows.

					1	2
REFERENCES MAI	LINGS REVIEW	VIEW DESI	GN LAYOUT	•	~	
Insert Right Merge Co	ells 🔛 🗊 s AutoFit 📷	Height: 0.19" 🗘	ET Distribute Row	s = = =	Text Cell Direction Margins	$\begin{array}{c} A \\ Surt \\ Surt \\ Surt \\ f_{X} \\ Formula \end{array} \qquad $
r <sub>i</sub> Merge		Cell Size		rs Al	lignment	Data
Sales Region	First First Quarter	t Half Second Quarter	Secon Third Quarter	d Half Fourth Quarter		
Region A	15000	15500	15750	16000		
Region C	17500	17750	18000	18200		
Region D	16000	16800	17000	17500		



TIP Although the repeating column headers appear after a page break, you can't edit them there. To make any changes in the headers, you must edit those at the beginning of the table.

#### Using table styles for uniform appearance

If you're writing a document that has lots of tables, it can be hard to keep them all manually formatted the same way, using the same fonts, sizes, borders, shading, and so forth. That's where table styles are useful. Word 2013 supplies a large assortment of styles from which to choose. You can modify a built-in style or create your own and add it to the table style gallery. Then, you can apply the same table style to each table to maintain a uniform look throughout your document. The fonts and colors used by the built-in table styles are determined by the *theme* that's currently applied to the document. If you change to a different theme, the formatting of all the tables will change at once. When you create your own table style, it's a good idea to choose its fonts and colors from the theme offerings, as well.

#### Apply a built-in table style

- 1 Click in a table.
- **2** On the Design tab under Table Tools, in the Table Style Options group, check or clear any of the options.

The options affect the appearance of the styles in the Table Styles group. (*Banded* rows and columns use alternating shading colors to make the data easier to read.)

3 In the Table Styles group, click a thumbnail picture.

To see more thumbnails, use the scroll arrows at the right side of the gallery.

#### Create a table style

- 1 Click in a table.
- 2 At the right side of the Table Styles gallery, click the More arrow.

2	3	1			
FILE         HOM         INSERT         DE           Image: Header Row         First Column         Total Row         Last Column           Image: Total Row         Last Column         Banded Rows         Banded Columns	SIGN PAGE LAYO IT REFERI	ENCES MAI INGS	REVIEW VIEW	DESIGN LA	YOUT Border Styles -
Table Style Options	1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Table Styles	· · · 3 · III	4	. هي
	Sales Region	First Quarter Seco	nd Quarter Thir	Second Half d Quarter Four	th Quarter
	Region A	15000	15500	15750	16000
	Region B	18000	18100	18200	18300
	Region C	17500	17750	18000	18200
	Region D	16000	16800	17000	17500



3 Click the New Table Style option.

The Create New Style From Formatting dialog box opens.

- 4 Enter a name for the new style.
- **5** If one of the built-in table styles is close to the format you want, open the Style Based On drop-down list and click that style's name. Otherwise, base your style on Table Normal.
- **6** Under Formatting, leave the Apply Formatting To drop-down list set to Whole Table and select each formatting item that you want to apply to the whole table.
- 7 Change the Apply Formatting To drop-down list to Header Row.
- **8** Select each formatting item that applies to just the header row, if that is different from the rest of the table.
- **9** If necessary, change the selection in the Apply Formatting To drop-down list to the other available parts of the table and set the formatting as needed.
- 10 When the style definition is complete, click OK.



#### **Inserting text boxes**

You can use a text box to call attention to a quote from the document or to display some instructions for the document's

#### Insert a built-in text box

- **1** On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Text Box.
- 2 Click one of the thumbnail pictures in the gallery.
- 3 Type or paste into the text box, replacing the sample text.
- **4** If the text box isn't in the right position, drag it to where you want it.

use. You can also use a text box as a way to position a specific piece of text, such as the address block on a printed newsletter.





TIP Use the green alignment guides to line up the text box with the margins or with the top of a paragraph.



#### Draw a text box and add text

- **1** On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Text Box.
- 2 At the bottom of the gallery, click Draw Text Box.
- **3** Use the special cursor to drag a rectangle to the size and location you want.
- 4 Click the Layout Options icon.
- 5 Click the desired text wrapping for the text box.
- 6 Click inside the text box.
- 7 Type or paste text and format it as you like.



TIP Text inside a text box can be rotated 90 degrees in either direction. On the Drawing Tools Format tab, click Text Direction and choose the desired option.

TIP You can insert a picture into a text box, but the picture's text wrapping can't be changed from In Line With Text to any of the other values.

#### Linking a chain of text boxes

In newsletters and magazines, it's common to start several articles on the first page and continue each story on an inside page. How do you do that in Word 2013? Pretty simple, actually; put the beginning of each story into a text box and then link that to another text box on the continuation page. The text that doesn't fit in the first box will automatically flow to its linked continuation.

#### Link a text box to another text box

- **1** Draw a text box for the beginning of the story.
- **2** Move the cursor to the continuation page and draw a text box for the remainder of the text.
- 3 Click inside the first text box.
- **4** On the Drawing Tools Format tab, click Create Link in the Text group.
- 5 Use the special cursor to click in the second text box.
- 6 Type or paste text in the first text box.

When the text becomes too long to fit in the box, it will overflow into the second box.



TIP You can link the second box to a third box, and so on. You can connect up to a maximum of 32 text boxes in any one chain.


# Managing data in documents

One of the great strengths of Microsoft Word 2013 is its ability to create a template for documents such as form letters and invoices, in which much of the content is constant and you just need to fill in the parts that change. Some of the variable parts can be generated automatically.

The tools that Word provides for working with data and for repeating information in documents include fields, hyperlinks, cross-references, and content controls. Another tool, the mail merge feature, is described beginning at "Starting a mail merge" on page 334.



### In this section:

- Using the Field dialog box
- Inserting fields from the keyboard
- Toggling field codes and updating fields
- Controlling field formatting by using switches
- Inserting page and date fields by using shortcuts
- Using bookmarks
- Inserting hyperlinks
- Repeating information by using cross-references
- Inserting content controls
- Grouping content controls for a form
- Using document properties
- Sorting a list

### Using the Field dialog box

Fields in Word 2013 are placeholders for values that might change from one time or place to another. Common examples of fields include page numbers, dates, file names, and totals of table columns. Some complicated features, such as a table of contents or an index, are built by single fields that collect information from throughout your document.

Each field is stored in your document as a field *code*, a sort of formula that tells Word what to display. Usually what you see is the field's *result*, the value that Word creates by evaluating the field code. Some kinds of fields evaluate automatically, but

Insert a field by using the dialog box

**1** On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Quick Parts and then click Field.

most fields must be updated explicitly. Several types of fields don't display any result, but they supply data for other fields (for example, an XE field supplies an entry for an Index field).

There are several ways to insert fields into a document. Some commands on the ribbon or on the Quick Access Toolbar, such as the Page Number button and the gallery items on the Table Of Contents button, create fields at the cursor location. Another method, which handles many more types of fields, uses the Field dialog box.



**SEE ALSO** For more information about switches in field codes, see "Controlling field formatting by using switches" on page

Q

205.

200 Using the Field dialog box: Insert a field by using the dialog box

- 2 In the Field dialog box, if you know the name of the field that you want to insert, click it in the Field Names list. To display in the list only the field names associated with a specific type of information, first select an item in the Categories drop-down list.
- **3** Some types of fields, when selected in the Field Names list, display additional text boxes or lists under the Field Properties heading. Type or select the properties that you want to use in the current field.
- **4** Some types of fields also display items under the Field Options heading. Type or select the options that you want to use in the current field.
- **5** By default, the Preserve Formatting During Updates check box is selected for most fields. This places the MergeFormat switch in the field code so that any direct formatting of the field's result before an update is retained after the field is updated. If you don't want this switch included, clear the check box.
- **6** If you want to see and perhaps edit the field code that will be generated by the dialog box, click the Field Codes button.
- 7 Click OK.

**TIP** For descriptions of what the fields do as well as their properties and options, click the Help icon (the question mark) on the title bar of the Field dialog box or press F1 to open the topic titled Field Codes In Word. Then, click the name of the field to read about the parts of its code, which correspond to the items in the Field dialog box.

**TRY THIS** To change a field (for example, to change the date format), right-click the field result and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Edit Field. The Field dialog box opens with the field's current information in place.



### Inserting fields from the keyboard

The field codes of some very useful fields are short and easy to remember, so it's quicker to type the field code than to use the Field dialog box, which requires multiple clicks. Among these fields are the Page, Date, CreateDate, and DocProperty fields.

A field code consists of a keyword (the name of the field) and, depending on which field it is, some data such as a formula

### Insert a field from the keyboard

- 1 Click in your document where you want the field result to appear.
- 2 Press Ctrl+F9 to insert a pair of field markers.
- **3** Type the field code between the markers, including any text and switches that are needed to produce the code result that you want.
- **4** Right-click the field code and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Update Field (shortcut, F9) to evaluate the field and show its result.

or a file name. The field code can include optional switches, which are abbreviations that instruct the code how to modify the field's result—for instance, formatting numbers or dates, or changing the capitalization of text. The entire field code is enclosed in a pair of field markers, which appear as bold curly braces ({ }).



**TIP** You must use the Ctrl+F9 key combination to insert field markers. You can't type braces on the keyboard, because Word won't recognize them as field markers. As an alternative to inserting field markers first and typing the code between them, you can type the code first, select it, and then press Ctrl+F9 to insert the markers around it. The result is the same either way.

**TIP** No matter which method you use to insert a Date field, Word 2013 places it inside a content control. This has no effect on how the field code works or how the field result appears.

202 Inserting fields from the keyboard: Insert a field from the keyboard

# **Toggling field codes and updating fields**

Ordinarily, Word 2013 shows you only field results. If you need to display the field codes—to edit them or just to find out what produced the results—you can toggle the display back and

### Show and hide field codes

- 1 Open a document that contains some fields.
- 2 Press Alt+F9 to display all the field codes.
- **3** Press Alt+F9 again to redisplay all the field results.
- **4** Select a single field or a part of the document that contains several fields.
- **5** Right-click the selection, and then in the shortcut menu that appears, click Toggle Field Codes (shortcut, Shift+F9) to display the field codes of only the fields within the selected text.

forth for all the fields in the document. If you want to toggle just one field at a time, or just those in a selected part of the text, you can do that, as well.



### **Update fields**

- Click in a document. On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Date & Time and select a time format that includes the seconds. Select the Update Automatically check box and click OK.
- **2** To see the field result change, right-click the time field and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Update Field (shortcut, F9).



- **3** In a document with several fields, select the entire body text by pressing Ctrl+A. Right-click the selected text and then, on the short-cut menu that appears, click Update Field to update all the fields at once.
- 4 In a document that also has fields in the header or footer or in text boxes, click the File tab to display the Backstage view. Then, click the Print tab (shortcut, Ctrl+P) to display the Print page and Print Preview, which forces all of the fields to update. Click the circled arrow icon or press the Esc key to return to the document.

	3	
and sideba D	I U Z I A	:= •
8:48:40 PM Themes an	Cu <u>t</u>	20
Theme, the	Copy Paste Options:	e
Save time i	Update Field	: :
table, click 8:48:40 PIV	Edit Field Toggle Field Code	5
Reading is the text yo	<u>F</u> ont <u>P</u> aragraph	g ' ad



TRY THIS You can choose when Word displays shading on field results. Click the File tab, click Options, click Advanced, and then scroll to the section labeled Show Document Content. Change the value of the Field Shading option to Always, Never, or When Selected.

## **Controlling field formatting by using switches**

You can control the appearance of fields that produce numbers, dates, or text as their field results by using optional switches that modify the result in the way that you specify.

In a field that produces a numeric result, you can insert a *numeric picture* switch that consists of the characters \# followed by a quoted expression that describes the desired format. In that expression, the following characters have special meanings:

- The character 0 (zero) indicates a required digit in the result, which appears as a zero if no other digit would be there. For example, the field { = 2 + 3 \# "\$00.0" } displays the result \$05.0.
- The character # indicates a required digit, in the same way as the character 0, except that it displays a space if no digit would be there. For example, the field { = 2 + 3 \# "\$#0.0" } displays the result \$ 5.0.
- If you include two or three format expressions separated by semicolons, the first expression is used if the result is a positive number, the second one is used if the result is a negative number, and the third one is used if the result is zero. For example, a field in the bottom cell of a table's column might be { =SUM(ABOVE) \# "\$0.00;- \$0.00;NA" }. If the total of the numbers in the column is positive, the field displays it with a dollar sign and two decimal places; if the total is negative, the field displays it with a minus sign; and if the total is zero, the field displays the characters NA.

In a field that produces a date as the result, you can insert a *date-time picture* switch that consists of the characters  $\@$  followed by a quoted expression that describes the desired format.

In addition to the following special characters, you can include other text, punctuation, and spaces in the expression:

- Uppercase M for the month. One M displays the month as a one or two-digit number, but MM displays all months with two digits including a leading zero, if needed. The three-character MMM displays the month as a three-letter abbreviation, and the four-character MMMM spells out the month's name in full.
- Uppercase or lowercase d for the day. One d displays the day of the month as a one or two-digit number, but dd displays all days with two digits including a leading zero, if needed. The three-character ddd displays the day of the week as a three-letter abbreviation, and the four-character dddd spells out the day of the week in full.
- Uppercase or lowercase y for the year. One y or the two-character yy displays the last two digits of the year; the four-character yyyy displays the four-digit year. The three-character yyy displays an error message.
- Uppercase H for the hour based on the 24-hour clock. One H displays the hour without a leading zero, and the two-digit HH displays the hour with a leading zero, if needed.
- Lowercase h acts like uppercase H except that it displays the hour based on the 12-hour clock. Use this character with the AM/PM expression.
- Lowercase *m* for the minute. One m displays the minute without a leading zero; the two-digit *mm* displays the minute with a leading zero, if needed.

- Uppercase or lowercase s for the second. One s displays the second without a leading zero; the two-digit ss displays the second with a leading zero, if needed.
- Uppercase or lowercase *am/pm* for the morning or afternoon on the 12-hour clock. This expression always displays uppercase AM or PM unless you also include the \\* Lower switch in the same field code.

In a field that produces a text result, you can control the capitalization and formatting with a *format* switch that consists of the characters \\* followed by a keyword that specifies the change in appearance.

- **\\* Caps** Capitalizes the first letter of each word in the result.
- **\\* FirstCap** Capitalizes the first letter of the first word in the result.
- **\\* Upper** Capitalizes all letters in the result.
- **\\* Lower** Makes all letters in the result lowercase.
- \\* CharFormat Applies the formatting (such as bold, italic, or a font name or size ) of the first character of the field code to the entire field result.

- **\\* MergeFormat** Applies the formatting of the field's previous result to the new result when the field is updated.
- **\\* alphabetic** Displays a numeric result as the equivalent lowercase letter (*a* for 1, *b* for 2, and so forth). The \\* Alphabetic switch displays uppercase letters.
- V\* roman Displays a numeric result as the equivalent lowercase Roman numeral. The \\* Roman switch displays an uppercase Roman numeral.
- **\\* ordinal** Displays a numeric result as the number followed by *st*, *nd*, *rd*, or *th* as appropriate.
- **\\* OrdText** Displays a numeric result as the ordinal number spelled out in full (for example, *twenty-third*).
- **\\* CardText** Displays a numeric result as the cardinal number spelled out in full (for example, *twenty-three*).
- V\* DollarText Displays a numeric result as the cardinal number, with the word and inserted in place of the decimal point and with the first two decimal places expressed as a fraction (for example, twenty-three and 44/100).

### Format a numeric field

- 1 In a document that contains page numbers in the header, doubleclick the header area. Right-click the page number and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Toggle Field Codes.
- 2 At the end of the PAGE keyword in the field code, type **\\* CardText** and **\\* Caps**.
- **3** Right-click the field and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Update Field.
- Double-click within the body of the document. Type the field code = 2.15 + 3.02 \# "00.00;(00.00)". Select the code and press Ctrl+F9 to insert the field markers.
- **5** Right-click the field. On the shortcut menu click Update Field.
- **6** Right-click the field. On the shortcut menu Toggle Field Codes. Change the + sign to a - sign and then update the field again.

217 { PAGE \\*CardText \\* Caps } 🔏 Cu<u>t</u> roduced a Copy ver na fessionally produced. Word provides he For exa 💼 Paste Options: er page t each other. For example, you can add element ries. choose the elements you want from th 🗟 🗋 🖓  $\square$ Update Field ient coo d cho Edit Field.. aphics ch hen yo w theme Toggle Field Codes text box designs that complement each oth Eormat Page Numbers.. and sidebar. Click Insert and then choose t wupwł A Font... wav a { = 2.15 + 3.02 \# "00.00;(00.00)" } Δ r layout options appears next to it, when you wo Themes and styles also help keep your docu Theme, the pictures, charts, and SmartArt a 3 Two Hundred Seventee X E Copy onally produced, Word pro 05.17 h other. For example, you 💼 Paste Options: Then ose the elements you wan Them Paste Options: styles Update Field document coordinated. Save Edit Field. A tArt graphics change to m fits ir the new theme. Update Field Toggle Field Codes table Eormat Page Numbers... Edit Field. Read the to Toggle Field Codes that show up where you ne A Font... left o tton for layout options appears next to it. When you work on Font. 6 and side bar. Click Insert and then ch { = 2.15 - 3.02 \# "00.00;(00.00)" } (00.87 Themes and styles also help keep yo 🔏 Cut Theme iu: Theme the nictures charts and 9 Theme arta -h styles, Paste Options: Save t th fits in out table. Update Field ro

TRY THIS In step 2, replace the \\* Caps switch with the \\* FirstCap switch or the \\* Upper switch to see the differences among the results.

Controlling field formatting by using switches: Format a numeric field 207

Fully Fig.

### Format a date field

- 1 On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Date & Time.
- **2** In the Date And Time dialog box, in the Available Formats list, click one of the date formats. Select the Update Automatically check box and click OK.
- **3** Right-click the date and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Toggle Field Codes.



- 4 Inside the quote marks in the field code, type a time format such as **hh:mm am/pm**.
- **5** Right-click the field and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Update Field.



### Format a text field

- 1 In a document, press Ctrl+F9 to insert a pair of field markers and type the field code quote "sample text" \\* charformat \\* upper.
- **2** Format the letter q with a different font and size, such as Arial Black at 14 points, that you want to apply to the entire field result.
- **3** Right-click the field and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Update Field.





**TIP** In a field code, the keyword and some of the formatting switches (such as CharFormat) are not case-sensitive. Date format expressions and some formatting switches (such as Roman) are case-sensitive.

### **Inserting Page and Date fields by using shortcuts**

The Page and Date fields are used so frequently that Word includes default keyboard shortcuts for them.

### **Insert a Page field**

- 1 Click in your document where you want the page number to appear.
- 2 Press Alt+Shift+P.

TIP Word automatically updates a page field that occurs in a header or footer, but page fields in the body of the document don't update unless you select them and update them manually or go to the Print Preview page of the Backstage.

### **Insert a Date field**

- 1 Click in your document where you want the date to appear.
- 2 Press Alt+Shift+D.





**TIP** The keyboard shortcut always inserts the short date format that you specify in the Region dialog box of Windows.

210 Inserting Page and Date fields by using shortcuts: Insert a Page field



### **Using bookmarks**

A bookmark in a Word 2013 document marks a specific place. This makes it possible for you to move the cursor to that spot or refer to it elsewhere in the document. The part of the text that you mark can be as little as the insertion point between two adjacent characters, or as large as the entire document.

### Insert a bookmark

- 1 Click in your document at the point where you want to insert the bookmark or select an area including text and/or pictures that you want surrounded by the bookmark.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Links group, click Bookmark.
- **3** In the Bookmark dialog box, in the Bookmark Name list box, type a name for the bookmark. You can use only letter, digit, and underscore characters. Other characters, including spaces, are not allowed.
- 4 Click the Add button.

When you mark one or more words or a picture with a bookmark, you can repeat that text or picture in other parts of the document by inserting Ref fields that contain the name of the bookmark. A bookmark can also serve as the location to which the cursor jumps when you click a hyperlink.

	I	NSERT DESIGN	PAGE LAYOUT	REFERENCES	MAILIN	1GS
2 -		-			#	A
	lype	link Bookmark Cross referen	- Comment	Header Footer	Page Number *	Te: Box
		Links	Comments	Header & F	ooter	
1_			1	2	3 .	
Τ.		In 2012, t	he population o	of Erehwon was	estimated a	t ju
	Ι.	less than i	two dollars per	day. Erehwones	e and Unio	n ar iofs
			Bookma	ark	? ×	,
_		Bookmark name:				
3 -		population			Add 🧮	
		Appendix_A		^	Delete	o
					Go To	
				~		
		Sort by: <ul> <li><u>Name</u></li> </ul>				
		O <u>L</u> ocation	1			
		Hidden bookmar	(5			
					Cancel	
						a
	L	of 12th or	ntury Vonotion	ovoloror Honor	ariuma Dal	

**TIP** You can select an option to display bookmarks on the screen as gray brackets (see "Controlling what is displayed and printed" on page 429).

### **Inserting hyperlinks**

You might often create documents that are intended to be read on computers rather than on paper. One advantage of online documents is that you can link to other places in your

### Link to a location within your document

- 1 Insert a heading or a bookmark at the place to which you want the hyperlink to go.
- 2 Move the cursor to the place in your document where you want the hyperlink to appear.

You can leave the cursor as a single point at which the hyperlink will be inserted or select one or more words or a picture that you want as the hyperlink.

**3** On the Insert tab, in the Links group, click Hyperlink.

document, to other documents, and to websites. Your readers can click hyperlinks that you provide, which then takes them to instructions, original source material, or other information.



- **4** In the Insert Hyperlink dialog box, in the Link To section, click Place In This Document.
- **5** In the Select A Place In This Document list box, click the heading or bookmark that will be the destination of the hyperlink.
- 6 If you selected text in step 2, the text will appear in the Text To Display box, and you can edit that text if you want to. If you clicked in the document without selecting text, the text of the heading or bookmark will appear in that box and can be edited. If you selected a picture, the box will show <<Selection In Document>> and can't be edited.
- 7 If you want to define the text that appears when the mouse pointer hovers over the hyperlink, click the ScreenTip button, type the desired text, and then click OK.



8 Click OK.

**TIP** Word automatically formats the hyperlinks that you insert from the dialog box by applying the character style named Hyperlink. When you click a hyperlink, Word changes the formatting to the character style named FollowedHyperlink. These styles apply colors that are defined by the current theme.

**TIP** If you open the AutoFormat As You Type page of the AutoCorrect Options dialog box and select the check box for Internet And Network Paths With Hyperlinks, Word automatically converts any address that you type in plain text into an active hyperlink. For more information about AutoFormat options, see "Setting AutoFormat options" on page 76.

### Link to a different document or webpage

**1** Move the cursor to the place in your document where you want the hyperlink to appear.

You can leave the cursor as a single point at which the hyperlink will be inserted, or select one or more words or a picture that will become the hyperlink.

2 On the Insert tab, in the Links group, click Hyperlink.



**TIP** When you link to a place in the same document, you can point to either a heading or a bookmark. When you link to a different document, only a bookmark can be a destination. If you want to link to headings in another document, you must first insert bookmarks at the headings.

- **3** In the Hyperlink dialog box, in the Link To section, click Existing File Or Web Page.
- 4 Click one of the three buttons in the column directly to the right of the Link To section to look for files in the current folder on your computer, webpages that you have visited, or files that you recently opened.

Click the file or webpage to which to link. If you don't see the item you want, you can click the Browse The Web button or the Browse For File button to open your default web browser or a File dialog box, respectively.

- 5 By default, the Text To Display text box contains the same text as the item you clicked in the list. If you want different text to appear in the document, edit or replace the text in the Text To Display box.
- **6** If you want to define the text that appears when the mouse pointer hovers over the hyperlink, click ScreenTip, type the desired text, and then click OK.
- 7 If you selected a Word file in step 4, and if that file contains bookmarks, you can set any of those bookmarks as the destination of the hyperlink. Click the Bookmark button, click the desired bookmark, and then click OK.

8 Click OK.



**TRY THIS** To change the display, the address, or the ScreenTip of an existing hyperlink, right-click the hyperlink and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Edit Hyperlink. In the Edit Hyperlink dialog box, make the desired changes and click OK.

**TIP** If you know that a webpage contains an anchor element (a named location), you can insert a hyperlink to the anchor. In the Insert Hyperlink dialog box, in the Address text box, at the end of the URL for the webpage, type the # symbol followed by the name of the anchor.

### **Repeating information by using cross-references**

In a long document such as a report, you might need to refer to text, headings, captions, and other items elsewhere in the document. In Word 2013, you can insert cross-reference fields that repeat the item itself, or that display the page number of the item. If the item is a numbered heading or list paragraph, the cross-reference can display the numbering associated with the item. The cross-reference can also act as a hyperlink. If the referenced item changes (for example, if the text is edited or the item moves to a different page or is renumbered), its cross-reference can easily be updated to reflect the new information.

### Insert a cross-reference

- **1** On the Insert tab, in the Links group, click Cross-Reference.
- 2 In the Cross-Reference dialog box, in the Reference Type list box, click the type of item to which to refer.

The choices include numbered items, headings, bookmarks, footnotes, endnotes, equations, figures, and tables.

- **3** In the For Which Bookmark list box, the specific item in the list box that will be referenced.
- **4** In the Insert Reference To list box, select how you want the reference to appear.

For example, you can display the entire text of the reference or just its page number or list number. You can also include the word "above" or "below" in the reference.

- **5** The Insert As Hyperlink check box is selected by default; clear the check box if you don't want the reference to behave as a hyperlink.
- 6 Click the Insert button.

**TIP** Cross-references to equations, figures, and tables are actually references to captions applied to those items.



**TIP** If you put a cross-reference to the page number of an item into the document's header or footer, it updates automatically when the item moves to a different page. None of the other cross-references are updated unless you select them and update them manually or go to the Print page of the Backstage view.

216 Repeating information by using cross-references: Insert a cross-reference

### **Inserting content controls**

Content controls are great for setting up templates for letters, forms, and other documents that contain some static (unchanging) text as well as places to enter data specific to the subject of

### Select and insert a content control type

1 By default, the Developer tab on the ribbon, which contains all the commands related to content controls, is hidden. To display the Developer tab, right-click the ribbon and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Customize The Ribbon, which opens the Word Options dialog box. In the list on the right side, select the check box adjacent to Developer and then click OK.

the document. Word 2013 offers eight kinds of content controls for various types of data.



- 2 Click in your document where you want to insert a content control.
- 3 Click the Developer tab.
- **4** In the Controls group, click the button to insert the type of content control that you want. Your choices include the following:
  - **Rich Text** Accepts text with styles or direct formatting, pictures, videos, tables, other content controls, and so forth.
  - **Plain Text** Accepts only text. If you apply a style or direct formatting, it affects all the text in the content control. By default, the control can contain only one paragraph, but you can select an option in the Properties dialog box to allow multiple paragraphs.
  - **Picture** Accepts pictures from your computer, from Office.com clip art, or from the Internet.
  - **Building Block Gallery** Enables the user to choose from a gallery of building blocks. You specify the gallery that the control displays by selecting an entry in the Properties dialog box.
  - **Check Box** Displays a check box that the user can select or clear by clicking it or pressing the Spacebar.
  - **Combo Box** Displays a control in which you can type text or select from a drop-down list of entries.
  - **Drop-Down List** Displays a control in which you can select from a drop-down list of entries.
  - **Date Picker** Displays a control in which you can type a date or choose one from a drop-down calendar.
  - **Repeating Section** Accepts plain or formatted text, pictures, tables, other content controls, and so forth. When you click the plus-sign icon to the right of the Repeating Section content control, another copy of the control's contents appears below the existing copy. Any content controls inside the new copy show their placeholder text.





# Change the placeholder text for a content control

- 1 On the Developer tab, in the Controls group, click Design Mode.
- 2 Edit the placeholder text of the content controls in the document.
- **3** Click Design Mode again to turn it off.





**SEE ALSO** For more information about managing content controls, including an add-in that simplifies using content controls to repeat data in multiple places in a document, see *gregmaxey*. *mvps.org/word\_tip\_pages/cc\_var\_bm\_doc\_prop\_tools\_addin.html*.

Inserting content controls: Change the placeholder text for a content control 219

### Set the properties for a content control

- **1** Click in the content control that you want to modify.
- 2 On the Developer tab, in the Controls group, click Properties.



**TIP** The plus-sign icon of a Repeating Section content control adds the new copy below the existing copy. If you prefer to display the new copy above the existing copy, right-click the existing copy and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Insert Item Before.

**3** In the Content Control Properties dialog box, type a name in the Title box.

This name will appear in the tab at the upper-left corner of the content control when you click in the control. You can use this to indicate the type of information that should be typed into the control.

- 4 If the content control will be used with a macro, you might type some text in the Tag text box so that the macro can identify that particular content control. If you leave the Tag text box empty, Word copies the text from the Title text box into the Tag text box.
- 5 By default, the content control displays a bounding box or outline. If you prefer to display start and end tags, or nothing but the control's contents, change the value in the Show As text box.
- **6** If you want to apply a color other than black to the outline around the content control, click the Color button and then click a color in the gallery that opens.
- 7 If you want all text typed into the content control to be formatted with a specific style, select the Use A Style check box and then select the style's name in the Style drop-down list.
- 8 If you want to remove the content control when you enter text or make a selection in the control (leaving only the contents as an ordinary part of the document), select the Remove Content Control When Contents Are Edited check box.
- **9** In the Locking section, select the Content Control Cannot Be Deleted check box to prevent accidental deletion of the whole control. Select the Contents Cannot Be Edited check box to prevent any change to the contents (which is useful mainly in forms that use macros).
- **10** The Properties dialog boxes for some of the content control types contain additional properties. For example, you can create entries in the list of a combo box content control or a list box content control, or select the date format used by a date picker content control.



**TIP** The Style drop-down list in the Content Control Properties dialog box shows only the character styles and linked styles that are currently visible in the Styles pane (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S). If you choose a linked style for the content control, only the style's character formatting is applied.

### Grouping content controls for a form

When you create a template for a form document, you provide places for users to enter their data, but you don't want to allow

### Insert a group content control

- 1 Select a part of your document that contains both content controls and surrounding text. If you want to select all of the content controls and surrounding text in the body of the document, on the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Select and then click Select All (shortcut, Ctrl+A).
- **2** On the Developer tab, in the Controls group, click Group. In the drop-down list that appears, click Group.
- **3** Try to type or change the formatting outside the content controls. Observe that the attempt has no effect, but the status bar at the bottom of the Word window shows the message "This modification is not allowed because the selection is locked."

editing of the static text surrounding those places. Word 2013 lets you prevent unwanted editing in a simple way.





**TIP** To remove the grouping, click in the grouped area and then, on the Developer tab, in the Controls group, click Group. In the drop-down list that appears, click Ungroup.

222 Grouping content controls for a form: Insert a group content control

### **Using document properties**

Every Microsoft Office 2013 document includes a set of fifteen *document properties*. These properties can hold information about the document. That information can be used in File Explorer to search for documents related to specific subjects. You can insert a content control anywhere in your document to display the value of one of the document properties. If you insert several content controls for the same document property,

### Insert a document property content control

- 1 Click in your document where you want the value of the document property to display.
- **2** On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Quick Parts. In the dropdown list that appears, point to Document Property, and then click the name of the document property that you want to insert.

changing the value in any one of the controls automatically changes the display in the other controls.

If you want to handle data for which there is no built-in property, you can insert a content control for one of the properties that you aren't using, and then change the name displayed by the content control.

INSERT	DESIGN P	AGE LAYOUT	REFERENCES	MAILIN	VGS	REV	EW VI	EW	DEVELOPER			Jam
yperlink Bo	okmark Cross- reference	Comment	Header Footer	# Page Number •	A Text Box *	Quic	k WordArt	A Drop Cap *	📓 Signature 😨 Date & Ti 🗖 Object 👻	Linc - me	π Equation	Ω Symbol
	Links	Comments	Header & Fo	oter		٤Ì	AutoText				Sym	bols
100 B 100 B	·	- 1	2			Ð	Document	Propert	ty	F	Abs	tract
						[111]	Eield				Aut	hor
							Building B	locks Or	rganizer		Cate	egory
						P	Save Select	tion to (	Quick Part Galle	ery	Con	nments
									Company			
											Con	npany Addr
	- 1										Con	npany E-ma
	_										Con	npany Fax
	Lorem insum	dolor sit am	et consectatuer	adiniscina	alit N	laace	nas nortti	tor cor	mue massa l	usca	Con	npany Phor
	posuere, mag	ana sed pulvi	nar ultricies, pur	us lectus n	nalesu	ada li	bero, sit a	met co	mmodo mag	na eros	Keyn	words
	quis urna.										Mar	nager
	Nunc viverra	imperdiet er	im. Fusce est. V	ivamus a t	ellus.						Pub	lish Date
	Dellenterror									Dania	Stat	us
	Pellentesque	nabitant mo	Mauris et orci	ectus et ne	elus el	male		ies ac i	urpis egestas	. Proin	Subj	ject
l	pharetra non	unning peue.										

- **3** If you want to change the name displayed in the tag in the upperleft corner of the content control, on the Developer tab, in the Controls group, click Properties, edit the text in the Title box, and then click OK.
- 4 If you want to change the placeholder text to describe the data to enter in the content control, on the Developer tab, in the Controls group, click Design Mode and edit the text of the placeholder. Then, click Design Mode again to turn it off.
- **5** To repeat the same data elsewhere in the document, click the tag in the upper-left corner of the content control and copy the selection to the clipboard. Then, move to the location where the value should be repeated and paste a copy of the content control from the clipboard.

**CAUTION** Although you can change the name and placeholder text displayed by the content control, it's still attached to the original document property. If you insert another content control for the same property from the Document Properties list but you don't edit the name shown by the new control, the value it displays will be the same as the values in the modified content controls.

**TIP** Some, but not all, of the fifteen document properties can be seen and edited on the Info page of the Backstage view. You can see a few of the properties when you select the document in the File Explorer, even when the document is closed.



224 Using document properties: Insert a document property content control

# Sorting a list

You might type or paste a list of names, book titles, or other information in a document, and then need to sort that list by a different order. Consider, for example, a list of people's names with the given name followed by the family name. You might want the list to be alphabetized by the family names, but without changing the way the names appear. To do this, you need to specify to Word 2013 what part of each name is the family name by using a unique character to separate the given name from the family name. Names of people and places are notorious for not following rules. You can encounter family names that consist of two or three words. No computer program can decide accurately which of the names is the family name. Perhaps one is a middle name, for example. It usually takes examination by a human to prepare a list of names that can be sorted properly.

### Prepare a list of names for sorting

- 1 Open the document containing the original list. On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Show/Hide 1 button.
- 2 In each name, if the given name consists of two or more words, replace the space characters between them with nonbreaking spaces (select the space and press Ctrl+Shift+space). Similarly, if the family name consists of two or more words, replace the space characters between them with nonbreaking spaces. Leave only one space character in each name, separating the given name from the family name.

TRY THIS After you prepare the list, you can easily convert it to a table, with the given names in one column and the family names in another column. On the Insert tab, click Table and then, at the bottom of the gallery that appears, click Convert Text To Table. In the Convert Text To Table dialog box, under the label Separate Text At, click the Other option button, type a space in the box to its right, and then click OK.



### Sort the selected text

- 1 Select the list text.
- 2 On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click Sort.
- **3** In the Sort Text dialog box, click the Options button.
- **4** In the Sort Options dialog box, click the Other option, delete everything that appears in the text box to its right, and then type a single space character in the box. Click OK.
- **5** In the drop-down list of the Sort By text box, click Word 2 and then click OK.



**TIP** If the list is the only text in the document, you don't need to select it first in order to sort it.

**TIP** If the list is in a table, you'll find another Sort button in the Data group on the Table Tools | Layout contextual tab. It works the same way as the one on the Home tab, except that the Sort By list offers only the table's columns as options, and it sorts only the table that contains the cursor.



# Formatting reports and formal documents

Reports, scholarly papers, and other formal documents often have Runique requirements, such as footnotes, a table of contents, an index, and a bibliography. Even in shorter documents, you might want headers and footers that change from one page to the next, or a watermark to identify a document as an unfinished draft.

In Microsoft Word 2013, each of these requirements is met by a specialized tool. The simplest form of each feature can be inserted in your document with just a few clicks. However, Word's capabilities go far beyond the simple versions. Tables of contents and indexes can be constructed for specific parts of the document. Watermarks can be made with custom text or with any available picture. A bibliography and citations are automatically formatted to conform to any one of an array of standards. 9

### In this section:

- Making different headers
- Unlinking a header
- Extracting text for a header or footer from body text
- Inserting a watermark
- Adding footnotes and endnotes
- Making a table of contents
- Modifying table of contents styles
- Using multiple tables of contents
- Indexing a document
- Using multiple indexes
- Making tables of tables and tables of figures
- Creating a bibliography

## Making a different first page header or different odd and even pages header

Each section of a Word 2013 document has three headers and three footers. There is one header and one footer for oddnumbered pages, another header and footer for even-numbered pages, and another header and footer for the first page of the section. In each section, you can choose which headers and footers to show and which to hide.

By default, even-page and first-page headers and footers are hidden, and the *main* header and footer appear on all pages. When you select the Different Odd & Even Pages option, the main header and footer become the odd-page header and footer.

Create the main header

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click Show/Hide ¶ (shortcut, Ctrl+Shift+8).
- **2** On the Insert tab, in the Header & Footer group, click Header. Near the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Edit Header.

You don't have to put any text or other content in any of the headers or footers. When you do put content in one, it's stored in the document even while that header or footer is hidden. If you later show the appropriate header or footer or when the document grows larger than a single page, the existing content will reappear.

Although the following tasks focus on headers, the procedures are the same when you're working with footers.



228 Making a different first page header or different odd and even pages header: Create the main header

### 9: FORMATTING REPORTS AND FORMAL DOCUMENTS

**3** Enter text in the header area. Alternatively, on the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Header & Footer group, click Header and click a building block in the gallery.

Observe the Header tag attached to the dashed line at the bottom of the header area, which indicates that this is the main header.

**4** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Close group, click Close Header And Footer.

**TIP** To open the header or footer area quickly, double-click in the area. To close the header or footer area, double-click in the main text area.

**TIP** In Word 2013, a new addition to the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab is the Document Info button in the Insert group. Although the items in the button's gallery are also available on the Insert tab, it's convenient to find them here. The File Name and File Path items that insert fields for those properties are especially useful.

	INC	PT DE	EIGN I	ACELANO	ur p	CEEPENICS	S 144	LINICE	PEVIEW	MEM		DESIGN		
	Date & Time	Document Info *	Quick	Parts *	Go to Header	Go to Footer	Previous Next Link to Pr	evious	Differen	nt First Page nt Odd & Ev locument T Options	en Pages ort	- 0 - 0 - 0	.5"	Close Heade and Footer Close
1	· · · 1	8 .		. 1		2 · · ·	3	1.00	4 .			1.1.1.1	6	<u>д</u>
		B	utterflie	es and	Moths	5		1			Ja	miel	Redin	g
÷	Header	Bu	Itterflie	es and	Moths	5		1			Ja	mie	Redin	g
	Header	PU This me	RPOSE a paper rep mbers of th	es and	Moths dafference vidoptera.	s cs betwee	n butterflie:	1 a and mot	tha, both of	which are	Ja	mie	Redin	9
	Header	PU Thi me	RPOSE a paper rep nobers of th	es and orts on the ie order Lep E OF LE	Moths dafference oidoptera.	es betwee TERA	n butterflic:	1 a and mot	ths, both of	which are	Ja	mie	Redin	g

### **Turn on different headers**

- Open a one-page document and click at the end of the text. On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Breaks and then click Page (shortcut, Ctrl+Enter) twice to insert two manual page breaks. Then, click in the text on the first page.
- **2** On the Insert tab, in the Header & Footer group, click Header. Near the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Edit Header.

Observe the Header tag attached to the dashed line at the bottom of the header area, which indicates that this is the main header.

3 In the header area, type the text Main Header.





TRY THIS On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Options group, clear the check box for the Different First Page option. Observe that the header on the first page becomes an odd-page header containing the text Main Header. Reselect the check box for the Different First Page option and verify that the first-page header again displays the text First Page Header. This demonstrates how hiding a header doesn't delete it from the document.

230 Making a different first page header or different odd and even pages header: Turn on different headers

**4** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Options group, select the check box for the Different First Page option.

Observe that the tag of the header area on the first page changes to First Page Header, but the tag on the header area on the second and later pages still shows Header.

- 5 In the header area on the first page, type the text **First Page Header**.
- **6** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Navigation group, click Next to move from the first-page header to the main header. Verify that the main header starting on the second page still contains the text Main Header.
- 7 On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Options group, select the check box for the Different Odd & Even Pages option.

Observe that the tag of the header area on the second page changes to Even Page Header, and the tag on the third page changes to Odd Page Header.

- 8 In the header area on the second page, type the text **Even Page Header**.
- **9** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Navigation group, click Next to move from the even-page header to the odd-page header (which was the main header until you activated the even-page header). Verify that the odd-page header on the third page still contains the text Main Header.







**TIP** Save this document for use in "Unlink a header" on page 232.

Making a different first page header or different odd and even pages header: Turn on different headers 231

### **Unlinking a header**

In Word 2013, when you create a new section by inserting a section break, by default each of the headers and footers in that section repeats the content of the same type of header or footer in the preceding section. On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, the connection between the current section and the preceding section is represented by the Link To Previous button, which is in the Navigation section.

When you want a header or footer in one section to differ from the same type of header or footer in the preceding section, you

### **Unlink a header**

- Open the document that you used in "Turn on different headers" on page 230.
- **2** Click at the end of the third page. On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Breaks and then click Odd Page.

The first page of the new section 2 is numbered as page 5 because the Odd Page section break forces the document to skip over page 4.

**3** On the Page Layout tab, in the Page Setup group, click Breaks and then click Page (shortcut, Ctrl+Enter) twice to insert two manual page breaks at the end of the text.

There are now six pages numbered 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, and 7. Observe that the same first-page header appears on pages 1 and 5, the same even-page header appears on pages 2 and 6, and the same odd-page (or main) header appears on pages 3 and 7.

must position the cursor in the header or footer of the later section and click the Link To Previous button to turn it off.

The linkage operates separately for each type of header and footer. That is, the even-page header of a section links to the even-page header of the preceding section, independent of whether the even-page footer (or any of the other headers or footers) is linked.

Although this task discusses headers, the procedures are the same for footers.



### 9: FORMATTING REPORTS AND FORMAL DOCUMENTS

- **4** Double-click in the even-page header on page 6.
- 5 Edit the text of the header on page 6 to Even Page Header in Section 1

Observe that the text in the header on page 2 contains the same text as the header on page 6, because the headers in section 1 and section 2 are linked.

- 6 Double-click in the even-page header on page 6. On the Header 8 Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Navigation group, click the Link To Previous button to turn it off.
- 7 Edit the text of the header on page 6 to Even Page Header in Section 2.

DESIGN

H Breaks \*

Page Breaks

Section Breaks Next Page

-2-Even Page

-4

3

consectetuer adipiscing elit. nassa. Fusce pocuere, magna sed-ormalesvadaribero, sit arret

==

Size Columns

Page Setup

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet. c Maecenas portifor congue m pulvinar ultricles, purus lectu commodo magna erec que u

Page Break 1

This is page 51

Lorem ipsum dolor sit ame Maecenas-portition congue pulviner ultrisies, u Page Break 1

3

This is page 19

PAGELAYOUT

Page Mark the point at some Mark the point at which one page ends

Column

Lext Wrapping Separate text around objects on web

Continuous

Indent

Indicate that the text following the column

pages, such as caption text from body text.

Insert a section break and start the new section on the next page.

Insert a section break and start the new section on the same page.

Insert a section break and start the new section on the next even-numbered page

section on the next odd-numbered page.

This is page 61

Page Break 1

Lorem ipsum dolor site amet, consectenuer adipiticing elit. Mascenas portibor congue massa. Fusos portunes, magna cod pulvinar ultinides, puno lectus malesuada fibero, site amet commotio magna-ente quis uma 1

Odd Page Insert a section break and start the new

break will begin in the next column.

REFERENCES

Observe that the text in the header on page 2 does not change, because the headers in section 1 and section 2 are no longer linke

MAILINGS

= 0 pt

8 pt

sectence: adializing elit

Spacing

Position Wrap

1 5 🔓 Align -

Arrange

Main-Header

Main Heads

This-is-page-7¶

This is page 3¶

Wrap Bring Send Selection Text - Forward - Backward - Pane Sh Rotate -

1 - 2 - 1 - 2 - 3 - 4 - 5 - 6 7

Lorem (osum dolor dit amer, consectenuer adiptoting elit. Mascenzo portition congue macra. Fuces pocuere, magno sed publicar dit icles, pur un festas maleraude fibera, sit amet commode magna error que uma 1

Lorem ipsum dolor sit arnet, consectenuer adipiscing elit. Maeceros portitior congue mozza. Fuce pocuere, magno ced publinar ultricles, purus lestas malesuado Ribero, sit arret

Section Break (Odd Page)-----

记 Group

	REFERENCES MAILINGS REVIEW VIEW	
	Different First Page	
	Go to Go to □ use and the first of the firs	
	Header Footer Link to Previous	
	1 + 2 + 3 + 4 + 5 + 6 + 7	
	Even Page Header in Section 11	
6	Even Page Header -Section 1- Lorem :psum dolor sit amet, consectetuer adipiscing elit.	
	Maecenas portitior-congue-massa. Fusce-posuere, magna-sed- pulvinar-ultricies, purus lectus malesuada libero, sit amet-	
		VIEW
	📑 📮 Previous 🗹 Differen	t First Page
	Go to Go to	t Odd & Ev
	leader Footer Link to Previous Show Do	ocument T
	Navigation	Options
		· & /
	Even-Page-Header-in-Section-11	
	Even Page Header -Section 1-	
	Lorem ipsum dolor sit-amet, consectetuer-adipiscing-eit. Maecenas portitior congue-massa. Fusce posuer, magna si midian utaribia	ed-
	puvinarutnices, purus iectus maiesua oa iloero, sit amet commodo magna eros quis uma.¶	
	Even Page Footer -Section 1Page Break1	
Л	,	
4		
	Even Page Header in Section 1	
5	Even Page Header -Section 2- Same as I Lorem-ipsum-dolor-sit-amet, consectetuer-adipiscing-elit	
	Maecenas portitor-congue-massa-rusce-posuere, magna-si pulvinar-ultricies, purvalectus-malesuada-libero, sit-amet-	
	····Page Break····1	
	Even Page Footer -Section 1-	
	۹	
	Z Even:Page+Header in:Section:21]	
	Even Page Header -Section 2-	
	Lorem-ipsum-dolor-sit-amet, consectetuer-adipiscing-elit. Maecenas-portition-congue-massa-fusce-posuere, magna-s	ed-
	punnar-utmoes, purus-lectus-malesuada-libero, sit-amet- commodo-magna-eros-quis-uma.¶	
	····Page Break···୩	

### Extracting text for a header or footer from body text

You don't always need to start a new section to make a header or footer show different information from one page to the next. Instead, you might be able to display the most recent text that's formatted with a specific style—such as a heading style—in the body of the document. That is the purpose of the StyleRef field.

As an example, you might write a report in which each chapter begins with its title, formatted with the Heading 1 style. You can put a field in the document's header, using the code { **StyleRef "Heading 1"** }. On each page, that field repeats the title of the current chapter.

The successful use of the StyleRef field depends on applying the

### Create and apply a custom style

- 1 Select the first text in your document that you want to repeat in the header or footer. Apply any character formatting that you want that text to have.
- **2** On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the More button. Near the bottom in the gallery that opens, click Create A Style.

specified style only to the text that you want to repeat in the header, not to anything else. If you need to use the built-in style for several different kinds of information, create a new style for use with the StyleRef field. Your custom style can even have the same formatting as the built-in style; only its name must be unique.

You might want to repeat only part of a paragraph from the document's body. For that purpose, you must use a character style instead of a paragraph style or a linked style. Although a linked style can be applied to just part of a paragraph, a StyleRef field won't recognize that text.





**SEE ALSO** For more information about defining custom styles, see "Creating and modifying styles" on page 94.

234 Extracting text for a header or footer from body text: Create and apply a custom style
#### 9: FORMATTING REPORTS AND FORMAL DOCUMENTS

**3** In the Create New Style From Formatting dialog box, in the Name text box, type a unique name for the custom style.

It's best to choose a name that describes the purpose of the style, such as **Chapter Title**.

- **4** By default, the Create A Style command creates a linked style. If you expect to apply the custom style only to complete paragraphs, click OK and continue at step 6. Otherwise, click the Modify button and continue at step 5.
- 5 Click the Style Type box and click Character in the drop-down list. If you want the style to be saved in the template for use in other documents, click the option for New Documents Based On This Template and then click OK.
- **6** Select each occurrence of text in the document that should be used in the header and apply the custom style to those selections.



**CAUTION** You can change the style type only during the creation of the style. If you change your mind about making a character style after the linked style exists, you'll have to delete the linked style and then create a new character style with the same name.



Extracting text for a header or footer from body text: Create and apply a custom style 235

#### **Insert a StyleRef Field**

- Double-click in the header area to open it and position the cursor where you want the extracted text to appear.
- **2** On the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Insert group, click Quick Parts. In the drop-down list that appears, click Field.
- 3 In the Field dialog box, in the Field Names list box, click StyleRef.
- **4** In the Style Name list box, click the name of your custom style.
- 5 Click OK.
- **6** Format the result of the StyleRef field by applying a style or direct formatting to it.
- 7 Double-click in the body of the document to close the header area.





**TIP** The StyleRef field's result does not repeat most formatting from the text in the document, so you have to apply to the field any formatting that you want in the header. The only kind of formatting in the text that affects the StyleRef field's result is the Hidden attribute—text that is Hidden doesn't appear in the field result at all.

236 Extracting text for a header or footer from body text: Insert a StyleRef Field

## **Inserting a watermark**

Typically, a watermark is ghosted or faded text or an image that appears in the background of each page of a document. It serves as a subtle reminder to readers about something of significance or that perhaps the document requires special treatment. For example, a document might use a watermark to alert readers that its content is confidential or that it's a preliminary draft.

In Word 2013, you can use any of the built-in watermarks, such as DRAFT or SAMPLE, or you can create a watermark containing your own text or a picture.

#### INISERT DESIGN PAGELAVOUT REFERENCES MAILINGS REV/IEW/ VIEW Jamie Reding agraph Spacing 5 A Colors Fonts Page Page 🖸 S t as Defaul nt Formatting Disclaimers Alpi Like m westre while a Lorem posuer guis or Adventure Wo DRAFT 1 DRAFT 2 More Watermarks from Office.com Custom Watermark... Remove Watermark Save Selection to Watermark Galler

#### Add a built-in watermark

- **1** On the Design tab, in the Page Background group, click Watermark.
- **2** Click the item in the Watermark gallery that you want to use as a watermark.

**TIP** If there is already a watermark anywhere in the document, it will be automatically removed when you choose another watermark.

**TRY THIS** A watermark in Word 2013 is actually a WordArt object or a picture that's inserted in the header area and then positioned in the middle of the page. As with all other items in the header, you can make the watermark in each section of the document different by first turning off the Link To Previous button on the Header & Footer Tools | Design contextual tab. However, you might first have to copy an existing watermark so that you can paste it back into place after you insert a new watermark into another section.

#### Add a custom text watermark

- 1 On the Design tab, in the Page Background group, click Watermark.
- **2** Near the bottom of the Watermark gallery that opens, click Custom Watermark.
- **3** In the Printed Watermark dialog box, click Text Watermark.
- **4** To use a different language for one of the built-in watermarks, click the Language box and choose a language from the drop-down list.

As you select a different language, the built-in watermarks are automatically translated.

- **5** In the Text box, select an entry from the drop-down list or type your own text.
- 6 Select the font, size, color, and layout that you want.
- 7 Click OK.



#### Add a custom picture watermark

- **1** On the Design tab, in the Page Background group, click Watermark.
- **2** Near the bottom of the Watermark gallery, click Custom Watermark.
- 3 In the Printed Watermark dialog box, click Picture Watermark.
- 4 Click the Select Picture button.
- 5 In the Insert Pictures dialog box, select a picture from your computer or from your SkyDrive storage, or search for clip art or a picture from the Internet.





1	From a file Browse files on your computer or local network	Browse ►	
1	Office.com Clip Art Royalty-free photos and illustrations	ski	×P
Ь	Bing Image Search Search the web	Search Bing	Q
	Jamie Reding's SkyDrive jamie.reding@hotmail.com	Browse ►	

SEE ALSO For more information about inserting a picture, see "Inserting a picture from your computer" on page 274 and "Inserting an online picture" on page 276.

#### www.it-ebooks.info

5.

- **6** Back in the Printed Watermark dialog box, type a value in the Scale box or click an item in its drop-down list to specify the size of the picture.
- **7** By default, the Washout check box is selected, which fades the picture to make the foreground text in the document readable. If it fades the watermark too much, clear the Washout check box.
- 8 Click OK.

		Printed Watermark ?	×	
	○ <u>N</u> o waterma	rk ermark		
	Select Pict	ure C:\\Content.IE5\9B92IATY\MP900423001[1].JPC	;	
6 -	Sca <u>l</u> e:	150% V Mashout	_	7
Ŭ	O Te <u>x</u> t waterm	ark		1
	Language:	English (United States)	$\sim$	
	Text:	ASAP	$\sim$	
	Font:	Calibri	<b>V</b>	
	Size:	Auto		
	Color:	Automatic 🗸 🗹 Semitransparent		
	Layout:	Diagonal O Horizontal		
		Apply OK Cancel		
		8		
		•		

**CAUTION** Print a page of the document to verify the size and transparency of the watermark before you start a large print run. If you selected a built-in text watermark and alternating letters don't print, open the Printed Watermark dialog box and clear the check box for the Semitransparent option.

**TRY THIS** A watermark in Word 2013 is actually a WordArt object or a picture that's inserted in the header area and then positioned in the middle of the page. You can open the header pane and click the object to select it. If it's text, use the commands on the WordArt Tools contextual tab to change its shape, size, color, and so forth. If it's a picture, use the commands on the Picture Tools contextual tab to change its brightness, contrast, color, and other formatting.

# Adding footnotes and endnotes

Footnotes and endnotes typically convey additional information about statements in the body of a document, or they describe the sources of quoted material. You typically see footnotes and endnotes being used in scholarly papers, business reports, and nonfiction books where there's a need for thorough information.

A footnote appears at the bottom of a page, whereas all endnotes are gathered at the end of the document or at the end of each section of the document. You can include both footnotes and endnotes in the same document. If you want, you can convert all the footnotes in a document to endnotes, or vice versa. Each footnote or endnote is automatically numbered. The number, called a *reference mark*, appears as a superscript in the body of the document; the same number appears at the beginning of the footnote or endnote text as an identifier. If you insert both kinds of notes in the same document, Word 2013 creates separate number sequences for the footnotes and for the endnotes. The reference mark is a hyperlink to the location of the corresponding note, and the number in the footnote or endnote text is a hyperlink to the corresponding reference mark.

#### Add a footnote or endnote

- 1 Click in your document's text where you want to insert the reference mark for a footnote or endnote.
- **2** On the References tab, in the Footnotes group, click Insert Footnote or Insert Endnote.

Word inserts the next number in the footnote or endnote sequence as the new reference mark and inserts the same number at the bottom of the page or at the end of the document. The cursor appears after the footnote or endnote number, ready for you to insert your text.

**3** Type or paste the text that you want in the footnote. When you finish typing the note, double-click the note's number to return to the location of the reference mark.

**TIP** Footnotes and endnotes in Draft, Outline, or Web Layout view are usually hidden. On the References tab, in the Footnotes group, click Show Notes to open a Footnote pane or an Endnote pane at the bottom of the window.



**TIP** If you insert or delete a footnote or endnote before the last existing note of that type, all the later notes in the sequence are automatically renumbered.

Adding footnotes and endnotes: Add a footnote or endnote 241

#### Change the format of footnotes and endnotes

- 1 On the References tab, in the Footnotes group, click the dialog box launcher (the small arrow in the lower-right corner of the group).
- **2** In the Footnote And Endnote dialog box, in the Location section, click either Footnotes or Endnotes, depending on which type of note you want to modify.

For footnotes, choose whether to position the footnote text at the bottom of the page or immediately below the last text on the page.

For endnotes, choose whether to collect all the endnotes at the end of the document or at the end of each section of the document.

- **3** If you selected Footnotes in step 2, you can click the Columns box. In the drop-down list that appears, choose whether to arrange the footnotes in the same number of columns as the text of the section, or in a specific number of columns, independent of the section layout.
- 4 Click the Number Format list box to select an Arabic or Roman numeral sequence, a letter sequence, or a symbol sequence.

Alternatively, type a symbol in the Custom Mark text box, or click the Symbol button to select any symbol in any available font. This choice disables the Number Format list box.

- **5** If you want the sequence to start at a number or letter different from the default, change the value in the Start At list box.
- **6** Click the Numbering list box and choose whether the numbering of footnotes or endnotes continues throughout the document, or restarts on each page or at the beginning of each section.
- 7 If the document contains section breaks, you can click the Apply Changes To list box and choose whether the changes in the dialog box affect the whole document or just the section containing the cursor.

DESIGN PAGE LAYOUT REFERENCES Insert Endnote 🛱 Mana AB Style AB Next Footnote Insert Insert 🚯 Bibli Show Notes Footnote Citatio ? Footnote and Endnote Location Eootnotes:  $\mathbf{v}$ Bottom of page Endnotes: End of document Convert... Footnote layout 3 ¥ Columns: 2 column Format ¥ Number format: 1, 2, 3, ... Symbol.. Custom mark: 4 Start at: 6 Numbering: ~ Apply changes ¥ Whole document Apply changes to: 8 Insert Cancel Apply

**TIP** If you need to convert all the footnotes in the document into endnotes, or vice versa, click the Convert button and choose the action that you want to perform.

**TRY THIS** If you need to refer to the same footnote or endnote in more than one location, insert the first occurrence of the note normally. Next, insert one or more cross-references to the note's reference mark in the other locations. Then, apply the Footnote Reference character style to each cross-reference. The cross-references must be updated manually if additions or deletions in the sequence cause the note's number to change. For more information about inserting cross-references, see "Repeating information by using cross-references" on page 216.

8 Click Insert.

242 Adding footnotes and endnotes: Change the format of footnotes and endnotes

# Generating a table of contents

A table of contents is one of the most important elements by which readers find information in your documents. Word 2013 easily creates a table that lists all the headings in the document and their page numbers. The entries in the list are hyperlinks to the headings in the text. This means that if the document is open in the Word program it's easy to jump directly to a topic of interest.

Before you insert a table of contents, it's a good idea to examine the headings in your document to be sure that all the paragraphs have the correct heading styles. The Navigation pane is an excellent tool for that task.

# **Check the headings**

- 1 Open a document that contains text and headings formatted by using the various built-in heading styles.
- **2** On the View tab, in the Show group, select the Navigation Pane check box (if it isn't already selected).

A table of contents usually contains the text that has been formatted by using the built-in heading styles in a document. However, Word gives you the option of including additional text that will be displayed only in the table of contents, but not in the document body. You enter this text in the field codes of hidden fields by using the keyword TC. For example, if each chapter title is just a Heading 1 that contains only the chapter number (just 1, 2, 3, and so on), that could be confusing in a table of contents. To make the table of contents more userfriendly, you can enter text such as "Chapter One" in a TC field, which you can then choose to include in the table of contents.



- **3** Toward the top of the Navigation pane, ensure that the Headings tab is selected. Then, verify that the Navigation pane displays all the headings that you want in the table of contents, that they form the correct outline, and that the Navigation pane doesn't display any text that should be excluded.
- **4** If you want to include a paragraph that doesn't appear in the Navigation pane, or one that has the wrong heading style, click in that paragraph and apply the correct heading style.

If you don't want a paragraph that appears in the Navigation pane to be included in the table of contents, apply a style that is not included in the table of contents (for example, Normal or Body Text).

3		4
FILE HOME INSERT DESIGN	PAGE LAYOUT REFERENCES MAILINGS I	REVIEW VIEW
Paste B I <u>U</u> + abc x, x <sup>2</sup> A +	Aa •   参 田 • 田 • 田 • 田 •   母 垣   剣   ¶ ダ • ▲ •   国 = 王 =   珥 •   魯 • 田 •	AaBbC( AaBbCcD( AABBCC AABBCC I Contact I Normal Heading 1 Heading 2
Navigation **	FS         Paragraph         FS           L         2         1         2         1	Styles
Search document P -	FAMILIES OF BUTTERFLIES	ally considered as butterflies.
× Purpose	Swallowtails and Birdwings, Papilion	aidae.
Life Cycle of Lepidoptera Taxonomy Relationships Controversy		
Families of Butterflies		

**CAUTION** On the References tab, in the Table of Contents group, clicking the Add Text button opens a gallery containing the entries Do Not Show In Table Of Contents, Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3. These commands act differently depending on the style currently applied to the paragraph at the cursor.

If the current style is Normal or one of the built-in heading styles from Heading 1 to Heading 9, the Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 commands apply the styles Heading 1, Heading 2, and Heading 3, respectively, and the Do Not Show In Table Of Contents command applies the Normal style. If the current style is any style other than Normal or the nine built-in heading styles, the commands change the paragraph's outline level without changing the paragraph's style.

This variable behavior can easily lead to confusion, so you should avoid the Add Text button. Instead, apply the correct paragraph styles from the gallery on the Home tab or from the Styles pane.



**SEE ALSO** For more information about applying styles, see "Formatting with styles" on page 90.

#### Insert a table of contents

- **1** Click at the location in the document where you want the table of contents to start.
- **2** On the References tab, in the Table Of Contents group, click Table Of Contents.
- **3** In the Table Of Contents gallery that opens, click Automatic Table 1 or Automatic Table 2. These building blocks insert a table of contents inside a content control, which means that they can easily be updated or replaced.

The two automatic tables are the same except for the wording of the title above the table. The Manual Table building block doesn't use any text from the body of the document and cannot be updated automatically, so it's appropriate only for documents that have no heading paragraphs.

			DEDIDIN	PAGE LA	1001	TAL .	
Table of Contents	Add Text	t • / Fable Ir Foo	AB <sup>1</sup> (ii) In: AB <sup>1</sup> Ne osert III Sh	sert Endnote ext Footnote ow Notes	Ť	Insert Insert	⊡, M E Sty → ∰ Bil
Automat	ic Table 1						1 .
CONTR	NTO					_	
Heading	1						
Headin	g 2					0	
Hea	ding 3						1000
						63	
Automat	ic Table 2						
TABLE	OFCONTENT	s					
Heading	1						
Heading	1 g 2					0	
Heading Headin Hea	1 g 2 ding 3					0	
Heading Headin Head	1 g 2 ding 3					0	
Heading Headin Head	1 g 2 ding 3					0	
Heading Headin Head Manual T TABLE	ding 3					0	
Heading Headin Head Manual T TABLE Type cha	able of CONTENT						
Heading Headin Head Manual T TABLE Type cha Type c Type c	and the second s	S 3)				0 0 0	
Heading Headin Headin Headin Headin Heading Headin Headin Headin Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Heading Headin H	a	<b>S</b> 3)				0 0 0 1 1 2 3 4	
Meading Heading Headin Headin Headin Headin Heading Heading Table Type cha	able of CONTENT of CON	s e) e) 3) ontents from	n Office.com			0 0 0 0 0 	
Manual T TABLE Type cha Type cha Type cha Type cha Manual T Control Control Con	a contraction of the second se	S (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	n Office.com			0 0 0 1 1 	
Manual T TABLE Type cha Type cha Type cha Type cha Mon Cus Rent	able of CONTENT oper title (level 1) hapter title (level 2) hapter title (level 2) re chapter title (level 2) re Tables of Co tom Table of ( nove Table of (	s ) ) ) ontents from Contents Contents	) Office.com			0 0 0	
Manual T TABLE Type cha Type cha Type cha Type cha Mon Cus Cus Rent Save	able of CONTENT of Content	s p) e13) whtents from Contents Contents Table of Con	n Office.com ntents Gallery				
Manual T TABLE Type cha Type cha Type cha Cus Cus Cus Cus Savi	a g 2	s pontents from Contents Contents Table of Con	n Office.com ntents Gallery				
Manual T TABLE Type cha Type c	a g 2	s pontents from Contents Contents Table of Con	n Office.com ntents Gallery		<u>۲</u>		
Manual T TABLE Type cha Type c	a g 2	s pontents from Contents Contents Table of Con	n Office.com ntents Gallery	/		0 0 1 	

**TIP** The Custom Table Of Contents command near the bottom of the Table Of Contents gallery inserts the same kind of table as the automatic building blocks, but it doesn't include the content control or the title above the table.

2

3

### Use TC fields for special entries

- 1 Click at the location in your document corresponding to the desired position of the new entry in the table of contents.
- **2** On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Quick Parts. In the dropdown list that appears, click Field.
- **3** In the Please Choose A Field section, in the Field Names list box, click TC.
- **4** In the Text Entry text box, type or paste the text that you want to insert in the table of contents.
- **5** In the section labeled Field Options, click in the text box to the right of the Outline Level label and type the number of the outline level (equivalent to the built-in heading style number) at which the entry will appear in the table of contents.
- 6 Click OK.

Repeat steps 1 through 6 for each entry that you want to insert in the table of contents.



Video-provides-a-powerful-way-to-help-you-prove-your-point.-When-you-click-Online-Video,-youin-the-embed-code-for-the-video-you-want-to-add.-You-can-also-type-a-keyword-to-search-onli video-that-best-fits-your-document.¶

To·make·your·document·look·professionally·produced,·Word·provides·header,·footer,·cover·p



TIP Each TC field is automatically formatted as Hidden text. If you need to edit the text in a TC field, on the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Show/Hide 1 button to display Hidden text and all other nonprinting characters.

- 7 Click to the left of the first character of the table of contents.
- 8 On the References tab, in the Table of Contents group, click Table of Contents. Near the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Custom Table Of Contents.
- **9** In the Table Of Contents dialog box, click the Options button.
- **10** In the Table Of Contents Options dialog box, select the Table Entry Fields check box and click OK.

The Table Entry Fields option configures the table of contents to include the text from any TC fields that exist in the document.

- 11 In the Table Of Contents dialog box, click OK.
- **12** In the message pop-up box that asks whether to replace the selected table of contents, click Yes.

Table of	of Contents ? ×	
Index Table of Contents Table of Figu	res Table of Authorities	
Print Pre <u>v</u> iew	Web Preview	
Heading 1 1	Heading 1	
Heading 2	Heading 2	
Heading 35	Heading 3	
	·	
Show page numbers	✓ Use <u>hyperlinks</u> instead of page numbers	
Right align page numbers		
Ta <u>b</u> leader:	·	
Caparal		
General Ecomotomoloto		
Change and the second s		
Show Tenets:		_ C
	Options	
	OK Concel	L 1
		<b>–</b>



# Updating a table of contents

Whenever you add or remove text or graphics, change page dimensions, or do anything else that affects the layout of your document, the page numbers or the items in the table

# Update page numbers only or the entire table of contents

- 1 Click inside the content control that contains the table of contents, but not on any of the hyperlinked entries.
- **2** When the content control's tag appears at the upper-left corner, click Update Table.
- **3** In the Update Table Of Contents dialog box, click the option that you want and then click OK.

of contents might need to change. Word 2013 gives you the choice to update the page numbers only, or to update the entire table, if entries must be added or removed.

		L
Update Table Contents Update Table Contents Umbers and Styles Umbers and Style		
Contents II	I 🗈 👻 🗋	Update Table
Themes and Styles	Contents	I
	Themes and S	tyles
1	1	
Video provides a powerful way to help you prove your point. When you click Online-Video, you can paste- in the embed code for the video you want to add. You can also type a keyword to search online for the	1 <b>{</b> ∙TC··'	'Chapter·One"·\l·1·]¶
	Video-provides e in-the-embed-co	-powerful way to help you prove your point. When you click Online Video, you can paste- de for the video you want to add. You can also type a keyword to search online for the





# Modifying table of contents styles

Although a table of contents in Word 2013 repeats the text of headings in the document, it doesn't use the formatting of the heading styles. Instead, it applies separate styles named TOC 1 through TOC 9 to the nine possible outline levels. Any direct character formatting (such as bold or italic) that is applied to the headings is repeated in the table of contents entries.

#### Change the formatting of the table entries

- 1 Click to the left of the first character of the table of contents.
- **2** On the References tab, in the Table of Contents group, click Table of Contents. Near the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Custom Table Of Contents.

The default TOC styles are very plain—just the Normal style with a little additional left indent in each successive outline level. For a better appearance, you might want to choose one of several other built-in sets of styles or modify the styles to your own preferences. For example, none of the built-in styles specify a hanging indent for entries that are long enough to extend to a second line. You might want to add this type of indent to the style definitions.

Table of Table of Contents * Madd Text * AB <sup>1</sup> Insert Endnote As <sup>k</sup> Next Footnote * Footnote I Show Notes	Style: Appa -      Bibliography*     Bibliography*
Bullt-In	ions & Bibliography Captions
Automatic Table 1 Contents Westing 1 Sector 2 Se	1 2 3 3 3 4 1 1 1 1 2 3 3 3 4 1 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 1 2 1
Automatic Table 2 Table of Contents ******** Header 7 #*****	Control     Dense and the     T    T
Manual Table Table of Contents Type degree (de front))	Visce that set the type's document.     Visce that set the type's document.     Visce that set the type's document is an operation of the type of the type's document is an operating of the type's document is
More Tables of Contents from Office.com	b even on another device. 1
Custom Table of Contents     Remove Table of Contents     Section to Table of Contents Gallery	

- **3** In the Table Of Contents dialog box, click the Formats box and select each of the items in its list box while you look at the previews to find one that is suitable. Each item corresponds to a different set of definitions for the TOC 1 through TOC 9 styles.
- **4** In the Tab Leader list box, select the type of leader line to connect the text of an entry in the table of contents to its page number. The default leader depends on the setting in the Formats box.
- **5** In the Show Levels list box, enter the number of outline levels that you want to display in the table of contents. The default value shows heading levels 1 through 3.
- 6 Click OK.
- 7 If none of the built-in sets of styles are exactly right, you can modify the TOC styles directly. On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog launcher (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S) to open the Styles pane.



- 8 If the styles TOC 1 through TOC 9 are not displayed in the Styles pane, click the Options link at the bottom of the pane. Then, in the Style Pane Options dialog box, click the Select Styles To Show box, select All Styles, and then click OK.
- **9** Right-click any of the TOC styles that need adjustment and then click Modify. Change the definition of the style as described in "Modify an existing style by using a dialog box" on page 95.

the change the war fitter		$\sim \sim $	m	
t-to-itWhen-you-work-on-a-	riyperiii	IK	u.	
sus-sign. 1				
the-document-and-focus-on-the- d-remembers-where-you-left-off-	Show	Preview		
aremembers where you let on	Disabl	le Linked Style	s	
	24 23	5 🐴	Options	
		_		
Select styles to show:				
Recommended	~			
Recommended	~			
In use				
All styles			- 8	
<u>Paragraph level tormatting</u>	~			
Font formatting				
Bullet and numbering formatting				
Select how built-in style names are shown	Г			
Show next heading when previous level is used			Styles	<b>▼</b> X
Hide built-in name when alternate name exists			Placeholder Text	a
Only in this document O New documents based o	n this templa		Plain Text	<u>¶a</u>
ОК	Cancel		Quote	<u>¶a</u>
			Salutation	<u>¶a</u>
			Signature	<u>¶a</u>
			Strong	а
			Subtitle	<u>¶a</u>
			Subtle Emphasis	а
			Subtle Reference	a
			Table of Authorities	1
			Title	л та
			TOA Heading	T.
			TOC 1	т. Т
			TOC 2	T
			TOC 3	Т
			TOC 4	T
			TOC 5	T
			TOC 6	-
	9-	Update	TOC 6 to Match Selectio	n
	- L	A Modify.	"N	
		Select A	ll: (No Data)	
		Remove	All: (No Data)	
		Delete T	OC 6	
		A	The Caller	
	_	Add to 3	allery	Options

**SEE ALSO** For more information about modifying the appearance of tables of contents, see wordfaqs.mvps.org/ TOCTips.htm#Appearance.

Modifying table of contents styles: Change the formatting of the table entries 251

www.it-ebooks.info

## Using multiple tables of contents

For a large document with many chapters, you might need a separate table of contents in each chapter plus a comprehensive table of contents at the beginning of the document. In Word 2013, you can insert a bookmark in the document to enclose

Mark part of the document for a table of contents

- **1** Select the part of the document for which you want to create a partial table of contents.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Links group, click Bookmark.
- **3** In the Bookmark dialog box, in the Bookmark Name list box, type a name for the bookmark.

You can use only letters, digits, and underscores in the name. Other characters, including spaces, are not allowed.

4 Click the Add button.

each chapter. Then, in the field code of the table of contents for a chapter, you can add a \b switch plus the name of the bookmark. That table of contents will display only the headings from within the specified bookmark.



Cancel

SEE ALSO For more information about selecting large amounts of text, see "Selecting text" on page 42. For more information about inserting a bookmark, see "Insert a bookmark" on page 211.

252 Using multiple tables of contents: Mark part of the document for a table of contents

# Make a table of contents for part of the document

- **1** Click in the document at the location where the partial table of contents should start.
- **2** On the References tab, in the Table Of Contents group, click Table Of Contents.
- **3** Near the bottom of the Table Of Contents gallery that opens, click the Custom Table Of Contents command.
- **4** In the Table Of Contents dialog box, select the desired format, tab leader, number of levels, and then click OK.

**CAUTION** If any other tables of contents already exist in the document, selecting any of the Automatic entries in the gallery will *replace* the first existing table of contents without any prompt. Only the Custom Table Of Contents command enables you to keep the existing tables and add a new one.

SEE ALSO For more information about defining the format of a table of contents, see "Modifying table of contents styles" on page 249.

2	3		1
FIL: HOME INSERT	DES GN PAGE LAYOUT	REFERENCES MAILINGS	RE VIEW DEVELOPER J
Table of Contents - Fo	AB <sup>1</sup> Insert Notrote	Insert Citation - 10 Bibliography * C	Direct Table of Figures     Update Table Insert     Direct Index
Built-In Automatic Table 1		ions & Bibliography	Captions Index Tabl
Contents Heading 1 Heading 3		1	Erchwon
Automatic Table 2 Table of Contents Internation Research Research			version, which are support or support on the strength of the based based by the strength of th
Manual Table			In 2012, the population of Breakson was estimated at just over 22 million, 80 percent of whom live on less then two dulars per view, it demonstrate and union are back will integrate of the states. The majority of the population advects to testificiant backs, christianity, can amatigamation afboth.
Table of Contents Type chapter rais (Level 3).			Extraology in the distribution the sequent the land of finance is balant for the sector are selected to a finance revenue to a land supportion. The most of and of sector are set of the population of the sector of the sector and the sector and the sector of the sector and the sector and sector and the sector and the sector and the sector of the sector and the sector and sector and the sector and the sector of the sector and
More Tables of Contents from	m Office.com	Þ	At 592,000 square kilometers (222,000 qm <sup>3</sup> ), Dehivon is the work's 27th largest sourchy and the eighth-largest blanc. The country is an oarty between includes 127 and 247, and large black 437 is 51%. Registrating larensis invalue to which restrictly of thranking in the exciting of Maryla to the exit, scual is the other of Sonoros and the Libro territory of Maryla to the continuest. The search minima store to which continuests to the west.
Remove Table of Contents	-0		Climate
Save Selection to Table of Co	ontents Gallery		The combination of southeastern trade winds and northwestern monosons produces a hot rainy seaso (Neuromber: Andi) with frequently destructive evologies and a relatively realized y season (Max-



Using multiple tables of contents: Make a table of contents for part of the document 253

#### 9: FORMATTING REPORTS AND FORMAL DOCUMENTS

- **5** If a message pop-up box appears, asking whether to replace the selected table of contents, click No.
- **6** At the left end of the first line, right-click the table of contents. On the shortcut menu that appears, click Toggle Field Codes.
- 7 Edit the field code to add the switch \b followed by the name of the bookmark that surrounds the desired part of the document.

For example, if the bookmark's name is Appendix\_A, the completed table of contents field code should be similar to { TOC \o "1-3" \h \z \u \b Appendix\_A }.

- 8 Right-click in the field code and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Update Field (shortcut, F9).
- **9** In the Update Table Of Contents dialog box, click the Update Entire Table option and then click OK.



# **Indexing a document**

In a long nonfiction document, especially one that will be printed on paper, it's vital to include an index so that readers can locate names, concepts, procedures, or other important topics. Word 2013 provides several tools that aid in compiling an index.

You index a document in two stages. In the first stage, you insert fields by using the keyword XE to mark the locations of entries that will be collected in the index. In these XE fields, you can repeat text from the document, or you can enter synonyms

or any other words that are related to or in some way descriptive of the text you're indexing. Index entries can be constructed with a main phrase followed by a subentry.

The second stage consists of inserting the index itself, which is a field with the keyword INDEX. You can choose options that change the formatting of the index, such as the number of columns to display or how to separate the page numbers from the entry text.

#### **Mark index entries**

1 Click in your document at the location where you want to insert an index entry.

If you want the entry to consist of the text in that location, select the text. If you intend to enter some word or phrase that doesn't specifically appear in the text, just click without selecting anything.

2 On the References tab, in the Index group, click Mark Entry.

PAGE LAYOUT DESIGN REFERENCES MAILINGS REVIEW VIFW DEVELOPER Ē Insert Endnote Anage Sources Insert Table of Figures 🖹 Insert Index AB Style: APA Update Table ] Update Ind ext Footnote Insert Insert Mark w Notes Citation - 🛍 Bibliography Cross-reference note Caption Entry Citations & Bibliograph Fool Captions Inde Erehwon, officially the Republic of Erehwon XE. "Republic of Erehwon" is is an island country in the Eastern-Ocean, off-the-southeastern-coast-of-Gondwanaland.-The-nation-includes-the-island-of-Erehwon-(the eighth-largest island in the world), as well as numerous smaller islands.

**CAUTION** The index entries are case-sensitive. For example, if you mark both **reading** and **Reading** as entries, the index will display them separately rather than combining them. This might be intentional or a mistake. The final index requires a careful review for problems like this.

TIP All XE fields are automatically formatted as Hidden text. If you want to see or edit the XE fields, on the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click the Show/Hide I button.

- **3** If you selected text in step 1, it appears in the Main Entry text box of the Mark Index Entry dialog box. If that is the desired index entry, click the Mark button to insert an XE field. To insert an XE field on each page on which the selected text occurs, click Mark All. Otherwise, continue at step 4.
- **4** If there is no text in the Main Entry text box, or if you want to change the entry, add or edit the text in the Main Entry box and the Subentry box, as appropriate.

For example, if the text you selected in the document is **Abraham Lincoln**, but you want the main entry to appear as **Lincoln** with the subentry **Abraham**, delete or cut **Abraham** from the Main Entry box and type or paste it into the Subentry box.

- 5 If the current entry should not have a page number, but instead should refer to another entry in the index, click the Cross-Reference option and type the desired text in the text box to its right.
- **6** If the current entry refers to a range of pages that are marked with a bookmark, click the Page Range option and then select the bookmark's name in the Bookmark box.
- 7 If the entry's page number should be bold or italic or both, select the desired check boxes in the Page Number Format section.
- 8 Click the Mark button or the Mark All button.
- **9** To continue marking entries, click in the document at the next location.

The Mark Index Entry dialog box remains open, and its Main Entry box updates to the new selection when you click in the dialog box again.

**10** When you want to dismiss the Mark Index Entry dialog box, click Cancel.



	Mark Index Entry ?
entury, the islanc y-19th century, ir The monarchy ( n·which the islan pr constitutional- tutional democri in 2002 the last- um "Åwas-made	Index     .       Main gntry:     Eastern Ocean ]       Subentry:
ion·of·Erehwon·v ·per·day.·Erehwc ity·of·the·popula	Page range Bookmark: Page number format Bold Italic
	This dialog box stays open so that you can mark multiple index entries.

#### 9: FORMATTING REPORTS AND FORMAL DOCUMENTS

#### Insert an index

- **1** Click in your document at the location where you want the index to start.
- **2** On the References tab, in the Index group, click the Insert Index button.
- **3** In the Index dialog box, click the Formats box. Select each of the items in the Formats list in turn while you look at the Print Preview box. When you see the format that you prefer, leave that list item selected.
- 4 If you want to place the page numbers at the right margin of each column, select the check box for Right Align Page Numbers. Then, in the Tab Leader list box, select a tab leader style or (none).
- 5 If your index uses subentries, click the Indented option to start each subentry on a new line, or click the Run-In option to place all the subentries of the same main entry into a single paragraph.
- **6** In the Columns list box, enter the number of columns in which the index should be arranged.
- 7 In the Language list box, select the language that determines the sort order of the index. Languages that use the caret (^), tilde (~), and other accent characters have specific sorting rules.
- 8 Click OK.
- **9** If you add, edit, or delete XE fields, click in the index. Then, on the References tab, in the Index group, click Update Index.

**TIP** Before you update the index, on the Home tab click Show/ Hide I to turn it off. Otherwise, the visible XE fields might change the pagination of the document by so much that the page numbers in the index are incorrect.



#### Using multiple indexes

The field code of an Index field can include switches that create different types of indexes. Two of these switches are quite useful in certain circumstances.

In one scenario, you might separate the document into chapters or other parts, and enclose each part in a bookmark. Then, you can insert an Index field and edit its field code to include a \b switch and the name of the bookmark enclosing the desired

# Make indexes for different parts of a document

- **1** Select the part of the document for which you want to create a partial index.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Links group, click Bookmark.
- **3** In the Bookmark dialog box, in the Bookmark Name list box, type a name for the bookmark.

You can use only letters, digits, and underscores in the name. Other characters, including spaces, are not allowed.

4 Click the Add button.

SEE ALSO For more information about selecting large amounts of text, see "Selecting text" on page 42. For more information about inserting a bookmark, see "Insert a bookmark" on page 211. part. That index will contain only the entries from the specified part.

In another scenario, you might want an index just for the names of people mentioned in the document, and another index for all other kinds of entries. To do this, edit the field code of each XE field to include an \f switch and a one-letter identifier. Then, insert the same \f switch and identifier into the corresponding Index field.





#### 9: FORMATTING REPORTS AND FORMAL DOCUMENTS

- 5 Click in the document at the location where the partial index should start.
- 6 On the References tab, in the Index group, click Insert Index.
- 7 Select the options to create the appearance that you want for the index, as described in "Insert an index" on page 257.
- 8 If a message pop-up box appears, asking whether to replace the selected index, click No.
- 9 Right-click in the index. On the shortcut menu that opens, click Toggle Field Codes.
- 10 Edit the field code to add the switch \b, followed by the name of the bookmark that surrounds the desired part of the document.

For example, if the bookmark's name is Appendix A, the completed Index field code should be similar to { INDEX \h "A" \c "2" \b Appendix A }.

DESIGN

note

6

5

Index

PAGE LAYOUT

Insert

AB Next Footnote

Show Notes

Footnotes

Index¶

11 On the References tab, in the Index group, click Update Index.



Using multiple indexes: Make indexes for different parts of a document 259

### Make indexes for different kinds of entries

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Paragraph group, click Show/Hide 1 to display the hidden XE fields.
- 2 Edit each XE field to add an \f switch and a one-letter identifier for the type of entry.

For example, you might insert **\f n** into entries for names, and **\f o** into entries for other topics.

The letters you use as identifiers are arbitrary. The only requirement is that each entry of the same type must have the same letter. Uppercase and lowercase of the same identifier are treated as the same entry type.

- **3** Click in the document at the location where the special index should start.
- 4 On the References tab, in the Index group, click Insert Index.



opower-relative-to-the-larger-coastal-kingdoms-and-grew-even-weaker-in-the-early-18th-century-when-King-Andrewmarkinova <u>XE</u>"Andrewmarkinova".\f-n divided-it-an ong-his-four-sons.-Following-a-century-ofwarring-and-famine,-Imelda-was-reunited-in-1793-by-King-And-ewpointyImelda<u>XE</u> "AndrewpointyImelda".\f-n <u>1</u>(1777–1800).-From-his-capital-of Erehwon-City<u>XE</u>"Erehwon-City<u>XE</u>". AndrewpointyImelda".\f-n <u>1</u>(1777–1800).-From-his-capital-of Erehwon-City<u>XE</u>". Erehwon-City<u>XE</u>". AndrewpointyImelda".\f-n <u>1</u>(1777–1800).-From-his-capital-of Erehwon-City<u>XE</u>". Erehwon-City<u>XE</u>". Erehwon-XE under-his-control-was-largely-achieved-by-his-son-and-successor,-King-Ramalama<u>XE</u>". Ramalama<u>XE</u>". Ramalama:. AndrewpointyImelda-XE. Manalama-concludeda-treaty-in-1817-with-the-Burtish-governor-of-Murphys-to-abol sh-the-slave-trade-in-return-for-Burtishmilitary-and-financial-assistance.-Artisan-missionary-envoys-from-the-Missionary-Society-began-arriving-in-1818-and-included-such-key-figures-as-James-Cameron<u>XE</u>". Cameron:James". Jones:David". Jr-n<u>§</u>-and-David-Griffiths<u>EXE</u>". Criffiths:David JAng-<u>4</u>, who-established-schools,-transcribedthe-Erehwonese<u>FXE</u>". Erehwonese<u>FXE</u>". Erehwonese<u>FXE</u>". Co<u>h</u>anguage-using the-Rd\_an-alphabet,-translated-the-Bible,-andintroduced-avariety-of-new-technologies-to-the-island.

B <sup>1</sup> (in ) Insert Endnote at the show Notes insert of Bibliography * Cross-reference insert Critation * the Bibliography * Critation * the Bibl
Footnotes rs Citations & Bibliography Captions Index

- 5 In the Index dialog box, select the options to create the appearance that you want for the index, as described in "Insert an index" on page 257.
- 6 If a message pop-up box appears, asking whether to replace the selected index, click No.
- 7 Right-click in the index. On the shortcut menu that appears, click Toggle Field Codes.
- 8 Edit the field code to add the switch \f, followed by the identifier that you used for this type of entry in step 2.

For example, if the identifier for names is **n**, the completed Index field code should be similar to { INDEX \h "A" \c "2" \f n }.

**9** On the References tab, in the Index group, click Update Index.







?

# Making tables of tables and tables of figures

Some documents are heavily illustrated or use many tables, and readers often find it useful to have a table of figures or a table of tables, or both. Word 2013 has tools specifically designed for creating tables of those kinds. To create tables of figures or tables of tables, you must insert *captions* to identify each of the items that should be included.

#### **Insert captions**

- 1 Click in a table, or select a picture or a chart.
- 2 On the References tab, in the Captions group, click Insert Caption.
- **3** In the Caption dialog box, click the Label list box and select the type of the current item.
- 4 Click the Position list box and select the placement of the caption.
- **5** Click the Caption text box and type a description of the current item, if desired.
- 6 Click OK.





#### Insert a table of tables or figures

- 1 Click in the document at the location where the table of tables or figures should start.
- 2 On the References tab, in the Captions group, click Insert Table Of Figures.
- 3 In the Table Of Figures dialog box, click the Caption Label list box and select the type of item to be listed by the current table.
- **4** Click the Formats list box and select the appearance you want.
- 5 If you want to place the page numbers at the right margin of each column, select the check box for Right Align Page Numbers. Then, in the Tab Leader list box, select a tab leader style or (none).
- 6 Click OK.
- 7 If there is already a table of the same type in the document, Word displays a message pop-up box that asks whether to replace the selected table of figures. If you intend to change the existing table, click Yes; otherwise, click No.

1	L				2	2	
DE	SIGN P.	AGE LAYOUT	REFERENCES	MAILINGS	REVIEW	VIEW DEVE	ELOPER
AB <sup>1</sup> nsert otnot	Footnotes	Endnote potnote + Notes	Insert Citation - E Biblio Citations & Biblio	ge Sources	Insert Caption	ert Table of Figure date Table oss-reference aptions	es Mar Entr
<u>ل</u> للله الله الله	Time of Acti	ivity					
		r		Table of	of Figures		? ×
The	JRPOSE	Index Print Pre Figure 1 Figure 3 Figure 4 Figure 5	Table of Contents view : Text : Text : Text : Text : Text : Text	Table of <u>Figur</u> 1 3 5 7 10	Table of A Web Previe Figure 1: T Figure 2: T Figure 3: T Figure 5: T	withorities	^
	5 -	✓ <u>Show</u> ✓ <u>Right</u> Ta <u>b</u> lead	v page numbers : align page numbers er:	~	Use hyp	perlinks instead of	page numbers
	4- - 3	General Forma <u>t</u> Captio	s: Distinctive n <u>l</u> abel: Figure ude label and <u>n</u> umbe	v v		Options	Modify
	6-					С	Cancel



insert.

TIP The message pop-up box always makes reference to a table of figures, regardless of which type of table you chose to

Making tables of tables and tables of figures: Insert a table of tables or figures 263

www.it-ebooks.info

# **Creating a bibliography**

When you write a paper for a school course or for publication in a journal, one of the most tedious and error-prone parts of the work is keeping track of the sources and properly formatting the citations and the bibliography. Word 2013 supplies tools that help with those tasks.

As you write your paper, insert each citation directly in the text and enter the information about its source. Word 2013 stores that information, so you can easily use it later to cite the same source again. If you don't have all the information to complete the citation, you can create a placeholder and fill it in later. You can insert a bibliography in your document at any time after you insert at least one citation, or you can wait until the end of the project. The bibliography can be updated at any time to include added or modified citations. There are many different styles of citation and bibliography, but most schools and publishers accept one of a handful of standard styles. Word 2013 can automatically format information to conform to the styles in *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association* 6th edition (APA), *The Chicago Manual of Style* 15th edition (Chicago), *MLA Handbook for Writers of Research Papers* 7th edition (MLA), and *Manual for Writers of Research Papers, Theses, and Dissertations* 6th edition (Turabian), among other styles.

#### Choose a citation style

1 On the References tab, in the Citations & Bibliography group, click the down-arrow next to the Style box. In the drop-down list that appears, click the name of the style that you want to use.

The citation style you select is one of the factors in determining which pieces of information are requested when you add a new source. However, you can select a different citation style later; Word will automatically change the formatting applied to the citations and the bibliography.



#### Add a source

- 1 Click in the text at the end of the sentence or passage that needs a citation.
- **2** On the References tab, in the Citations & Bibliography group, click Insert Citation. In the drop-down list that appears, click Add New Source.
- **3** In the Create Source dialog box, click the Type Of Source list box and select the form of the source material.

The fields displayed in the bottom part of the Create Source dialog box will change to those required for the selected source type and the current citation style.

**4** Type or paste the information about the source and then click OK.

The citation appears at the insertion point in the document, in the format appropriate for the current citation style.

**5** After you add a source, Word adds it to the gallery on the Insert Citation button. You can insert a citation for the same source elsewhere in the document by selecting it from the gallery.

**TIP** If a source has multiple authors, click the Edit button to open a dialog box in which you can enter and reorder the authors' names.



#### Add a placeholder

- If you don't have all the information to complete the citation, on the References tab, in the Citations & Bibliography group, click Insert Citation. In the drop-down list that appears, click Add New Placeholder.
- **2** In the Placeholder Name dialog box, type a name for the placeholder and click OK.

The placeholder's name appears at the insertion point in the document.

**TIP** A placeholder name can contain letters, digits, and underscores. Other characters, including spaces, are not allowed.



OK

Cancel

#### Manage sources

1 On the References tab, in the Citations & Bibliography group, click Manage Sources.



Placeholder1

2 In the Source Manager dialog box, the Master List list box displays all the sources you've created on your computer, in all the documents that contain citations, except for any sources that you previously deleted. The Current List list box displays the sources that are cited in the open document, uncited sources that are available in the Insert Citation gallery, and any placeholders in the document.

After you click an entry in the Master List or the Current List, you can do one of the following:

- Click the Copy button to copy the selected source to the opposite list.
- Click the Delete button to remove the selected source from the list.
- Click the Edit button to change information in the selected source.

The preview at the bottom of the Source Manager dialog box shows the format of the selected source as a citation and as a bibliography entry in the current citation style.

- **3** If you want to create a new source without adding a citation in the text of the document, click the New button. Complete the entries in the Create Source dialog box and click OK. The citation is added to both lists in the Source Manager dialog box.
- **4** If you want to sort the lists in the Source Manager dialog box differently, click the Sort box and select the field by which to sort.
- 5 Click the Close button.



**TRY THIS** The Master List is stored in a file named *Sources.xml*. In the Source Manager dialog box, click the Browse button to display the Open Source List dialog box. You can right-click the *Sources. xml* file and click Copy (shortcut, Ctrl+C). Then, select a different folder or network location and paste the file as a backup copy, or to transfer the file to another computer.

#### Insert a bibliography

- **1** Click in your document at the location where the bibliography should start.
- **2** On the References tab, in the Citations & Bibliography group, click Bibliography. In the gallery that opens, click one of the entries, or at the bottom of the gallery, click Insert Bibliography.

All of the entries in the gallery are the same except for their titles. They enclose the entire bibliography in a content control, which enables updating the bibliography with a click on the control's tag. The Insert Bibliography item inserts a bibliography without a title or a content control.

**3** If you plan to submit the document to a different publication, you might need to change the citation style to another standard. On the References tab, in the Citations & Bibliography group, click the Style box and select the new style. Word 2013 automatically reformats all of the citations and the bibliography to match the new style.

**CAUTION** The bibliography you insert contains all of the sources in the Current List list box of the Manage Sources dialog box, including any uncited sources but excluding any placeholders. It's a good idea to review the Current List to ensure that all of its entries are selected to indicate that they have citations in the document, and none of them have question marks, indicating that they are placeholders.

**TIP** If you use the APA 6th edition citation style and you insert multiple citations from the same author, the citations incorrectly include the publication title. To correct this, click the citation, click the down-arrow at the right end of the content control, and then click Edit Citation. In the Edit Citation dialog box, in the section labeled Suppress, select the Title check box and click OK.





# Making pictures work for you

There are few things that you can place in your Microsoft Word 2013 documents that capture a reader's interest as much as an illustration. Photographs might show a family occasion, a house for sale, or a scene that sets a mood. A screenshot could demonstrate an application's display or an interesting website. Graphs and charts can help your readers to visualize data. Or, you could include an online video of assembly instructions or a concert performance.

When you add a picture to a document, it's important to consider how it is positioned with respect to the text. Word supports several layout options with which you can control how text flows around your graphic. You also have many tools available to modify the appearance of a picture, whether to correct problems or to add interesting texture or color effects.

# 10

#### In this section:

- Choosing illustration types
- Inserting a picture from your computer
- Inserting an online picture
- Inserting online video
- Inserting a screenshot
- Positioning pictures on the page
- Resizing or cropping a picture
- Replacing a picture
- Changing the appearance of a picture
- Removing the background from a picture
- Applying special effects
- Setting a transparent color

#### **Choosing illustration types**

Word 2013 helps you to illustrate your documents with photographs, drawings, screenshots, charts, and diagrams. You can insert graphics files from your computer or your online storage, or search the Internet for just the right image. Word 2013 introduces the ability to include online video clips that your readers can launch from within your documents. With so many possibilities, it's important to know which command is appropriate for a particular type of illustration. The commands that you can use to place graphics in your document are gathered on the ribbon, on the Insert tab. There, you'll find everything you need in the Illustrations group and the Media group.

INSERT		DESIGN PAGE LAYOUT F		REF	ERENCES	MAILI	
able •	Picture	S Online Pictures	Shapes	E SmartArt Chart Screensho	t≁	Apps for Office *	Online Video
bles	Illustrations					Apps	Media

If you have a photograph, a drawing, or another kind of graphic file stored on your computer, use the Pictures command to open the Insert Picture dialog box. There, you can use the Search box to find files, and you can open the Preview pane to verify that you have the correct files.



When you need a graphic file from your SkyDrive storage or your Flickr account, or if you want to search the clip art on Office.com or the images available on the Internet, use the Online Pictures tool. Clip art includes both drawings and photographs that cover a wide range of topics. The Bing Image Search can retrieve from the web almost any image you can think of.
1	Office.com Clip Art Royalty-free photos and illustrations	Search Office.com	хP
b	Bing Image Search Search the web	Search Bing	Q
<b>~</b>	Jamie Reding's SkyDrive jamie.reding@hotmail.com	Browse ►	

Using the Screenshot tool, you can take a picture of a window or a region of your computer screen and immediately insert it into your Word document. One screenshot or a series of captures can help you to explain how a program works, or to report an error message.

AGE LAYOUT	REFERENCES	MAIL	INGS	REVIEW	1
) Ten SmartArt	Apps for Office •	Online Video	Einks	Comment	
Available Wind	lows				
Screen <u>C</u> lip	ping				

The Shapes gallery offers boxes, arrows, circles, and many other tools for drawing diagrams and for annotating other kinds of pictures. You can place shapes directly on the page, or first insert a drawing canvas to group several pictures and shapes into one object.

Shapes	SmartArt Chart Screenshot +	Apps for Office •	Online Video
Recently l	Jsed Shapes		
		こし 🗘	₽G
\$71	{}		
Lines			
172.	1,1,2	ここへ	G %
Rectangle	s		
Basic Shap	es		
$\Box \circ \Delta$	$\Box \Box \triangle \Diamond$	$\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$	0
000	JOLT	/00	80
	<u>~</u> 0 0 0	\$ \$ C	37
C) {} [	] { }		
Block Arro	ows		
\$\$\$	U (\$) (\$) (\$) (\$)	466	순순
630	$\mathbb{Q} \Rightarrow \mathbb{Q}$	∑╠닞	신芷
다 아			
Equation S	hapes		
* - %	÷ = #		
Flowchart			
	Y & A X	θΔV	ЧD
	D		
Stars and	A A A	100 KM KM	en en
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	ᄣᄄᇊᄭ	199 NA NA 1971	47 49
Calloute	- U L N	~	
	ാറററ		un un
	یں در در ۱۰	i yan yan (lai	Y F
New P	kawing Canva		

The SmartArt feature helps you to create well-designed diagrams that combine shapes and text to clarify abstract concepts. You can use the Themes feature to coordinate the colors and effects in all of the SmartArt in your document. With the Chart tool, you can turn your numeric and timerelated data into visually interesting charts and graphs. And, you can use the analytical features of Microsoft Excel to show the relevance of the data to your readers.



Increasingly, Word documents are distributed and read electronically rather than on paper. In Word 2013, you can find videos on the Internet or on your own website and insert links to them directly into your documents.

6	Bing Video Search Search the web	Search Bing	Q
You Tube	YouTube The largest worldwide video-sharing community! Remove	Search YouTube	Q
Q	From a Video Embed Code Paste the embed code to insert a video from a web site	Paste embed code here	

#### Inserting a picture from your computer

On your work computer, you might store the company logo, pictures of products, engineering drawings, and so on. Your home computer might contain hundreds of digital pictures of

#### Choose a picture file on disk

- 1 Click at the location in the document where you want the picture to appear.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click Pictures.
- **3** In the Insert Picture dialog box, if the picture that you want is visible in the first folder that appears, click the picture's icon so that its name appears in the File Name box and then continue at step 5.
- **4** If you want a picture from another folder, use the folder display on the left side of the dialog box to navigate to that location or use the Search box in the upper-right corner of the dialog box to find the desired picture. Then, click the picture's icon so that its name appears in the File Name box.

family, friends, vacations, and more. You can insert any of these files into your Word 2013 documents to illustrate and enliven your message.





- **5** Click the down-arrow on the Insert button and do one of the following:
  - Click Insert to store a copy of the picture file in your Word document.
  - Click Link To File to insert only a link that connects the Word document to the picture file. This keeps your document file as small as possible. If you edit the picture file, you can then update the Word document to show the revised picture. However, if you share the document with others, they'll see an error message indicating a broken link instead of the picture.
  - Click Insert And Link to store a copy of the picture file in your Word document and link it to the original picture file. This method lets you update modified pictures like the Link To File method, but you can share the file with others without breaking any links to the original.

**TIP** Word 2013 can insert files saved in the following formats: .emf, .emz, .wmf, .wmz, .jpg, .jpeg, .jfif, .jpe, .png, .bmp, .dib, .rle, .gif, .pcz, .tif, .tiff, .wpg, .cgm, .eps, .pct, .pict, and .cdr. To filter the display of files in the Insert Picture dialog box to a specific format (and make it easier to find the file you want), click the drop-down list to the right of the File Name box and select that format.

TRY THIS If your document contains pictures that were inserted by using the Link To File option or the Insert And Link option, you can edit those links. To do this, first click the File tab to display the Backstage view and then click the Info tab. On the right side of the Info page, in the Related Documents section, click Edit Links To Files. (Your document must be saved at least once to make this link appear.) In the Links dialog box, you can change the source file of a linked picture or break the link and store a copy of the file in the document.

🖬 Ins	ert Picture	×
( ) ▼ ↑ ) ≪ Science → maps	✓ C Search maps	Q
Organize 🔻 New folder	🖬 🔻 🚺	0
Downloads Templates Recent places Libraries Documents Music Pictures Cartoons Cartoons Photos Science Public Pictures		
File name: Erehwon.png	<ul> <li>All Pictures (*.emf;*.wmf;*.jpg;*</li> </ul>	~
	Tools	
	Link to File Insert and Link	

#### Inserting an online picture

Sometimes, you want to illustrate an idea or to decorate your document, but you don't have a suitable picture on your computer. You can probably find just what you need by searching either the collection of photographs and clip art on Office.

#### Find a picture or clip art

- 1 Click at the location in the document where you want the picture to appear.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click Online Pictures.
- **3** In the Insert Pictures dialog box, click the Search Office.com box or the Search Bing box to look for clip art or images from those web resources, respectively.
- **4** Type or paste a word or phrase to describe the subject of your search. Press the Enter key or click the magnifying-glass icon in the search box.
- **5** Click the thumbnail of an image you like and then click the Insert button to copy the selected file into your document.

com or the millions of images that exist on the Internet. Both of these options are available through the Online Pictures tool in Word 2013. The same dialog box includes a link to browse your SkyDrive storage and your Flickr account, if you have one.



**TIP** If you're working with a keyboard and mouse and you want to select more than one image simultaneously, hold the Ctrl key while you click additional images. If you're using a touchscreen device, tap the first image and then tap and hold that image while you tap additional images.

#### Get a picture from SkyDrive or Flickr

- **1** Click at the location in the document where you want the picture to appear.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click Online Pictures.
- **3** In the Insert Pictures dialog box, in the section for your SkyDrive storage, click the Browse link or click the See More link for Flickr.
- **4** Click the thumbnail of an image and then click the Insert button to copy the selected file into your document.



**TIP** The first time you use Flickr from Word 2013, you'll connect your Flickr account to your Microsoft Account. If you want to remove that connection, click the Manage link in the Insert Pictures dialog box and follow the instructions that appear in your browser.



#### **Inserting online video**

If you produce educational or training documents, sales presentations, or other material that would benefit from including

#### Find a video clip

- 1 Click at the location in the document where you want the video to appear.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Media group, click Online Video.

video clips, Word 2013 can help you to quickly find and insert video into your text.



**3** In the Insert Video dialog box, click the Search Bing text box or the Search YouTube text box and enter a word or phrase that describes the video for which you're searching on the web or specifically from YouTube.com, respectively.

Alternatively, you can insert a video from another website if it makes available an embed code (an HTML expression that gives the video's address and other information). To do that, copy the embed code from the webpage and paste it into the embed text box.

**4** If you entered text in the Search Bing text box or the Search You-Tube text box, press the Enter key or click the magnifying-glass icon in the search box.

If you entered an embed code, click the right-arrow button in the embed code box to insert the video into your document.

**5** In the results of a Bing search or a YouTube search, click the thumbnail of a video and then click the Insert button to insert the selected video into your document.





#### **Inserting a screenshot**

Perhaps you write instructions for how to use apps—maybe even for a book like this one—or you might want to capture a series of webpages or a video game's high score. In Word 2013

#### Copy an entire window

- **1** Open both Word 2013 and the app window that you want to capture.
- 2 Click at the location in the Word document where you want the screenshot to appear.
- **3** On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click Screenshot and click the thumbnail of the window to capture.
- 4 A screenshot of the selected window appears in the Word document at the insertion point. You can use the sizing and rotation handles to change the appearance of the screenshot, or change its text wrapping or formatting, as you can for any inserted picture.

you can use the screenshot tool to take a picture of the entire window that is currently displayed on your computer screen or just a small part of it.



TIP You can't use the Screenshot tool to capture the Word window into which the screenshot will be inserted. If you need a screenshot of the Word window, open another copy of the document and take a screenshot of it. Alternatively, if you have a keyboard, press Alt+Print Screen to place a screenshot of the current window on the clipboard and then paste it into your document.

#### www.it-ebooks.info

#### Select part of the screen

- 1 Open both Word 2013 and the app window that you want to capture. Then, click in the Word document at the location where you want the screenshot to appear.
- **2** On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click Screenshot. At the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Screen Clipping.

The Word window automatically minimizes, the entire screen dims, and the cursor changes to a cross-hair.

**3** Drag the cross-hair cursor to establish a rectangle around the part of the screen that you want to capture. When the rectangle is correctly positioned and at the size you want, release the mouse button. The captured rectangle appears in the Word document at the insertion point.







#### Positioning pictures on the page

When you insert a picture or any other graphic object into a Word 2013 document, you can choose how it affects the text around it. There are seven basic possibilities, which collectively are called *layout options*.

In many cases, you want the picture to behave as if it's a single large character, either within a line of text or in a paragraph by itself. The position of the picture on the page is determined by how much text occurs in the document before the picture's location. If you insert or delete text, the picture might move. This option is called *in line with text*.

**Choose the layout option** 

- In a Word document that contains a picture, click a picture to select it.
- **2** At the upper-right corner of the picture, click the Layout Options icon.
- **3** In the Layout Options gallery, click the icon corresponding to the layout option that you want.
- **4** If you selected one of the icons in the With Text Wrapping section of the gallery, click either the Move With Text option or the Fix Position On Page option.

**TIP** When you select a picture, the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab appears on the ribbon. In the Arrange group, click the Wrap Text button, which includes the items in the Layout Options gallery plus the Set As Default Layout item. When you click Set As Default Layout, pictures that you insert later will initially have the same layout option as you specified for the current picture.

as you specified for the current picture.

The other six layout options involve making the text *wrap* (or flow) around or through the picture—that is, you can drag the picture to any position on the page, and the text adjusts accordingly. These layout options differ in how the text goes around or through the picture.

A new feature in Word 2013 called *alignment guides* helps you to position floating graphics so that their edges align with the margins, with the horizontal or vertical center of the page, or with paragraphs of text.



#### www.it-ebooks.info

**TIP** When you select a layout option with text wrapping, the picture has an *anchor*. This is the place in the text to which the picture is attached. The picture's position on the page can be specified with respect to the page margins or with respect to the anchor location. If editing the text causes the anchor to move to a different page, the picture will also move to that page. You can set an option so that an anchor icon appears in the margin at the anchor location when the picture is selected (see "Controlling what is displayed and printed" on page 429).

#### Align pictures and text

- 1 Click a picture to select it. If it's currently placed in line with text, set its layout option to one of the text wrapping types.
- **2** Drag the picture to a new position.

Observe the green alignment guides that appear as the edges of the picture touch any of the four page margins, or as the center of the picture aligns with the horizontal or vertical center of the page, or as the top edge of the picture aligns with the top line of a text paragraph.

**SEE ALSO** For more information about the default layout option for inserting or pasting pictures, see "Change options related to pictures" on page 437.

**TIP** If a picture's layout option is set to Behind Text, it might be difficult to select the picture instead of the text. On the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Select and then click Select Object to activate a cursor that ignores the text. Alternatively, click the Selection Pane command on the same drop-down list. In the Selection pane, you can select individual graphic items, including those that overlap one another.



#### **Resizing a picture**

When you insert a picture in a document, initially it might be too large or too small for what you need. In Word 2013, you can adjust the picture's size visually to fit properly within the text, or you can specify a measurement.

When you select a picture in your document, eight small white squares called *sizing handles* appear at each of the picture's

#### Drag the sizing handles

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** Drag any of the picture's sizing handles and observe the effect on the size or aspect ratio of the picture.

corners and at the center of each side. You can drag any of the sizing handles toward the center of the picture to make the picture smaller, or away from the center to enlarge it. The sizing handles at the corners adjust both the height and the width of the picture to keep them in the same proportion (called the *aspect ratio*), but the sizing handles at the centers of the sides affect only the height or the width.



**TRY THIS** You will see a circular arrow icon attached to one of the sizing handles. This is the *rotation handle*. Drag it clockwise or counterclockwise about the center of the illustration to rotate the picture.

#### Set the size numerically on the ribbon

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Size group, type the desired measurements in the Shape Height box or the Shape Width box.



**TRY THIS** To set the selected picture's size to a percentage of the picture's original size, on the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Size group, click the dialog box launcher. On the Size page of the Layout dialog box, type the desired percentage in the Height box or the Width box and then click OK.

#### **Cropping a picture**

After you insert a picture in your document, you might decide that you want to show only part of the picture. You can use the Crop tool in Word 2013 to remove the unwanted parts. In another situation, you might want to use a particular shape to crop a picture, rather than a simple rectangle. You might want to use a cloud or an arrow. Using the Crop tool, you can choose any of the items from the Insert Shapes gallery as the outline of the picture.

REVIEW

Position Wrap

· 2 · · · 1 · · · 3 · · · 1 · · · 4 · · · 1 · · · 5 · · · 1 · · · 6 · · · A · · · 7 · · ·

VIEW

Text - 🗄 Selection Pane

Arrange

FORMAT

Bring Forward

Send Backward -

Crop \_\_\_\_ 6.5

Size

#### Remove unwanted parts of a picture

- **1** Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Size group, click the top part of the Crop button.
- **3** Drag any of the corner or side cropping markers toward the center of the picture.

The parts that will be removed are shaded.

4 Click in the document outside the picture to exit the Crop tool. If necessary, drag the picture to reposition it with respect to the text.





REFERENCES

Picture Styles

MAILINGS

Picture Border \*

Q Picture Effects \*

🖳 Picture Layout 🕶

PAGE LAYOUT

The Liberty Bell

#### www.it-ebooks.info

#### Crop to a shape

- **1** Click a picture in the document to select it.
- 2 On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Size group, click the down-arrow on the bottom part of the Crop button. In the drop-down list that appears, click Crop To Shape.
- **3** In the Crop To Shape gallery, click the desired item.
- 4 If necessary, drag the picture to reposition it with respect to the text.





#### Catnap

One of the fascinating traits of the house cat is her ability to sleep anywhere, in any position. She may prefer a sunny square or @varm blanket, but a hard windowsill will do just as well.



a 🔤 ling elit. Maecenas porttitor congue massa Fusce posuere, magna sed pulvinar ultricies, purus lectus malesuada libero, sit amet commodo magna eros quis urna. Nunc viverra

Fusce est, Vivamus a tellus, Pellentesque habitant morbi tristique senectus et netus et malesuada fames ac turpis egestas. Proin pharetra nonummy pede

Mauris et orci. Aenean nec lorem. In porttitor. Donec laoreet nonummy augue.

Suspendisse dui purus, scelerisque at, vulputate vitae, pretium mattis, nunc. Mauris eget neque at

#### **Replacing a picture**

If you find a better illustration for your document than a picture you've already inserted, you can easily insert that new graphic. The new illustration will assume the same size and alignment

#### Choose a different picture

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Adjust group, click Change Picture.

PAGE LAYOUT IOME INSERT DESIGN REFERENCES MAILINGS REVIEW VIEW Compress Pictures 🔆 Corrections 🕶 Change Picture 📑 Artistic Effects 🔻 Reset Picture Adjust Picture Styles 1 . . 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 . . . . . 5 (1) (1) (1) McMath-Pierce Solar Telescope The McMath-Pierce Solar Telescope is the largest solar instrument in the wor world's largest unobstructed aperture optical telescope, with a diameter of 1.6 0 Nove facilit to ho as we McM inclue 100 f whicł hund grou conti mour unde the s prime of the Pierce the 3-mirror heliostat which collects light and directs it down the tunnel. Unlike oth

specifications as the one that's already in place. Alternatively,

for a replacement picture.

you can search the clip art at Office.com or search the Internet

**3** In the Insert Pictures dialog box, use one of the commands to select the new picture from your computer, from your SkyDrive account, from Office.com, or from the Internet.



SEE ALSO For more information about searching and selecting in the Insert Pictures dialog box, see "Inserting a picture from your computer" on page 274 and "Inserting an online picture" on page 276.

### Changing the appearance of a picture

Word 2013 offers tools for changing the general color appearance of a picture. You can use those tools to correct a picture so that it looks more natural, or you can completely alter the colors

#### **Correct the color balance**

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Adjust group, click the Corrections button.

to create a special effect. For example, you can start with a fullcolor photograph and change it into a sepia-tone picture that appears to be 100 years old.



- **3** In the gallery that opens, point to the thumbnails in the Sharpen/ Soften section or in the Brightness/Contrast section. Observe the live preview of the picture in the document. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply that setting.
- **4** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Adjust group, click the Color button.
- **5** In the gallery that opens, point to the thumbnails in the Color Saturation section or in the Color Tone section. Observe the live preview of the picture in the document. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply that setting.





#### **Recolor the picture**

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Adjust group, click the Color button.
- 3 In the gallery that opens, point to the thumbnails in the Recolor section. Observe the live preview of the picture in the document. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply that setting.



#### Removing the background from a picture

Sometimes you can make a picture more interesting by removing a drab or confusing background, leaving only the subject. Depending on the effect that you want to achieve, you can then

Remove the background

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Adjust group, click the Remove Background button.
- **3** Drag the handles on the tool's lines so that the rectangle encloses the part of the picture that you want to keep and excludes most of the areas that you want to remove.

apply other effects such as a shadow or a three-dimensional thickness to the image.



- **4** On the Background Removal contextual tab, in the Refine group, do one or both of the following:
  - If some parts of the subject were incorrectly removed, click Mark Areas To Keep and then click one or more areas that you want to remain in the picture.
  - If some parts of the background were incorrectly kept, click Mark Areas To Remove and then click one or more areas that you want to remove.

If you mark an area and then change your mind, click Delete Mark and then click that area.

5 When you have included the entire subject and excluded all of the background, on the Background Removal contextual tab, in the Close group, click Keep Changes.



**TIP** Background removal works best with pictures or clip art in which the background is a single color that doesn't appear anywhere else in the picture. Sometimes you'll click an area to keep, and that will cause some other area to be removed, or other problems might occur. If you find that you have trouble getting the effect you want, in the Close group, you can click Discard All Changes and start again.

**TRY THIS** After you remove a picture's background, click the Layout Options button next to the picture and select the Tight text wrapping. Then, drag the picture into the middle of some paragraphs of text and observe how the text repositions as the picture moves.



www.it-ebooks.info

# **Applying special effects**

Word 2013 includes a selection of artistic effects ranging from simple blurring to simulations of pencil or paint strokes as well as textures such as cement or plastic. You can apply

#### **Choose an artistic effect**

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- **2** On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Adjust group, click Artistic Effects.
- **3** In the gallery that opens, point to the thumbnails. Observe the live preview of the picture in the document. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply that setting.

these effects, together with other alterations such as color changes, shadows, or reflections, to create attention-grabbing illustrations.



#### Setting a transparent color

If you insert a picture that contains large areas of a single color such as opaque white, you can use the Set Transparent Color tool to make that color transparent. Any text or another graphic

#### Select a color to make it transparent

- 1 Click a picture in the document to select it.
- 2 On the Picture Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Adjust group, click Color. Near the bottom of the gallery that opens, click Set Transparent Color.
- 3 Click the background of the picture.

**TIP** Only one color in the picture can be transparent at any one time. If you use the Set Transparent Color tool to select another color, the transparency of the first color will be canceled.

**TRY THIS** After you make a color transparent, click the Layout Options button next to the picture and select the Through text wrapping. Then, click and drag the picture into the middle of some paragraphs of text, and observe how the text repositions as the picture moves. The Tight text wrapping configures the text to appear close to the outside of the picture's subject, but Through text wrapping makes it possible for text to occupy transparent areas in the middle of the picture, as well.

that is behind the picture will show through the transparent areas.



296 Setting a transparent color: Select a color to make it transparent

# Adding your own artwork

or many of your documents, the pictures you already have and those that you can find on the Internet are all you need to illustrate your text. Some documents, though, need unique drawings. They might involve data specific to your company or some research that you have done, or maybe you just want to show your artistic talent.

Microsoft Word 2013 provides you with a wide range of tools for creating new artwork. The Shapes gallery includes basic lines and geometric shapes as well as arrows, flowchart symbols, and callout balloons. You can use the Chart tool to present numeric data and time series in many variations. With the SmartArt feature, you can create organization charts, process diagrams, and various kinds of lists. The WordArt feature helps you to turn text into artwork by adding fills, shadows, three-dimensional effects, and other formatting.

Whenever you select a graphic object (a shape, a chart, a SmartArt graphic, or WordArt) in your document, the ribbon displays a contextual tab that presents specific tools for working with that type of object. Each type of object is also accompanied by one or more buttons on its right side, which you can click to open panes containing formatting controls.

# 11

#### In this section:

- Inserting a shape
- Changing the appearance of a shape
- Building charts to display data
- Creating SmartArt diagrams
- Adding WordArt effects

#### **Inserting a shape**

You can use the Shapes button gallery to draw almost anything you can think of, from simple lines and arrows to clouds, scrolls, and complicated geometric shapes. Most of the shapes can contain text, and you can add shading or a picture to a shape's interior. In Word 2013, a text box is a special kind of shape object. The Draw Text Box command appears on the Insert tab, both at the bottom of the Text Box button gallery and in the Basic Shapes section of the Shapes button gallery. Unlike other shape objects, a text box can be linked to another text box so that text will flow from one text box to the other.

#### Draw a shape

- 1 Click in your document at the location where you want to insert a shape.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click Shapes.
- **3** Click the object in the Shapes button gallery that appears closest to the object you intend to draw. Each kind of shape can be stretched or squeezed both horizontally and vertically after you insert it. For example, the oval tool can make a circle, and the rectangle tool can make a square.

Conveniently, if you have used any of the tools before, they might appear in the Recently Used Shapes section of the gallery.



SEE ALSO For more information about text boxes, see "Inserting text boxes" on page 196.

4 Drag the special cursor to draw the shape.

If the shape is a single line or arrow, drag the cursor from the starting point to the end. Otherwise, drag the cursor diagonally from one corner of the shape to the opposite corner. The shape expands until you release the mouse button (or, on a touch-enabled device, until you lift your finger).

If you want a line or arrow to be restricted to multiples of 45 degrees, hold the Shift key while you drag the cursor. For other shapes, hold the Shift key while you drag the cursor to keep the shape's height and width equal, as for a circle or a square.



TRY THIS To draw a smooth curve by using the Curve tool, click and release at the start of the curve, click at the middle of the curve, and then double-click at the end of the curve. To draw a shape that includes both straight lines and curves by using the Freeform tool, click at the start and end of each straight edge or drag the cursor to draw a curved edge. Using the Scribble tool, drag the cursor as if you're drawing with a pencil.

# Changing the appearance of a shape

The formatting of a shape includes its fill (the interior color or picture), its outline (the color and thickness of the line around the interior), and any effects applied to it (such as a shadow or reflection). When you insert a shape into your document, initially it has a default format. If you prefer a different appearance, you'll have to apply the formatting that you want.

You might place text inside a shape, or group two or more shapes into a single object. You can even add, delete, or move a shape's corners, or change a straight edge into a smooth curve.

#### Change a shape's outline and fill

- 1 Click a shape in your document to select it.
- **2** On the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Shape Styles group, click the thumbnail in the Shape Styles gallery that is closest to the appearance that you want.
- **3** On the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Shape Styles group, click the Shape Fill button. In the gallery that opens below it, click a theme color or a standard color, or click No Fill to render the interior of the shape transparent.

If you prefer, you can choose to fill the shape with a picture, a gradient, or a built-in texture.

**4** On the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Shape Styles group, click Shape Outline. In the gallery that opens, click a theme color or a standard color, or click No Outline. If you want to change the thickness of the outline or make it a dashed line, click Weight or Dashes and click an entry in the list.



5 If you want to add effects such as a shadow, a reflection, glowing or softened edges, or three-dimensional (3-D) appearance, on the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Shape Styles group, click Shape Effects. Click the name of an effect and then click a thumbnail in the list.



**TIP** If a shape's fill color is set to No Fill, to select the shape, you must click the shape's outline, not its interior. When the cursor is in the correct location to select a shape, the cursor changes to a four-way arrow.

**TRY THIS** To save time, you can change the default format for shapes that you later insert in the same document. After you choose the format for the first shape, right-click the shape and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Set As Default Shape. This choice of default format doesn't affect any other documents.

#### Add text to a shape

- 1 Click a shape in your document to select it.
- **2** Right-click the shape. On the shortcut menu that appears, click Add Text.
- **3** Type the text at the insertion point inside the shape.
- 4 If you want to rotate the text or change its alignment, on the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Text group, click Text Direction or Align Text and then click an item in the list.



#### **Group multiple shapes**

 Select two or more shapes (which must be on the same page of the document) that you want to combine into a single object.

If you're selecting just a few shapes, press and hold the Ctrl key while you click each of the shapes in turn. If you need to select many shapes, or shapes that overlap each other, on the Home tab, in the Editing group, click Select and then click Select Objects. Then, drag a rectangle on the page to surround all the shapes that you want to select.

**2** On the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Arrange group, click Group and then click the Group command.



#### Edit points in a shape

- 1 Click a shape in your document to select it.
- **2** On the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Insert Shapes group, click Edit Shape and then click Edit Points.
- **3** You can drag any of the black squares (*points*) on the shape's outline to change the shape. You can drag the white squares (*handles*) attached to the point to change the curvature of the outline.

You can click at any place on the outline to add a new point. You can right-click a point and then click an option on the shortcut menu that opens, which include deleting the point, opening the path at that point, or changing the path at that point to a smooth curve, a straight line, or a corner.

When you have made the needed changes, click outside the shape or press the Esc key to exit the shape editing mode.





# **Building charts to display data**

One of the best ways to help your readers understand numerical or time-related data is to include a chart or graph. Data visualization can make it clear where there are peaks and valleys much more easily than will combing through a table of numbers.

Word 2013 includes a chart feature, based on the capabilities of Microsoft Excel 2013, with which you can create impressive visualizations. The chart that's visible in your document is associated with a data sheet, which remains hidden unless you choose to edit the data. You can type numbers into the chart's

#### **Insert** a chart

- 1 Click in your document at the location where you want to insert a chart.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click Chart.

data sheet, or you can copy data from a Word table or from an Excel worksheet and then paste the table into the chart's data sheet. If you're working with a large amount of data, you can create the chart in Excel, copy that chart, and then paste it into your Word document.

The same chart feature is also included in Microsoft PowerPoint 2013. You can copy a chart from Word and paste it onto a slide in PowerPoint, or vice versa. The data associated with the chart and all of the chart's formatting are copied between the programs, and the chart remains fully editable.



- **3** In the list on the left side of the Insert Chart dialog box, click the kind of chart that you want to create. Then, in the panel across the top of the dialog box, click the thumbnail that shows the variation you want.
- 4 In the chart's data sheet, type the numeric data and any column and row headings that you want to include in the chart.

If you already have the data in a Word table or in an Excel worksheet, select the table or the portion of the worksheet and copy the data to the clipboard. Then, click in the upper-left cell (A1) of the data sheet of the chart in your Word document, and press Ctrl+V to paste the contents of the clipboard into the data sheet.





TRY THIS Click the Chart Tools | Design contextual tab. In the Data group, click the down-arrow on the Edit Data button. Then, either click Edit Data to open the chart's data sheet in Word or click Edit Data in Excel 2013 to open a worksheet containing the chart's data. Modify the data as needed and then close the data sheet or worksheet to see the revised chart.

#### Change a chart's appearance

- 1 Click a chart in your Word document.
- **2** If you want to change the chart's text wrapping, click the Layout Options button to the right of the chart. Then, in the Layout Options gallery that opens, click the desired option.
- **3** If you want to add or remove items in the chart, such as the title, the legend, or the gridlines, click the Chart Element button. Then, in the Chart Elements pane that opens, select or clear the check boxes as needed.




- **4** If you want to apply an interesting chart style or change the colors of the chart's elements, click the Chart Styles button. Then, in the Styles And Colors gallery that opens, click the desired style.
- 5 If you want to prevent some of the data from appearing in the chart without removing it from the data sheet, click the Chart Filters button and then select or clear any of the check boxes next to the data items. Then, click the Apply button at the bottom of the pane.
- **6** If you want to change the formatting of a specific part of the chart, first click that part. On the Chart Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Current Selection group, click Format Selection. In the Format pane that opens, change the formatting items as needed.







**TIP** The formatting tools provided by the buttons at the side of the chart are also available on the Chart Tools tabs. Because the buttons are close to the chart, they're more convenient than the ribbon tabs.

# **Creating SmartArt diagrams**

If you're creating an organization chart, documenting a process, or describing the relationships of ideas, the SmartArt feature in Word 2013 can help you to produce a diagram that is both informative and attractive.

The Choose A SmartArt Graphic dialog box offers a broad assortment of shapes and arrangements, and the preview pane includes suggestions of uses for each selection. After you

#### **Insert a diagram**

- 1 Click in your document at the location where you want to insert a chart.
- 2 On the Insert tab, in the Illustrations group, click SmartArt.
- **3** In the panel on the left side of the Choose A SmartArt Graphic dialog box, you can click one of the entries to show only a small group of layouts in the center panel. If you prefer to display the entire list of layouts in the center panel, at the top of the left panel, you can click All .
- **4** In the panel in the center of the Choose A SmartArt Graphic dialog box, click one of the layouts to display its preview in the right panel.

Each layout's preview includes a description of the kinds of information for which that layout is best suited. Some layouts consist of just shapes and text, and other layouts can also include pictures.

5 When you have selected the layout that you want, click OK.

insert the starting diagram in the document, you can add more shapes, rearrange them, and enter text and pictures to complete the picture.

The fonts, colors, and effects used in SmartArt diagrams come from the theme applied to your document. By selecting another theme, you can instantly change the look of all the SmartArt along with the text and headings of the document.



#### Format a diagram

- 1 Click a SmartArt diagram in your document to select it.
- **2** On the SmartArt Tools | Design contextual tab, in the SmartArt Styles group, click the thumbnail in the SmartArt Styles gallery that is closest to the appearance you want.
- **3** If you want to change which theme colors are used in the SmartArt diagram, on the SmartArt Tools | Design contextual tab, in the SmartArt Styles group, click Change Colors. Click the thumbnail in the gallery that displays the theme colors you want.

**TRY THIS** To change the formatting of one shape in the SmartArt diagram, click that shape. On the SmartArt Tools | Format contextual tab, in the Shape Styles group, use the tools to choose a style, change the shape's fill and/or outline, or apply a shape effect. For more information about changing the formatting of a shape, see "Changing the appearance of a shape" on page 300.



#### Change a diagram's type or data

- 1 Click a SmartArt diagram in your document to select it.
- 2 If you decide to change the layout of the SmartArt diagram, on the SmartArt Tools | Design contextual tab, in the Layouts group, point to the thumbnails in the Layouts gallery while you watch the live preview in the diagram. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply the layout to the diagram.
- **3** On the Design tab under the SmartArt Tools contextual tab, in the Create Graphic group, click the Text Pane button.



**TIP** You can also use the small arrow button in the center of the left side of the SmartArt diagram to open and close the Text pane.

**4** Click each of the placeholders in turn and enter the text that you want to display in the SmartArt diagram.

If the text you type is too long to fit in the shape at the current size, the font size of the text is automatically reduced in all the shapes in the current SmartArt diagram, not just the one for which the text is too long.



TRY THIS If you need to add more items to the diagram, on the SmartArt Tools | Design tab contextual tab, in the Create Graphic group, click Add Shape. If you need more second-level items within a shape, click in the shape and then, in the Create Graphic group, click Add Bullet.

# **Adding WordArt effects**

In Word 2013, you can convert any text into eye-catching artwork. The Text Effects tool in the Font group on the Home tab offers options for adding effects such as outlines, shadows, reflections, and glows to plain text and headings. The WordArt

#### **Insert WordArt**

- Click in your document at the location where you want to insert a WordArt object.
- **2** On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click the WordArt button. In the WordArt gallery that opens, click the thumbnail that is closest to the appearance you want.
- **3** Replace the *Your Text Here* placeholder text with the text that you want to display.

feature includes all of these options and adds the ability to create three-dimensional rotation, edge beveling, and warped shapes.





#### **Format WordArt**

- 1 Click a WordArt object in your document to select it.
- **2** If you want to change the font or the font size of the WordArt text, first select the text. Right-click the text and use the tools on the mini toolbar (or in the font group on the Home tab) to make the changes.
- **3** If you want to change the colors in the WordArt's letters, first select the text. On the Drawing Tools contextual tab, in the WordArt Styles group, click Text Fill or Text Outline and then, in the galleries that open, click the colors that you want.

**TIP** Dragging the handles on the sides and corners of the box around the WordArt object doesn't change the font size, but it does affect the wrapping of text around the object. Resizing the box can also be useful for changing the number of lines that the WordArt occupies.

**SEE ALSO** For more information about formatting the fill and outline, see "Change a shape's outline and fill" on page 300.





- **4** If you want to add a three-dimensional effect, on the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the WordArt Styles group, click Text Effects and then click 3-D Rotation. In the gallery that opens, point to the thumbnails while you watch the live preview in the WordArt object. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply the rotation to the object.
- 5 If you want to warp the WordArt text into a circle, an arch, or other shapes, on the Drawing Tools | Format contextual tab, in the WordArt Styles group, click Text Effects and then click Transform. In the gallery that opens, point to the thumbnails while you watch the live preview in the WordArt object. When you see the appearance that you want, click the thumbnail to apply the transformation to the object.

				2	4
DESIGN PAGE LAYOUT REFERENCE	ES N	IAILINGS I	REVIE	EW VIEW	FORMAT
Abc ↓ Shape Fill + ↓ Shape Outline + ↓ Shape Effects + Shape Effects +		A Text Dire [♣] Align Tex ☎ Create Li	ctior tt ▼ nk	Position	Bring Forward ▼     Bring Forward ▼     Send Backward ▼     Wrap ext ▼     Selection Pane
Shape Styles 5 WordArt	A	<u>S</u> hadow	Þ	4 · · · · · · ·	Arrange
	A	<u>R</u> eflection	F	No Rotation	
winevard ar	A	Glow	×		
Coho ville you	A	<u>B</u> evel	×	Parallel	
	A	3- <u>D</u> Rotation	×	l í	
Sales Forecast For fiscal year 2013 we project the follo	abc	<u>T</u> ransform	×		
				ſ	43



**TRY THIS** If the amount of rotation isn't quite what you want, or if you'd like to experiment with additional formatting, click 3-D Rotation Options at the bottom of the 3-D Rotation gallery to open the Format Picture pane. Use the controls in the 3-D Format and 3-D Rotation sections of the pane to adjust the formatting.

**TIP** To use a transformation that consists of two or three lines of text, first insert manual line breaks (Shift+Enter) in the text of the WordArt object to form the separate lines.

# Mailing paper or pixels

One of the most common uses of Microsoft Word 2013 is the creation of documents that are to be sent to other people. The documents might be printed on paper and mailed in an envelope, or they might be attached to an email message. They can be generated one at a time or built in large numbers from information in a worksheet or a database.

The mail merge feature in Word 2013 has many more uses than just mailing letters. Any task that involves a standard format that you want to populate with many pieces of information is a candidate for a merge. Think of name labels for a meeting, certificates for completing a course, a catalog of items for sale, or a voter registration list—any of these could be created with an appropriate mail merge.

# 12

#### In this section:

- Printing a single envelope
- Printing multiple copies of an envelope
- Changing envelope address formatting
- Creating mailing labels and business cards
- Sending a document by email
- Starting a mail merge
- Choosing the recipients
- Adding merge fields
- Adding information with rules
- Finishing the merge

#### Printing a single envelope

If you're addressing a letter, a greeting card, or other one-time item, you might want to print the envelope but not save it for future use. Word 2013 includes predefined layouts for many

#### Address an envelope and print

1 If you're addressing a letter that contains the recipient's address, open the letter document. Otherwise, open any document (such as the default blank document).

If you create an envelope while the cursor is in a letter document, and if the document starts with up to four single-line paragraphs that are left-aligned, those paragraphs will automatically appear as the delivery address in the Envelope dialog box. If you want to determine which paragraphs will appear in the Envelope dialog box, select those paragraphs in the letter document before you launch the dialog box.

2 On the Mailings tab, in the Create group, click Envelopes.

common envelope sizes, and you can define a custom size if necessary.



- **3** In the Envelopes And Labels dialog box, if the Delivery Address box is empty, or if the text is incomplete or incorrect, add or edit the text as needed.
- 4 If the Return Address box is empty, or if the text is incomplete or incorrect, add or edit the text as needed. If you don't want a return address to print on the envelope, select the Omit check box.
- **5** If the envelope size shown in the Preview thumbnail is incorrect, or if the orientation shown in the Feed thumbnail is incorrect, see "Change envelope size and print options" on page 318.
- 6 Click the Print button.



TRY THIS If you have an address book in Microsoft Outlook and it contains information for the envelope's recipient, you can click the Address Book icon above the Delivery Address box and select the recipient's name. The mailing address will be transferred from the address book entry to the Delivery Address box. You can also use the Address Book icon above the Return Address box to enter a return address from your address book.



**TIP** To use the electronic postage option, you must first install an electronic postage program and subscribe to a service.

#### Change envelope size and print options

- 1 On the Mailings tab, in the Create group, click Envelopes.
- **2** If you want to change the size of the envelope or the feed orientation, click the Options button.
- **3** On the Envelope Options tab in the Envelope Options dialog box, click the Envelope Size box and click the desired size in the drop-down list.

If none of the listed sizes match the envelope that you want to print, click Custom Size at the bottom of the list and enter the correct measurements.

4 If you want to change the font formatting of the delivery address, in the Delivery Address section in the Envelope Options dialog box, click the Font button, select the formatting in the Envelope Address dialog box, and then click OK. If you want to change the distance of the delivery address from the left and top edges of the envelope, in the From Left and From Top boxes enter the desired measurements.

If you want to change the same settings for the return address, use the Font button and the From Left and From Top boxes in the Return Address section of the Envelope Options dialog box.

	1-	FILE HOME	
		Envelopes and Labels	? ×
		Envelopes Labels	
		Delivery address:	
		Bernard Duerr Northwind Traders 3456 Williams Rd. Minneapolis, MN 33106	•
		Add electronic postage	¥
		Beturn address:     □ omit       Proseware, Inc.     567 Oak Lane       Memphis, TN 88501     □	Feed
		Verify that an envelope is loaded before printing.           Print         Add to Document         Options         E-postage	Properties
		Envelope Options ? ×	Cancel
	Envelope Optio	Printing Options	
	Envelope <u>s</u> ize:	2	
3-	Size 10	(4 1/8 x 9 1/2 in)	
	<u>F</u> ont	From left: Auto	
Λ -		From top: Auto	
-	Return address	From left: Auto	
	Preview		

- 5 If you want to change the feed orientation, on the Printing Options tab, click the icon that matches the direction of your printer's envelope feed and the position of the envelope in the feed tray. If necessary, select whether the envelopes are placed in the feed tray with the printing side up or down, and which tray contains envelopes.
- 6 Click OK.



SEE ALSO For more information about changing the formatting of the delivery address, see "Add direct formatting to one address" on page 323 and "Modify the Envelope Address style" on page 324.

#### Printing multiple copies of an envelope

You might need to print several copies of the same envelope at one time, for instance as self-addressed envelopes to include with items to be returned to you. The Print button in the Envelopes And Labels dialog box can print only one copy at a time, so you need a different approach. In Word 2013, you can add the envelope to the current document and save it as part of the document's file. The envelope appears as page 0 in a new Section 1 at the beginning of the document, formatted with the page size and margins appropriate for the envelope. Then, you can use the Print command in the Backstage view, which offers a setting for the number of copies to print.

#### Add an envelope to a document

- 1 If you're addressing a letter that contains the recipient's address, open the letter document. Otherwise, open any document (such as the default blank document).
- 2 On the Mailings tab, in the Create group, click Envelopes.



- **3** If the Delivery Address text box is empty, or if the text is incomplete or incorrect, edit the text as needed.
- 4 If the Return Address text box is empty, or if the text is incomplete or incorrect, edit the text as needed. If you don't want a return address to print on the envelope, select the Omit check box.
- **5** If the envelope size shown in the Preview thumbnail is incorrect, or if the orientation shown in the Feed thumbnail is incorrect, see "Change envelope size and print options" on page 318.
- **6** Click the Add To Document button.

	Envelopes and Labels ? ×	
	Envelopes Labels	
	Delivery address:	
2	Bernard Duerr ^	
3 -	3456 Williams Rd. Minneapolis, MN 33106 ♥	
	☐ Add electronic postage Return address: □	
4 -	Proseware, Inc. 567 Oak Lane Memphis, TN 88501	<b>]-</b> 5
	Verify that an envelope is loaded before printing.	
	Print Add to Document Options E-postage Properties	
	Cancel	
	6	
	U	

#### Print the envelope

- Click in the envelope page in the document, and then click File to display the Backstage view.
- 2 Click the Print tab.
- **3** In the Settings section, click the first box and click Print Current Page.
- 4 If the selected printer is not the one on which you want to print the envelope, click the Printer box and select the correct printer.
- **5** Click the Copies box and enter the desired number of copies of the envelope.
- 6 Click the Print button.





**TIP** If you save the document that includes the envelope, you can print the envelope again at any time.

# **Changing envelope address formatting**

If you want to change the formatting of the address on an envelope that you'll print only once, you can apply direct character formatting to it. If you want to change the formatting for all

#### Add direct formatting to one address

- 1 Open the document for which you want to create an envelope.
- 2 On the Mailings tab, in the Create group, click Envelopes.
- **3** If the Delivery Address text box in the Envelopes And Labels dialog box is empty, or if the text is incomplete or incorrect, add or edit the text as needed.
- **4** Select the part of the address for which you want to change the formatting.
- **5** Right-click the selected text and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Font.
- **6** In the Font dialog box, change the font name, font size, bold, italic, color, or other formats as desired, and then click OK.
- 7 Click the Print button.

future envelopes, you'll save time and effort by modifying the address styles in the Normal.dotm template.



Changing envelope address formatting: Add direct formatting to one address 323

### Modify the Envelope Address style

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S).
- 2 In the Styles pane, if the Envelope Address style and the Envelope Return styles are listed, continue with step 4. If the two styles are not listed, click the Options link at the bottom of the pane and continue with step 3.
- **3** In the Style Pane Options dialog box, click the Select Styles To Show list box, select All Styles, and then click OK.
- **4** In the Styles pane, right-click the name of the Envelope Address style and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Modify.



- **5** In the Modify Style dialog box, click the New Documents Based On This Template option. Then, select the font and paragraph formatting you want for the delivery address in all new envelopes. For more information about changing the definition of a style, see "Modify an existing style by using a dialog box" on page 95.
- **6** The definition of the Envelope Address style includes a borderless frame with a fixed size that positions the text on the envelope page. If the frame is too small to hold your typical addresses, at the bottom of the Modify Style dialog box, click the Format button and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Frame. In the Frame dialog box, change the Width and Height list boxes from Exactly to Auto.

TIP You can repeat steps 4 and 5 to modify the Envelope Return style to change the formatting of the return address in all new envelopes. The Envelope Return style does not include a frame.

SEE ALSO For more information about modifying the Envelope Address and Envelope Return styles, see www.gmayor. com/changing\_envelope\_layout.htm and www.gmayor.com/alternative\_ return\_addresses.htm.



Changing envelope address formatting: Modify the Envelope Address style 325

#### **Creating mailing labels and business cards**

Printed labels are useful for such things as mailing packages, creating personalized book plates, and labeling the wires plugged into the back of your computer. Stationers sell label paper in hundreds of sizes, colors, and shapes.

You can print business cards on perforated card paper, which is available from the same sources that sell label sheets. Word

#### Print one label or a full page of labels

- 1 If you're creating a mailing label for a letter that contains the recipient's address, open the letter document. Otherwise, open any document (such as the default blank document).
- 2 On the Mailings tab, in the Create group, click Labels.
- **3** In the Envelopes And Labels dialog box, if the Address box is empty, or if the text is incomplete or incorrect, add or edit the text as needed.
- 4 If the product name and number shown in the Label section of the dialog box match the label paper in the printer, skip to step 9. Otherwise, at the bottom of the dialog box, click the Options button and continue at step 5.



2013 uses the same feature to create both labels and business cards—the only difference is your selection of the format to use.

If you don't want to create your own design, you can download label templates from Office.com and other online sources. For information about downloading templates, see "Get templates from Office.com" on page 159.

Envelopes a	ind Labels ? ×
Envelopes Labels	
<u>A</u> ddress:	Use <u>r</u> eturn address
Charlotte Weiss 765 Broad St. Denver, CO 10123	~
Print © Eull page of the same label Single label Row: 1 + Column: 1 +	Label Microsoft, 1/2 Letter 1/2 Letter Postcard
Before printing, insert labels in your printer	s manual feeder.           Options         E-postage Properties
	4

326 Creating mailing labels and business cards: Print one label or a full page of labels

www.it-ebooks.info

3

- 5 Click the option button that describes the type of printer attached to your computer. (Laser printers and most inkjet printers are page printers; dot-matrix printers are usually continuous-feed printers.) If the printer has more than one input tray, select the one that contains the label paper.
- **6** If the Label Vendors list box doesn't display the manufacturer of the label paper that you're using, click the box and select the correct vendor.
- 7 If the item selected in the Product Number list box doesn't match the label paper's description, select the correct item.
- 8 Click OK.
- **9** In the Print section of the Envelopes And Labels dialog box, click either the Full Page Of The Same Label option or the Single Label option, as needed.

If you select Single Label, you can specify the row and column in which to print the address. This is useful if you're printing on a sheet of label paper that is already partially used.

10 Click the Print button.



	Envelopes and Labels
	Envelopes Labels
	Address:
	Charlotte Weiss 765 Broad St. Denver, CO 10123
9 –	Print © Eull page of the same label © Single label Row: 1 © Column: 2 ©
10 -	Before printing, insert labels in your printer's manual feeder Print New Document Options

**TIP** The entries in the Product Number list box are in alphabetical order, not numeric order. That is, all the entries that begin with the digit 1 precede the first entry that begins with the digit 2, regardless of how many digits are in each number.

Creating mailing labels and business cards: Print one label or a full page of labels 327

#### Print a page of business cards

- 1 On the Mailings tab, in the Create group, click Labels.
- 2 In the Envelopes And Labels dialog box, if text appears in the Address box, delete it.
- 3 If the product name and number shown in the Label section of the dialog box match the card stock in the printer, skip to step 8. Otherwise, click the Options button and continue at step 4.
- 4 Click the option button that describes the type of printer attached to your computer. (Laser printers and most inkjet printers are page printers; dot-matrix printers are usually continuous-feed printers.) If the printer has more than one input tray, select the one that contains the card stock.
- **5** If the Label Vendors list box doesn't describe the manufacturer of the card stock that you're using, click the box and select the correct vendor.
- **6** If the item selected in the Product Number list box doesn't match the description of the card stock, select the correct item.



7 Click OK.

Δ

5

6

- 8 In the Envelopes And Labels dialog box, click the option button for Full Page Of The Same Label, and then click New Document.
- **9** The new document contains a table in which each cell's height and width match those of the cards in the selected card stock. The table's borders are set not to print. If you don't see the table cells, on the Table Tools | Layout contextual tab, in the Table group, click View Gridlines.
- **10** In the upper-left cell of the table, insert the text and graphics that you want on your business card.
- **11** Select the entire upper-left cell of the table and copy it to the clipboard (shortcut, Ctrl+C).

It's helpful to display nonprinting characters by clicking the Show/ Hide 1 button in the Paragraph group on the Home tab. This way, you can see and select everything in the cell, including the cell marker ( $\alpha$ ).





Creating mailing labels and business cards: Print a page of business cards 329

#### **12: MAILING PAPER OR PIXELS**

- **12** Click the table handle in the left margin to select the entire table. Then, paste the contents of the clipboard (shortcut, Ctrl+V).
- **13** Click the File tab to display the Backstage view. Click the Print tab and then click the Print button.





**TIP** Microsoft Publisher is another good choice for creating great-looking business cards.

330 Creating mailing labels and business cards: Print a page of business cards

#### Print a page of different labels

- In the procedure "Print one label or a full page of labels" on page 326, perform steps 1 through 8. In the Envelopes And Labels dialog box, click the option button for Full Page Of The Same Label and then click New Document. Continue with step 2 below.
- **2** In the table cell that corresponds to each label, type or paste the information for that label.
- **3** Click the File tab to display the Backstage view, click the Print tab, and then click the Print button.



Copies: 1

Canon MX860 series Printer...

Printer Properties

Toner Low

Print All Pages

The whole thing

3

Priht

(H)

Print

Printer

Settings



SEE ALSO If you already have the information for the labels stored in a Word table, a Microsoft Excel worksheet, a Microsoft Access database, or an Outlook contact list, a mail merge is an alternative way to print mailing labels. For information about using a mail merge, see "Starting a mail merge" on page 334.

Creating mailing labels and business cards: Print a page of different labels 331

#### Sending a document by email

You can share your documents with other Word users in several ways, and one of those ways is to send a copy of a document file by email. If you have an email program on your computer,

#### Send a document as an attachment

- **1** Open a document that you want to send to another person.
- 2 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Share tab.
- 3 Click Email.
- **4** To send the document as an editable Word file, click Send As Attachment. If you prefer to send a PDF file or an XPS file, instead, click Send As PDF or Send As XPS.

you can send an open Word 2013 document as an attachment to a message directly from the Backstage view. You can send the document as an editable Word file, a PDF file, or an XPS file.



**TIP** The entries in the middle pane for Get A Sharing Link and Post To Social Networks appear only if the document file is stored on SkyDrive or a SharePoint server. In the pane on the right, the Send A Link button is available only if the document file is stored on SkyDrive or a SharePoint server.

332 Sending a document by email: Send a document as an attachment

**5** In the email program's window, type the recipient's address, the subject, and the body of the message, and then click the Send button.



**CAUTION** To be able to send a document as an email attachment, a default email program must be configured on your computer. If your edition of Office doesn't include Outlook, you can use a third-party program. If your computer runs Windows 8, you might be able to use the Microsoft Mail app. If the only available mail service is a web mail interface, save the document to a local disk drive and then use the web mail program's command to attach the file to a message.



**SEE ALSO** For more information about sharing documents in Word 2013, see "Sharing with SkyDrive" on page 370.

Sending a document by email: Send a document as an attachment 333

#### Starting a mail merge

In Word 2013, a mail merge starts with a *main document*, which contains the formatting that you want in the final output. It might also contain text that you want to appear in each output document. You insert *merge fields* in the main document to reserve places for the *variable data*. You select a document or a database as the *data source* for the merge, and you can select which of the *recipients* listed in the data source will be used to create output. If you want, you can preview the output. Finally, you can send the output to a file, to the printer, or to an email program.

The mail merge feature in Word 2013 is quite flexible; you can use any of several kinds of data sources, you can sort and select

Create the main document

**1** Click File to display the Backstage view. Click the New tab and then click Blank Document or a custom template.

the names or other items that you want to include, and you can create the output in several formats. However, this flexibility comes at the cost of some complexity. Completing a mail merge requires a sequence of steps, as described on the following pages.

The commands on the Mailings tab use the term *recipients* to refer to the names of people in a mailing list. You can also use Word's mail merge feature to work with other kinds of lists, such as product catalogs, in which case the term recipients refers to the items in the list.



2 If you want to create a letter or an email message to send to multiple addresses, use the new document to write the body of the letter or message (that is, everything that will be the same in all of the letters).

If you're creating labels, envelopes, or a directory merge (called a *catalog* merge in some earlier versions of Word), leave the document blank.

**3** When the main document is complete, on the Quick Access Toolbar, click the Save button. Then, while the document remains open, continue at "Select the merge type," which follows this task.



#### Select the merge type

- 1 On the Mailings tab, in the Start Mail Merge group, click Start Mail Merge. On the drop-down list that appears, click one of the following commands:
  - Letters Creates an output document containing a separate section for each recipient, with each section starting on a new page
  - E-Mail Messages Creates an email message to each recipient
  - **Envelopes** Creates an output document containing an envelope for each recipient
  - **Labels** Creates an output document containing labels, with one label for each recipient
  - **Directory** Creates an output document in which each recipient's data starts a new paragraph



- 2 If you clicked Labels in step 1, the Label Options dialog box opens automatically. Select the printer tray, label vendor, and product number, and then click OK. While the document remains open, continue at "Choosing the recipients" on page 337.
- **3** If you clicked Envelopes in step 1, the Envelope Options dialog box opens automatically. Select the envelope size, choose the printing options, and then click OK. While the document remains open, continue at "Choosing the recipients."

	Label Options	?	×
	Printer information		
, _	Page printers Iray     Label information		
	Find updates on Office.com       Product number:       1/2 Letter       1/2 Letter       1/2 Letter       1/4 Letter       1/4 Letter       30 Per Page       E0 Per Page       Qetailow       Der Page       OK	Cancel	
	Envelope Options ? ×		
	Envelope Options   Printing Options   Envelope size:		

	Envelope Options i
	Envelope Options Printing Options
2 [	Envelope size: Size 10 (4 1/8 x 9 1/2 in) V Delivery address From left: Auto
5	From top: Auto
	Font From left: Auto 🗢
	Preview
L	OK Cancel

TIP If you prefer the software to guide you through the same procedures described in this book, click the Step-By-Step Mail Merge Wizard command at the bottom of the Start Mail Merge gallery. The wizard leads you through each step.

# **Choosing the recipients**

When you create a mail merge in Word 2013, you must choose the information that Word puts into the output document. The information could be stored in one of a number of places—as a table in a Word document, in an Excel worksheet, in an Access or Microsoft SQL Server database, or in an Outlook contact list. After you select the file or other source of the data, Word provides tools with which you can refine the list of recipients or other records, to sort them on one or more fields, and to edit the list entries if necessary.

#### Select a data source

- 1 On the Mailings tab, in the Start Mail Merge group, click Select Recipients. On the menu that appears, click one of the following commands:
  - **Type A New List** Opens the New Address List dialog box, in which you can type entries for a list and then save them as a database (.mdb) file
  - Use An Existing List Opens the Select Data Source dialog box, in which you can select an existing file (a Word or plain text document, an Excel worksheet, or an Access or SQL Server database) containing the entries
  - **Choose From Outlook Contacts** Opens the Select Contacts dialog box, in which you can select which contact folder to use, if your Office edition includes Outlook
- **2** If you clicked Type A New List in step 1, in the New Address List dialog box, type the names, addresses, and other information. To add each entry after the first one, click New Entry. When the list is complete, click OK and continue at step 3.

**TIP** Click the Customize Columns button to add, remove, rename, or reorder columns in the New Address List dialog box. To sort the entries on any column, click the header of that column.





- **3** In the Save Address List dialog box that automatically opens, enter a file name and click Save. Then, continue at "Edit the list of recipients" on page 339.
- **4** If you clicked Use An Existing List in step 1, the Select Data Source dialog box initially displays the contents of the My Data Sources folder in your user profile. If the data source that you want to use is a Word or plain text document, an Excel worksheet, or an Access (.mdb or .accdb) database, navigate to the correct folder and select the file containing the data. Then, click Open and continue at "Edit the list of recipients."
- 5 If you clicked Choose From Outlook Contacts in step 1, click the contact folder that contains the data that you want to use and click OK. Then, continue at "Edit the list of recipients."



w Select Data Source (<) → ↑ 💼 < My D... → My Data Sources</p> Search My Data Sources Q V C · == ? Organize 🔻 New folde 📗 jamie\_000 Name Date modified 📗 AppData 🖀 + Connect to New Data Source.odc 9/29/2012 3:11 P Contacts +NewSQLServerConnection.odc 9/29/2012 3:11 P hesktop sample.mdb 12/28/2012 3:47 👃 Downloads Favorites 🚺 Links My Documents Custom Office Template My Data Sources Snagit Δ My Music My Pictures 🔋 My Videos ω. < New Source.. File name: sample.mdb All Data Sources (\*.odc:\*.mdb:\* ♥ ~ Open Cancel 5 ? Select Contacts Select a contact folder to import: Name Count Location Contacts 5 jamie.reding@hotmail.com| Contacts 152 Personal Foldersi < ок Cancel

**TIP** The two default items in the My Data Sources folder launch the Data Connection Wizard, which can help you attach the mail merge document to an Access or SQL Server database.

#### Edit the list of recipients

- 1 If you chose an Outlook contacts folder as your data source, the Mail Merge Recipients dialog box opens automatically. Otherwise, on the Mailings tab, in the Start Mail Merge group, click Edit Recipient List to open the Mail Merge Recipients dialog box.
- **2** Clear the check boxes next to entries that you do not want to include in the mail merge; select the check boxes for those that you do want to include.

Selecting or clearing the check box in the header row of the list causes all of the entries to become selected or cleared, respectively. If you want to keep only a few entries selected, first clear the entire list and then select those that you want.

**3** If you want to add or delete entries in the list of recipients, click the name of the source file in the Data Source box and click Edit. The Edit Data Source dialog box that appears is the same as the New Address List dialog box shown in step 2 of "Select a data source" on page 337.

If the data source is an Outlook contact list, the Edit button does not become available. To edit entries in a contact list, you must use Outlook's contact editor.

2.	Select Edit cipients - Recipient ut Mail Merge	List					
				Mail M	erge Reci	pients	? ×
	This is the list of rec Use the checkboxes	ipients to ado	hat will be ι or remove re	used in your n cipients from	nerge. Use t the merge.	he options below to add to When your list is ready, clic	or change your list. k OK.
	Data Source		Last 🚽	First 🚽	Title 🚽	Company 👻	Address 🚽
	Contacts	•	Alwan	Antonio		Contoso, Ltd	567 E. Elm St.
	Contacts	5	Guaita	Daniela		Coho Vineyard & Winery	789 Vine St.
	Contacts	▼√3	Duerr	Bernard		Northwind Traders	3456 Williams Rd.
	Contacts	<b>v</b>	Lidman	Anna		Margie's Travel	234 Main St.
	Contacts	<b>~</b>	Weiss	Charlotte		Tailspin Toys	765 Broad St.
- [	< Data Source Contacts		Ref	ine recipient ↓ <u>Sort</u> ☐ <u>Filter</u>	list ——		>
<sup>2</sup> ]	Edit	Refres		O Find recipi	ent idresses		
							ОК

4 The order in which the merge's results appear is determined by the order of the entries in the list of recipients. If you want to sort the list of recipients on a single column, click that column's header. To sort on two or three columns, click the Sort link in the Refine Recipient List section to open the Filter And Sort dialog box. On the Sort tab, in each drop-down list, select the name of the column on which to sort, and whether to sort it in ascending or descending order.

For example, you can sort the recipients by state, then by last name, and finally by first name. In the merge's results, someone named Smith who lives in Arizona would be listed before someone named Jones who lives in Wyoming.

**5** If you want to include in the merge only the entries that satisfy certain criteria, click the Filter link in the Refine Recipient List section to open the Filter And Sort dialog box. On the Filter tab, select the name of a column in the Field drop-down list, select a condition in the Comparison drop-down list, and if necessary enter a value in the Compare To list box. You can continue adding criteria, connected by *And* or *Or*, as needed to specify the set of recipients to include.

For example, to limit the list of recipients to those whose last names start with the letter M, select the criteria Last | Greater than or equal to | M | And | Last | Less than | N.

**6** When the list of recipients is complete and correctly sorted, click OK.



# **Adding merge fields**

For a mail merge to place values from the data source into the output, you must insert one or more merge fields into the main document. During the merge, each merge field is replaced by the corresponding value in the data source for the current recipient. For example, suppose a recipient's record in the data source contains the values First\_Name = John and Last\_Name = Clarkson. In the main document for a letter merge, a line might contain the merge fields «First\_Name» «Last\_Name». When

#### Insert merge fields in the document

- 1 Click in the main document at the location where you want information from the data source to be inserted during the merge.
- 2 On the Mailings tab, in the Write & Insert Fields group, click the drop-down arrow on the Insert Merge Field button and then, in the list that appears, click the name of a column from the data source. Repeat steps 1 and 2 until the main document contains all the necessary merge fields.

If you selected a label merge, insert merge fields and other text only in the upper-left cell of the table in the main document. During this step, the other cells contain only a «Next Record» merge field. The other cells will be filled in step 4 of this procedure.

If you place another merge field on the same line as the first merge field, type a space, text, or punctuation between them as necessary. Otherwise, there won't be any separation between the values in the output. If you want the next merge field to appear on the next line, press Enter at the end of the first line. the record is processed during the merge, those fields will be replaced with the text John Clarkson.

You can insert copies of the same merge field into the main document in multiple places. For example, the merge field «First\_Name» could be used in the address, in the greeting line, and in the body of the letter.

1						2	2
DESIGN	PAGE L	AYOUT	REFE	RENCES	M	AILINGS	REVIEW
Select cipients + Fe	Edit ccipient List	Highlig Merge Fi	jht Ad	ddress Gre Block I	eeting	Insert Merge Field <del>*</del>	[う Rules ▼ 문 Match
rt Mail Mer	e			Wri	te & Ir	First	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · പ്	1	• • •	Last Title Comp Depart	any tment	
«First» (۱ ¤				। «Next-F ष्र	lecord	Office Post_C Addre	Office_Box ss
«Next-Re য	ecord»¶			∛ «Next-F ¤	lecord>	City State	

**3** If you want, apply character formatting to some of the merge fields in the main document, either directly or by using a character style.

You can right-click a merge field in the main document and click Toggle Field Codes to display the complete field code. Then, you can insert formatting switches to control the appearance of the results in the output. For information about inserting formatting switches, see "Controlling field formatting by using switches" on page 205.

**4** If you selected a label merge, on the Mailings tab, in the Write & Insert Fields group, click Update Labels. This copies the merge fields and text that you entered in the upper-left cell of the table into all the other cells.

TRY THIS On the Mailings tab, in the Write & Insert Fields group, click either Address Block or Greeting Line to insert special merge fields. These merge fields combine data from several columns of the recipient's record. When you insert one of these fields, Word displays a dialog box in which you can select options for the formatting of the output. If you use either of these merge fields, be sure to preview the results for every recipient and correct any unexpected output.

**CAUTION** If the style applied to the merge fields includes paragraph formatting with extra space before or after the paragraphs, the lines might be spaced too widely. This particularly affects label and envelope merges, in which addresses with more than three or four lines might not fit. If necessary, apply another style such as No Spacing to the main document.




# Adding information with rules

The entries in the Insert Merge Field gallery represent only the columns that are present in the data source. In addition, you can use the fields in Word 2013 to perform comparisons and

calculations during a mail merge, so you can display additional information, depending on the data in the data source.

### Modify the merge with rules

- 1 Insert a SET field if you want to store an unchanging number or text that can be used to perform comparisons or calculations for all of the recipients in a merge. On the Mailings tab, in the Write & Insert Fields group, click Rules and then, on the list that appears, click Set Bookmark. Continue at step 2.
- **2** In the Insert Word Field: Set dialog box, type a bookmark name in the Bookmark list box, type the number or text in the Value text box, and then click OK.

The bookmark is located inside the SET field, which doesn't display any result in the document. However, the bookmark can be referenced in other fields elsewhere in the document, such as a REF field that will display the value, or a formula field that will use the value in a calculation.

**3** Insert an ASK field if you want to store a number or text that might be different for each recipient. On the Mailings tab, in the Write & Insert Fields group, click Rules and then, on the list that appears, click Ask. Continue at step 4.





**4** In the Insert Word Field: Ask dialog box, type a bookmark name in the Bookmark box, type a question in the Prompt box, type a default value if desired, and then click OK.

During the merge, the prompt will be displayed for each recipient, and the value you enter will overwrite any previous value in the bookmark. If you want to use the same value for all of the recipients during the current merge, select the Ask Once check box.

The bookmark is located inside the ASK field, which doesn't display any result in the document. However, the bookmark can be referenced in other fields elsewhere in the document, such as a REF field that will display the value, or a formula field that will use the value in a calculation.

- **5** If you want to display a number or text that might be different for each recipient, insert a FILLIN field. On the Mailings tab, in the Write & Insert Fields group, click Rules and then, on the list that appears, click Fill-in. Continue at step 6.
- **6** In the Insert Word Field: Fill-in dialog box, type a question in the Prompt text box, type a default value if desired, and then click OK.

The FILLIN field is similar to the ASK field, except that the FILLIN field displays its value in the document and doesn't store its value in a bookmark.

7 Insert an IF...THEN...ELSE field where you need to display different results in the document, depending on the value of a merge field or other field. If you want to base the decision on a bookmark value (such as one in a SET field or an ASK field), continue at step 9.

On the Mailings tab, in the Write & Insert Fields group, click Rules and then, on the list that appears, click If...Then...Else. Continue at step 8.





- 8 In the Insert Word Field: If dialog box, select a merge field in the Field Name list box, select a condition in the Comparison box and, if necessary, enter a value in the Compare To list box. In the Insert This Text box, enter the result that the field will display if the comparison is true. In the Otherwise Insert This Text box, enter the result that the field will display if the comparison is false. Click OK.
- **9** If you want to base the decision on a bookmark value (such as one in a SET field or an ASK field), click the Insert tab. In the Text group, click Quick Parts and then click Field. Continue at step 10.
- **10** In the Field dialog box, in the Field Name list box, click If. Then, click the Options button.

In the Field Options dialog, click the desired bookmark name and then click Add To Field. Click at the end of the expression in the Field Codes box and type the rest of the code.

For example, suppose the selected bookmark is Quantity, and you want the result to display *copy* if Quantity is 1 or *copies* if Quantity is greater than 1. The completed code for this field is **IF Quantity = 1 "copy" "copies"**.

Click OK in the Field Options dialog box and then click OK in the Field dialog box.



Adding information with rules: Modify the merge with rules 345

### **Finishing the merge**

When the main document contains all of the merge fields, other fields, text, and graphics needed to prepare the output, it's time to perform the final steps. Because of the length and complexity of the setup, you should first examine a preview to ensure that everything is in place. When you're confident of the correctness of the document and the sorting and filtering of the data source, you can run the final merge.

### Merge to special outputs

1 On the Mailings tab, in the Preview Results group, click Preview Results. If you selected a label merge, the preview shows the pages of labels. For any other kind of merge, the preview shows the output for only one recipient at a time. You can use the arrow buttons in the Preview Results group to display previews of the rest of the output.

If unwanted information appears in any of the previews or information is missing, click Preview Results to turn it off. Then, edit the main document or the records in the data source to correct the problem and repeat the preview.



**TIP** If you preview a label merge and only the first recipient's label appears, you have skipped the step of clicking the Update Labels button (step 4 in "Insert merge fields in the document" on page 342).

- **2** On the Mailings tab, in the Finish group, click Finish & Merge and then, in the list that appears, click one of the following:
  - **Edit Individual Documents** Merges the data from the data source into the merge fields to create a new document. You can edit this document, save it for later use, or print it like any other document.
  - **Print Documents** Merges the data from the data source into the merge fields and sends the result to the printer. The Print dialog box appears so that you can set the printer properties, the number of copies, and other options. Click OK to print.
  - **Send Email Messages** Merges the data from the data source into the merge fields and sends the result to the default email program. The Merge To Email dialog box appears so that you can enter the subject line and select the merge field that contains the email address. Click OK to send.
- **3** When the merge runs successfully, save the main document so that it can be used again.



SEE ALSO For more information about mail merges, see www. gmayor.com/merge\_labels\_with\_word\_2007.htm. The descriptions presented there also apply to Word 2013.

# Reviewing documents

When you prepare a document with input from many coworkers, you might use any of several methods. In one style, each person works alone on one or a few sections. Then somebody puts all the pieces together, smooths out differences in formatting and writing style, and publishes the result. Another method involves writing a draft, passing it around for review and comments, and editing the document to resolve any questions.

The Comments and Track Changes features provided by Microsoft Word 2013 are ideal for multiple rounds of reviews, and the new Simple Markup view makes even heavily revised documents more readable.

In another scenario, perhaps your workflow results in several copies of the same document from different reviewers, with or without change tracking. The Compare and Combine features can pull together those multiple versions into a single document so that you can see all the changes at once.

# 13

### In this section:

- Adding comments
- Showing and hiding comments
- Tracking changes
- Showing and hiding tracked changes
- Setting options for tracked changes
- Accepting and rejecting changes
- Comparing reviewed versions
- Merging reviewed versions

### **Adding comments**

If you send your document out for review, you or the other Word users can insert comments that don't become part of the text. In Word 2013, you can also reply to a comment as you might in an email conversation. When you've settled the issue

**Insert a comment** 

- 1 On the Review tab, in the Comments group, click New Comment.
- **2** Type your comment under your name in the Comments balloon.

raised by a comment, you can delete the comment or you can mark the comment as completed. The completed comment and its replies remain in the document as a record of the issue's resolution.



**TIP** To remove a comment, click it, and then on the Review tab, in the Comments group, click Delete.

TIP If you use a tablet or a drawing pad, you can click Ink Comment and handwrite or draw your comment.

TRY THIS If your Office 2013 installation includes Microsoft OneNote, you can type notes in OneNote about your Word document. OneNote automatically links the note to the current location your document. To make a note in OneNote, select the Review tab in Word and click Linked Notes.

### Reply to a comment

- **1** Click the reply icon at the right side of the Comment balloon.
- 2 Type your reply in the Comment balloon under your name.
- **3** To mark a comment as completed, right-click the Comment balloon and click Mark Comment Done.



TRY THIS When you're reviewing your own documents, you might want to show some of your comments with a different color as a way of separating comments into categories. You can do this by slightly changing your user name in Word. On the Review tab, in the lower-right corner of the Tracking group, click the dialog box launcher (the small arrow). In the Track Changes Options dialog box, click Change User Name. In the User Name box, add a digit or other text to your user name. Select the Always Use These Values Regardless Of Sign In To Office check box and then click OK. Add a new comment or reply to an existing comment. (Don't forget to change back to your real user name after adding your comments.)

### Showing and hiding comments

When you're reading and responding to comments, you'll want to see all of them. When you're reading the document for other purposes, though, the lines and balloons can be distracting.

### View all markup

1 On the Review tab, at the top of the Tracking group, click the dropdown list and select All Markup, if it isn't already selected. Word 2013 has a new Simple Markup view that hides the clutter and shows just an icon in the margin to indicate the presence of a comment.



### **View simple markup**

1 On the Review tab, at the top of the Tracking group, click the dropdown list and select Simple Markup, if it isn't already selected. Click any Comment balloon to see its complete comment.



TIP When All Markup is selected, the comments appear in Outline or Draft view as tags in the text. You can position the cursor on a tag to see the comment or, on the Review tab, click Reviewing Pane.

TIP To control what items are shown in balloons, on the Review tab, in the Tracking group, click Show Markup, point to Balloons, and then choose a setting from the menu.

### **Tracking changes**

Whether you work on a document alone or with others, it's often important to keep a record of what's been changed, who

### **Turn on Track Changes**

- **1** On the Review tab, in the Tracking group, click Track Changes, if it isn't already selected.
- **2** Click the drop-down list at the top of the Tracking group and select All Markup, if it isn't already selected.
- **3** Edit or reformat the text.

made the changes, and when the changes were made. In Word 2013, the Track Changes feature handles those details.



TIP In Outline or Draft view, you can position the cursor on a change to see its information or, on the Review tab, click Reviewing Pane.

**CAUTION** The built-in keyboard shortcut to switch Track Changes on and off is Ctrl+Shift+E. If you suddenly start seeing red text in a document while you're editing, you might have pressed that combination by mistake.

SEE ALSO For information about how to show the Track Changes indicator on the status bar, see "Customizing the screen" on page 414.

### Showing and hiding tracked changes

When you're revising a document, you'll want to show the details for tracked changes to decide which ones to keep or reject. Conversely, when you just want to read a document without distraction, you can use the new Simple Markup view to hide the lines and balloons, leaving just an unobtrusive change bar in the margin.

Whichever markup view you select, you can list all the changes and comments in the Reviewing Pane. Double-clicking an entry in that pane moves the cursor to the location in the document so that you can navigate quickly through the changes.

### View all markup or simple markup

- 1 On the Review tab, at the top of the Tracking group, click the dropdown list and select All Markup, if it isn't already selected.
- **2** At the top of the Tracking group, click the drop-down list and select Simple Markup. Click any change bar to return to All Markup view.



**CAUTION** When tracked changes and comments are hidden, they're still stored in the document and can be seen by anyone who receives a copy of the document. In some cases, that can be extremely embarrassing! Before you send out final copies of your document, use the procedures in "Accepting and rejecting changes" on page 358 to remove all changes and comments.





354 Showing and hiding tracked changes: View all markup or simple markup

### **Display the Reviewing pane**

- **1** On the Review tab, in the Tracking group, click Reviewing Pane.
- **2** Double-click an item in the Revisions list.





TRY THIS Click the arrow next to Reviewing Pane to open the drop-down list and choose Reviewing Pane Horizontal. You can also drag the edges of the pane to resize it, or drag the pane's title to make the pane "float" over the document.

# **Setting options for Track Changes**

The Track Changes feature works well with the default settings, but it also offers a lot of flexibility for different ways of working with reviewed documents. You can turn on tracking in your

### Lock tracking

**1** On the Review tab, in the Tracking group, click the bottom half of Track Changes and click Lock Tracking.

The Lock Tracking dialog box opens.

2 Enter a password in the top text box. Enter the password again in the second box.

If you don't want to protect Lock Tracking with a password, leave both boxes blank.

document and lock it so that the reviewers are required to record all of their changes. You can determine how changes and comments are displayed, and easily change those settings at will.

Enter password (optional):

(This is not a security feature.)

Reenter to confirm:

Lock Tracking Prevent other authors from turning off Track Changes.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

OK

?

0

×

Cancel

OK

2

### REVIEW VIEW 👫 All Markup Comment Show Markup Track Changes - It Reviewing Pa

4 . .



substantially over the comparable pe

The increase was helped by new pro introductions

Track Changes

Lock Tracking

3 Click OK.

### Set common options and advanced options

1 On the Review tab, in the lower-right corner of the Tracking group, click the dialog box launcher.

The Track Changes Options dialog box opens.

- 2 Select or clear the check boxes for the kinds of changes that you want to display.
- 3 Click Advanced Options to change other settings, or click OK to return to the document.

TIP Most of the items in the Track Changes Options dialog box also appear on the Show Markup menu. The Advanced Options, however, are accessible only through the dialog box.

### **13: REVIEWING DOCUMENTS**

**4** In the Markup section of the Advanced Track Changes Options dialog box, select the color and formatting you want to use for insertions and deletions, the location of the change lines, and the color of the shading applied to commented text.

You can choose the same color for all reviewers, or you can let Word choose a different color for each reviewer.

- **5** In the Moves, Table Cell Highlighting, and Formatting sections, choose the way you want those types of changes to appear. If you prefer not to track Moves and Formatting at all, clear their check boxes.
- **6** In the Balloons section, set the width of the column in which balloons are shown, the margin at which you want balloons to appear, and whether you want a line leading from each balloon to its corresponding change in the document.

For a document in portrait orientation, you can instruct Word to print in landscape orientation to avoid compressing the text column.

7 Click OK.

Advanced Track Changes Options ? ×									
Markup									
Insertions:	Underline	~	<u>C</u> olor:	By author	~				
Deletions:	Strikethrough	۷	<u>C</u> olor:	By author	~				
Ch <u>a</u> nged lines:	Outside border	۷				L			
		_							
		-							
Comments:	By author	~							
Moves									
✓ Irack moves		_		_					
Moved from:	Double strikethrough	~	<u>C</u> olor:	Green	~				
Mo <u>v</u> ed to:	Double underline	۷	<u>C</u> olor:	Green	~				
Table cell highlighting									
Inserted ce <u>l</u> ls:	Light Blue	~	Merged ce <u>l</u> ls:	Light Yellow	~	- 5			
Deleted cells:	Pink	¥	Split cells:	Light Orange	~				
Formatting									
✓ Irack formatting									
<u>F</u> ormatting:	(none)	۷	<u>C</u> olor:	By author	<b>v</b>				
Balloons									
Preferred <u>w</u> idth:	2.75"	-	Measure in:	Inches	~				
<u>M</u> argin:	Right	~				6			
✓ <u>S</u> how lines connecting to text									
Paper orientation in printing: Preserve					~				
OK <u>Concet</u>									

TIP Whether you set a specific color for changes by all reviewers or select By Author, that setting applies only on your computer. Other reviewers who open the document will see colors according to their settings. You can't be sure that a particular color will be assigned to a specific reviewer on other computers.

Setting options for Track Changes: Set common options and advanced options 357

# Accepting and rejecting changes

If a document contains tracked changes, all the information about each change will stay in the document until you accept or reject the change. Setting the markup view or the options so that you can't see the changes only hides them—it doesn't remove them. Anyone else who opens the document can easily show the changes again. That isn't necessarily a good thing. For example, you might not want a client to see that you copied part of a report for another client and just changed the names. To protect yourself against such possibly embarrassing situations, you must review the changes and accept or reject them before you send your documents to others.

### Accept or reject changes

- 1 Open a document that has been reviewed. If it's a Read-Only document, save it with a different name or in a different folder.
- **2** On the Review tab, in the Tracking group, ensure that Track Changes is not selected. If it is selected, click Track Changes to turn it off.
- **3** At the top of the Tracking group, click the drop-down list and select All Markup, if it isn't already selected.
- **4** Click Next or Previous in the Changes group to locate a change, or click a change in the text or in a balloon. Select Accept to make the change permanent, or Reject to remove the change. Continue clicking Accept or Reject until you've handled all the changes in the document.
- **5** Instead of working through the changes one at a time, you can click the bottom half of Accept or Reject and choose one of the other actions from the menu.

The Accept All Changes and Reject All Changes actions affect all the changes in the document at once. If you first use the Show Markup menu to hide some types of changes, the Accept All Changes Shown and Reject All Changes Shown actions affect only the changes that haven't been hidden.



SEE ALSO For information about comparing two versions of the same document and marking the differences between them, see "Comparing reviewed versions" on page 359.

SEE ALSO For information about ensuring that the document doesn't contain any revisions or comments, see "Using the Document Inspector" on page 392.

## **Comparing reviewed versions**

If you receive a reviewed copy of your document but the reviewer didn't have Track Changes turned on, you can have

### Set up a comparison

**1** On the Review tab, in the Compare group, click Compare and choose Compare in the gallery.

The Compare Documents dialog box opens in its collapsed view.

- **2** Specify the original document by clicking the down-arrow and selecting it from the list of recently used documents, or you can select the folder icon to browse for another file. In the same way, specify the revised document.
- **3** If both versions of the document contain markup from the same reviewer, you can keep the two sets separated by entering a different name or other text in the Label Changes With text box.
- 4 If the dialog box is not expanded, click More.
- **5** Leave the check boxes selected in the Comparison settings section for only the types of changes that you want to have marked in the result of the comparison.
- 6 Choose whether the comparison will be made character by character or word by word. Also choose where the changes will be shown. You can choose for the changes to appear in one or the other of the documents being compared, or in a new third document.
- 7 Click OK.

TIP You can use the Compare feature to create "legal blacklining" in contracts; this way, each party can see what revisions were made. Word 2013 mark the changes for you. All you need is the original document, the reviewed copy, and the Compare feature.



### View the results of comparing documents

- 1 Examine the compared document (the one containing tracked changes) in the large pane. The two source documents are in smaller panes.
- **2** On the Review tab, in the Tracking group, click Reviewing Pane to show or hide the pane.
- **3** Save the compared document with the marked changes as a separate file.
- 4 Scroll through the compared document, accepting or rejecting the changes as you would for any document that has tracked changes. As you scroll the compared document, the source documents scroll to the same position so that you can see where the changes originated.

		2	-1-	1
PLE HOME INCERT DE     ASS B Define     Seming & B     Define     Defining & B     Defining     Defining & B     Defining     Def	SON FACE LANGER ENTERINGS MALLING FORMULA THE STATE OF THE STATE OF T	Result 2 - Word VEW Track Desayer • D Research Pare • Tracking Co	Previous Previous Provious Provide Previous Provide P	7 (1) - 1 Jamie Reding Wetk Petrict Protect Bank (x- Jamie Reding)
19 REVISIONS D     Detelsion: 0     Detelsion: 10     Movel: 0     Formatting: 1     Comment: 0     R formatted     Space After: s8 pt	The PERT INTERVIEW In only then, Sector completed an only defined the same with private instructions the negative of its place date. The Langean Gaussian signed to provide descent the same time transfer grant of the same date with the same time transfer contributed to improve the same transfer and the <b>Date Conditions</b> The Same Same Same Same Same Same Same Sam	condition and worked towards is the Groupsan Creers Biblio mated efforts globally) COMPARISON UNITS Late in exempt of mates	In early March, Gine (complete protect enrolling and complete protect enrolling and complete enrolling and complet	an orderly debt swap with wide restructions the majority briver, via the European serece with tens of billions of the receptatize Greek banks, chestrated via coordinated aproved investor confidence.
JR Formattied Font: sa pt JR Deleted Union, via the European JR Deleted	Investor subb en volvadi et di chiad dynamic bisher dhale generatishe ti de potentia dhale generatishe ti de latere ti parentishe de latere ti are alle faceble exclusion to de defenere en investores approximites ensi gladeli	The increase was helpe tradictions     CusToMeES     Vestionation     Activity of the second protecting of points     Activity     Activi	Inhannen <sup>®</sup> in this markest index Revised Document (Annual Report R The Year in In early March, Greece complet private creditors and worked to of its public delts. The Europeer provide Greece with billions of help receptalize Greeck banks.	Recview an orderly debt swap with water setticutioning the majority central Bank agreed to curos in financing over time to has "raperized forcek default"
JR Deleted tens of	I Solid Income I	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	Market Conditions	Income

TIP To hide one or both of the source documents, click Compare, point to Show Source Documents, and then select which source documents you want to see.

### **Merging reviewed versions**

If you've sent your document to several reviewers who edited it separately, but with Track Changes turned on, you can use the Combine feature to merge the versions into one document with

**Merge reviews** 

- **1** On the Review tab, in the Compare group, click Compare and choose Combine in the gallery.
- 2 Specify the first document containing review changes by clicking the down-arrow and selecting from the list of recently used documents, or you can select the folder icon to browse for another file. In the same way, specify the second document containing changes.
- **3** In each Label Unmarked Changes With text box, type a name or other text to identify the source of the changes in the corresponding version of the document.
- 4 If the dialog box isn't expanded, click More.
- **5** Leave the check boxes selected in the Comparison settings section for only the types of changes that you want to have marked in the result of the combination.
- 6 Choose whether the combination will be made character by character or word by word. Also, choose where the changes will be shown. You can choose for the changes to appear in one or the other of the documents being combined, or in a new third document.
- 7 Click OK and save the combined document.

TIP You can combine only two documents at a time. If you have several reviewed versions to combine, first combine two of them and then combine the result with a third reviewed version, and so on.

marked changes. You can then use the merged document to prepare a final version.



TIP When you combine documents, the result can contain formatting changes from only one of them. If Word detects formatting changes in either source document, a dialog box gives you a choice of which set of formatting changes to keep in the result.

# Sharing and coauthoring in Word

An increasingly important way of working in Microsoft Word documents is collaboration or simultaneous coauthoring. Unlike older versions of the program, Word 2013 makes it possible for multiple users to open the same document file and edit at the same time. You and your coauthors can see one another's changes, make and reply to comments, and discuss what you're doing in real time.

A companion to the desktop version of Word 2013, Microsoft Word Web App, runs in a web browser. With Word Web App, you can read and edit documents from any computer—even one on which Microsoft Office is not installed. When you're on the go with a laptop, or using a public workstation, you can see your documents and participate in coauthoring sessions.

# 14

### In this section:

- Exploring Word Web App
- Sharing with SkyDrive
- Working with coauthors
- Talking to your coauthors
- Blogging with Word
- Presenting a document online

# **Exploring Word Web App**

Word Web App is an online companion to Word 2013. Using nothing more than a web browser, you can read and edit documents that are stored on SkyDrive or on a SharePoint server. It costs nothing to use—all you need is your free Microsoft Account—and it works on desktops, tablets, and smartphones. You can use Word Web App on almost any computer that has an Internet connection, with or without a locally installed copy.

In the Reading view of Word Web App, you can add and reply to comments, find words and phrases, and share the document with other users by sending them a link. You can also save the document as a PDF file, which you can view and print in your web browser.

### Open or create a document in Word Web App

1 Use your web browser to log on to SkyDrive or a SharePoint server and then access the appropriate folder. If you want to create a new document, skip to step 4. In the Editing view of Word Web App, you can add text, pictures, tables, and hyperlinks. You can also change the text formatting and modify the page layout.

Word Web App has fewer features than the Word program that you install on your computer. Thus, editing in Word Web App is best suited for quick changes such as making corrections, rather than heavy-duty document creation. If you need more capabilities, you can open the document in Word 2013 on your computer, directly from Word Web App.



C Doc

2 If an existing document file that you want to edit is not already stored in the folder, upload the file from your computer. Otherwise, continue at step 3.

In SkyDrive, click Upload. In the Choose File To Upload dialog box that opens, select the file on your computer and then click Open.

**3** Click the name of the document file that you want to edit.

Word Web App displays the document in Reading view.

- 4 If you want to create a new document in SkyDrive, click Create and then click Word Document.
- 5 In the New Microsoft Word Document dialog box, enter a name for the document file and click Create.

Word Web App displays the new document in Editing view.

2 m/#cid 🔎 👻 🔒 🖒 🛛 🕿 Documents - SkyDrive × TUpload Share folder -) Create 🗸 Folder actions V bcuments Jamie Reding's SkyDrive > Documents Date modified Name 🕂 Choose File to Upload 🔹 bu W My Documents ► Reports Ċ Search Reports € hil Organize New folder C 📗 Custom Office Templati 🔨 Name Ca **OneNote Notebooks** Annual Report.docx 🖬 Ca Outlook Files Programming Windows 🖬 Fu Reports 🖬 he 📗 Snagit < 💼 Hi File name: Annual Report.docx All Files (\*.\*) ¥ 💶 Ja Open 🖬 lal 3 Documents Jamie Reding's SkyDrive > Doo https://skydrive.live.com/# dρ **₽** ¢ Name 🕇 (+) Create (T) Upload SkyDrive | 🗸 Annual Report Folder ρ SkyDrive 🗆 🖬 butterflies (T) Upload Share Word document SkyDrive | + Create V Excel workbook

New Microsoft Word document

Quarterly Report

TIP If you don't yet have a Microsoft Account, click File to display the Backstage view, click the Account tab, and then click Sign Up. Follow the instructions to set up your free account. You can also get a Microsoft Account by using a web browser. Simply go to skydrive.live.com and click the Sign Up Now link.

Exploring Word Web App: Open or create a document in Word Web App 365

.docx х

Create

5

### Read in Word Web App

**1** If the document in Word Web App is displayed in Editing view, click the View tab and then, in the Document Views group, click Reading View.

The Reading View displays the document as it appears in Print Layout view in Word 2013.

- **2** If you want to add a comment, click the Comments tab. In the Comments pane, click New Comment and type your comment.
- **3** The presence of a comment is indicated by a balloon in the right margin. Click the balloon to see the text of the comment.
- **4** To reply to an existing comment, click the reply icon and type your response.



3

4:49 PM

**TIP** The Find function in Word Web App does not include the Advanced Search options that appear in the Navigation pane of Word 2013.

- 5 To search for text, click the Find tab. In the Find pane, enter a word or phrase in the search box. Click the magnifier icon or press Enter. Then, click the thumbnail of any of the matches to move the document view to that occurrence in the text.
- **6** To make a document that you own available to other users, click the Share tab. The display lists the user(s) with whom the document is already shared. You can click the Share With More People button to invite others by sending email, posting a link on a social networking service such as Facebook or LinkedIn, or generating a link that you can send or post elsewhere.





**SEE ALSO** For more information about sharing documents with other users, see "Share files in SkyDrive" on page 370.

### Edit in Word Web App

- 1 If the document in Word Web App is displayed in Reading view, click the Edit Document tab and then, in the list that appears, click Edit In Word Web App.
- 2 You can add, delete, modify, and format the text in the document. In addition, you can apply styles, but you can't modify styles or create new styles.
- **3** You can insert a table, a picture from your computer, clip art from Office.com, or a hyperlink to a webpage (but not to another location in the document).







**TIP** The Editing view doesn't show page breaks. To see where pages break, switch to Reading view.

### Switch to Word on your computer

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view.
- 2 If the document was in Reading mode, click the Edit tab. If the document was in Editing mode, click the Info tab. Then, click Edit In Word.
- **3** If a warning message appears, but you know that the file is safe, click Yes. Word 2013 opens and the document is downloaded and displayed.



**TIP** In addition to the Edit page of the Backstage view, there are other ways to open the document in Word 2013. In the Reading view, you can click the Edit Document tab and click Edit In Word. In the Editing view, you can click the Open In Word tab.

SEE ALSO For more information about using Word Web App on touch-enabled devices, see blogs.office.com/b/officewebapps/archive/2012/08/20/bringing-touch-editing-to-office-web-appson-windows-8-and-ios-tablets.aspx. For more information about differences between Word Web App and Word 2013, see office. microsoft.com/en-us/web-apps-help/differences-between-using-a-document-in-the-browser-and-in-word-HA102748596.aspx.



## Sharing with SkyDrive

SkyDrive (*skydrive.live.com*) is a free file storage and sharing service offered by Microsoft. You can use it to back up important files, you can access your files from any computer, and you can let other users download specific documents or edit them in a browser with Word Web App. To use SkyDrive, all you need is a Microsoft Account.

On the Account page of the Backstage view, in any Office 2013 program, you can connect your SkyDrive storage to Office. Your SkyDrive folders will be offered in the Open and Save As pages along with the folders on your computer.

You can use Microsoft SharePoint Workspace, which is included in Office 2013 Professional Plus, to connect to a SharePoint server and use the SharePoint folders and libraries as if they were on local drives. In addition to facilitating coauthoring of documents, SharePoint offers the ability to manage multiple versions of documents, to set permissions for viewing and editing files, and to add property values that make searching easier. If you need to use SharePoint Workspace, you will need instructions from your system administrator.

### Share files in SkyDrive

- **1** To share an entire folder of documents, in Details view, select the check box next to that folder (or the check box in the folder's tile in tile view) and click Share. Continue at step 3.
- **2** To share only one file in a folder, open that folder. Select the check box next to the file that you want to share (or the check box in the file's tile and click Share. Continue at step 3.





**TIP** Use the three icons near the upper-right corner of the SkyDrive display to switch between Details view and Tiles view, and to control whether the Properties pane appears.

- **3** In the Send A Link pane, to send a link to a shared folder or file by email to another user, enter an email address. You can add a description and choose options for the sharing permissions. Click Share to send the email.
- 4 To post a link on a social network that you've connected to your Microsoft Account, such as Facebook, LinkedIn, or Twitter, click Post To and then, in the Post On A Social Network pane, select the check box next to the desired service. Click Post to post the link.
- 5 To display a direct link that you can copy and then paste on a webpage or other location, click Get A Link and then, in the Get A Link To pane, click Create or Make Public under the desired permission type. Press Ctrl+C to copy the link to the clipboard. Click Done to dismiss the pane.

🗆 🖬 🗹 🛅

Add a quick note

Recipients can edit

Send email Post to 📑 🛅

Get a link

Post "For Sharing" on a social network



Public

Help me choose how to share

Shorten

**TIP** When a Microsoft Account is connected to Office on your computer, you can use the Share tab of the Backstage view to save to SkyDrive and send invitations to other users directly from Word 2013.

**TIP** When a long address appears in the Get A Link pane, you can click Shorten to create a shorter alias that leads to the real address.

Anyone can search for and view your public files, even if you den't share a link.
https://skydrive.live.com/redir?resid=41770EA1A35BC44D!2863

Done

### Working with coauthors

When you share a document on SkyDrive or a SharePoint server with other users, any or all of those people can edit the document simultaneously by using Word 2010, Word 2013, Word for Mac 2011, or Word Web App. A coauthoring session can be much more interactive than the traditional edit-and-review cycle that was required when only one person at a time could open the document. Word notifies you when others are editing the same document. The program locks each paragraph in which one of the coauthors is actively making changes, but you can continue to edit anywhere else in the document.

### View the list of active authors

- 1 When you open a shared document and a coauthor begins to edit the same document—and again when a coauthor stops editing—an alert appears briefly to let you know who is working with you.
- **2** To see a list of the active coauthors, in the status bar, click the Number Of Authors Editing indicator.





**TIP** In Word 2013 on the desktop, the alert appears in the lower-left portion of the window, above the Number Of Authors Editing indicator. In Word Web App, the alert appears in the upper-right portion of the window, below the ribbon.

### View changes made by other authors

- 1 Edit the file as you normally would. When you make a change in a paragraph, a dashed line appears next to that paragraph to show what text you have locked. Paragraphs being edited by others are marked with a solid line.
- **2** Save the document frequently to send your changes to SkyDrive so that the coauthors can see them and to synchronize your copy with the changes made by the coauthors. When you save the document, any paragraphs that you edited become unlocked.

Changes made by others are highlighted with pale-green shading.



In early March, Greece completed an orderly debt swap with private creditors and worked towards restructuring the majority of its public debt. The European Central Bank agreed to provide Greece with tens of billions of euros in public and private financing over time to help recapitalize Greek banks. This "organized Greek default" (orchestrated via coordinated efforts globally) contributed to improved investor confidence.

Later in the year, conditions improved somewhat

**TIP** To temporarily prevent any coauthors from editing part of the document while you work on it in Word 2013, select the text to protect and then, on the Review tab, in the Protect group, click Block Authors. To release the text, click Block Authors again and then save the document. The Block Authors command is not available in Word Web App.

**TIP** Coauthors using Word Web App can see an indicator in the status bar when the Tracked Changes feature is turned on, and any changes they make will be tracked, but they can't turn Tracked Changes off or on.

# **Talking to your coauthors**

When you're working together with another person during a coauthoring session, you can see one another's changes and comments in the document. However, you might need to discuss those changes or plan for additional work. With Word

**Contact a coauthor** 

- 1 Click the indicator on the status bar and click the coauthor's name.
- **2** Click an icon to choose the contact method.

2013, you can contact an active coauthor by email, instant messaging, or phone with just a few clicks. This eliminates the need to open another program and manually locate the coauthor's address.



# **Blogging with Word**

You can publish a *blog* (a contraction of the rarely heard term *web log*) as a record of a work project, as a personal diary, or as a commentary on life or literature. A number of sites on the Internet offer hosting and tools for publishing and maintaining blogs. Usually, they make it possible for your readers to leave comments, to which you can reply.

### Set up a blog account

- 1 If you have access to a Microsoft SharePoint Server site, apply to the site manager for a blog account. Otherwise, if you don't have an account on a blog provider such as WordPress (*www.wordpress. com*) or Blogger (*www.blogger.com*), visit the home page of the site you prefer and sign up for an account.
- **2** Click File to display the Backstage view. Then, click the New tab and click the Blog Post template's thumbnail.



Word 2013 supplies a blog post template, and a dedicated Blog Post ribbon tab contains commands to help you publish and manage your posts.



- 3 Click Create.
- 4 In the Register A Blog Account dialog box, click Register Now.
- **5** In the New Blog Account dialog box, click the Blog list box and select the name of your blog provider. Then, click Next.
- **6** Type the user name and password for your blog account, and any other information required by the blog provider.
- **7** By default, pictures that you include in your blog posts will be uploaded to the blog provider's site. If you prefer to store the picture files on another server, click Picture Options. In the Picture Options dialog box, change the setting and then click OK in each dialog box.







### Post a blog entry

- 1 Click the [Enter Post Title Here] heading and type the title that you want for this blog post. You can apply styles from the Styles gallery on the Blog Post tab or apply direct formatting.
- **2** Click the paragraph below the post title and type the body of your post. Use styles and formatting as you would in any other Word document.
- **3** On the Insert tab, you can click the commands to insert tables, pictures, clip art, hyperlinks, and other special items.
- **4** If you want to separate your posts into categories, on the Blog Post tab, in the Blog group, click Insert Category. Then, click the Category list box below the post title and type a new category name or select one from the drop-down list.
- **5** When the blog post is complete, on the Blog Post tab, in the Blog group, click Publish.

1 [Enter-Post-Title-Here]¶ 2 1



**TIP** To send the post to the blog provider but not make it publically available, you can click the drop-down arrow on the Publish button and then, in the list that appears, click Publish As Draft. After making any needed changes, click Publish to finalize the draft.

**TIP** If you need to change a post after you have published it, on the Blog Post tab, in the Blog group, click Open Existing and select the post title of the entry that you want to edit.



### Presenting a document online

A new feature in Office 2013 is the ability to use a document as the display in an online presentation. You can invite people to attend the presentation by sending email or by posting a link

### Post or send invitations

- **1** Open the document that you want to present and then click File to display the Backstage view.
- **2** Click the Share tab and then click Present Online. Then, click the Present Online button.



to the presentation on a webpage or social networking site. The attendees will see your document in Word Web App in their web browsers.



TIP If you want to allow the attendees to download your document, select the Enable Remote Viewers To Download The Document check box. Otherwise, they will be able to print the document to a PDF file, but they won't be able to download it as an editable Word document.
**3** Word 2013 uploads your document to the presentation service and then displays a link to the server. Click the Send In Email option to start a message in your default email program, enter the email addresses of the people whom you want to invite to the presentation, and then send the message.

Alternatively, you can click Copy Link and then paste the link on a webpage or a social network such as Twitter.



#### Start the presentation

**1** When attendees click the link to the presentation, your document opens in Word Web App in their web browsers.

2 Click the Start Presentation button.

As you scroll through the document, the copies in the attendees' browsers will scroll correspondingly.

- **3** If you need to make changes in the document during the presentation, on the Present Online tab, in the Present Online group, click Edit. When the changes are complete, click the Resume button in the Online Presentation Paused banner.
- **4** When the session is completed, on the Present Online tab, in the Present Online group, click End Online Presentation. In the prompt, click End Online Presentation.

The attendees see a black screen that displays the message "The presentation has ended".

**TIP** One type of change that you can make is to add comments by clicking the Review tab and clicking New Comment. The attendees see a comment balloon in the right margin of the document, which they can click to read the contents in the Comments pane.

**CAUTION** Some email programs insert a line break in the middle of the very long URL of the presentation, so clicking the link doesn't work. If this happens, instruct the attendees to copy the entire URL and paste it into the address box of their browsers.

**TIP** The presentation service doesn't offer audio, and it doesn't notify you when attendees join or leave the session. It's important to set up an audio conferencing session to accompany the Word presentation. An alternative is to use Microsoft Lync for your presentations.





## Ensuring privacy and security

Microsoft Office 2013 includes many measures that are intended to protect your computer and your data from viruses and other malicious attacks. It also helps you to protect your personal and confidential information from being revealed by accident. Most of these protections operate silently, and their default settings are nearly always appropriate; there are relatively few adjustments that you can or should make.

There are many ways that personal information in a Microsoft Word document can be temporarily hidden from view, so there is a risk that another user could discover it without your knowledge. An important safeguard is the Document Inspector. The Inspector will inform you whether the document contains occurrences of personal or confidential information, and you can opt to remove any that it finds.

You can control whether other users can edit a document at all. You can also permit others to edit only certain parts of a document. In this section, you'll learn about several ways to restrict editing, protect documents against unauthorized changes, and mark documents as final versions.

# 15

#### In this section:

- Viewing the Word 2013 Trust Center
- Changing which files open in Protected View
- Adding trusted locations and trusted publishers
- Setting privacy options
- Using the Document Inspector
- Protecting a document by using a password
- Restricting editing and formatting
- Marking a document as read-only or final
- Adding a digital signature

#### Viewing the Word 2013 Trust Center

Each Office 2013 application includes a Trust Center in its Options dialog box. The Trust Center gathers many of the settings that control privacy and protection against security

#### **Open the Trust Center settings page**

- **1** Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab.
- 2 In the Word Options dialog box, click the Trust Center tab and then click Trust Center Settings.



threats. Most of the default settings in the Trust Center are appropriate and should not be changed except in special circumstances.



## **Changing which files open in Protected View**

Files that you download from sites on the Internet and from other potentially unsafe locations can contain viruses or other kinds of malware. To help protect your computer, Word 2013 normally opens files from potentially unsafe locations in *Protected View*. Protected View is a read-only mode in which most editing functions are disabled, and the document is displayed in Read Mode. In Protected View, you can inspect a document's contents while reducing the risk of damage. If you know the document is safe, you can exit Protected View and edit it as you would normally.

Protected View can be annoying, particularly if you're always careful not to open suspicious files and don't need this view

to check each file. For example, documents that you create on SkyDrive and later download to your desktop are considered to come from the Internet, and thus they open in Protected View. Documents that you receive as attachments to email messages also open in Protected View. Under some circumstances, documents from older versions of Word might open in Protected View or might not be allowed to open at all. In all of these situations, you can change the settings in Word to allow the documents to open normally when you know that the files are safe. You can still use Protected View to open documents about which you're unsure.

#### **Exit Protected View**

1 If the yellow Protected View message bar appears when you open a document, and you know the document is safe, click the Enable Editing button on the message bar.

If you aren't sure about the document's safety, or if you don't need to edit it, you can leave the document in Protected View until you close it.

			1
0	PROTECTED VIEW	De careful—files from the Internet can contain viruses. Unless you need to edit, it's safer to stay in Protected View.	Enable Editing
-		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
U	PROTECTED VIEW	Be careful—email attachments can contain viruses. Unless you need to edit, it's safer to stay in Protected View.	Enable Editing
8	PROTECTED VIEW	Editing this file type is not allowed due to your policy settings. Click for more details.	
1	PROTECTED VIEW	Editing this file type is not recommended due to your File Block settings in the Trust Center. Click for more details.	Enable Editing



**TIP** The wording of the Protected View message depends on which of several rules caused Protected View to occur.

2 If the red Protected View message bar appears when you open a document, the document did not pass a validation process that Office applies to every file you open. This can occur if the file is damaged by a hardware or software problem or it was modified for a malicious purpose. If the file is suspicious or unknown, the best action is to close the document and delete it from your computer. If you know the document's creator, request another copy of the file.

If you decide to try to edit the document despite the warning, click File to display the Info tab of the Backstage view, and then click Edit Anyway.

#### **Change the Protected View settings**

- 1 Open the Trust Center as described in "Open the Trust Center settings page" on page 382.
- **2** In the Trust Center dialog box, in the panel on the left, click the Protected View tab.
- **3** If you open document files that you download from the Internet (including SkyDrive) only when you know that they're safe, clear the check box for Enable Protected View For Files Originating From The Internet.
- **4** If you open document files that you receive as email attachments only when you know that they're safe, clear the check box for Enable Protected View For Outlook Attachments.

PROTECTED VIEW Office has detected a problem with this file. Editing it may harm your computer. Click for more details.

**TIP** If you click Edit Anyway to open a damaged document, the document might still fail to open. The behavior depends on the type of damage the file has suffered.



5 Click OK.

TIP It's a good idea to keep the check box selected for Enable Protected View For Files Located In Potentially Unsafe Locations. These locations include folders, such as the Temporary Internet Files folder, from which you can't be sure of a file's history. **TIP** When you click the Enable Editing button on the message bar to allow editing of a document, that document automatically becomes trusted. When you open the same document in the future, it won't open in Protected View.

384 Changing which files open in Protected View: Change the Protected View settings

#### **Change the File Block settings**

- 1 If the Protected View message bar appears when you open a document created by an older version of Word, and if the message mentions your File Block settings, you can change the settings to allow editing of that type of document. Open the Trust Center as described in "Open the Trust Center settings page" on page 382.
- **2** In the Trust Center dialog box, in the panel on the left, click the File Block Settings tab.
- **3** In the Open column, clear the check box for the type of file that you want to open. If you want to enable saving of changes to the file in the same format, also clear the check box in the Save column, if any.
- 4 Select one of the following option buttons:
  - **Do Not Open Selected File Types** If you try to open a file of a type that has been selected in the Open column (one that displays a check mark), a message box appears and the document does not open.
  - **Open Selected File Types In Protected View** If you open a file of a type that has been selected in the Open column, the file opens in Protected View, but the Enable Editing button on the message bar is not available.
  - Open Selected File Types In Protected View And Allow Editing If you open a file of a type that has been selected in the Open column, the file opens in Protected View and the Enable Editing button on the message bar is available.

5 Click OK.

? Trust Center Trusted Publishers File Block Settings Trusted Locations For each file type, you can select the Open and Save check boxes. By selecting Trusted Documents Open, Word blocks this file type, or opens it in Protected View. By selecting Save, Word prevents saving in this file type. Trusted App Catalogs File Type Open Save Add-ins Word 2007 and later Documents and Templates 3 **OpenDocument Text Files** ActiveX Settings Word 2007 and later Binary Documents and Macro Settings Templates Word 2003 Binary Documents and Templates Protected View Word 2003 and Plain XML Documents Message Bar Word XP Binary Documents and Templates Word 2000 Binary Documents and Templates Privacy Options Word 97 Binary Documents and Templates ~ Word 95 Binary Documents and Templates Word 6.0 Binary Documents and Templates ✓ ~ Word 2 and earlier Binary Documents and Templates Open behavior for selected file types: O Do not open selected file types 4 Open selected file types in Protected View Open selected file types in Protected View and allow editing Restore Defaults 5 OK Cancel

**TIP** If the Protected View message bar displays a red shield instead of a yellow shield, the File Block settings cannot allow editing of the document.

SEE ALSO For more information about File Block settings, see office.microsoft.com/en-us/word-help/what-is-file-block-HA010355927.aspx.

Changing which files open in Protected View: Change the File Block settings 385

#### **Enable Protected View for specific files**

- 1 If you disabled Protected View for one or more types of files, you can enable it when you open a file that might not be safe. Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Open tab. Select the location, such as your computer or SkyDrive, and click Browse.
- 2 In the Open dialog box, go to the folder that contains the document that you want to open and click the file's icon to select it.
- **3** Click the drop-down arrow on the Open button. On the shortcut menu that appears, click Open In Protected View.
- 4 The document opens in Protected View.

Don't click the Enable Editing button unless you can determine that the document is safe.





386 Changing which files open in Protected View: Enable Protected View for specific files

### Adding trusted locations and trusted publishers

Some documents and templates might have active content (macros, ActiveX controls, data connections, and so forth). Although this content is often very useful, it can also be used for malicious purposes. When you open a document with active content or start a new document based on a template with active content, the default behavior of Word is to disable the active content and notify you on the message bar.

If you know the source of the active content and trust its safety, you can avoid this inconvenience. One way to do that is to store the file in a folder that is designated as a *trusted location*. Any file that you put in a trusted location can be opened without being checked by the Trust Center security feature. Another way to avoid disabling active content is to designate a particular source as a *trusted publisher*. When a software developer creates a macro, ActiveX control, or other active content, the developer can apply a digital signature to the code. That signature contains information about the developer's identity, the certificate authority (usually a company such as VeriSign, Inc.) that issued the certificate used to create the digital signature, and the signature's expiration date. If the signature is valid, you can designate that developer as a trusted publisher, and all active content signed with the same certificate will be enabled.

#### **Trust a file location**

- 1 Open the Trust Center as described in "Open the Trust Center settings page" on page 382.
- **2** In the Trust Center dialog box, in the panel on the left, click the Trusted Locations tab.
- **3** If you plan to trust a location on a network drive, select the check box for Allow Trusted Locations On My Network.
- 4 Click the Add New Location button.



**CAUTION** It is generally recommended that you not trust network locations, and especially public folders, because of the security risk that they represent.

- **5** In the Microsoft Office Trusted Location dialog box, click in the Path box and type the full path to the desired folder, or click the Browse button, locate the folder, and then click OK.
- **6** If you want to trust all subfolders of the location, select the Subfolders Of This Location Are Also Trusted check box. If desired, enter a description that will appear in the Trusted Locations dialog box.
- 7 Click OK in each dialog box.



#### Trust a publisher

- **1** Open a document that has disabled active content from the publisher.
- 2 Click the File tab to display the Backstage view.



- **3** On the Info tab of the Backstage view, click the Enable Content button.
- 4 On the menu that appears, click Advanced Options.
- **5** In the Microsoft Office Security Options dialog box, click the Trust All Documents From This Publisher option and then click OK.





**TIP** If the option button for Trust All Documents From This Publisher doesn't appear, the publisher's certificate might be invalid or the digital signature might be missing.

#### **Setting privacy options**

Word 2013 uses the Internet to communicate with Microsoft and other locations for assorted purposes. When you download a template, insert online pictures or videos, or use the Research pane or the online translator, Word must use your Internet connection. You can enable or disable these and other functions that use the Internet. There are several options designed to help you prevent the accidental inclusion of personal or confidential information in documents that you might send to other computers.

#### **Control how Word uses the Internet**

- 1 Open the Trust Center as described in "Open the Trust Center settings page" on page 382.
- 2 In the Trust Center dialog box, in the panel on the left, click the Privacy Options tab.
- **3** Select or clear the check boxes in the Privacy Options section of the dialog box as desired.

It is generally safe to leave all of these check boxes selected. However, to minimize network traffic, you might want to clear most of them. You should not clear the option for Allow Office To Connect To The Internet, because doing so disables the Online Pictures, Online Video, and Apps For Office commands on the Insert tab. It also prevents the display of templates from Office.com on the New tab of the Backstage view.



4 Click OK.

**TIP** The Customer Experience Improvement Program collects anonymous data about which features of Office you use. That information is part of the input used by Microsoft to design the next version. Participating in the program is one way you can vote for your most-used features.

#### Change privacy settings for documents

- 1 Open the Trust Center as described in "Open the Trust Center settings page" on page 382.
- **2** In the Trust Center dialog box, in the panel on the left, click the Privacy Options tab.
- **3** In the Document-Specific Settings section, select or clear the check boxes as desired.

The option Warn Before Printing, Saving Or Sending A File That Contains Tracked Changes Or Comments is intended to remind you that personal or confidential information might be in the document, especially when you can't see the information because of the markup setting or because there are no changes or comments on the current page.

If you clear the check box for Store Random Numbers To Improve Combine Accuracy, you won't be able to edit the document simultaneously with coauthors.

Selecting the Make Hidden Markup Visible When Opening Or Saving check box also helps to prevent the release of sensitive information.

4 Click OK.

TIP An alternative to launching the Document Inspector from the Backstage view (described in "Inspect a document" on page 392) is to click the Document Inspector button in the Privacy Options dialog box.

**TIP** The Remove Personal Information From File Properties On Save check box is available only if the document came from Word 2003 or earlier and the equivalent option was selected in that version.



#### **Using the Document Inspector**

Before you send a document to another user or share it in a public folder, you should use the Document Inspector to find and remove any personal or confidential information that should not be disclosed.

Sensitive data might be in comments or tracked changes, which you might not notice if the document is set to show Simple Markup or No Markup. Names, dates, and other information

#### Inspect a document

- 1 Click File to display the Info tab of the Backstage view.
- **2** Click the Check For Issues button and then, on the menu that appears, click Inspect Document.

might be found in document properties, in text under headings that are collapsed, or in text that is formatted as hidden. The Document Inspector can search for these locations and more. If the Document Inspector finds these types of locations, it offers to remove them. In some cases—for example, text under collapsed headings—the removal of all the locations would be wrong. Instead, you should examine the document and remove only sensitive information.



- **3** In the Document Inspector dialog box, clear the check box for any type of content for which you don't want the Document Inspector to search, and then click Inspect.
- **4** When the inspection is complete and the Document Inspector dialog box reappears, click the Remove All button next to any type of content that you want to remove from the document.
- **5** To verify that the document has been cleaned, click the Reinspect button. Otherwise, click Close.



**TIP** If you remove Document Properties And Personal Information, but you don't remove Comments, Revisions, Versions, And Annotations, the names attached to all tracked changes and comments are replaced by *Author*, and the dates and times of the changes and comments are removed.



### Protecting a document by using a password

You might have some documents that should never be opened by unauthorized people. To protect such documents from prying eyes, you can save them in an encrypted form that can't be opened without a password. Or, perhaps you want to create a document that anyone can open and read, but you need to restrict those people from making any changes unless they know a password. With Word 2013, you can assign passwords of either or both types.

When someone tries to open an encrypted document, Word requests the password. If the text the person enters is incorrect,

Word will not open the document. If you try to read the document file outside of Word, it just appears to be gibberish.

If someone tries to open a document that requires a password to modify it, but he doesn't have that password, the document opens as read-only. In that case, editing is allowed but the document cannot be saved in the original file; the user would need to save the document to a new, separate file.

#### Set a password to open or edit

- **1** Open an existing document or create a new document that you want to password protect.
- **2** Click File to open the Backstage view and then click the Save As tab. Select a location (such as Computer or SkyDrive) and select or browse to the folder in which to save the file.

If this is the first time an unnamed document is being saved, the Save command automatically opens the Save As tab of the Backstage view.



- **3** At the bottom of the Save As dialog box, click Tools and then, on the menu that appears, click General Options.
- **4** In the General Options dialog box, click in the Password To Open text box and type the desired password for opening the document.
- **5** Click in the Password To Modify text box and type the desired password for modifying the document.
- 6 Click OK.

w Save As 퉴 « 664fba4... ⊧ Documents ⊧  $\mathbf{T}$ v 0 Search Documents Q Organize 🔻 New folder 0 Microsoft Word Jamie's Notebook Folders ☆ Favorites Desktop Annual Report.docx w . Downloads Lee Pictures Canterville excerpt.docx File name: Annual Report cleaned.do v Save as type: Word Document (\*.docx) v Authors: Jamie Reding Tags: Add a tag Save Thumbnail Tools 🔻 Save Cancel Hide Folders Map Network Drive... Save Options... 3 General Options... Web Options... Compress Pictures... 6 ? Gereral Options

**CAUTION** If you apply a password for opening the document, the file is encrypted as it is saved on the drive. If you forget the password, the document cannot be reopened.

TIP Passwords are case-sensitive.

 4
 5
 6

 General Options
 ?

 General Options
 ?
 ×

 File encryption options for this document
 Password to gpen:
 •

 Password to gpen:
 •
 •

 File sharing options for this document
 •
 •

 Password to modify:
 •
 •

 Macro security
 •
 •

 Adjust the security level for opening files that might contain macro viruses and specify
 Macro Security...

 OK
 Cancel
 •

Protecting a document by using a password: Set a password to open or edit 395

#### **15: ENSURING PRIVACY AND SECURITY**

- **7** Type the password for opening the document a second time as confirmation and then click OK.
- **8** Type the password for modifying the document a second time as confirmation and then click OK.
- **9** In the Save As dialog, verify or change the file name and file type, and click Save.

-	7	8	3	
	Confirm Password	? ×		
Reenter pas	word to open:		Confirm Password	? ×
Caution: If y recovered. (	orou lose or forget the password Remember that passwords are c	Reenter <u>p</u> asswo Caution: Passwo document is pro However, the do can edit the file	d to modify: rd to modify is not a securit tected from unintentional e cument is not encrypted. M and remove the password.	y feature. This diting. alicious users Cancel
Pictures File name:	Annual Report cleaned.docx	Cantervil	le excerpt.docx	~
Save as type: Authors:	Word Document (*.docx) Jamie Reding ] Save Thumbnail	Tags: /	Add a tag	~
e Folders			Save	Cancel

**TIP** To remove passwords from a document, use the same procedure again, but delete the password entries in the General Options dialog box and leave the boxes blank.

**TRY THIS** You can also set a password for opening the document as follows: click File to display the Info tab of the Backstage view. Click the Protect Document button and then, in the drop-down list that appears, click Encrypt With Password. However, the Encrypt Document dialog box that you open by this procedure doesn't give you access to the password for editing the document.

**396** Protecting a document by using a password: Set a password to open or edit

www.it-ebooks.info

9

#### **Restricting editing and formatting**

If your project requires collecting documents from coauthors to compile a larger document, it's helpful to ensure that everyone uses the same styles and that there is little or no direct formatting if the text. With Word 2013, you can specify a set of styles that are allowed and prevent any other formatting. This arrangement works best when you create this formatting

#### Limit formatting to selected styles

- 1 On the Review tab, in the Protect group, click Restrict Editing.
- **2** In the Restrict Editing pane, select the Limit Formatting To A Selection Of Styles check box.
- **3** Click the Settings link.

restriction in a template and then distribute the template to the coauthors.

Word also supports several ways to restrict editing. You can ensure that all changes made in the document are tracked, you can allow changes only in specified areas of the document, or you can disable all changes except for comments.



- **4** In the Formatting Restrictions dialog box, in the list of styles, select the check box next to any style that you want to allow to be used; clear the check boxes for the styles that you want to restrict. Use the All button or the None button to start with all styles allowed or with all styles disabled.
- **5** In the Formatting section of the dialog box, select any of the three check boxes, according to your preferences.
- 6 Click OK.
- **7** In the Restrict Editing pane, click the Yes, Start Enforcing Protection button.
- 8 If you want to require a password to turn off the formatting restrictions, in the Start Enforcing Protection dialog box, enter the password twice in the corresponding boxes. If you don't want a password, leave the boxes blank.

TIP The set of styles selected by clicking the Recommended Minimum button is a good starting point, although you might want to change that list for your document. The Normal style isn't in the list, because it is always allowed.

TIP When you apply formatting restrictions, all direct formatting is disabled. To be able to apply character formatting such as bold and italic, enable the corresponding character styles such as Strong and Emphasis.



398 Restricting editing and formatting: Limit formatting to selected styles

#### Limit the type of editing

- 1 On the Review tab, in the Protect group, click Restrict Editing.
- **2** In the Restrict Editing pane, select the Allow Only This Type Of Editing In The Document check box.
- **3** Click the list box below the check box and select one of the following:
  - **Tracked Changes** Behaves the same way as the Lock Tracking command described in "Lock tracking" on page 356
  - **Comments** Disables all editing and formatting except adding, deleting, or replying to comments
  - **Filling In Forms** Disables all editing and formatting except within legacy form fields
  - No Changes (Read Only) Disables all editing and formatting
- **4** If you selected either Comments or No Changes (Read Only) in step 3, the Exceptions section appears in the Restrict Editing pane. Select one or more areas of the document (hold the Ctrl key while you select noncontiguous areas) and then select the Everyone check box.

You can specify individuals instead of Everyone by clicking the More Users link and entering their email addresses or domain names.

5 In the Restrict Editing pane, click the Yes, Start Enforcing Protection button. In the Start Enforcing Protection dialog box that opens, if you want to require a password to turn off the formatting restrictions, enter the password twice in the text boxes. If you don't want a password, leave the boxes blank.



#### Marking a document as read-only or final

When you pass a document to other users, you might want to indicate that the document is in its final form, and that no changes should be made to it without authorization. Word 2013 offers two ways to specify this state.

When you make a document read-only recommended, anyone who opens the document first sees the message *The author would like you to open this as read-only unless you need to make changes. Open as read-only?* If the user clicks the Yes button,

#### Make a document read-only recommended

 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Save As tab. Select a location (such as Computer or SkyDrive) and select or browse to the folder in which to save the file.

If this is the first time an unnamed document is being saved, the Save command automatically opens the Save As tab of the Backstage view. the document opens in Read Mode. The user can switch to Print Layout view and edit the document. However, if any changes are made, the document can be saved only to a new, separate file with a different file name(or the same name, but to a different location).

When you mark a document as final, all changes are disabled and the document is also marked as read-only. The user must take specific action to enable editing and saving of the document.



- **2** At the bottom of the Save As dialog box, click Tools and then, on the menu that appears, click General Options.
- **3** In the General Options dialog box, select the Read-Only Recommended check box and click OK.

**TIP** The protection that is applied by the Read-Only Recommended option is not the same as the Read-Only option in the file's Properties dialog box that you can open in File Explorer. If you aren't allowed to save a document in its original location, either or both of these options might be turned on.





Marking a document as read-only or final: Make a document read-only recommended 401

#### Mark a document as final

- 1 Click File to display the Info tab of the Backstage view.
- **2** Click Protect Document and then, on the menu that appears, click Mark As Final.
- 3 In the pop-up message box that appears, click OK.
- **4** The Marked As Final message bar appears below the ribbon whenever you open the document. If you need to edit the document, click the Edit Anyway button on the message bar. When you click that button, the Final marking and the Read-Only state are turned off.





### Adding a digital signature

When a document is signed with a digital signature, you can be sure that the document's contents have not been changed after it was signed. Any editing or tampering with the document will cause the digital signature to be removed or to be marked as invalid. To add a digital signature, you must first have a *signing certificate*. You can obtain a signing certificate from a certificate authority such as VeriSign, Inc., or your organization might have a local certificate server that can supply one.

#### Add a digital signature to a document

- 1 Click File to display the Info tab of the Backstage view.
- **2** Click Protect Document and then, on the menu that appears, click Add A Digital Signature.



- **3** In the Sign dialog box, click the Commitment Type box and select one of the values.
- **4** If desired, type a description in the text box for Purpose For Signing This Document.
- 5 If desired, click the Details button and enter your title and address.
- **6** If the name in the Signing As section isn't the one for the certificate you want to use, click the Change button and select another certificate.
- 7 Click the Sign button.

	Sign ? ×					
	See additional information about what you are signing					
	You are about to add a digital signature to this document. This signature will not be visible within the content of this document.					
C	Commitment Type:					
5-	Purpose for signing this document:					
4 -	Security					
5 -	To include information about the signer, click the details button.					
6 -	Signing as: Woodbridge C <u>h</u> ange					
-						
/-	Sign Cancel					

**CAUTION** Office 2013 includes a program named SelfCert.exe that can create certificates for signing your macro projects. Because these certificates aren't issued by a certificate authority and don't prove your identity, they are not usable for signing documents.

**TRY THIS** A digital signature added by this procedure isn't visible in the document. However, you can place a visible signature in the document, associated with a digital signature. On the Insert tab, in the Text group, click Signature Line. When the signature line appears in the document, right-click it and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Sign. In the Sign dialog box, type or ink your name, or choose a picture of your signature. At the bottom of the dialog box, select the certificate to use to create the digital signature.

**TIP** When you sign a document, it automatically becomes marked as final, as described in "Mark a document as final" on page 402.

**404** Adding a digital signature: Add a digital signature to a document

# Installing and using Apps for Office

Microsoft Office 2013 includes a new feature called Apps for Office and SharePoint. An App for Office is a web-based program that appears within an Office application's window and interacts with your documents. Typically, an app recognizes text that you select in a document and displays information about it, which you can insert into the document or use in other ways.

Examples of Apps for Office include dictionaries and reference works, calculators, templates and forms, file format converters, and news. Apps for Office are available only online from the Microsoft Office Store. Many of them cost nothing to install and use; others are paid products. New Apps for Office are frequently added to the Office Store.

Because the app is stored on a server in the cloud, it's available to you anywhere that you can log on to your Microsoft Account.

# 16

#### In this section:

- Adding an app from the Office Store
- Using an app in a document

### Adding an app from the Office Store

You can add an App for Office to your Microsoft Account directly from within the Microsoft Word 2013 program, or you can visit the website for the Office Store.

Some Apps for Office can be used in Word 2013 and in other Office 2013 programs. However, many apps are specific to

one Office program. You can click a link on the Office Store to narrow the display to only the apps that are compatible with Word.

#### **Visit the Office Store**

1 On the Insert tab, in the Apps group, click the Apps For Office button.

The top half of the button immediately opens the Apps for Office dialog box. The drop-down arrow in the bottom half of the button opens a gallery of recently used apps (if any), and a See All command at the bottom of the gallery opens the Apps for Office dialog box.

**2** In the Apps For Office dialog box, click the My Apps link to display the apps (if any) that are already associated with your Microsoft Account.

DESIGN PAGE LAYOUT REFERENCES REVIEW INSERT MAILI IGS SmartArt ..... 8 •**(** Chart ble Pictures Online Shapes Links Online Comment Apps for 👩 🖡 Screenshot 🕶 Pictures Office -Video Illustrations les Recently Used Ap . . . . . . **1** . . . . . . . Observatories list.) Kitt Peak is lot the Tohono O'odham Nation and See All... McMath-Pierce Solar Telescope

The McMath-Pierce Solar Telescope is the largest solar instrumer world's largest unobstructed aperture optical telescope, with a dia



- **3** Click the Featured Apps link to display thumbnails of the apps that are current Editor's Picks. Scroll down to see thumbnails of apps that were most recently added to the Office Store.
- **4** In the Featured Apps display, click the More Apps link to open the Office Store website in your default browser.
- 5 In either the Apps For Office dialog box or the Office Store website, when you see a thumbnail for an app that seems interesting, click the thumbnail to view a page with a description, a list of requirements, and any reviews that users have submitted.





**SEE ALSO** To visit the Office Store website when an Office 2013 application isn't available, go to *office.microsoft.com/store*.

Adding an app from the Office Store: Visit the Office Store 407

#### Install an App for Office

- **1** Go to the Office Store as described in "Visit the Office Store" on page 406. In the Office Store website, on the description page for an app that you want to install, click the Add button.
- 2 If you aren't already logged on to your Microsoft Account, enter your name and password.
- 3 On the confirmation page, click the Continue button.





#### **Manage Apps for Office**

- **1** On the Insert tab, in the Apps group, click the top part of the Apps For Office button.
- 2 Click the Manage My Apps link.
- **3** If you aren't already logged on to your Microsoft Account, enter your name and password.
- **4** If you want to hide an app so that it isn't offered in the Office applications, in the Action column for that app, click the Hide link.
- **5** If you have hidden any apps and you want to make them visible again, click the Hidden link.
- **6** To make a hidden app visible, in the Action column, click the Retrieve link for that app.



**TIP** After you retrieve a hidden app, if that app doesn't appear in the Apps For Office dialog box, in the upper-right corner of the dialog box, click the Refresh link.



		0			
-) -> 🚼 https:/	//office. <b>microsoft.com</b> /en-us/MyApps.as	px ,D → ≞ d <mark>B</mark>	My Apps for Office and	i Sha 1	
My Apps f	for Office and ShareF	Point			
The ap	p was hidden and can't be used	d. Here's how to remo	ove it from the app	s list in Word,	Excel, PowerPoint, or
Hidden app	is (2)				SHOW: Visible   Hidder
	Name	Status	First acquired	Action	Comments
	QuickHelp Starter BrainStorm, Inc. Excel 2013, Word 2013	Hidden by user	1/8/2013	Retrieve	

6

#### Adding an app from the Office Store: Manage Apps for Office 409

#### Using an app in a document

In Word 2013, an App for Office opens a task pane that contains the text boxes, buttons, or other objects that you use to work with the app. Apps vary widely in the ways that they interact with your documents. Typically, though, they accept any text that you select in the document as their input, and they display

#### Activate an app

- On the Insert tab, in the Apps group, click the drop-down arrow on the Apps For Office button.
- **2** If the app you want to activate appears in the drop-down list, click its name and continue at step 5.
- **3** At the bottom of the Apps For Office drop-down list, click the See All command. (Or, you can click the top part of the Apps For Office button.)
- **4** Click the icon or name of the app that you want to activate and then click the Insert button.

some text in the task pane as a result. You might be able to click a button to make the task pane's result replace the selected text, or you might need to copy the result to the clipboard and paste it where you want it.





**TIP** To drag the task pane into the document area or dock it to the other side of the Word window, hold your cursor over the task pane's title until it changes to a four-way arrow. You can then move the pane where you want. Also, while the task pane is undocked, you can drag its sides to resize it.

- **5** Select text in your document, or click a button or icon in the app's task pane, depending on the app's instructions.
- **6** To close the task pane, in its upper-right corner, click the X button.



**TIP** There are other kinds of Apps for Office and SharePoint, called *content apps*, which display directly in a document rather than in a task pane. In Office 2013, content apps are supported only in Excel 2013 and in Excel Web App. There are also *mail apps*, which are supported only in Outlook 2013.



**SEE ALSO** For more information about Apps for Office, see technet.microsoft.com/en-us/library/jj219429.aspx.

# Customizing Word

You can customize almost every part of Microsoft Word 2013 to match your preferences, no matter how unique your work requirement and methods might be. The tabs, groups, and tools on the ribbon; the buttons on the Quick Access Toolbar; and the default locations of document files can all be modified.

In addition, the Word Options dialog box contains settings that modify the way Word 2013 displays, prints, saves, and edits documents. You can control how your spelling and grammar are checked, and you can protect your documents against possible loss of data.

Styles are central to the way Word documents are formatted, and different types of documents need different groups of styles. By learning to use the Manage Styles dialog box, you can control which styles appear in the Styles pane and the Quick Style gallery on the Home tab. You can also determine the order in which they are sorted.

# 17

#### In this section:

- Customizing the screen
- Customizing the keyboard
- Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar
- Customizing the ribbon
- Setting general options
- Controlling what is displayed and printed
- Setting spelling and grammar options
- Changing the default file format for saving documents
- Working with advanced options
- Managing styles
- Recording macros

#### **Customizing the screen**

You can change the way Word 2013 displays many of its tools so that they suit the way you work. If you find that you're distracted by the ribbon and other items that appear by default, you can reduce the clutter to the minimum. Alternatively, if you prefer to reduce the number of clicks needed to work on documents, you can make all of the tools visible.

Show or hide items on the status bar

1 Right-click the status bar to display the Customize Status Bar shortcut menu.

TIP For many of the items on the Customize Status Bar shortcut menu, when you change their state, the corresponding text or icon either appears or disappears immediately. However, some icons—for example, Number Of Authors Editing and Selection Mode—will not appear even after they're enabled unless there is some information for them to show. In addition to the options mentioned here, there are many display choices available in the Word Options dialog box (these are discussed in "Show or hide information on screen and on paper" on page 429).



414 Customizing the screen: Show or hide items on the status bar
- **2** Click any item on the shortcut menu to add or clear the check mark to the left of the item.
- 3 Click anywhere outside the shortcut menu to dismiss it.

**TIP** The Formatted Page Number item shows the number that would be displayed by a Page field on the current page. It is affected by the restarted numbering that you can apply in the Format Page Numbers dialog box. Conversely, the Page Number item shows the count of pages from the beginning of the document to the current page as well as the number of pages in the whole document.

## Show or minimize the ribbon

- **1** Right-click anywhere on the ribbon and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Collapse The Ribbon.
- **2** When the ribbon is minimized, right-click any of the tabs and then, on the shortcut menu, click Collapse The Ribbon to clear the check mark to its left.





**TIP** Other ways of showing and hiding the ribbon include clicking the up-arrow at the right end of the ribbon, pressing the keyboard shortcut Ctrl+F1, and double-clicking any tab.

**SEE ALSO** For information about auto-hiding the ribbon, see "Hide the ribbon" on page 15.



#### Show or hide white space

- 1 If the document isn't already in Print Layout view, on the View tab, in the Views group, click Print Layout. Hold the cursor over the space between the bottom of one page and the top of the next page so that the cursor changes to a pair of boxes containing arrows pointing toward one another.
- **2** Double-click to collapse the space between pages and to hide any header or footer.
- **3** Double-click the collapsed space between pages to restore the space and any header or footer.



**TIP** If there is a watermark or other graphic anchored in the header or footer, collapsing the white space will also hide the graphic, and expanding the white space will restore the graphic.

# **Customizing the keyboard**

Much of the work that you do in Word 2013 typically consists of typing text. When your hands are on the keyboard, it can be time-consuming and disruptive to reach for the mouse to select and format text, copy and paste, or do other tasks that involve buttons on the ribbon. By remembering a small set of keyboard shortcuts, you can greatly increase your efficiency.

There is a list of common built-in keyboard shortcuts in "Use keyboard shortcuts" on page 18, and many other commands

## Assign a keyboard shortcut to a command

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Custom-ize Ribbon.
- **2** Toward the bottom of the dialog box, click the Customize button.

also have default keyboard shortcuts. When you find that you often use a command that doesn't have a keyboard shortcut, you can assign a shortcut of your own.

Keyboard shortcuts in Word aren't limited to commands. You can also assign keyboard shortcuts to macros, styles, fonts, building blocks, and symbols.



- **3** In the Customize Keyboard dialog box, if the open document is based on a custom template, and you want the new keyboard shortcut to apply only to documents based on that custom template, click the Save Changes In list box and select the template's name. Otherwise, leave Normal.dotm selected.
- 4 Click one of the following items in the Categories list:
  - If the command to which you want to assign a keyboard shortcut is visible on one of the tabs of the ribbon, click the name of that tab.
  - If the command to which you want to assign a keyboard shortcut is not visible on any of the tabs of the ribbon, or if you aren't sure which tab contains the command, click All Commands.
  - If you want to assign a keyboard shortcut to a macro, a font, a building block, a style, or one of a small set of common symbols, click the corresponding item at the bottom of the list.
- **5** In the Commands list, click the command to which you want to assign a keyboard shortcut.

If you selected one of the items at the bottom of the Categories list in step 4, the label above the Commands list changes to the name of the category you selected.

TIP If the keyboard shortcut that you press is already assigned to another command, the message *Currently assigned to: command name* (where *command name* is the actual command) appears below the Current Keys list box. If you want to leave the keyboard shortcut assigned to its original command, delete the contents of the Press New Shortcut Key text box and then press a different shortcut. Otherwise, the keyboard shortcut will be removed from the original command and assigned to the new command.

418	Customizing the keyboard: Assign a keyboard shortcut to a command
-----	---

C	ustomize Keyboard	? ×
Specify a command Categories: Contining Tab Contrict Tab Background Removal Tab Uniformatica Macroso Fonts Building Blocks Specify keyboard sequence	Cgmmands: AcceptAlIChangesinDoc AcceptAlIChangesinDocAndStopTracking AcceptAlIChangesinDovan AcceptLontifictinDoc AcceptChangesindAdvance AcceptChangesSelected AcceptConflict	
C <u>u</u> rrent keys:	Press new shortcut key:	
Sage changes in: Normal.dotm v Description	Categories: Background Removal Tab All Commands Macros Macros	Common Symbols: Optional Hyphen Registered Nonbreaking Space Paragraph Ellinsis
Accepts an changes in document, ignoring Accepts an changes in document, ignoring Accepts and Accepts	Building Blocks Styles Common Symbols	A A A A

usto	mize Keyboard	?	×		
	C <u>o</u> mmands:				
^	PrevPane PrevWindow PrintPreviewAndPrint		^		
_	PrintPreviewEditMode				
~	ProofingForcePane ProtectForm Raised:		~		
Press <u>n</u> ew shortcut key:					
$\sim$					
$\sim$					

5

- **6** Click the Press New Shortcut Key text box and then press the key or group of keys that you want to use as the keyboard shortcut for the selected command.
- 7 Click Assign.
- 8 If the selected command has a keyboard shortcut that you no longer want, click that keyboard shortcut in the Current Keys list box and then click the Remove button.
- **9** While the Customize Keyboard dialog box remains open, you can assign more keyboard shortcuts. When you have assigned all the shortcuts that you want, click Close.



# Assign a shortcut to a symbol

- 1 If the symbol to which you want to assign a keyboard shortcut is not one of those in the Common Symbols category, on the ribbon, click the Insert tab. Then, in the Symbols group, click Symbol. At the bottom of the drop-down gallery that appears, click More Symbols.
- **2** Click the Font list box and then click the name of the font that contains the symbol you want.
- **3** Click the symbol that you want.
- 4 Click Shortcut Key.
- **5** In the Customize Keyboard dialog box, place the cursor in the Press New Shortcut Key text box and then press the key or group of keys that you want to use as the keyboard shortcut for the selected symbol.
- 6 Click Assign and then click Close.



TRY THIS When you click a symbol in the Symbol dialog box, a label next to the Shortcut Key button shows the built-in keyboard shortcut (if any) for that symbol. For some symbols it is of the form Alt+number, which means that you hold the Alt key while typing the number on the numeric keypad (with Num Lock turned on). For other symbols it is of the form number, Alt+X, which means that you type the number as ordinary text in the document and then press Alt+X.





# **Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar**

The Quick Access Toolbar is a place where you can put buttons for frequently used commands. This makes it easy for you to reach them no matter which tab is selected on the ribbon. It's very easy to add and remove buttons on the Quick Access Toolbar. You can add any command or group that appears on the ribbon and many more that don't appear there. Although the Quick Access Toolbar initially sits in the title bar above the ribbon, you can move it below the ribbon. In that position the toolbar is closer to your document, and it can hold more buttons.

# Add a ribbon item to the Quick Access Toolbar

- **1** On the ribbon, right-click the tool that you want to add to the Quick Access Toolbar.
- **2** On the shortcut menu that appears, click Add To Quick Access Toolbar.

If you clicked a thumbnail in a gallery on the ribbon, such as the Styles gallery on the Home tab, the shortcut menu shows Add Gallery To Quick Access Toolbar. Individual thumbnails can't be added to the Quick Access Toolbar.

**3** To remove a tool from the Quick Access Toolbar, right-click the tool on the toolbar and then, on the shortcut menu, click Remove From Quick Access Toolbar.





**TIP** You can click the drop-down arrow at the right end of the Quick Access Toolbar and select or clear the check mark next to any of the common commands to show or hide them on the toolbar. One of those commands is the Touch/Mouse Mode tool, which changes the spacing of the ribbon and toolbar buttons.

**TRY THIS** Right-click anywhere on the Quick Access Toolbar or on the ribbon and click Show Quick Access Toolbar Below The Ribbon. When the Quick Access Toolbar is below the ribbon, the item on the shortcut menu changes to Show Quick Access Toolbar Above The Ribbon.

Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar: Add a ribbon item to the Quick Access Toolbar 421

### Add other items to the Quick Access Toolbar

- 1 Right-click anywhere on the Quick Access Toolbar or on the ribbon. Then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Customize Quick Access Toolbar.
- 2 In the Word Options dialog box, click the Choose Commands From list box and click a category of commands.
- **3** Click the name of a command that you want to add to the Quick Access Toolbar.
- 4 Click Add.
- **5** To change the order of the tools on the Quick Access Toolbar, click a command name in the list on the right and then click the up-arrow or down-arrow to move the command in the list.
- 6 If you added a macro to the Quick Access Toolbar, you can click Modify. Then, in the Modify Button dialog box, you can edit the display name that is shown in the button's tooltip and select an icon from the Symbol box. Tools other than macros cannot be modified.



**TIP** When the value in the Customize Quick Access Toolbar list box is *For all documents (default)*, your customizations will be stored in the Normal.dotm template. If you want to keep the customizations only in the current document, click the box and select the document's name. To store your customizations in a template other than Normal.dotm, use the Open command in the Backstage view to open that template and then select the template's name in the Customize Quick Access Toolbar list box.





**422** Customizing the Quick Access Toolbar: Add other items to the Quick Access Toolbar

# Creating a custom tab or group on the ribbon

As you work in Word 2013, you might find that the arrangement of tools on the ribbon tabs doesn't match your preferences. Instead of struggling to change your habits, you can change the ribbon. You can add new groups to the existing tabs, and you can create entirely new tabs, with just a few clicks. You can't add or remove tools in the built-in groups. However, you can add a new custom group to an existing tab, and then put the tools of your choice into that group.

#### Insert a new custom tab

- **1** Right-click anywhere on the ribbon and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Customize The Ribbon.
- 2 In the Word Options dialog box, click New Tab to insert a new custom tab in the list box on the right. The new custom tab automatically contains one new custom group.
- **3** To change the order of the tabs, in the list box on the right, click a tab's name and then click the up-arrow or down-arrow to move the tab within the list.



4 Click OK.



**TIP** If you move any other tab above the Home tab in the list, that tab will be selected each time you start Word.

**TIP** You can hide any tab, either built-in or custom, by clearing the check box next to its name on the Customize Ribbon page of the Word Options dialog box.

Creating a custom tab or group on the ribbon: Insert a new custom tab 423

#### **17: CUSTOMIZING WORD**

5 Click the new tab in the list, click the Rename button, and then, in the Rename dialog box, enter the name that you want the tab to display and click OK. Next, click the new group in the list, click the Rename button, and then, in the Rename dialog box, enter the name you want the group to display and click OK.



**TRY THIS** Click the Choose Commands From list box and select All Tabs. Click the plus sign next to a tab's name in the list box on the left and click the name of a built-in group. Then, click Add to copy the group to the tab that is selected in the list box on the right. For example, you could add a copy of the Envelopes And Labels group to the Insert tab.

424 Creating a custom tab or group on the ribbon: Insert a new custom tab

#### Insert a new custom group

- **1** Right-click anywhere on the ribbon and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Customize The Ribbon.
- 2 In the Word Options dialog box, in the list box on the right, click the name of the tab to which you want to add a custom group.
- **3** Toward the bottom of the dialog box, click the New Group button.
- **4** Back in the list box, click the new group, click the Rename button, and then, in the Rename dialog box, enter the name that you want the group to display.





TIP You can add custom groups to both built-in tabs and custom tabs.

Creating a custom tab or group on the ribbon: Insert a new custom group 425

# Adding tools to a custom group

You can add any tools to a custom group that will make your work sessions more efficient. You can mix and match items from any of the built-in tabs, including the contextual tabs, and you

#### Add a tool to a group

- 1 Right-click anywhere on the ribbon and then, on the shortcut menu that appears, click Customize The Ribbon.
- **2** Click the Choose Commands From list box and select the category that contains the tool that you want to add. If you aren't sure which category contains the tool, click All Commands.

can add commands that don't appear anywhere on the built-in tabs.





TIP The category named Tool Tabs encompasses the commands on the contextual tabs.

- **3** In the list box on the left, if the names of tabs appear, click the plus signs next to the tab and group that contain the tool you want to add, expanding the group so that the tool's name is visible.
- 4 Click the name of the tool.
- **5** In the list on the right, click the custom group to which you want to add the tool.
- 6 Click Add.
- 7 If you want to change the name or icon of the tool, you can click the Rename button. Then, you can edit the display name that is shown below the tool's button and select an icon from the Symbol box.
- 8 Click OK in each dialog box.





# Setting general options

The General tab of the Word Options dialog box contains an assortment of configuration choices that you'll probably set shortly after you install Office 2013, and never change again.

## Set options on the General tab

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click General.
- 2 Select all the check boxes in the User Interface Options section unless your computer isn't powerful enough to show live previews at full speed.

You might set the ScreenTip Style list box to Show Feature Descriptions In ScreenTips until you become familiar with most tools. Then, to avoid clutter on the screen, you can change it to Don't Show Feature Descriptions In ScreenTips.

- **3** Enter your user name and initials, if you didn't do so during installation of Office 2013. These values are used to identify your tracked changes and comments. If you use your copy of Word 2013 with multiple accounts, select the check box to use the same user name and initials with all accounts.
- **4** Select an Office Background (a design that appears in the right side of the title bar) and an Office Theme (the shading of the areas that surround the document surface). The values you choose affect all Office 2013 programs.
- **5** In the Start Up Options section, select the check boxes according to your preferences.
- 6 Click OK.



**TIP** To see more information about an option that displays a circular icon with an *i* in the middle of it, hover the mouse pointer over that icon.

TIP The Start screen is a part of the Backstage view that can appear when you start Word from its program icon. It includes a list of recently used documents and the template thumbnails from the New tab. If you clear the Show The Start Screen When This Application Starts check box, Word shows a new blank document immediately when it starts.

# Controlling what is displayed and printed

The Display tab of the Word Options dialog box is where you can control some of the information that can be shown in and

# Show or hide information on screen and on paper

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Display.
- 2 Select all the check boxes in the Page Display Options section.
- 3 In the Always Show These Formatting Marks On The Screen section, select the check boxes for Paragraph Marks and for Object Anchors. You can clear the other check boxes unless you want to see those marks at all times.
- 4 In the Printing Options section, select the check boxes for Print Drawings Created In Word, for Print Background Colors And Images, and for Update Fields Before Printing. You can clear the other check boxes, unless you want those items to print.
- 5 Click OK.

**TIP** Changing the state of the Show All Formatting Marks check box is equivalent to clicking the Show/Hide 1 button in the Paragraph group on the Home tab.

**TIP** Changing the state of the Show White Spaces check box is equivalent to double-clicking the space between pages, as described in "Show or hide white space" on page 416. If you clear the Show Document Tooltips check box, tooltips won't appear when the mouse pointer hovers over hyperlinks, cross-references, or Table of Contents fields.

around your documents. It also contains some options that affect what appears when you print a document.



SEE ALSO For other options that affect what is displayed, see "Control screen and printing behavior" on page 439.

Controlling what is displayed and printed: Show or hide information on screen and on paper 429

# Setting spelling and grammar options

The Proofing page of the Word Options dialog box is where you can change the behavior of the spelling checker and the grammar checker. You can decide whether you want Word to notify you with red and blue squiggles whenever it detects a problem or whether you prefer to run a manual check at your convenience. You can determine which rules the grammar checker will apply, and you can add or remove custom dictionaries.

Change the behavior of the spelling checker

- Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Proofing.
- 2 In the When Correcting Spelling In Microsoft Office Programs section, select the check boxes for at least the first four options. If you select the Suggest From Main Dictionary Only check box, the spelling checker won't use any custom dictionaries that you have configured.
- **3** Select or clear any of the check boxes in the When Correcting Spelling And Grammar In Word section according to your preferences.

The Proofing page also contains the AutoCorrect Options button, which opens a separate dialog box. For a description of the AutoCorrect and AutoFormat options, see "Set AutoCorrect options" on page 73 and "Setting AutoFormat options" starting on page 76.



**TIP** To make the Show Readability Statistics check box available, you must select the Check Grammar With Spelling check box.

430 Setting spelling and grammar options: Change the behavior of the spelling checker

- 4 If you want to choose which rules the grammar checker applies to your documents, click the Settings button and then, in the Grammar Settings dialog box, select or clear the check boxes.
- 5 Click OK.



**TIP** Word makes the check boxes in the Exceptions section available only when you have selected the corresponding As You Type options in the When Correcting Spelling And Grammar In Word section. The settings you choose are saved in the document file, so they will be maintained when you reopen the document.

Setting spelling and grammar options: Change the behavior of the spelling checker 431

### Add a custom dictionary

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Proofing.
- **2** In the When Correcting Spelling In Microsoft Office Programs section, click Custom Dictionaries.
- **3** In the Custom Dictionaries dialog box, if you want to create a new custom dictionary, click New.
- **4** In the Create Custom Dictionary dialog box, enter a name for the dictionary file and click Save.





- 5 The new dictionary is initially in the All Languages section of the Custom Dictionaries dialog box. If you want this dictionary to be specific to one language, click the dictionary's name and then, in the Dictionary Language list box, select a language.
- **6** To add or remove words in a dictionary, click the dictionary's name and click Edit Word List.
- 7 If you want to change which dictionary is the default for a language, click the dictionary's name and click Change Default.
- 8 Click OK.



**TIP** The All Languages section and each of the individual languages have one dictionary that is designated as its default dictionary. When you right-click an unrecognized word in a document and click Add To Dictionary, that word is stored in the default dictionary for the proofing language applied to the word.

# Changing the default file format for saving documents

When you save a document in Word 2013, you can choose one of the many available file formats by clicking the Save As Type list box in the Save As dialog box. If the format you choose most often is not Word Document (\*.docx), you can choose another format as the default. For example, if many of the documents you write will be sent to users who might not have a version of Word later than Word 2003, you can choose Word 97-2003 (\*.doc) as the default format. Then, you'll need to change the Save As Type list box only when you want to save a document in some other file format.

#### Set a default file format

- Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Save.
- 2 Click the Save Files In This Format list box and select the format you want to use as the default for saving new documents.
- 3 Click OK.



**SEE ALSO** For more information about choosing a file format for a specific file, see "Change the file type" on page 27.

#### **17: CUSTOMIZING WORD**

#### Set default file locations

- **1** Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Save.
- 2 Click the AutoRecover File Location text box and enter the desired path, or click Browse to choose the folder.
- **3** Click the Default Local File Location text box and enter the desired path, or click Browse to choose the folder.
- 4 Click the Default Personal Templates Location text box and enter the desired path for the folder that opens when you create and save a new template.
- 5 Click OK.



SEE ALSO For more information about AutoRecover options, see "Configure AutoRecover" on page 28. For more information about saving templates, see "Modify and save the template" on page 163.

**TIP** If you prefer to go directly to the Open and Save As dialog boxes instead of the Open or Save As tabs of the Backstage view, select the Don't Show The Backstage When Opening Or Saving Files check box.

**TIP** If you want the Save page of the Backstage view to default to Computer instead of your SkyDrive, select the Save To Computer By Default check box.

Changing the default file format for saving documents: Set default file locations 435

# Working with advanced options

The Advanced page in the Word Options dialog box contains a large set of options that control the behavior of dozens

#### **Enable and disable editing features**

- Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Advanced.
- 2 In the Editing Options section and the Cut, Copy, And Paste section, select or clear the check boxes for the options according to your preferences. Set the more important or troublesome options as follows:
  - Select the Typing Replaces Selected Text check box. If it's cleared, selected text is pushed aside when you type or paste.
  - Select the Use Ctrl+Click To Follow Hyperlink check box. If it's cleared, it will be difficult to select a hyperlink in order to edit or format it.
  - Clear the Enable Click And Type check box. If it's selected and you click in an area where there is no text, Word inserts empty paragraph marks and a tab character to create a paragraph at the place you clicked. You should avoid empty paragraph marks whenever possible. Instead, apply a style with a Space Above setting or insert a text box or floating table to achieve the desired text position.
  - Select the Show AutoComplete Suggestions check box. Auto-Complete suggestions include those for dates and for AutoText entries that are stored in the Normal.dotm template.
  - Set the list box for Insert/Paste Pictures As to the text wrapping that you use most often. When you need a text wrapping that's different from the default chosen in this option, click the Layout Options button next to the picture.

of functions. It is divided into sections to help you navigate through the list.



3 Click OK.

#### Change options related to pictures

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Advanced.
- 2 In the Image Size And Quality section, select or clear the check boxes as follows:
  - If you think you might need to restore cropped or modified images to their original state, clear the Discard Editing Data check box. Otherwise, selecting the check box will help to minimize the document file size.
  - If you intend to print the document and need high-quality images, select the Do Not Compress Images In File check box. If you clear the check box and save the document, the images will be changed to the resolution shown in the Set Default Target Output box, which reduces the document file size but might degrade the image quality.
- **3** If your document contains charts, and you modify the formatting of the data points, select the Properties Follow Chart Data Point check mark.
- 4 In the Show Document Content section, select the check boxes for Show Background Colors And Images In Print Layout View and for Show Drawings And Text Boxes On Screen. Clear the Show Picture Placeholders check box.
- 5 Click OK.

**TIP** The option Show Background Colors And Images In Print Layout View affects only the screen, whereas the option on the Display page of the Word Options dialog box for Print Background Colors And Images affects only the printed copy.



# Change options related to fields

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Advanced.
- **2** In the Show Document Content section, clear the Show Field Codes Instead Of Their Values check box. Set the Field Shading list box according to your preference.
- **3** In the Print section, clear the Print Field Codes Instead Of Their Values check box.
- 4 Click OK.



**TIP** If you create a complicated form that uses fields, it might be useful to select the Print Field Codes Instead Of Their Values check box and then print one copy of the document as a record of how the form was constructed. When printing is completed, clear the check box again.

438 Working with advanced options: Change options related to fields

#### Control screen and printing behavior

- 1 Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Advanced.
- 2 In the Show Document Content section, it's often useful to select the check boxes for Show Bookmarks and for Show Text Boundaries, at least temporarily. Select the Expand All Headings When Opening A Document check box.
- **3** In the Display section, set the first five options according to your preferences.
- 4 In the Print section, select or clear the check boxes as follows:
  - Clear the Use Draft Quality check box unless you want to conserve ink or toner while printing a large draft document. It might be easier to set a similar option in the Printer Properties dialog box when preparing a specific print run.
  - Select the Print In Background check box. This option makes it
    possible for you to get back to editing the document while printing is occurring. Otherwise, you have to wait until the document
    has been processed and passed to the Windows Spooler Service.
    Clearing the check box can be a useful step in troubleshooting
    printing problems.
  - Select Print Pages In Reverse Order only if your printer delivers the pages so that you have to reorder them by hand. Most printers have a similar setting in the Printer Properties dialog box.

5 Click OK

**TIP** The option Quickly Access This Number Of Recent Documents places the names of recent documents at the bottom of the left panel on the Open page in the Backstage view. However, the recent documents also appear on the right side of the view, and you can pin frequently used documents to keep them at the top of the list.



#### Control opening and saving behavior

- 1 Click to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Advanced.
- 2 In the Save section, select the check boxes for Prompt Before Saving Normal Template, Always Create Backup Copy, and Allow Background Saves.
- **3** In the General section, enter your address in the Mailing Address text box. This entry is used as the return address in the Envelopes And Labels dialog box.
- 4 Click OK.



**TIP** The prompt before saving the Normal Template can alert you when a change is about to be saved by mistake or when a macro has made an unexpected change.

**TIP** The backup copy mentioned in the Always Create Backup Copy option is actually the most recently saved file (without any of the changes that have been made since then), renamed as Backup of *filename*.wbk (where *filename* is the actual name of the file) and stored in the same folder as the document. It might be useful if no other backup copy exists.

440 Working with advanced options: Control opening and saving behavior

# Set file locations

- Click File to display the Backstage view and then click the Options tab. In the Word Options dialog box, in the left panel, click Advanced.
- 2 In the General section, click the File Locations button.
- **3** In the File Types list box, click one of the lines and click the Modify button.
- **4** If you want to change the folder that Word 2013 uses for the file type you selected, open the desired folder in the Modify Location dialog box and then click OK.

General

Display

Proofing

Language

Advanced

Add-Ins

Trust Center

Customize Ribbon

**Ouick Access Toolbar** 

Save

**5** Repeat steps 3 and 4 for any other locations that you want to change and then click OK.



**CAUTION** If you modify the locations of documents, user templates, or workgroup templates, you might need to add the new locations to the list of trusted locations. For information about trusted locations, see "Trust a file location" on page 387.

# **Managing styles**

You can configure the Styles pane and the Quick Style gallery in Word 2013 to show just the set of styles that you prefer, in the order you want. The Manage Styles dialog box contains the tools you need to do this task.

For each style, you can specify whether its name is visible in the Styles pane or hidden when the Styles pane shows

#### Set the recommended order of styles

- 1 On the Home tab, in the Styles group, click the dialog box launcher to open the Styles pane (shortcut, Ctrl+Alt+Shift+S).
- 2 At the bottom of the Styles pane, click the Manage Styles button.

recommended styles. Also, for each style, you can specify a *priority number* that determines the order in which the style names are sorted. When the Styles pane is set to sort in the recommended order, the styles are displayed with the smallest priority numbers at the top of the list. The priority numbers also determine the order in which the styles appear in the Quick Style gallery.

1-	aBbCcC → abc Replace eading 2 → book Select * F2 Editing	
	Styles	· ×
	Clear All	
	Balloon Text	<u>¶a</u>
	Bibliography	т
	Block Text	T
	Body Text	<u>¶a</u>
	Body Text 2	<u>¶a</u>
	Body Text 3	<u>¶a</u>
	Body Text First Indent	<u>¶a</u>
	Body Text First Indent 2	<u>¶a</u>
	Body Text Indent	<u>¶a</u>
	Body Text Indent 2	<u>¶a</u>
	Body Text Indent 3	<u>¶a</u> 🗕
	Show Preview Disable Linked Styles	
2 -	MA CA OP	tions
	Manage Styles	

**TIP** The Sort Order and Show Recommended Styles Only settings don't affect how styles are shown in the Styles pane. To change the display in the Styles pane, click the Options link at the bottom of the pane and change the settings in the Style Pane Options dialog box.

- 3 In the Manage Styles dialog box, click the Recommend tab.
- **4** Click the Sort Order list box and select the order in which you want the list of styles in the Manage Styles dialog box to be sorted. If you want the list box to contain only the recommended styles, select the check box for Show Recommended Styles Only.
- **5** Click the name of a style in the list box or hold the Ctrl key while clicking several names. Alternatively, click Select All or Select Built-In.
- **6** Click Move Up to subtract 1 from the priority number of each selected style, or click Move Down to add 1 to the priority number of each selected style. Alternatively, you can click Make Last to assign the last possible priority number to the selected styles, or you can click Assign Value and enter the priority number that you want.
- 7 Click one of the following to change which styles appear in the Styles pane when that pane is configured to display recommended styles:
  - Show Always display the style
  - **Hide Until Used** Display the style only when it has been applied to text in the document
  - Hide Never display the style
- 8 To save your changes in the template on which the current document is based, click the option New Documents Based On This Template.



9 Click OK.

**TRY THIS** In the Styles pane, right-click the name of any style. If the style appears in the Quick Style gallery on the Home tab, the shortcut menu in the Styles pane includes the command Remove From Style Gallery. If the style doesn't appear in the Quick Style gallery, the shortcut menu includes the command Add To Style Gallery. **TIP** The Restrict tab of the Manage Styles dialog box performs the same function as the Formatting Restrictions section of the Restrict Editing pane, described in "Limit formatting to selected styles" on page 397. The Manage Styles dialog box contains an option for New Documents Based On This Template, which makes it useful for defining restrictions for a template.

#### **Recording macros**

With Word 2013, you can automate series of actions that you perform frequently. For example, suppose that you receive a monthly report from which you need to copy a set of numbers and paste them into a table in a new document. You can record the entire sequence of actions as a macro and play it back each month with a single click.

Word's macros are written in Microsoft Visual Basic for Applications, which is a complete and powerful programming language. Although recorded macros are useful, macros created by knowledgeable programmers can greatly expand Word's capabilities by adding features and enhancing its interactions with the other Office programs.

#### Start and stop the macro recorder

1 On the View tab, in the Macros group, click the drop-down arrow in the bottom part of the Macros button, and then, on the menu that appears, click Record Macro. Alternatively, if the macro recording icon is displayed on the status bar, click that icon.



**TIP** During recording, the cursor changes to a drawing of an arrow attached to a cassette tape. The macro recording icon on the status bar, if it is visible, changes to a solid square.

TIP The macro recorder cannot record mouse movements in the document area, such as selecting text or dragging pictures. Only keystrokes—including text editing and formatting—and mouse clicks on command buttons are recorded.

**2** In the Record Macro dialog box, in the Macro Name text box, enter a name that describes the purpose of the macro that you want to record.

You can use letters, numbers, and underscore characters in the name. Spaces and other characters are not allowed.

- **3** Click the Store Macro In list box and choose whether to store the macro in the Normal.dotm template, the current document, or the template on which the current document is based (if that is different from Normal.dotm).
- 4 If you want to store a description of the macro as a comment in the macro's code, type text in the Description text box.
- **5** If you want to create a button on the Quick Access Toolbar or to assign a keyboard shortcut to run the macro, click the corresponding button in the Assign Macro To section. Otherwise, click OK.
- **6** Perform all the actions that you want the macro to do, such as typing and formatting text, clicking commands, or inserting graphics or other objects.
- 7 On the View tab, in the Macros group, click the drop-down arrow in the bottom part of the Macros button, and then, on the menu that appears, click Stop Recording. Alternatively, if the macro recording icon is displayed on the status bar, click that icon.

**CAUTION** If you click one of the buttons in the Assign Macro To section, the macro recorder will start immediately after you close the Customize Quick Access Toolbar dialog box or the Customize Keyboard dialog box. Make all the necessary entries in the Record Macro dialog box before you click either button.



#### Play back a macro

- On the View tab, in the Macros group, click the top part of the Macros button (shortcut, Alt+F8) to open the Macros dialog box.
- **2** In the Macro Name list box, select the name of the macro that you want to run.
- **3** Click the Run button.



**TIP** When you play back some recorded macros, they might not perform the actions that you executed during the recording session. This might be caused by running the macro when the document content differs from the document used to record the macro, or the macro recorder might have failed to record all of your actions. For information about modifying recorded macros to repair such problems, see www.word.mvps.org/FAQs/MacrosVBA/ModifyRecordedMacro.htm.

# Index

#### **Symbols**

\* (asterisk), wildcard searches, 57
@ (at sign), wildcard searches, 57
? (question mark), wildcard searches, 57

# Α

accepting document changes, 358 accounts, blog, 375 activating apps, 410 adding commands to the toolbar, 16 comments, 350 common misspellings to AutoCorrect, 72 rows and columns, 187 words to custom dictionaries, 69 addresses adding to envelopes, 316 formatting on envelopes, 323 aligning floating objects, 282 pictures and text, 283 alignment cells, 192 guides, 282, 283 paragraphs, 107 tables, 189 anchor, for picture, 283 applying set styles, 177 apps from the Office Store, 406 using in documents, 410 art borders, 153

artistic effects in pictures, 295 asterisk (\*), wildcard searches, 57 at sign (@), wildcard searches, 57 attachments, email, 332 AutoCorrect adding common misspellings, 72 using AutoCorrect entries as shortcuts, 74 AutoFormat manual AutoFormat, 78 setting options for, 76 AutoRecover, 28 AutoText, 63

#### В

background for Office, 428 backgrounds, removing from pictures, 293 Backstage view about, 20 printing, 34 templates, 41 bibliographies, 264 Block Authors command, 373 blogging, 375 blue squiggles formatting, 69 grammar, 68 bold, applying, 19 booklets, printing, 34 bookmarks mail merge, 343 using, 211

borders applying around a page, 151 dragging row and column borders, 188 styles, 116 Borders and Shading dialog box, 118 breaks (line and page), 113 Building Block Gallery content control, 218 building blocks creating, 62 inserting, 61 organizing, 64 built-in footers, 138 built-in headers. 138 built-in page numbers, 138 built-in themes, 173 built-in watermarks, 237 bulleted list styles, 120 business cards, 326 business documents, 2

## С

captions, inserting, 262 categories for blog posts, 377 cells alignment and direction, 192 merging and splitting, 191 setting tab stops in, 186 center-align shortcut, 19 changes accepting and rejecting document changes, 358 tracking, 353 viewing changes made by coauthors, 373

changing bulleted or numbered lists, 121 character formatting, 103 numbering values, 126 character formatting, changing, 103 character styles applying from the Styles gallery, 93 defined, 90 characters allowed in path file names, 24 charts, building, 304 Chart tool, 272 Check Box content control, 218 citation style, 264 clipboard pasting contents, 19 using, 45 closing documents, 19 cloud computing logging on to Office with Microsoft Account, 10 coauthors communicating with, 374 working with, 372 collapsing headings, 59 color balance, pictures, 290 colors font, 104 paragraph shading, 116 themes, 173, 174 transparent color in pictures, 296 columns adding and deleting, 187 changing number of, 148 multicolumn, 148 resizing, 188 Combo Box content control, 218

commands adding and removing from the toolbar, 16 assigning keyboard shortcuts to, 417 shortcuts for undo and redo, 19 comments adding, 350 replying to, 351 showing and hiding, 352 comparing reviewed document versions, 359 configuration, AutoRecover, 28 content controls grouping for a form, 222 inserting, 217 inserting document property content controls, 223 contextual errors, 68 contextual tab, objects, 14 converting text to a table and back again, 184 copying Excel tables into Word, 183 formatting to another location, 106 items, 45 selections, 19 windows, 280 counting words, 82 cover pages, inserting, 154 cropping pictures, 286 cross-references, 216 Ctrl key (for discontinuous selection), 42 custom dictionaries, adding a word to, 69 custom templates, basing a new document on, 168 cuttina items, 45 selections, 19

#### D

data, changing in diagrams, 310 date fields formatting, 208 inserting using shortcuts, 210 Date Picker content control, 218 defaults AutoCorrect, 72 headers and footers, 228 spacing in Normal style, 110 views, 17 definitions, obtaining, 79 deleting rows and columns, 187 deselecting, 42 diagrams, SmartArt, 308 dialog boxes creating new styles with, 99 modifying styles with, 95 dictionaries adding a word to custom dictionary, 69 custom, 432 definitions, 79 digital signatures adding, 403 trusted locations and publishers, 387 discontinuous selection with Ctrl key, 42 display customizing, 414 options, 429, 439 resolution, 6 Document Inspector, 392 documents accepting and rejecting changes, 358 adding comments to, 350 adding envelopes to, 320 apps, 410 basing on a custom template, 168 closing, 19

comparing reviewed versions, 359 digital signatures, 403 exporting to other file types, 26 getting information about, 23 headers, 228 linking to, 214 linking to locations within, 212 margins, 140 merging reviewed versions, 361 navigating, 50 opening, 19, 20, 29 passwords, 394 presenting online, 378 printing, 34 privacy settings, 391 properties, 223 read-only or final, 400 recovering, 28 saving, 19, 24 sending by email, 332 setting options for track changes, 356 sharing, 367, 370 showing and hiding comments, 352 tracked changes, 354 starting a new document. 40 Word with an existing document, 12 tracking changes, 353 Word Web App, 364 downloading proofing packages, 87 templates, 159 dragging row and column borders, 188 drawing shapes, 298 Drop-Down List content control, 218

#### Ε

editing headers and footers, 139 options, 436 PDF documents, 22 security, 397 templates, 161 in Word Web App, 368 effects themes, 174 WordArt, 312 email, sending documents, 332 Encarta Dictionary, 79 endnotes adding, 241 formatting, 242 end points in shapes, 303 entries (index), 255 envelopes address formatting, 323 printing multiple copies, 320 printing single envelopes, 316 size and print options, 318 even and odd headers and footers, 171 examples creating new styles with, 98 modifying styles with, 94 Excel copying table into Word, 183 data source for mail merge, 337 expanding headings, 59 objects, 31 exporting documents to other file types, 26 expressions, wildcard in find expressions, 56 in replace expressions, 58 Extend Mode, F8 key, 43

#### F

F8 key (Extend Mode), 43 Field dialog box, 200 fields cross-reference fields, 216 Field dialog box, 200 formatting using switches, 205 inserting from the keyboard, 202 inserting page and date fields using shortcuts, 210 mail merge, 341 options, 438 StyleRef fields, inserting, 236 table of contents, 246 toggling field codes and updating, 203 XE fields, 255 figures, tables of, 262 File Block settings, 385 files default file format, 434 default location, 435 locations, 441 path names, 24 Protected View, 383 SkyDrive, 370 trusted locations, 387 file types, exporting documents to, 26 filling shapes, 300 final documents, 400 Find dialog, 52 finding templates, 159 using wildcards, 56 Flickr, inserting pictures from, 277 folders, user templates, 157 fonts character formats. 94 themes, 173, 174

footers extracting text for, 234 inserting, 138 odd and even, 171 unlinking, 232 footnotes adding, 241 formatting, 242 formatting changing character formatting, 103 copying to another location, 106 default file format, 434 diagrams, 309 envelope addresses, 323 fields using switches, 205 footnotes and endnotes, 242 Format Painter, 106 highlighting, 105 replacing, 54 revealing existing formatting styles, 132 security, 397 setting AutoFormat options, 76 styles about, 90 adding borders and shading, 116 bulleted or numbered lists, 120 changing character formatting, 103 changing line and paragraph spacing, 110 changing numbering values, 126 changing paragraph alignment and indents. 107 creating and modifying, 94 kinds of, 90, 91 line and page breaks, 113 using multilevel numbered headings, 128 table of contents, 249

text entries in the AutoCorrect list, 74 WordArt, 313 forms, grouping content controls for, 222

#### G

galleries, selecting building blocks from, 61 General tab, 428 grammar correcting, 68 options, 430 setting proofing language, 86 using the grammar pane, 70 grouping content controls for a form, 222 shapes, 302 groups adding tools to, 426 creating on the ribbon, 423

#### Η

header rows, repeating, 193 headers changing, 228 extracting text for, 234 inserting, 138 odd and even, 171 portrait header on landscape pages, 145 unlinking, 232 headings collapsing and expanding, 59 list of, 50 spanning across multiple columns, 149 table of contents, 243 using multilevel numbered headings, 128 Help system about, 36 shortcut for, 19

hide and show codes, 203 hiding comments, 352 ribbon, 15, 19 tracked changes, 354 highlighting, 105 hyperlinks bookmarks, 211 cross-references, 216 inserting, 212 hyphenation automatic, 113 preventing, 115

#### 

illustrations, about, 270 indents, 107 indexing about, 255 multiple indexes, 258 Info page, 23 inserting art borders, 153 bibliographies, 268 blank pages at the end of a section, 136 bookmarks, 211 building blocks, 61 built-in page numbers, 138 charts, 304 comments, 350 content controls, 217 cover pages, 154 cross-references, 216 diagrams, 308 document property content controls, 223
fields from the keyboard, 202 using the Field dialog box, 200 group content controls, 222 headers and footers, 138 hyperlinks, 212 indexes, 257 odd and even headers and footers, 171 online video, 278 page and date fields using shortcuts, 210 pictures, 284 from online, 276 from SkyDrive or Flickr, 277 from your computer, 274 screenshots, 280 section breaks, 136 shapes, 298 StyleRef fields, 236 table captions, 262 table of contents, 245 table of tables or table of figures, 263 tables, 181 tab stops on the ruler, 180 text, 44 text boxes, 196 watermarks, 237 WordArt, 312 inspecting, documents, 392 installing, apps for Office, 408 Internet finding help on, 37 security, 390 invitations, sending, 378 italics, applying, 19

#### J

justifying text, 107

### Κ

keyboard customizing, 417 inserting fields from, 202 recording macros, 444 selecting text, 43 shortcuts about, 18 assigning to a command, 417 assigning to symbols, 420 keytips, using with keyboard shortcuts, 18

#### L

labels mailing, 326 mail merge to, 335 landscape pages, portrait headers, 145 language setting proofing language, 86 translations, 83 left-align, shortcut for, 19 line borders, 151 linebreaks, 113 line spacing, changing with styles, 110 linked styles, 90, 91 linkina a chain of text boxes. 198 to documents or webpages, 214 to Excel worksheets, 183 to locations within your document, 212 lists bulleted or numbered lists with styles, 120 Drop-Down List content control, 218 including unnumbered paragraphs in, 126 multilevel list styles, 128 sorting, 225

locations default file locations, 435 files, 441 trusted, 387 Lock Tracking, 356 logon, to Office with Microsoft Account, 10 lost documents, recovering, 28

#### Μ

macros, recording, 444 mailing labels, 326 mail merge adding fields, 341 finishing, 346 recipients, 337 rules, 343 starting, 334 main header, creating, 228 manual AutoFormat, 78 manual spell check, 70 margins choosing, 140 mirror margins, 170 marking document for a table of contents, 252 index entries, 255 text for no proofing, 88 markup, viewing, 352, 354 merging cells, 191 reviewed document versions, 361 Microsoft Accounts logging on to Office, 10 Office Store apps, 406 setting up, 6 SkyDrive, 370 Microsoft Excel 2013, charts, 304

Microsoft Office logging on with Microsoft Account, 10 Office clipboard, 48 Microsoft PowerPoint 2013, charts, 304 Microsoft SharePoint Workspace, 370 minimize, ribbon, 415 Mini Translator, 85 mirror margins, 170 modifying, styles, 94 mouse, selecting text, 42

#### Ν

names, preparing a list of for sorting, 225 Navigation pane about, 50 organizing topics, 60 search feature, 51 Normal.dotm, starting a new document, 40 Normal style default spacing, 110 shortcut for applying, 19 Normal template, using, 156 numbers built-in page numbers, 138 changing values, 126 headings, using multilevel numbered headings, 128 numbered lists, styles, 120 Numbering Library, 125 numeric fields, formatting, 207 numeric picture switch, 205

#### 0

objects contextual tab, 14 expanding, 31 odd and even headers and footers, 171

Office Background, 428 Office clipboard, 48 Office.com, templates, 159 Office Store, apps, 406 OFFLINE, 36 online accounts, 32 pictures, inserting, 276 presentation of documents, 378 video, inserting, 278 opening documents, 19, 20 in Word Web App, 364 options for, 440 unsaved documents, 29 Word Web App in Word, 369 options Advanced page, 436 Display tab, 429 General tab. 428 spelling and grammar, 430 Organizer, Building Blocks, 64 orientation of pages, 144 outline of shapes, 300 Outline view about, 17 organizing topics, 60 overtyping switching between insert and overtyping, 44 text, 44

#### Ρ

pages applying borders around, 151 fields, inserting using shortcuts, 210 inserting blank pages at the end of a section, 136

inserting cover pages, 154 numbers built-in, 138 updating in the table of contents, 248 orientation of, 144 portrait headers on landscape pages, 145 positioning pictures on, 282 size of, 140 paragraphs breaks. 113 changing alignment and indents, 107, 109 changing spacing with styles, 110 numbered lists, 126 shortcuts for left-, right- and center-align, 19 styles applying from Styles gallery, 92 defined, 90 paragraph styles applying from the Styles gallery, 92 defined, 90 passwords, documents, 394 pasting a table from Excel. 183 clipboard contents, 19 items, 46 from Office clipboard, 48 using Paste Special, 45, 46 PDF documents editing, 22 saving, 26 using, 11 pictures aligning, 283 blog posts, 376 changing the appearance of, 290 content control, 218 cropping, 286

inserting from online, 276 from SkyDrive or Flickr, 277 from your computer, 274 options, 437 positioning on page, 282 recoloring, 292 removing backgrounds, 293 replacing, 288 resizing, 284 special effects, 293, 295 transparent color, 296 watermarks, 239 placeholders bibliographies, 266 text, content controls, 219 Plain Text content control, 218 portrait headers, landscape pages, 145 positioning, pictures on the page, 282 postina blog entries, 377 invitations, 378 presentations, 379 printing business cards, 328 documents, 34 envelopes, 322 labels, 326, 331 multiple copies of an envelope, 320 options, 439 shortcut for, 19 single envelopes, 316 templates for two-sided printing, 170 Print Layout view about, 10, 17 using, 17

proofing, changing the proofing language of text, 86 properties content controls, 220 documents, 23, 223 Protected View, 383 publishers, trusted, 387

# Q

question mark (?), wildcard searches, 57
Quick Access Toolbar, 16
customizing, 421
Quick Style gallery, 442
Quick Tables building block gallery, 181

#### R

Reading view of Word Web App, 364 Read Mode about, 10 optimization of, 17 using, 30 read-only documents, 400 recoloring, pictures, 292 recording, macros, 444 recovering, documents, 28 redo, shortcut for, 19 red squiggles, 68 rejecting, document changes, 358 removina backgrounds from pictures, 293 commands from the toolbar, 16 unwanted parts of pictures, 286 repeating, header rows, 193 Repeating Section content control, 218 replacing formatting, 54 pictures, 288 text, 54

using wildcards, 56 wildcards in replace expressions, 58 replying, to a comment, 351 resizing, rows and columns, 188 resolution, display, 6 restoring, using the Undo list, 49 revealing, existing formating, 132 reviewing document versions and comparing, 359 merging reviewed document versions, 361 ribbon about, 14 adding a ribbon item to the Quick Access Toolbar, 421 buttons adding borders and shading with, 116 formatting text with, 103 changing paragraph alignment and indents, 107 hiding or showing, 19, 415 resizing pictures, 285 tabs and groups, 423 Rich Text content control, 218 right-align, shortcut for, 19 rotating pictures, 284 text in table cells, 192 rows adding and deleting, 187 repeating header rows, 193 resizing, 188 ruler changing paragraph alignment and indents, 107 tab stops, 180 rules, mail merge, 343

# S

saving building blocks, 62 documents, 19, 24 options for, 440 templates, 163 screen, customizing, 414 screenshots insertina, 280 using, 271 ScreenTip Style list box, 428 search, Navigation Pane, 51 sections breaks, inserting, 136 headers, 228 inserting blank pages at the end of, 136 security digital signatures, 403 Document Inspector, 392 document passwords, 394 editing and formatting, 397 marking documents read-only or final, 400 privacy settings, 390 Trust Center, 382 trusted locations and trusted publishers, 387 selecting objects behind text, 283 text, 42 text that has the same style, 102 selections copying, 19 cutting, 19 shading Borders and Shading dialog box, 118 styles, 116

shapes changing appearance of, 300 cropping to, 287 gallery, 271 inserting, 298 SharePoint server opening documents from, 20 SkyDrive, 370 sharing using SkyDrive, 370 with Word Web App, 367 shortcuts assigning, 417 inserting page and date fields using, 210 obtaining synonyms, 80 starting Word, 12 using AutoCorrect entries as shortcuts, 74 show and hide codes. 203 Show/Hide button, revealing formatting, 132 showing comments, 352 ribbon, 19 tracked changes, 354 Simple Markup view showing and hiding comments, 352 tracked changes, 10 SkyDrive inserting pictures from, 277 opening documents from, 20 sharing, 370 SmartArt, 272 creating diagrams, 308 social networking, with SkyDrive, 371 sources, bibliographies, 265, 266 spacing, changing line and paragraph spacing, 110 special effects, pictures, 295

spelling adding common misspellings to AutoCorrect, 72 correcting, 68 manual spell check, 70 marking text to ignore spelling, 71 options, 430 setting proofing language, 86 using AutoCorrect entries as shortcuts, 74 splitting, cells, 191 squiggles underlining text, 68 starting the Word program, 12 status bar show or hide items, 414 word count, 82 Style Inspector, 133 StyleRef fields headers and footers. 234 inserting, 236 styles about, 90 adding borders and shading, 116 bulleted or numbered lists, 120 changing character formatting, 103 line and paragraph spacing, 110 numbering values, 126 paragraph alignment and indents, 107 citations, 264 creating and modifying, 94 custom styles, 234 envelope addresses, 324 gallery applying character styles, 93 applying paragraph styles, 92 mail merge, 323 options, 442 revealing existing formatting, 132

security, 397 style sets, using, 173 Styles pane, 100 table of contents, 249 using multilevel numbered headings, 128 using table styles for uniform appearance, 194 switches, formatting fields using, 205 switching, views, 17 symbols, assigning keyboard shortcuts to, 420 synonyms, obtaining, 79

# T

tab stops creating on the ribbon, 423 inserting on the ruler, 180 table cells, 186 table of contents aenerating, 243 multiple table of contents, 252 styles, 249 updating, 248 tables adding and deleting rows and columns, 187 alignment, 189 cell alignment and direction, 192 converting text to a table and back again, 184 copying an Excel table into Word, 183 inserting, 181 merging and splitting cells, 191 repeating header rows, 193 resizing rows and columns, 188 setting tab stops in table cells, 186 tables of tables and tables of figures, 262 text wrapping, 190

using table styles for uniform appearance, 194 table styles, 90, 91, 194 templates basing a new document on a custom template, 168 blog posts, 375 customizing, 161 designing, 165 finding and downloading, 159 labels, 326 modifying and saving, 163 Normal template, 156 saving changes, 64 security, 397 starting documents with, 40 two-sided printing, 170 user templates folder, 157 text adding to shapes, 302 aligning, 283 converting to a table and back again, 184 direction in cells, 192 entering text in a new blank document, 40 extracting for headers and footers, 234 fields, formatting, 209 headers and footers, 228 inserting and overtyping, 44 marking to ignore spelling, 71, 88 replacing, 54 selecting, 42 sorting selected list text, 226 translations of selected text, 84 watermarks, 238 text boxes as a shape object, 298 inserting, 196 linking a chain of text boxes, 198

text wrapping charts, 306 pictures, 282 tables, 190 themes using, 173 using table styles for uniform appearance, 194 thesaurus, synonyms, 81 thumbnails, Navigation Pane, 50 togaling, field codes, 203 tools, adding to groups, 426 topics, organizing, 59 touchscreens. 7 tracking changes setting options for track changes, 356 showing and hiding tracked changes, 354 Simple Markup view, 10 turning on track changes, 353 translations, 83 transparent color, pictures, 296 Trust Center, 382 trusted locations and trusted publishers, 387 two-sided printing, templates, 170

# U

underline, applying, 19 undo shortcut for, 19 using, 49 unlinking, headers and footers, 232 unsaved documents, recovering, 29 updating fields, 203 table of contents, 248 user name and initials, 428 user templates folder, 157

# V

versions comparing reviewed document versions, 359 exporting to earlier Word file formats, 26 merging reviewed document versions, 361 previous versions of Word compatibility with Word 2012, 3, 21 saving new versions of documents, 25 video, inserting online video, 278 viewing markup, 352, 354 views, switching, 17

# W

watermarks, inserting, 237 Web Layout view, about, 17 webpages, linking to, 214 what's new, 10 white space, show or hide, 416 wildcards find and replace, 56 replace expressions, 58 Windows 8, Word shortcut, 13 windows, copying, 280 WordArt, effects, 312 words, counting, 82 Word Web App, 11, 364 worksheets, links to Excel worksheets, 183 wrapping table text, 190

# Χ

XPS (XML Paper Specification), support for, 26

# About the author

Jay Freedman has worked as a textbook editor, technical writer, and software engineer. He has answered users' online questions about Microsoft Word for more than 15 years, and has been awarded as a Microsoft Most Valuable Professional every year since 2001.

# What do you think of this book?

We want to hear from you! To participate in a brief online survey, please visit:

microsoft.com/learning/booksurvey

Tell us how well this book meets your needs—what works effectively, and what we can do better. Your feedback will help us continually improve our books and learning resources for you.

Thank you in advance for your input!

